Volume 221

David M. Whitacre Editor

Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology



Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology

VOLUME 221

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/398

Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology

Editor David M. Whitacre

Editorial Board

Maria Fernanda Cavieres, Valparaiso, Chile • Charles P. Gerba, Tucson, Arizona, USA John Giesy, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada • O. Hutzinger, Bayreuth, Germany James B. Knaak, Getzville, New York, USA James T. Stevens, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, USA Ronald S. Tjeerdema, Davis, California, USA • Pim de Voogt, Amsterdam, The Netherlands George W. Ware, Tucson, Arizona, USA

> Founding Editor Francis A. Gunther

VOLUME 221



Coordinating Board of Editors

DR. DAVID M. WHITACRE, Editor Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology

> 5115 Bunch Road Summerfield, North Carolina 27358, USA (336) 634-2131 (PHONE and FAX) E-mail: dmwhitacre@triad.rr.com

DR. HERBERT N. NIGG, Editor Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology

> University of Florida 700 Experiment Station Road Lake Alfred, Florida 33850, USA (863) 956-1151; FAX (941) 956-4631 E-mail: hnn@LAL.UFL.edu

DR. DANIEL R. DOERGE, Editor Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology

> 7719 12th Street Paron, Arkansas 72122, USA (501) 821-1147; FAX (501) 821-1146 E-mail: AECT_editor@earthlink.net

ISSN 0179-5953 ISBN 978-1-4614-4447-3 DOI 10.1007/978-1-4614-4448-0 Springer New York Heidelberg Dordrecht London

© Springer Science+Business Media New York 2013

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Foreword

International concern in scientific, industrial, and governmental communities over traces of xenobiotics in foods and in both abiotic and biotic environments has justified the present triumvirate of specialized publications in this field: comprehensive reviews, rapidly published research papers and progress reports, and archival documentations. These three international publications are integrated and scheduled to provide the coherency essential for nonduplicative and current progress in a field as dynamic and complex as environmental contamination and toxicology. This series is reserved exclusively for the diversified literature on "toxic" chemicals in our food, our feeds, our homes, recreational and working surroundings, our domestic animals, our wildlife, and ourselves. Tremendous efforts worldwide have been mobilized to evaluate the nature, presence, magnitude, fate, and toxicology of the chemicals loosed upon the Earth. Among the sequelae of this broad new emphasis is an undeniable need for an articulated set of authoritative publications, where one can find the latest important world literature produced by these emerging areas of science together with documentation of pertinent ancillary legislation.

Research directors and legislative or administrative advisers do not have the time to scan the escalating number of technical publications that may contain articles important to current responsibility. Rather, these individuals need the background provided by detailed reviews and the assurance that the latest information is made available to them, all with minimal literature searching. Similarly, the scientist assigned or attracted to a new problem is required to glean all literature pertinent to the task, to publish new developments or important new experimental details quickly, to inform others of findings that might alter their own efforts, and eventually to publish all his/her supporting data and conclusions for archival purposes.

In the fields of environmental contamination and toxicology, the sum of these concerns and responsibilities is decisively addressed by the uniform, encompassing, and timely publication format of the Springer triumvirate:

Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology [Vol. 1 through 97 (1962–1986) as Residue Reviews] for detailed review articles concerned with any aspects of chemical contaminants, including pesticides, in the total environment with toxicological considerations and consequences.

Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology (Vol. 1 in 1966) for rapid publication of short reports of significant advances and discoveries in the fields of air, soil, water, and food contamination and pollution as well as methodology and other disciplines concerned with the introduction, presence, and effects of toxicants in the total environment.

Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology (Vol. 1 in 1973) for important complete articles emphasizing and describing original experimental or theoretical research work pertaining to the scientific aspects of chemical contaminants in the environment.

Manuscripts for Reviews and the Archives are in identical formats and are peer reviewed by scientists in the field for adequacy and value; manuscripts for the *Bulletin* are also reviewed, but are published by photo-offset from camera-ready copy to provide the latest results with minimum delay. The individual editors of these three publications comprise the joint Coordinating Board of Editors with referral within the board of manuscripts submitted to one publication but deemed by major emphasis or length more suitable for one of the others.

Coordinating Board of Editors

Preface

The role of *Reviews* is to publish detailed scientific review articles on all aspects of environmental contamination and associated toxicological consequences. Such articles facilitate the often complex task of accessing and interpreting cogent scientific data within the confines of one or more closely related research fields.

In the nearly 50 years since *Reviews of Environmental Contamination andToxicology* (formerly *Residue Reviews*) was first published, the number, scope, andcomplexity of environmental pollution incidents have grown unabated. During thisentire period, the emphasis has been on publishing articles that address the presence and toxicity of environmental contaminants. New research is published each yearon a myriad of environmental pollution issues facing people worldwide. This fact, and the routine discovery and reporting of new environmental contamination cases, creates an increasingly important function for *Reviews*.

The staggering volume of scientific literature demands remedy by which data canbe synthesized and made available to readers in an abridged form. *Reviews* addresses this need and provides detailed reviews worldwide to key scientists and science orpolicy administrators, whether employed by government, universities, or the privatesector.

There is a panoply of environmental issues and concerns on which many scientistshave focused their research in past years. The scope of this list is quitebroad, encompassing environmental events globally that affect marine and terrestrialecosystems; biotic and abiotic environments; impacts on plants, humans, andwildlife; and pollutants, both chemical and radioactive; as well as the ravages of environmental disease in virtually all environmental media (soil, water, air). Newor enhanced safety and environmental concerns have emerged in the last decade tobe added to incidents covered by the media, studied by scientists, and addressedby governmental and private institutions. Among these are events so striking that they are creating a paradigm shift. Two in particular are at the center of everincreasingmedia as well as scientific attention: bioterrorism and global warming.Unfortunately, these very worrisome issues are now superimposed on the alreadyextensive list of ongoing environmental challenges. The ultimate role of publishing scientific research is to enhance understandingof the environment in ways that allow the public to be better informed. Theterm "informed public" as used by Thomas Jefferson in the age of enlightenmentconveyed the thought of soundness and good judgment. In the modern sense, being"well informed" has the narrower meaning of having access to sufficient information. Because the public still gets most of its information on science and technologyfrom TV news and reports, the role for scientists as interpreters and brokers of scientificinformation to the public will grow rather than diminish. Environmentalismis the newest global political force, resulting in the emergence of multinational consortiato control pollution and the evolution of the environmental ethic.Will the newpolitics of the twenty-first century involve a consortium of technologists and environmentalists, or a progressive confrontation? These matters are of genuine concernto governmental agencies and legislative bodies around the world.

For those who make the decisions about how our planet is managed, there is anongoing need for continual surveillance and intelligent controls to avoid endangeringthe environment, public health, and wildlife. Ensuring safety-in-use of the manychemicals involved in our highly industrialized culture is a dynamic challenge, forthe old, established materials are continually being displaced by newly developedmolecules more acceptable to federal and state regulatory agencies, public healthofficials, and environmentalists.

Reviews publishes synoptic articles designed to treat the presence, fate, and, ifpossible, the safety of xenobiotics in any segment of the environment. These reviewscan be either general or specific, but properly lie in the domains of analytical chemistryand its methodology, biochemistry, human and animal medicine, legislation,pharmacology, physiology, toxicology, and regulation. Certain affairs in food technologyconcerned specifically with pesticide and other food-additive problems mayalso be appropriate.

Because manuscripts are published in the order in which they are received infinal form, it may seem that some important aspects have been neglected at times. However, these apparent omissions are recognized, and pertinent manuscripts arelikely in preparation or planned. The field is so very large and the interests in itare so varied that the editor and the editorial board earnestly solicit authors and suggestions of underrepresented topics to make this international book series yetmore useful and worthwhile.

Justification for the preparation of any review for this book series is that it dealswith some aspect of the many real problems arising from the presence of foreignchemicals in our surroundings. Thus, manuscripts may encompass case studies fromany country. Food additives, including pesticides, or their metabolites that may persistinto human food and animal feeds are within this scope. Additionally, chemicalcontamination in any manner of air, water, soil, or plant or animal life is within theseobjectives and their purview. Preface

Manuscripts are often contributed by invitation. However, nominations for newtopics or topics in areas that are rapidly advancing are welcome. Preliminary communication with the editor is recommended before volunteered review manuscripts are submitted.

Summerfield, NC, USA

David M. Whitacre

Contents

| Soil Column Leaching of Pesticides Toshiyuki Katagi | 1 |
|--|-----|
| Behavior and Impact of Zirconium in the Soil–Plant System: Plant Uptake and Phytotoxicity Muhammad Shahid, Emmanuel Ferrand, Eva Schreck, and Camille Dumat | 107 |
| Index | 129 |

Soil Column Leaching of Pesticides

Toshiyuki Katagi

Contents

| 1 | Introduction | | | |
|----|---|---|----|--|
| 2 | Characteristics and Structure of Soil | | 3 | |
| | 2.1 | Macropores | 4 | |
| | 2.2 | Colloids and Dissolved Organic Matter | 7 | |
| 3 | Leaching Methodology | | 10 | |
| | 3.1 | Column Leaching | 11 | |
| | 3.2 | Outdoor Lysimeters | 14 | |
| | 3.3 | Field Leaching | 16 | |
| 4 | Soil Processes Controlling Pesticide Mobility | | 18 | |
| | 4.1 | Adsorption and Desorption | 19 | |
| | 4.2 | Biodegradation | 23 | |
| | 4.3 | Mobility Index | | |
| 5 | Soil Factors Controlling Pesticide Mobility | | 31 | |
| | 5.1 | Soil Moisture | 31 | |
| | 5.2 | Preferential Flow | 32 | |
| | 5.3 | Soil Tillage, Amendment, and Vegetation | 34 | |
| | 5.4 | Facilitated Transport | | |
| 6 | Mod | eling and Simulation | 45 | |
| | 6.1 | Equilibrium and Nonequilibrium Transport | 46 | |
| | 6.2 | Application of Mathematical Models | 50 | |
| 7 | Mob | ility of Pesticides in Soil Column Leaching Studies | 52 | |
| 8 | 3 Summary | | | |
| 9 | Appendix 1: Chemical Structures | | | |
| Re | References | | | |

T. Katagi (🖂)

Environmental Health Science Laboratory, Sumitomo Chemical Co., Ltd.,

²⁻¹ Takatsukasa 4-Chome, Takarazuka, Hyogo 665-8555, Japan

e-mail: katagi@sc.sumitomo-chem.co.jp

1 Introduction

Groundwater (GW) constitutes the most important source of drinking water, and despite the benefit of pesticides in food production, the contamination of GW by biologically active pesticides at unacceptable levels should be avoided. A number of pesticides and their degradation products have frequently been detected in field GW monitoring programs (Cohen et al. 1984; Hancock et al. 2008; Kolpin et al. 2000). Regulatory agencies in each country are responsible for preventing contamination of GW by pesticides or their degradates. Regulators have developed methods to assess both existing and newly developed pesticides for any tendency to leach in soil. The US EPA has performed monitoring studies to determine if pesticides contaminate GW (Wells et al. 1995) and has recently introduced a conceptual environmental model to better evaluate GW contamination (USEPA 2008b). In Europe, a stepwise evaluation procedure for regulating GW contamination by pesticides and their degradates is used, and this has recently been updated; the revision not only utilizes computer simulations of predicted environmental concentrations to determine if the 0.1 ppb trigger level is exceeded, but also relies on data from higher-tier field experiments (Boesten et al. 2009). To estimate the leaching behavior of a pesticide in soil or to compare its relative mobility with other pesticides, the sophisticated simulation approaches used generally require considerable data on the environmental fate of the pesticide. Because the cost of conducting field experiments over extended time periods can be extremely high, it is useful to collect relevant information on pesticide soil mobility by first using experimental laboratory approaches. For soil mobility, such approaches include batch adsorption studies, soil thin-layer chromatography, and soil column leaching (Häfner 1994; Helling and Dragun 1981; USEPA 2008a). Although laboratory soil column leaching and batch adsorption/desorption studies have been performed on many pesticides, the results of these studies do not always reflect what actually occurs in the field. Nevertheless, such studies normally provide valuable information on the potential mobility of pesticides in soil if they are well-controlled and focused, and the results are mathematically analyzed using an appropriate model.

Pesticide transport processes in soil have been addressed in many excellent reviews, primarily from the viewpoints of pesticide properties (Bewick 1994; Russell 1995), soil science—hydrology (Brown et al. 1995; Jarvis 2007), and large-scale outdoor lysimeter and field studies (Flury 1996; Führ et al. 1990, 2003; Kördel et al. 2008). The agricultural practices that control soil transport such as tillage and addition of soil amendments, have been discussed in these reviews, but the discussions have often produced little that is conclusive, because the reviewed studies were of different scales and used different methodology. However, many reliable small-column laboratory leaching studies have been used to estimate the potential soil mobility of pesticides. Since the same processes and factors operate in controlled lab conditions as under field conditions, the latter type of studies are important, because they provide a more integrated picture of how pesticides move under natural conditions.

In this review, I first address soil pesticide mobility in the context of soil characteristics and structure, and then address the typical methodology used to evaluate pesticide mobility. I also address the inherent merits and demerits of the various methods used in defining pesticide mobility. Another key goal herein is to address the value of soil column leaching studies, by reviewing both pesticide properties and soil factors that control the behavior of pesticides in soil. In addition, I address both the theory behind and the models available on solute transport in soils for the purpose of better explaining the results collected from soil column leaching studies. Finally, I provide an overview summary of the existing column leaching data that has been published in the literature. The structures of pesticides that appear in this review are presented in the attached Appendix.

2 Characteristics and Structure of Soil

The mobility of any pesticide in agricultural land is principally governed by the movement of water through soil, since most pesticides possess a low vapor pressure and the contribution from vapor transport is negligible. Rainfall and irrigation constitute the main sources by which water reaches agricultural fields (Bewick 1994; Brown et al. 1995; Russell 1995). A portion of water that reaches soil is lost by either evaporation from the surface or via run-off when the water content of the soil exceeds its water-holding capacity. The residual water is then available for vertical and lateral infiltration into the soil profile. The infiltration rate is determined by factors such as soil permeability and structural composition (with tilth at the soil surface), antecedent moisture content, the presence of cracks, fissures and macropores, and the level of the water table. Among these factors, the presence of macropores in soil is known to drastically modify pesticide mobility. Water also moves upwards in soils at a rate dependent on the drying rate of soil and the nature of the vegetation present (evapotranspiration).

Soil is a very heterogeneous system that is composed of sand, silt, clay, and organic materials. Soil is also known to contain pores that are occupied by water and air. Soil aggregates variously produce a complex structure that results in a range of porosity and density that is specific to each soil type. Novak et al. (2001a) examined the size effect of clay soil aggregates in packed column leaching experiments with atrazine (74; number refers to structure shown in Appendix) and trifluralin (98). Much less leaching of these herbicides was observed in soil columns prepared with smaller-size aggregates (1–5 mm) than with larger ones (>5 mm). This is possibly due to the higher adsorption properties of the smaller aggregates, which have a larger surface area. Not only does soil texture and organic matter content influence the soil adsorption/desorption processes of pesticides, but biological properties such as microbial activity can also drastically affect pesticide degradation rates, and hence mobility behavior (Aharonson et al. 1987; Bewick 1994; Helling and Gish 1986). Among the various properties that affect pesticide distribution and mobility in soil, water retention, and hydraulic conductivity are most important.

Climate is also an important factor that can affect pesticide mobility, by modulating soil conditions (Bewick 1994; Russell 1995). Soil temperatures vary, both diurnally and seasonally, and affect the activity of soil-dwelling microbes. Moreover, soil temperatures are affected by rainfall, which in turn, affects the extent of leaching when pesticides are applied, e.g., in the spring vs. the fall. Both rainfall and wind influence the water content of surface soils, which conversely affects the rate of evapotranspiration.

2.1 Macropores

The definition of a soil macropore is ambiguous, because the term has no generally accepted definition; however, macropores are generally characterized as having or displaying a high water flow-through rate (Beven and Germann 1982; Kördel et al. 2008). The fraction of macropores in soil is small, as compared with the total soil volume. However, the saturated hydraulic conductivity in macropores is extremely high and exceeds the saturated hydraulic conductivity of a matrix of sand, silt, and clay by 2–6 orders of magnitude (Kördel et al. 2008). The flow rate through a macropore is thought to be controlled primarily by its diameter, the topology of its network and wall conditions. The diameter of a macropore is considered to be in the range of 50 μ m to 10 mm. Many studies have been performed on nonequilibrium macropore flow (or preferential flow) in soils, and excellent reviews on this topic have been written (Jarvis 2007; Kördel et al. 2008; White 1985).

Macropores are primarily classified by their shapes. The existence of open-ended macropores that are located in permeable subsoils, or in the vicinity of a field drain pipe, accentuate water flow; in contrast, dead-ended macropores that terminate in homogeneous subsoils initially exhibit fast flow, shortly followed by a slower matrix flow (Kördel and Klein 2006). The three-dimensional structure of macropores is important when a non-chromatographic flow of water along macropores predominates. The distribution of soil space voids has been examined by staining soil with fluorescent dye, such as Rhodamine B, during the conduct of leaching studies (Flury et al. 1994; Kung 1990). Natural soil fissures in the field were shown to enhance the downward movement of Cl- in structured clay soils, and these could be visualized well using fluorescein dye (Kissel et al. 1973). Seyfried and Rao (1987) have reported that convective flow is confined to small regions of the cross section of a soil column; different dye staining patterns occurred between saturated and unsaturated flow conditions in undisturbed soil columns. Ghodrati and Jury (1990) applied the anionic dye Acid-Red 1 to undisturbed and surface-disturbed field plots, then irrigated the plots and examined the horizontal and vertical distribution of the dye. The water in the soil profiles moved by preferential flow in a heterogeneous pattern, which displayed a vertical fingering 5-20 cm wide. However, when the leaching patterns in the six soil cores extracted from this field were averaged, the leaching pattern was similar to that which would be expected under chromatographic flow conditions. A similar trend was confirmed in 14 Swiss fields, where water was transported

more deeply by percolating through cracks and fissures in the well-structured loamy and clayey soils than in unstructured soils (Flury et al. 1994).

One problem associated with the dye staining technique is that it is necessary to destroy the stained soil core if further visual observations are made. As an alternative method, a nondestructive X-ray computed tomographic (CT) scan was developed to study macropores (Reinken et al. 1995). Vanderborght et al. (2002) showed that the larger pores in the soil profile could be identified by either dye staining or X-ray CT scan methods; however, the latter method gave more information on the three-dimensional structure of smaller pores. Furthermore, a reduced network of larger pores without lateral mixing was observed for deeper field-collected soil layers. Significant differences in the distribution of void spaces were observed for paddy, upland, and forest soils using soft X-ray CT to evaluate soil columns eluted with CH_2I_2 (Mori et al. 1999). Contrasting with the developed network of fine pores that existed in forest soil, many macropores originating from decayed rice roots were observed in paddy soil.

Recently, a new method has been used to evaluate macropore networks. This method is based on single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), and has been successfully applied to examine the geometry of macropore networks in soil (Perret et al. 1999). Topological analysis of an undisturbed sandy loam soil column showed that the average length of a major network is about 4 cm. More than 60% of the networks are made up of four branches, and each path therein is inclined to approximately 0–55° from the vertical. The authors have also used SPECT to monitor the real-time movement of solutes in undisturbed soil columns by employing Na^{99m}TcO₄ as a tracer (Perret et al. 2000). The comparison of the SPECT results obtained on macropore distribution with those visualized using the X-ray CT method clearly showed that macropore continuity played a significant role in the preferential transport of solutes through soils.

Macropores are also classified by the process of their formation (Beven and Germann 1982; Jarvis 2007; Kördel et al. 2008). One type of macropore is formed via an abiotic process (e.g., from seasonal freeze/thaw cycles) in soil (cracks and fissures) and the erosive action of subsurface water flow (natural soil pipes). Such macropores have a tortuosity of 1.2–2.0 and are usually more frequently observed in structured clayey soils that have a clay content of more than 15–20%. The complex networks of fractures in such soils develop horizontally and vertically in clayrich till and can be visualized by dye staining (Jørgensen et al. 2002).

The other process by which macropores are formed is via a biotic one, which is frequently observed to occur in silty soils resulting from the formation of pores by soil fauna (moles and earthworms) and from growing or decayed plant roots. The typical diameter of a macropore in the former (fauna-derived) process is <1 to >50 mm, whereas macropores formed by decaying roots are smaller and are plant species-dependent. Edwards et al. (1988) probed the nature of the soil profile at three depths down to 30 cm in a no-till field of silt loam soil. By using photography with an image analyzer, they found macropores that appeared to derive from plant roots. Macropores having a diameter of >0.4 mm were abundant (>3,000 pores per m²), and the total macropore area was about 1.4% of their cross-section at each

depth. The density of burrow macropores was two-fold higher in a no-till corn field than in a grass-legume meadow (Edwards et al. 1992b). Moreover, a lower macropore density was observed in a conventionally tilled field than in an apple orchard up to a depth of 20 cm (Siczek et al. 2008). It was confirmed that earthworm burrowing participated in the creation of macropores in the no-till corn field, and this was considered to have affected water flow. The water flow was measured directly by collecting percolated water samples from earthworm holes at a depth of 30-50 cm; about 13-fold more water moved through these holes than was expected from their area distribution (Edwards et al. 1989). Using soil blocks that had a well-developed network of earthworm burrows, it was demonstrated in a series of laboratory studies that the presence of macropores caused a heterogeneous water flow (Edwards et al. 1992a, 1993; Shipitalo et al. 1990). After SrBr, was applied to the soil surface, percolates were collected from each of 64 grids at the bottom of the blocks. In this way, it was demonstrated that specific grids were connected to macropores that gave a markedly larger volume of percolate. It was also shown that antecedent water added by pre-irrigation enhanced the diffusion of Sr²⁺ and Br⁻ into the soil matrix and reduced leaching through macropores.

The inner wall of a macropore has differing characteristics in terms of both physicochemical properties and organic composition, compared to the soil matrix. The inner wall of macropores, created by decaying roots that occur in deeper layers of paddy soil, become coated with alluvial clay particles, and are physically strong enough to sustain a preferential flow, even in soils that have a low bulk density (Mori et al. 1999). Ellerbrock and Gerke (2004) isolated organic matter for analysis, either from the coatings and interior of aggregates in a structured loamy arable soil or from the walls of decayed root channels or material found in earthworm burrows in an unstructured forest sandy soil. The differences they found, in terms of the amounts of total C and N observed for wall, coatings and the matrix of arable soil, were insignificant. However, the soil matrix had a slightly higher cation exchange capacity (CEC). In contrast, higher amounts of total C and N, as well as CEC, were detected in the burrow-filling material, than in the decayed-root walls. Infra-red (IR) analysis of the organic material extracted from each portion by hot water or pyrophosphate showed that the hydrophobicity of the coatings increased with depth and was higher than in the matrix, as judged from the higher IR absorption intensities resulting from C-H, C=O and C=C bonds. Although the two extraction methods gave different IR patterns, comparable or higher C=O and C=C absorption was observed in decayed root walls and burrow fillings than in surface soil. These differences are reasonably accounted for by organic waste that results from plants and earthworms. In one experiment, burrow-lining material collected from soil columns in the presence of two individual earthworms, contained 1.5-2 times more organic carbon, when decomposed corn or soybean leaves were fed (Farenhorst et al. 2001). Furthermore, a higher amount of nitrate-N was eluted from burrow macropores than from artificially man-made holes that had similar diameters (Edwards et al. 1992b). More organic carbon was detected in the dyestained walls of decayed root macropores than the neighboring soil matrix, by using

the fumigation–extraction method (Bundt et al. 2001). A higher microbial population was reported to exist in macropores than in the soil matrix, based on monitoring data from 44 field sites in Denmark (Vinther et al. 1999). Stehouwer et al. (1993) examined the depth-dependence of total organic carbon content and alkaline phosphatase activity in 50-cm depth soil profiles and reported that these values were at least 2–3 times higher in the earthworm burrow linings than in the corresponding soil matrix.

2.2 Colloids and Dissolved Organic Matter

A pesticide dissolved in pore water either diffuses or is transported with the movement of water and is simultaneously partitioned into the soil matrix. However, there are many kinds of materials that exist in pore water. Among these are humic substances, metal oxides and clay particles, any of which may be partly dissolved and present as colloids or suspensions (De Jonge et al. 2004; Katagi 2006; McCarthy and Zachara 1989; Ouyang et al. 1996). Water-dispersible colloids (WDC) include layer silicates, Fe- and Al-oxyhydroxides, humic substances, and bacteria and display particle sizes between 1 nm and 10 µm in diameter. Abiotic colloids naturally disperse from soil aggregates by infiltration of water. Most WDCs are negatively charged, and their stability is sensitive to certain parameters such as the electrolyte concentration that affects the electric double layer around them. WDCs are stable at pH values greater than pH_m, which is defined as the pH value giving the zero point of charge (ZPC) at which the total charge from cations and anions at the surface is equal to zero. WDCs become unstable at pHs < pH_{zpc} due to reduced electrostatic repulsion as a result of having a thinner electrical double layer (Barton and Karathanasis 2003; Seta and Karathanasis 1997a). Dissolved organic materials (DOM), such as fulvic and humic acids in pore water, are considered to be coagulated as a result of having divalent or trivalent metal cation bridges that lead to their precipitation on the surface of clay minerals (Reemtsma et al. 1999). These materials generally have reactive surfaces onto which cationic species or hydrophobic chemicals may adsorb (Grolimund et al. 1996). The concentration of soil colloids is highly dependent on the physical properties and structure of the soils in which they exist; when they are measured as dissolved organic carbon (DOC), their concentration ranges from 10 to 1,000 mg kg⁻¹ (Laegdsmand et al. 2005; Reemtsma et al. 1999; Williams et al. 2002; Worrall et al. 2001). Therefore, when assessing the leaching rate of pesticides, one must consider not only how the pesticide interacts with WDCs but also the mobility of WDCs in macropores.

The partitioning of pesticide molecules to WDCs and DOM is considered to proceed via van der Waals forces, complexation and electrostatic attraction (Katagi 2002); as a result, the soil adsorption coefficient $[K_d, \text{Eq. (3)}]$ of a pesticide may change with its changing partition coefficient $(K_{\text{WDC}} \text{ or } K_{\text{DOM(C)}})$ between water and WDC or DOM(C) (Dunnivant et al. 1992a; Magee et al. 1991). The following equation describes this phenomenon

$$K_{\rm d}^{\rm app} = K_{\rm d} / (1 + [C] \times K_{\rm WDC or DOM(C)})$$
(1)

where, K_{d}^{app} is the apparent soil adsorption coefficient (L kg⁻¹ in a linear isotherm; ≥ 0) of a pesticide in the presence of WDC or DOM(C) at a given concentration [C]. The retardation factors (*R*, Eq. (7); dimensionless, ≥ 1) for phenanthrene and polychlorinated biphenyls in packed soil columns decreased with the increasing DOC concentration in the mobile phase; under this condition, the log K_{DOC} was estimated to be 4–5 by Eq. (1) from the K_{d}^{app} values.

Khan and Thomson (1990) examined the effect of DOM on the transport of DDT (101) using Triton X-100 as a humic substance model. The retardation of DDT (101) was greatly reduced by three orders of magnitude at a surfactant concentration of 1,000 ppm, and the effect of DOM was considered to be significant for a hydrophobic chemical having a log K_{ow} (n-octanol-water partition coefficient) of >5. Interactions with DOM have been thoroughly investigated for the herbicide napropamide (114). More elution of (114) from soil columns occurred in the presence of DOM, strongly suggesting that the transport of (114) occurred by association with DOM (Nelson et al. 2000). Such an association was also indicated by the decreased K_{d} values that were observed in the presence of DOM. Dialysis of the leachates showed that more than 80% of (114) was associated with DOM having a molecular weight of 500-1,000 Da (Williams et al. 2002). An analysis using size exclusion chromatography showed a similar association for simazine (75) and its hydroxyl derivative with DOM, and this association was increased by aging (Ertung et al. 2002). When derivatized by silvlation, the aqueous extracts of the compost treated with (75) resulted in reduced molecular weights of DOM and an increased release of (75); this indicated that the DOM was structurally integrated via hydrogen bonding and was involved in the association with (75). The dialysis of leachates from soil columns treated with diuron (35) indicated the contribution of DOM (molecular weight of <1,000 Da) to the association with pesticide molecules (Thevenot et al. 2009). Weak interactions for (35) were observed in a batch adsorption study performed with polar DOM that had lower humidification (Cox et al. 2007). Chen et al. (2010) reported a higher association of prometryn (79) with DOM that had a molecular weight of >14,000 Da than that having a lower molecular weight. Thus, higher mobility, both in soil column leaching and soil TLC (thin layer chromatographic) studies, was observed when DOM had a higher molecular weight. Analysis of the DOM-pesticide associated complex by infra-red (IR) and excitationemission matrix fluorescence spectroscopies showed that DOM has a higher fraction of aromatic moieties and carbohydrate structures and was involved in the association. However, much less DOM of a higher molecular weight was detected in the leachate of (114), and this may indicate the importance of the duration of contact and soil texture to the interactions.

The WDC species such as clay minerals and metal oxides show strong adsorptive capacities towards metal cations, inorganic acid anions, and organic functional groups (Ouyang et al. 1996). Hence, similar interactions with ionizable pesticides are likely to occur. Glyphosate (15), strongly adsorbed to Al- and Fe-oxides, was transported by association with WDCs in an intact soil column packed with a surface

tillage (Gjettermann et al. 2009). Its adsorption to slightly alkaline soils was enhanced by the formation of a ternary complex with Cu²⁺ at the soil surface (Dousset et al. 2007). The strong association of cationic paraquat (133) with Li-montmorillonite increased (133) leaching in a soil column, while the presence of Ca²⁺ in the eluent caused flocculation of the clay and resulted in reduced leaching (Vinten et al. 1983). Ionized picloram (84) (p K_a = 2.3) showed very little adsorption to soils at neutral pHs, while the strong interactions of salicylic acid (p K_a = 2.9) with iron oxides resulted in much higher adsorption to the same soils (Celis et al. 2005). Therefore, components of WDC, dissolved metal cations and pesticide structure interact to influence the adsorption of an ionizable pesticide.

The mobility of WDCs is primarily affected by their stability and by physical factors such as particle size, pore-size distribution, and the presence of soil macropore networks. Seta and Karathanasis (1997a) reported that the transport of WDCs through undisturbed soil columns increased as pH and the content of total exchangeable bases increased, and decreased as the content of Fe/Al-flocculants and kaolinite of a higher particle size increased. This clearly indicated the importance of the stability and the particle size of the WDCs to their mobility. WDCs eluted faster than a Cl⁻ tracer, as demonstrated by their breakthrough curves (BTC). Results indicated that a size exclusion mechanism was involved in the mobility of the WDCs; their mobility was influenced when their larger mean diameters were 0.2-1 µm. By monitoring effluents with block-type lysimeters fitted with laser dynamic light scattering devices, the particle size of WDCs was discovered to increase as water flow rate increased (Kaplan et al. 1993). The increased water flow rate resulted in a higher shear stress that produced an increase in the release of larger particles such as kaolinite and vermiculite, which was concomitant with the increased content of total organic carbon in the eluates. Since the DOC concentration was kept at a low level and was independent of a flow rate, most organic carbon was considered to be associated with the WDCs consisting of these particles. In many soil column leaching studies, the concentration of WDCs in effluent reached an early maximum, followed by a decrease over time. Grolimund and Borkovec (1999) proposed a multiple particle population model to explain such behavior, wherein the activation energy of a WDC release rate follows an exponential distribution. This model successfully explained the time-dependent release of WDCs. More detailed investigation on the movement of WDCs through macropores was conducted by Laegdsmand et al. (1999, 2005). They found that loosely bound WDCs that had high organic content were released first, followed by WDCs that diffused from macropore walls. The authors confirmed that high ionic strength in percolating water limited the mobilization of WDCs, and the rate of colloid leaching was positively correlated with flow velocity during prolonged leaching. Recently, Poulsen et al. (2006) successfully applied a two-region model, described in Sect. 6.1, that utilized mobile and immobile water phases in the soil profile to explain the elution patterns of WDCs from 33 undisturbed soil columns. The WDCs were predominantly transported through macropores that had diameters of $>150 \,\mu m$. There was no relationship between the spatial distribution of WDCs in soil and the extent of leaching.

Different elution patterns have been reported for WDCs and DOC in field leaching studies with prochloraz (126) (Villholth et al. 2000). WDCs were primarily leached with the very water that rapidly drained through macropores after rainfall or irrigation events. In contrast, the leaching peaks of DOC in the BTC became flatter, which suggested different mechanisms of release and transport. Dunnivant et al. (1992b) examined the leaching behavior of DOC in packed columns of aquifer sandy soil. Elution of DOC always followed the Br⁻ tracer, which suggested that a size exclusion mechanism was unlikely for movement of DOC. Hydrophobic DOC was more highly retained in soil and less desorbed than hydrophilic DOC. Reemtsma et al. (1999) characterized DOC that was released from soil by elution with various salt solutions, and then isolated by ultrafiltration and solid-phase extraction. When the salt solution contained calcium chloride, soluble fractions with lower molecular weights of an aliphatic character were rapidly released. Another salt NaH₂PO, had strong affinity for Fe/Al-oxyhydroxides and an ability to replace Ca2+ from organic complexes. Higher DOC release after elution by NaH, PO, indicated aggregation of DOC by Ca^{2+} and divalent bridging of the DOC to clay minerals. There was an increase in UV absorption of eluent containing DOC at 254 nm as elution proceeded, and this indicated a gradual release of fractions with an aromatic character. Similar elution profiles were reported for leachates from soil columns to which DOM originating from spent and weathered mushroom substrate was applied (Guo and Chorover 2003). More acidic DOCs, having COOH and phenolic OH functional groups, were released more quickly from the columns. By using dialysis membranes with a different molecular weight cut-off, Williams et al. (2002) found that DOC with a molecular weight of 500-1,000 Da was dominant (>80%) in the eluates, with a much smaller contribution from higher molecular weight fractions.

3 Leaching Methodology

The adsorption–desorption processes that occur when pesticides leach can be conveniently evaluated by using the batch equilibrium method. However, the measured soil dispersion in an excess of water is often very different to that which occurs under actual field conditions. Soil thin-layer chromatography (TLC) and thick-layer chromatography, where plates are developed by using aqueous $CaCl_2$, were introduced to obtain an R_f value as a simple index of soil mobility (Helling and Dragun 1981; Lynch 1995; Russell 1995). However, neither the water flux nor the soil water content can be controlled when soil TLC is used to determine mobility and natural soil aggregation is missing. When using these methods, the extraction and quantification steps are the most time-consuming, especially when nonradiolabeled pesticides are used.

Alternatively, the direct detection of a chemical in eluates by UV and/or radioactivity has led to the development of a reverse-phase chromatographic method that utilizes a column packed with fine sand. The use of a chemical retardation factor (R) in the column chromatography has been proposed by Nkedl-Kizza et al. (1987), as a mobility index described by the following equation. Soil Column Leaching of Pesticides

$$\log(R_{\rm m}-1) = \log(R_{\rm W}-1) - \alpha_{\rm c} \times \sigma_{\rm c} \times f_{\rm c}$$
⁽²⁾

 $R_{\rm m}$ and $R_{\rm w}$ refer to retardation factors in water–cosolvent mixture and water, respectively, α_{c} and σ_{c} refer to cosolvency power and an empirical constant that account for water-cosolvent-sorbent interactions, and f_c refers to a volumetric fraction of any organic cosolvent. The asymmetry in the BTCs of atrazine (74) and diuron (35) decreased with an increasing f_c in the methanol–water mixture used as an eluent. Since the symmetric BTC was observed at lower f_c values for (74), which had a similar hydrocarbonaceous surface area to (35), a higher contribution of nonequilibrium soil sorption was expected for (35). By applying Eq. (2) to the methanol-10 mM CaCl₂ mixture at various f_2 , Wood et al. (1990) obtained the R_{w} value of (35) close to what was calculated from the adsorption coefficient in the batch equilibrium method. The application of soil-column liquid chromatography provided a good estimate of the K_d values for (74) and tebuconazole (127) (Ni et al. 2004), and this estimate was more accurate than the one using a C_{10} reverse-phase column (Xu et al. 1999). Less change in enthalpy for partition of a chemical from solvent to soil than to the C18 surface was determined by linear free-energy relationship analysis of the retardation factor at various temperatures, which accounted for this difference (Liang et al. 2002). Bi et al. (2006, 2007, 2010) observed that cation exchange and surface complexation take place in soil for interactions involving S-, O- and N-heterocycles. Therefore, the absence of such interactions when using the C₁₈ reversed-phase may produce a poor estimate of adsorption coefficients for pesticides.

3.1 Column Leaching

Different from soil TLC and reverse-phase liquid chromatography techniques, the soil column leaching technique (Fig. 1a) can be employed to better simulate water flux in a soil profile. These packed soil columns are utilized not only to compare mobility between pesticides but also to mechanistically analyze pesticide movement in soil (Helling and Dragun 1981; Lynch 1995; Russell 1995; Weber et al. 1986). The methodology of soil column leaching has been thoroughly tested and standardized (Lynch 1995; OECD 2004; USEPA 2008a). To facilitate the analysis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons at very low concentrations, Reemtsma and Mehrtens (1997), utilized an on-line solid-phase extraction of eluates, which was linked with GC-MS. The distribution of herbicides leached from a soil column can also be conveniently bioassayed by using a sensitive plant species (Günther et al. 1993; Mersie and Foy 1986; Nelson and Penner 2007; Weber et al. 1986). Furthermore, when a radiolabeled pesticide is used, both the BTC and distribution in the column can be easily evaluated for the pesticide and its metabolites. Fortunately, data have shown that the relative mobility of pesticides test similarly, when either column leaching or soil thin- and thick-layer chromatographic methods are used (Wu and Santelmann 1975).



Fig. 1 Various soil column leaching apparatus (a) Typical soil column used in laboratory. (b) Semi-outdoor soil columns. (c) Outdoor lysimeter

A disturbed soil column, uniformly packed with sieved soil, is generally used for pesticide leaching studies. Such columns are generally more reproducible than using other techniques to evaluate pesticide transport. Isensee and Sadeghi (1992) reported statistically insignificant differences in the leaching of two dyes that were applied to the center or to the edge of a 10-cm diameter soil column. However, an edge-flow effect along the column wall may exist and should be checked by using a tracer such as Cl⁻. To prevent edge effects, beads or silicone sealer can be applied to the inside wall of a column at appropriate intervals (Weber and Whitacre 1982). Smaller-scale studies usually utilize glass columns, but columns made of stainless steel, Teflon® or polyvinyl chloride (PVC), are used in larger-scale studies. With regard to columnsurface effects on pesticides, Koskinen et al. (1999) reported only slight adsorption of five ¹⁴C-labeled pesticides to a PVC column. The typical size of a soil column is 4 cm in diameter and 30 cm in length. Undisturbed intact soil cores, extracted from the field, can be utilized to investigate preferential flow and the effects of soil amendment and tillage, as described in Sect. 5 (Brown et al. 1995; Helling and Dragun 1981; Weber et al. 1986). Large-diameter undisturbed soil cores can be collected using a hydraulic pressure system (El Hadiri et al. 2003). When performing studies with undisturbed soil columns, the boundary edge flow effect can generally be prevented by applying a sealant, such as paraffin wax and epoxy cement to the inner walls of the column (Arthur et al. 1998; Isensee and Sadeghi 1992).

In column leaching studies, pesticides are applied to the column as a pulse in a minimal volume of either a solution or treated soil (Elrick and French 1966; Nielsen and Biggar 1961). The miscible displacement method, which involves percolation with pesticide solution, followed by percolation with a pesticide-free solution, is frequently used to estimate mobility parameters for pesticides. Such column studies, when augmented by mathematical modeling, have been extensively used for determining several key parameters of mobility for pesticides and

organic chemicals, including the effect of soil disturbance (McMahon and Thomas 1974), soil amendments (Graber et al. 1997; Socías-Viciana et al. 1999), nonequilibrium adsorption (Angley et al. 1992; Baskaran et al. 1996; Brusseau et al. 1991; Chiang et al. 2001; Mao and Ren 2004; Selim and Zhu 2002; Spurlock et al. 1995; Suárez et al. 2007), preferential transport (Seyfried and Rao 1987; Singh and Kanwar 1991), macromolecule effects (Enfield et al. 1989), colloids (Seta and Karathanasis 1996, 1997b), and aging and biodegradation effects (Estrella et al. 1993; Guo and Wagenet 1999; Langner et al. 1998).

Soil columns are eluted with distilled or deionized water, and preferably with electrolytes such as 5-10 mM CaCl, or CaSO, to minimize colloidal dispersion (Helling and Dragun 1981). Water is typically administered through a funnel, but may be more uniformly added to a larger soil surface area using a rainfall simulator to control the velocity of water flux (Laegdsmand et al. 2005; Mersie et al. 1999; Münch et al. 2002; Wietersen et al. 1993). In the field, the upper soil profile is unsaturated and contains air-filled voids, whereas the pores below the waterlogged part of the soil are filled with water. This latter situation is simulated in soil columns by maintaining a constant water flow, in which water-saturated conditions persist (i.e., constant water head). If unsaturated conditions near the soil surface are to be tested, a transient/interrupted flow utilizing suction can be used to emulate the normal flows of field water, but it is more difficult to control the water flux under these conditions. Therefore, a computerized system capable of real-time measurement of soil water content by tensiometers has been developed to control water flux (Düring and Hummel 1999; El Ouaghlidi et al. 1999; Fermanich et al. 1991; Krahe et al. 1997).

Material balance is an important index to measure and may serve to help establish the validity of a column leaching study, especially when ¹⁴C-labeled pesticides are used. Quantitation of volatiles, including carbon dioxide from volatilization and microbial mineralization, is indispensable to achieving a good measure of material balance. The ability of pesticides to undergo mineralization has been examined in closed column systems equipped with various traps under static (Kruger et al. 1996; Locke et al. 1994) and air-flow (Alhajjar et al. 1990; Griessbach et al. 1998; Irwin et al. 1996; Langenbach et al. 2000) conditions. Both ¹⁴CO₂ and organic volatiles were recovered in unaged soil columns, and no clear advantage between the trapping methods was found (Arthur et al. 1998). However, upon soil aging, up to 20% of the applied ¹⁴C was collected as ¹⁴CO₂ as a result of the leaching of fenpropathrin (28) and cypermethrin (29) (Sakata et al. 1986, 1990). ¹⁴C recovery fluctuated between 70 and 100%, providing an indication of how difficult it was to successfully trap all volatiles.

The measured mobility of pesticides was variable, especially in undisturbed soil columns, even when conditions were carefully controlled. Such variability originates from several factors that include differences in the spatial distribution of soil voids that may originate from fissures and biopores (Flury et al. 1994; Ghodrati and Jury 1990; Lennartz 1999), variability in soil characteristics, and the nature of the microbial populations that inhabit the soil (Bending et al. 2006; Charnay et al. 2005; Coquet and Barriuso 2002; Shaw and Burns 1998; Stenrød et al. 2006). Larger-scale undisturbed soil cores, with a diameter and length of >0.5 m, were utilized to investigate

the relationship between pesticide transport and heterogeneous soil structure under laboratory conditions (Beck et al. 1995; Jørgensen et al. 1998; Takamatsu et al. 2007). Differences in the spatial distribution of soil voids was found to cause the variable water flow in soil matrix and through macropores, depending on the flow rate of water, and resulted in variable leaching patterns of the tested pesticides. Moreover, the effects of diurnal and seasonal changes in temperature and rainfall may also produce patterns of pesticide transport under natural conditions that are different to those observed in the laboratory. To bridge the potential gaps between laboratory-column leaching and field studies, a technique depicted in Fig. 1b can be used. In this system, a number of soil cores are installed in a chamber and the spaces between them are filled with soil or sand. This system can be conveniently used outdoors or in a greenhouse to simulate outdoor climate conditions (Beulke et al. 2001; Cherrier et al. 2005; Jones et al. 1998; Leake 1991; Walker et al. 1996; Weber et al. 2007).

3.2 Outdoor Lysimeters

Outdoor lysimeter techniques have been developed to bridge the gaps that may exist between data obtained under laboratory vs. field mobility study conditions and several test guidelines are available (BBA 1990; Dutch Commission 1987; EFSA 2007a; OECD 2000) that address the conduct of lysimeter studies. However, in general, lysimeters are vessels that contain a soil monolith (Fig. 1c) that is useful for studying the several phases of the hydrological cycle. Such phases include infiltration, runoff, evapotranspiration, and the removal of soluble constituents in drainage, under conditions that approximate typical agronomic practices and meteorology. To reflect regional differences in soils and climate, special studies may be required, as performed by Francaviglia et al. (2000), who proposed an experimental design that was specific to the Mediterranean region. Many excellent reviews are available that address pesticide mobility as determined by using lysimeters (Bergström 2000; Führ et al. 1990, 1998, 2003; Hance and Führ 1992; Hassink and Kördel 2000; Kördel and Klein 2006; Kördel et al. 1991; Russell 1995).

Lysimeters that are designed to weigh the water that flows through them are also used. Such lysimeters can directly measure water gain and loss. However, nonweighing lysimeters are generally utilized, because they are easier to handle and are less expensive. It is recommended in lysimeter studies that the soil monolith has a surface area of >0.5 m² and a depth of 1–1.3 m. Moreover, it is important to carefully extract the monolith from the field without compacting the soil; this is usually accomplished by using a drilling technique (Leake 1991; Persson and Bergström 1991). Collecting a soil monolith under dry conditions is preferred so as to prevent later shrinkage that can enhance side-wall flow effects (Bergström 1990; Kördel et al. 1991). Soil monoliths are then buried in the ground with gravel and porous ceramic plates at the bottom (Leake 1991; Yon 1992). When a soil monolith is vegetated, the same crops/vegetation should be grown around it to act as a guard crop (Fig. 1c). Lysimeters having a large surface area enabled the planting of grapevines to examine herbicide behavior under simulated natural conditions (Fent et al. 1993).

15

Soil water is easily collected from the bottom of such free-draining lysimeters. In larger-size lysimeters, the ability to use porous ceramic candles or plates for collecting soil water is limited, because of the potential disturbance to the soil structure (Pütz et al. 1998; Roy et al. 2001; Schoen et al. 1999a). Kördel and Klein (2006) reported that macropores were disrupted when suction plates produced lower pesticide concentrations in soil water; this effect was caused by disruption to the rapid water flux. Crops that have reached the harvest stage and soil samples that represent the entire soil profile should be collected for analysis at the termination of a lysimeter study. Analyses of these samples should show the distribution in samples, not only of the pesticide itself but also any metabolites. When performing lysimeter studies, the use of a radiotracer enables researchers to obtain information on both the transport and the environmental fate of the test pesticide, under natural conditions (Führ et al. 1998). The effects of the formulation on pesticide mobility are also often tested. Formulations, in which the active ingredient is radiolabeled, may be applied to vegetated lysimeters under natural conditions with appropriate irrigation (Führ et al. 1990; Keller and Weber 1997; OECD 2000). The specific protocols and their associated conditions for the conduct of lysimeter studies have evolved over time. OECD (2000) originally requested duplicate studies, and a study duration of 2-3 years, but, more recently, a longer test period and more replicates have been recommended by EFSA (2007a).

Loss of a portion of applied pesticide from outdoor lysimeters is expected to occur. The extent of loss depends on the rate of volatility and biodegradability of the tested pesticide. Führ et al. (1998) reported a significant loss from volatilization and mineralization in lysimeter studies performed on 13 pesticides. The levels of the losses for the corresponding pesticides were 20-85% of the applied dose. To continuously collect volatiles, Schroll et al. (1992) installed a volatilization chamber that was composed of a series of traps at the soil surface of a lysimeter. They found more volatilization for pendimethalin (99), which has a higher vapor pressure, than for terbutylazine (78). However, Schroll et al. (1999) discovered that differences in mineralization for the two herbicides were insignificant between agricultural and forest soils. Recently, Schroll and Kühn (2004) tested a plant chamber that enclosed the upper parts of plants as part of a weighing lysimeter study performed with ¹⁴C-labeled isoproturon (38). In this study, it was demonstrated that soil mineralization was higher than that in plants, but volatilization was similar from both surfaces, and high levels of ¹⁴C recovery (97–99%) were observed. The extent of mineralization and volatilization was shown to be dependent on soil type (Schroll et al. 2008). Similar trends were observed for glyphosate (15) (Grundmann et al. 2008). In one other approach, a UV-transparent wind tunnel was installed over a lysimeter (Wolters et al. 2003). This approach achieved both satisfactory results and a good material balance.

Rice plants are grown under water management systems that are different than those are used for other arable crops. Hence, specific lysimeter systems are used to track pesticide mobility under flooded rice conditions. By using a flooded paddy-soil monolith, equipped with a volatile trap covering a portion of the soil surface, the behavior of carbofuran (17) and bentazon (93) was examined over a period of 4 years (Lee et al. 1994, 1996). Mineralization reached a plateau within 20 weeks, and ¹⁴C was predominantly distributed in the upper soil layers and in the straw of rice

plants. A similar ¹⁴C distribution was observed for cinosulfuron (53) (Lee et al. 1998), propiconazole (131) (Kim et al. 2002), and molinate (22) (Park et al. 2005), although the leached amounts were different. Lee et al. (2003) also reported that mineralization of azimsulfuron (56) was enhanced by changing the conditions in the lysimeter from one that was flooded to an aerobic non-flooded one. Recently, Nhung et al. (2009) designed a disturbed paddy-soil lysimeter to simulate a field (measured) water balance and reported that the degradation profiles of benthiocarb (21) and simetryn (2-SCH₃ derivative of simazine) (75)) in water compared well to the measured dissipation profiles of these compounds in the paddy field.

For determining pesticide mobility in soil, an outdoor lysimeter study has many advantages over laboratory column leaching studies. In outdoor studies, one can examine and evaluate the seasonal effect of an application on leaching in ways that include: differences in water flux and degradation (Brown et al. 2000; Kördel et al. 1992), the contribution of preferential flow (Hassink and Kördel 2000), plant uptake with evapotranspiration (Führ et al. 2003; Hellpointer 1998). Such effects cannot be determined by conducting laboratory column leaching studies. However, lysimeter studies do have a few intrinsic disadvantages. Lysimeters represent a natural soil profile, but the variability of profiles, even within a single field may be high, and therefore, may require many replicates to obtain an accurate view of field pesticide transport (OECD 2000; Parsons et al. 1995; Russell 1995). Moreover, neither the presence of a near-surface GW table or aquifer nor the lateral flow resulting from slowly permeable or impermeable soils is addressed in the outdoor lysimeter system (Brown et al. 1995; Hollis and Carter 1990). By sub-irrigating the soil monolith, Jebellie et al. (2000) discovered that the depth of a water table caused a statistically insignificant effect on residues of metolachlor (67) in soil and pore water. Fent et al. (1999) used an outdoor lysimeter, and compared results with a field plot of the same dimension. They demonstrated that the ¹⁴C-pesticide, its main metabolite and two tracers were similarly distributed in the soil profiles of both systems, with almost identical average amounts of each pesticide leached. Therefore, the presence of a shallow GW table or aquifer seems not to significantly affect the transport of pesticide, when a vertical water flow predominates. In contrast, the absence of lateral flow may produce overestimates of the long-term accumulation of pesticides in soil (Klein et al. 1998) or may impart a different character to its vertical transport. The most critical difference from a field study is the presence of a zero-tension bottom boundary in the lysimeter that significantly affects upward and downward movement of water (Bergström 2000; OECD 2000; Hassink and Kördel 2000). Indeed, Fogg et al. (1994) reported much higher leaching in an outdoor lysimeter study that was possibly due to the existence of a zero-tension bottom layer.

3.3 Field Leaching

The simple approach to overcoming the zero-tension boundary issue in outdoor lysimeter studies is to directly drive the leaching cylinder into the field (Copin et al. 2000). The movement of the pesticide and its metabolites can then be conveniently

monitored by analyzing the extracted and segmented soil core at each soil depth (Anderson and Dulka 1985; Keller and Weber 1995; Koskinen et al. 1998; Sorenson et al. 1994; Weber et al. 2006). Soil water can be collected by installing suction cups below each core (Carter and Fogg 1995). By using the conservative ³⁶Cl⁻ tracer in a field leaching study, Hance et al. (1981) showed that cultivating soil opens channels in the surface that can result in more leaching. However, the transport of pesticides from either lateral flow in the soil profile or surface run-off cannot be estimated using this method. One alternative approach is to utilize a larger field lysimeter under more controlled conditions (Edwards and Glass 1971; Glass and Edwards 1979). In one such study, the leachate and run-off from three pesticides, including dicamba (83), were periodically monitored using a sloped undisturbed soil block that had a surface area of 8 m² and a depth of 2.4 m (Glass and Edwards 1979). Malone et al. (2004) more recently examined the loss of several herbicides from such a lysimeter system and found that leaching events occurred shortly after heavy rainfall and resulted from preferential flow.

More realistic methods for performing field leaching studies are represented by two approaches; a small-scale prospective groundwater (PGW) monitoring study that was proposed by the US EPA (Chang and Ying 1998; Russell 1995; USEPA 2008b) and a terrestrial field dissipation study (Alister et al. 2008; Corbin et al. 2006; Peters et al. 2002; USEPA 2008c; Walker and Welch 1989). Newcombe et al. (2005) conducted a PGW monitoring study of acetochlor (66) at eight 1.2-ha US sites and demonstrated that this herbicide was unlikely to contaminate GW in most areas. A sophisticated field leaching study was conducted on glyphosate (15) and its metabolite aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA) in Europe by Kjær et al. (2005). Water samples were collected from suction cups, wells, and drainage to monitor the movement of these chemicals. The authors confirmed that the transport of these chemicals in soil was driven mainly by the complicated balance between water flux, adsorption, and microbial degradation.

The second realistic means for measuring field leaching utilized a field dissipation approach. This approach is more convenient, and the amount of pesticide leached is monitored in this approach by either a drainage system (Felding 1995; Jones et al. 2000; Kladivko et al. 1991; Novak et al. 2001b; Petersen et al. 2002; Traub-Eberhard et al. 1994) or a porous suction sampler (Carter and Fogg 1995; Fogg et al. 1994; Gatzweiler et al. 1999; Guzzella et al. 2003; Peters et al. 2002; Suzuki 2000), which is buried under the ground. However, with such devices any disturbance of soil structure will affect the leaching behavior of tested pesticides (Flury 1996). The dissipation of a ¹⁴C-labeled form of a formulated product provides researchers with more information on the distribution and environmental fate of a pesticide under real field conditions than using unlabeled products (Baker et al. 2002). Alternatively, two other methods to monitor the concentration of a pesticide and its metabolites in soil water are to use wells (Isensee et al. 1990; Kim and Feagley 2002; Rosenbom et al. 2010), or pan-lysimeters (Hall et al. 1989; Tindall and Vencill 1995).

Drip irrigation technology has been developed, especially for semi-arid regions, to improve the efficiency of water use and to reduce soil erosion. Garratt et al. (2007)

sprayed imidacloprid (117) and procymidone (115) on green beans grown in the greenhouse and found that their vertical transport in soil occurred in parallel with periodical drip irrigation. Drip irrigation emitters buried at a depth of 45–60 cm in a hop yard resulted in the distribution of (117) residues to remain within a 30-cm radial distance from the emitters (Felsot et al. 2003). Ceasing irrigation reduced the further leaching of (117) to deeper soil layers. Even when a pesticide is uniformly applied to the field, the presence of vegetation produces a heterogeneous water flux, which results in nonuniform leaching. Saison et al. (2008) performed a field study on cadusafos (14) in a banana plantation and found that more (14) is lost at the base of the plant by leaching under a much larger water flux than that around the base. Delphin and Chapot (2006) injected three herbicides into the soil profile and monitored soil water collected below the injection points with suction cups. The retardation factor of each herbicide was calculated from the ratio of the drainage volumes of the peak concentrations of each herbicide vs. Br⁻, and the results were comparable to the theoretically estimated values from each soil adsorption coefficient.

The leaching results from an agricultural field can be applied to leaching that occurs in other situations. Putting greens on golf courses consist of a unique type of turf at the surface, which is infiltrated with organic thatch composed of decomposed roots and stems, over a sandy soil and/or coarse gravel. The thatch layer plays a key role in enhancing adsorption and accentuating microbial degradation, thus preventing the occurrence of leaching. Such effects from thatch were reported for iprodione (116) and selected fungicides (Strömqvist and Jarvis 2005; Wu et al. 2002b). Wu et al. (2002a) installed lysimeters fitted with flux chambers on the turf surface of a putting green. Although the sandy and gravel layer of the under-surface of a putting green should be more permeable than an agricultural field, more of the chlorpyrifos (4) and trichlorfon (13) applied to the putting green were lost by volatilization and clipping removal of creeping bentgrass, compared to losses from leaching and degradation. In addition, railway embankments are covered by gravel, thereby reducing the potential for pesticide sorption; leaching under such conditions can therefore occur rapidly. Börjesson et al. (2004) assessed the possibility of GW contamination from application of imazapyr (87) to Swedish railway embankments. The pesticide (87) became localized in the surface soil layers as a result of its persistence in soil water. Moreover, leaching of (87) was reported to more likely occur from the center of the track, which was covered by gravel, than from the sides of the track.

4 Soil Processes Controlling Pesticide Mobility

After application, pesticides that are deposited on plant and soil surfaces undergo volatilization and photodegradation (Katagi 2004). Pesticides entering the unsaturated soil profile undergo adsorption/desorption and degradation, and a proportion of the chemical is transported downwards through the soil profile with the water flux. Surfactants and other reagents in pesticide formulations are known to modify the water solubility and adsorption/desorption properties of pesticides by micelle formation

or association; however, their effect on the soil biodegradation of pesticides is ambiguous (Katagi 2008). Sprayable formulations do not generally influence pesticide leaching in the field, because the pesticide and other ingredients in formulation leach separately; in contrast, granular or controlled-release formulations may affect leaching markedly of some pesticides, by changing the amount of free pesticide that is subjected to degradation and transport in the soil (Flury 1996; Katagi 2008).

As mentioned above, sorption and degradation are two of the basic properties of pesticides that control leaching (Aharonson et al. 1987; Bewick 1994; Russell 1995). By using the convection-dispersion model, as described in Sect. 6.1, and by assuming equilibrium sorption, first-order degradation kinetics and passive plant uptake Boesten (1991) demonstrated that soil adsorption and degradation significantly controlled the amount of pesticide leached. Since pesticide molecules that are dissolved in pore water or are associated with organic matter, colloids, and particles move with the water flux, the adsorption/desorption process in the soil matrix determines the leaching behavior of the pesticide. Furthermore, soil microbes play an important role in degrading pesticides, and the increased microbial activity and biomass at the plant root-soil interface enhances the degradation rate in the rhizosophere (Anderson et al. 1993, 1994). Such microbial enhancement has been confirmed by observing a more rapid dissipation of herbicides in small outdoor lysimeters planted with barley than in those containing only bare soil (Rüdel et al. 1993). Such enhancement was also affirmed by the relationship that exists between biomass carbon and the degradation of atrazine (74) in vegetated lysimeters (Lin et al. 2003). Abiotic hydrolysis occurs only minimally, except when soils are rather acidic or alkaline, because slower hydrolysis prevails at neutral pHs for most pesticides (Katagi 2002). In deeper soil layers and in GW, anaerobic biodegradation and/ or redox reactions with reduced species such as Fe²⁺ may also contribute to pesticide breakdown (Aharonson et al. 1987; Bewick 1994).

Adsorption and degradation processes are affected by the variability of soil characteristics in the field and by extrinsic agricultural practices. By using the soils collected from 17 to 29 locations at two US sites, Rao et al. (1986) examined how the adsorption coefficient (K_{oc}), normalized for the fraction of organic carbon content (f_{oc}), and the aerobic dissipation half-life (DT₅₀) varied spatially for three pesticides. The spatial variability of K_{oc} corresponded well to that of OC, with a coefficient of variance (CV) of less than 20%. There was no statistically significant spatial variability of pesticide properties, as well as the type of distribution, normal or log-normal, is a very important consideration in a leaching simulation (Dubus et al. 2003a).

4.1 Adsorption and Desorption

Soil sorption processes are governed by physical, electrostatic, and chemical interactions and depend on the properties of the pesticide involved and on the adsorbent. The simple linear and empirically derived Freundlich equations are generally used to describe the adsorption of pesticides and their metabolites (Katagi 2006). These equations are as follows

Linearisotherm :
$$K_d = q_e / C_e$$
 (3)

Freundlich isotherm :
$$\ln q_{\rm e} = \ln K_{\rm F} + \left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \ln C_{\rm e}$$
 (4)

Where

 K_{d} , linear adsorption coefficient (L kg⁻¹);

 $K_{\rm F}$, Freundlich adsorption coefficient ($L^{1/n}$ mg^{1-1/n} kg⁻¹);

 q_e , amount of pesticide per unit weight of soil (mg kg⁻¹);

 $C_{\rm s}$, concentration of pesticide in water (mg L⁻¹).

The value 1/n is a joint measure of both the relative magnitude and diversity of energies associated with a particular adsorption process. Solute partitioning to soil organic matter is one of the most important mechanisms by which adsorption to soil occurs, and it is the dominant factor in soil adsorption when f_{oc} is>2% (Arienzo et al. 1994). Adsorption interactions with clay, silt, or metal oxides are more important for soils which have a lower f_{oc} (Celis et al. 2005; Morillo et al. 2004; Sánchez-Camazano et al. 1994; Wauchope et al. 2002). The f_{oc} value tends to decrease with soil depth and hence, lower K_d values are usually reported at deeper soil layers (Felding 1997; Walker et al. 1989). In general, the higher the adsorption coefficient of a pesticide, the less it leaches in soil, unless there are effects from facilitated transport by dissolved organic matter, or preferential flow occurs (Baskaran et al. 1996; Fernandes et al. 2003; Grover 1977; McCall et al. 1980). The K_{d} value obtained by the batch equilibrium method does not always correlate with that estimated from the retardation factor in the column leaching study, suggesting that adsorption-desorption processes involved in leaching processes are quite complex (Elabd et al. 1986).

Both soil pH and clay greatly affect soil sorption processes, especially for ionizable pesticides. The sulfonylurea (Abdulla et al. 2001; Walker et al. 1989) and imidazolinone herbicides (Johnson et al. 2000; Regitano et al. 2005; Weber et al. 2003) are ionized at soil pHs greater than their pK_a (i.e. ~4), which ionization produces less soil adsorption and a higher degree of leaching from electrostatic repulsion towards the negatively charged soil surface. A similar relationship was reported for 2,4-D (59), but the pH effect was partly masked by its hydrophobic interactions with soil organic matters (Mallawatantri et al. 1996). In contrast, the cationic fentin acetate (124) and protonated carbendazim (24) are tightly bound to soils due to an electrostatic attraction (Aharonson and Kafkafi 1975; Barnes et al. 1973). The interaction of ionizable 2,4-D (59) and simazine (75) with Fe-montmorillonite has been individually examined by using X-ray diffraction and IR measurements (Cox et al. 2000). The acidic clay made a large fraction of (59) undissociated and (75) entered into the basal spacing of the clay, which increased their adsorption.

The adsorption coefficient of pesticides sometimes increases with time, indicating the presence of a nonequilibrium slow adsorption process, which follows a rapid one (Pignatello 2000). The slower process is thought to originate from the resistance of

the soil matrix to the diffusion of pesticide molecules through pores and organic matter. Furthermore, hysteresis, where adsorption and desorption values deviate from one another also occurs for some pesticides, and results from the interactions of pesticide molecules specifically with organic matter and/or clay. Once these interactions occur, pesticide molecules can become strongly resistant to desorption. Pignatello (2000) has proposed several possible mechanisms for how such interactions occur. These include the formation of metastable states and insufficient time for establishing equilibrium. Hysteresis is usually evaluated by the following equation.

$$H = \frac{(1 / n_{\rm des})}{(1 / n_{\rm ads})}$$
(5)

Where H is a hysteresis index, and the subscripts relate to desorption and adsorption.

When adsorption is determined using the batch equilibrium method, the *H* values in various soils appeared to be dependent on the chemical structure of the pesticide and were reported to be both >1 (Calderón et al. 2004; Cuevas et al. 2008; Fernandes et al. 2003; Morillo et al. 2004) and <1 (Gupta and Gajbhiye 2002a; Khoury et al. 2001).

The slower adsorption process has been examined by conducting either batch adsorption or soil leaching studies for various pesticides. Oi (1999) reported that the K_d value of imidacloprid (17) increased by a factor of 3–4, as a result of aging two soils for 100 days; such aging resulted in the reduction of leaching by a factor of 2 in this column study. In a similar experiment, the K_d value of imazethapyr (87) increased by a factor of 10, as a result of soil aging for 16 days (O'Dell et al. 1992). After soil aging for up to 30 days, (87) experienced time-dependent adsorption and leaching was progressively reduced, even when the compound existed in a dissociated form (at pH 5–8) (Johnson et al. 2000). Such time-dependent adsorption can be mathematically described by a two-compartment model. One of the compartments is a reversible site (S_1) that is in equilibrium with a pore water phase (W) and is described by either a linear or Freundlich isotherm. In contrast to this rapid process, the transfer of molecules to the other S_2 compartment (slow-desorption site) is a diffusion-limited process that is defined by mass transfer rate constants (k_r , k_r).



Gaston and Locke (2000) reported that the two-site equilibrium–kinetic model shown above describes the time-dependent adsorption of acifluorfen (70) well. O'Dell et al. (1992) estimated the fraction of S_1 to be 0.3–0.6 for imazethapyr (87) and similar values (0.4 and 0.5) were reported for isoproturon (38) and terbuthylazine (78) in batch equilibrium studies, assuming the two-site model (Köhne et al. 2006). S_2 may consist of sites having different adsorption characteristics, as demonstrated by Baskaran et al. (1996). Plots of the adsorbed concentrations of 2,4-D (59) and phorate (9) vs. (equilibration time)^{1/2} were bimodal straight lines, indicating the presence of at least two types of sorption sites that are controlled by diffusion. By examining the leaching behavior of a pesticide that was used to treat seeds, Sabbagh et al. (2007) introduced the third irreversible site to which pesticide is very tightly bound. The rate constant of this bound formation was found to be less than that of the kinetic desorption from the S_2 site by about one order of magnitude. In mathematical modeling, the concept of this third site was found to be indispensable in more precisely describing the tailing that occurred in the breakthrough curve (BTC) of triticonazole (130) (Beigel and Di Pietro 1999).

It was assumed that nonequilibrium sorption processes were prevalent in leaching studies conducted with chlorsulfuron (46), because of the asymmetric BTCs that were observed (Veeh et al. 1994). Based on the very low K_{d} value of chlorsulfuron (46), it was assumed that intra-aggregate diffusive mass transfer occurred instead of the expected kinetic adsorption. The effect of soil aggregate size on adsorption and desorption under static conditions has been examined for isoproturon (38) using soil aggregates of <3, 3–6, and 6–10 mm in diameter (Walker et al. 1999). As aggregate size increased adsorption slowed, but desorption occurred more rapidly. It was therefore concluded that the sorption processes were controlled by differences either in the external surfaces of the aggregates exposed to the solution of (38), or the diffusion of (38). However, when the method involved shaking, the effect of aggregate size on the adsorption of atrazine (74) was minimal for aggregates having a radius of 0.5–5 mm (Novak et al. 1994). van Beinum et al. (2005) and Villaverde et al. (2009) examined the influence of soil aggregates on pesticide time-dependent sorption, using aggregates coated with sodium alginate to promote molecular diffusion into pores. Their results indicated that there was less adsorption to the coated soil aggregates than to the dispersed noncoated soil particles. This probably resulted from the reduced accessibility of pesticide molecules to the inside of the aggregates. Sorption of pesticide in the aggregates was regarded to be a diffusion-controlled and reversible process and to have occurred via an intra-aggregation diffusion model. This model was successfully applied to explain the leaching behavior of three pesticides through undisturbed soil columns (van Beinum et al. 2006). The effect of initial moisture content on the diffusion of isoproturon (38) into aggregate pores was also investigated. By comparing the sorption processes of (38) and ${}^{3}H_{2}O$ in soil aggregates at three moisture levels, Johnson et al. (1999) demonstrated that the diffusion process contributed to adsorption in wet aggregates. In contrast, (38) did not leach differently when compared in wet and dry heavy-clay soils (Beulke et al. 2004a). In addition to the intra-aggregate diffusion mechanism, diffusion in soil organic matter including humic acids can be supposed, especially for neutral organic chemicals. Organic matter may behave as a rubbery gel or glassy matter and may affect the diffusion of chemicals, when partitioned from an aqueous phase (Pignatello 2000). Brusseau et al. (1991) reported that this mechanism plays a central role as a rate-limiting process, in the nonequilibrium sorption of aromatic hydrocarbons and chlorinated benzenes.

The large variability that occurs in K_d values, even within small areas, makes the assessment of pesticide mobility more difficult (Farenhorst 2006). Wood et al. (1987) examined the relationship between the K_d values of metolachlor (67) and the various

soil properties that prevailed in a 4-ha field. Soil texture had a CV of 10–30%, while organic matter content showed a CV of 40–50%. Geostatistical analysis provided a good correlation between K_d values and the OM contents in surface soils. Analysis by semivariograms of K_d and OM showed similar anisotropic patterns with a spatial dependence of up to 110 m. A similar variability was reported for the K_d values of atrazine (74) in the same field. However, the spatial distribution between K_d and K_{oc} was different, and the OC content only explained 60% of the variance in K_d . This indicated that soil pH and clay content also played a role in sorption (Novak et al. 1997). Jaynes et al. (1995) reported a field spatial dependence of <80 m in the K_d of (74), with its log-normal distribution as observed for f_{oc} . A large variance in K_d was observed for four herbicides in 21 French soil types, but the variability was greatly reduced by normalizing with the OC content, which resulted in CV values of ~10% (Coquet and Barriuso 2002). Furthermore, Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistics showed the normal distribution of K_{oc} rather than the log-normal one.

4.2 Biodegradation

The microbial degradation of a pesticide is the other important process which controls its residue levels and transport in a soil profile (Führ et al. 2003; Lynch 1995; OECD 2000, 2004; USEPA 2008a). For pesticides that are susceptible to hydrolysis and dissociation, degradation may be pH dependent (Si et al. 2005; van der Linden et al. 2009; Worrall et al. 2001). To simulate the degradation of a pesticide in a soil profile, Boesten (1991) has divided the degradation rate constant (k_d) into three terms, each representing the effects of temperature, soil moisture content, and soil depth, as shown below.

$$k_{\rm d} = f_{\rm t} \times f_{\theta} \times f_{\rm z} \times k_{\rm ref} \tag{6}$$

Where: k_{ref} , reference first-order degradation rate constant at standard temperature (T_{ref}) and moisture content (θ_{ref}) , estimated by a laboratory metabolism study; f_{t} , temperature term expressed as exp $[E_a \times (T-T_{\text{ref}})/(R \times T \times T_{\text{ref}})]; f_{\theta}$, soil moisture term expressed by the Walker's relationship as $(\theta/\theta_{\text{ref}})^{\text{B}}; f_z$, soil depth factor usually described by a numerical function.

 $E_{\rm a}$, *R*, and *T* are activation energy, gas constant, and absolute temperature, respectively. The typical median $E_{\rm a}$ value of 65.4 kJ mol⁻¹ was proposed by EFSA (2007b), based on an evaluation of existing pesticide metabolism data. *B* is an empirical constant of 0.7 proposed by Walker (1974) and can be optimized for each pesticide based on the moisture dependence of its degradation rate. Faster degradation is generally reported at higher temperatures and moisture contents in soil (Beulke et al. 2005; Roy et al. 2001; Vischetti and Businelli 1992; Vischetti et al. 1997). In addition to temperature dependence, the elapsing time between pesticide application and the first infiltration event has been shown to significantly affect the leaching behavior of pesticides in outdoor lysimeter studies (Brown et al. 2000; Flury 1996; Sakaliene et al. 2009). Because the microbial population present in deeper soil is
smaller, a smaller f_z value (<1) is generally assumed to exist with increasing soil depth (Kelsey and Alexander 1995; Shaw and Burns 1998). Mills et al. (2001) recently confirmed that the degradation of acetochlor (66) was slower in deeper soil layers that have a reduced microbial population. Beulke et al. (2000) calibrated the laboratory degradation half-lives of pesticides derived from 178 existing field dissipation studies, taking account of f_t and f_{θ} on a daily basis. By comparison with the field half-lives, over- and under-estimation was observed for 44% and 17% of the calibrated values, respectively. Many possible reasons were proposed for these deviations, including the contribution of other nonmicrobial degradation pathways, the use of inappropriate values for the E_a and B constants, and variability in the laboratory half-life.

Differences in biodegradation rates between flask incubation and leaching column conditions have been reported by many researchers. Chlortoluron (36) and terbutryn (80) degraded more slowly, by a factor of up to 3-9, when applied to the surface of laboratory soil columns, than when incubated with moistened soil in biometer flasks (Lechón et al. 1997). The tighter packing of soil without percolation resulted in reduced aeration at the soil surface layer where the pesticides were located, resulting in reduced degradation. Topp et al. (1994) reported that the formation of bound residues from ¹⁴C-atrazine (74) was similar in both flasks and undisturbed soil columns under the same static conditions, but that bound residue formation was reduced in the repacked soil columns. The authors speculated that disruption to the soil structure in the packed column caused a reduction in aeration, resulting in less degradation of atrazine (74). Interestingly, bentazon (93) which was uniformly applied to the repacked soil columns degraded more rapidly near the soil surface, but no such depth effect was observed for cyanazine (76), which is less persistent in soil. McDonald et al. (2006) have recently shown the opposite effect of aeration on the longer-term mineralization of strobilurin fungicides in a column leaching study. These observations indicate that the effect of aeration on biodegradation is quite ambiguous (Beulke et al. 2005).

More rapid dissipation of herbicides has been reported in column leaching and outdoor lysimeter studies, as compared to static incubation in biometers (Guo and Wagenet 1999; Rüdel et al. 1993). Kelsey and Alexander (1995) have shown the effect of water movement on the biodegradation of *p*-nitrophenol (PNP), by using the miscible displacement technique and by employing various water flow rates in soil columns of different lengths. The number of PNP-degrading microbes, mostly located in the upper soil layer increased with time, and the increased residence time of PNP in the longer soil column enhanced its biodegradation. The repeated application of 2,4-D (59) significantly increased the number of (59) degrading microbes, and its leaching behavior was well described by the Monod equation (Shaw and Burns 1998). A similar mechanism was considered to be contributing to the increased degradation of (59) in the soil column at a slower flow rate (Estrella et al. 1993; Langner et al. 1998).

The high variability of pesticide dissipation half-lives (DT_{50}) , with a CV of up to 30–50%, is well documented in the scientific literature. Not only is variation apparent within and among soils but testing methods are also considered to result in high

variability. When DT₅₀ values in lab soil studies vary too much, researchers should consider that pesticides may be lost by volatilization or codistillation. The log-normal distribution is frequently assumed for DT₅₀ values and is justified by constructing a probability distribution function (Dubus et al. 2003a; Wolt et al. 2001); the particular distribution pattern often depends on the soil type (Beulke et al. 2004b). By examining the microbial degradation of isoproturon (38) in soils collected from 30 subsites of a UK field, Walker et al. (2001) classified soils into three categories. Twelve soils exhibited first-order degradation kinetics, nine soils exhibited exponential decay followed by more rapid degradation, and for the remaining soils, microbial adaptation with a time lag was observed. The DT₅₀ values were most correlated with soil pH and biomass, indicating that these different degradation mechanisms stem from microbial diversity. Rodríguez-Cruz et al. (2006, 2008) reported a good correlation between DT₅₀ values and these soil properties. Principle component analysis on the mineralization of three herbicides including (38) showed that about 70% of the variance was accounted for by soil texture, organic carbon (OC) content and K_{4} (Charnay et al. 2005). Soil surface layers taken at 20 m intervals from a UK sandy loam field showed 20–30% CV in biomass carbon content and dehydrogenase activity, and the time taken to achieve 25% degradation of azoxystrobin (108) was correlated with soil pH and OC content (Bending et al. 2006).

The involvement of microbes in the variable degradation of 2,4-D (59) was clearly demonstrated by the analysis of fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) extracted from soil (Farenhorst et al. 2008). More than 70% of the variation in cumulative mineralization over 130 days, and the mineralization rate constant can be explained by the levels of FAME i17:1 and a18, which are associated with soil microbes. Therefore, microbial variability in the field would result in a spatially variable DT_{so}. The % mineralization of glyphosate (15) in soils collected from a field site in Denmark was spatially correlated with the soil OC content and showed a positive relationship with microbial respiration and activity (Vinther et al. 2008). Stenrød et al. (2006) recently reported considerable spatial heterogeneity in the mineralization of (15), even across a small area within a single field. Furthermore, differing pesticide degradation rates have been observed among small soil aggregates. Beulke et al. (2005) reported slower degradation of cyanazine (76) and bentazon (93), by a factor of 1.5-1.7 in larger soil aggregates (3-5 mm), compared with smaller ones (<3 mm). By contrast, increased mineralization of (59) was reported in larger soil aggregates having a particle size of 2–7 mm (Gonod et al. 2003). Bundt et al. (2001) conducted mineralization experiments using soil cubes with a 6 mm edge taken from the same slice of undisturbed soil core. The highest mineralization activity was found to be localized in the soil slices neighboring preferential flow paths at three depths. The existence of a hot spot exhibiting an intense area of microbial activity may be one reason for the observed variability in pesticide biodegradation.

Pesticide molecules are gradually dispersed in soil aggregates with time. Comfort et al. (1992) reported an increased dispersion coefficient with aging by analyzing the BTCs of dicamba (83), using the convection–dispersion model. During aging, pesticide molecules may be partly entrapped at sites that are resistant to desorption. Hence, when kinetic adsorption is involved in aging, biodegradation

is not the only factor that can contribute to a reduction in leaching. Renaud et al. (2004) conducted leaching studies with three urea and sulforylurea herbicides in undisturbed soils that were aged for 3–57 days. The authors found that the dissipation rates of the herbicides detected in the column leachates were much faster than was expected from their measured soil DT_{50} values, and that biodegradation could only account for 30-85% of the observed dissipation. This observation is probably explained by the time-dependent adsorption of these herbicides in soil, as reported by Walker et al. (2005). Pignatello et al. (1993) reported that more than 80% of aged atrazine (74) and metolachlor (67) were located in a slow exchange compartment of the soil, and a two-compartment hysteric mass transfer model described the slower leaching of the aged residues well. The influence of time-dependent adsorption on leaching is also supported by the results of an aged leaching study with terbumeton (81) (Conrad et al. 2006). Following 15 days of aging, the authors reported that an increased amount of (81) was diffused into soil micropores that were resistant to rapid desorption, thus causing a reduction in the amount of (81) available for leaching. Higher microbial activity in aged soil also caused a marked reduction in leaching. Leached amounts of ¹⁴C-isoproturon (38), collected from a soil column from a grassed buffer strip and aged for 44 days, were reduced by a factor of 10 compared to the amounts leached through an unaged column, and an increase in the formation of bound residues was also observed in the aged soil column (Benoit et al. 2000). The behavior of bound residues formed by aging has been investigated in larger-scale outdoor lysimeter systems. Based on long-term analysis of soils treated with ¹⁴C-pesticides in outdoor lysimeters, Burauel and Führ (2000) reported that >80% of residual ¹⁴C remained in the top soil layer (0–30 cm) mainly as bound residues, and the biological availability of this material to plants was highest in the year of the application. A depth-dependent decrease of residual ¹⁴C from 8.8% to 0.7% was reported for the lysimeter treated with atrazine (74) and aged for more than 20 years (Jablonowski et al. 2008). The major part of the extractable fraction of soil residues was unknown polar degradates, with a trace amount of 2-OH derivative.

4.3 Mobility Index

Predicting pesticide mobility under real field conditions, even if qualitative, is very useful when evaluating the potential of a pesticide to contaminate GW. A key set of environmental parameters and field conditions that influence GW contamination were extracted from GW monitoring data in the USA, and are known as the Cohen's criteria (Cohen et al. 1984; Wells et al. 1995; Table 1). Based on the first cycle of the National Water Quality Assessment, Kolpin et al. (2000) reported that the frequency of pesticide detection in GW is correlated with DT_{50} , and K_{oc} values and with the use pattern of the pesticide. A similar correlation has been shown for atrazine (74), metolachlor (67), and primisulfuron-methyl (50) in field lysimeter studies conducted at several field sites in the USA (Weber et al. 2006, 2007).

| Table 1 Mobility indices | Table 1 Mobility indices used for evaluation of groundwater contamination | | |
|--------------------------|---|--|----------------------|
| Index | Equation or parameter | Mobility class | Reference |
| Cohen's criteria | Soil DT ₅₀ (field, lab) >2–3 weeks, Hydrolysis DT ₅₀ >25 weeks, Aqueous photolysis DT ₅₀ >1 weeks, Soil $K_{oc} < 300-500$, Soil $K_{d} < 5$, $K_{H} < 10^{-2}$, WS >30 ppm or field leaching at >75–90 cm | High leaching potential when measured E-fate properties: and -clause + Movement in the field soil profile | Cohen et al. (1984) |
| McCall's criteria | $K_{ m oc}$ determined by batch equilibrium method | 0–50, Very high 50–150, High 150–500, Medium 500–2,000, Low 2,000–5,000, Slight >5,000, Immobile | McCall et al. (1981) |
| RF(H) | $R_{\rm f} = \{1 + (K_{\rm oc} \times f_{\rm oc} \times \rho \times (\theta^{0.67} - 1))\}^{-1}$ | Leacher $(\rightarrow 1)$ Non-leacher $(\rightarrow 0)$ | Hamaker (1975) |
| Tc | $Tc = (\theta \times RF \times L)/q$ RF = 1 + ($\rho \times f_{-} \times K_{-}$)/ θ_{-} + (AC × K_{-})/ θ_{-} | Relative comparison | Jury et al. (1983) |
| AF | AF=exp{-(0.693 xL×RF× $\theta_{\rm e}$)/(q×DT ₃₀)} RF=1+(p×f_{\infty} × K_{\infty})/\theta_{\rm e} + (AC×K_{\rm H})/\theta_{\rm fc} | In AF 0 to -1 High -1 to -2 Medium -2 to -3 Low -3 to -4 Very low <-4 Unlikely | Rao et al. (1985) |
| | | | (continued) |

Soil Column Leaching of Pesticides

27

| Table 1 (continued) | | | |
|-----------------------------|--|---|---|
| Index | Equation or parameter | Mobility class | Reference |
| LPI | $LPI = (1,000 \times DT_{30} \times q)/(0.693 \times L \times RF \times \theta_{rc})$ RF = 1 + ($\rho \times f_{oc} \times K_{oc}$)/ θ_{rc} + (AC × K_{H})/ θ_{rc} | >90, Very high 75–89, High 50–74, Moderate 25–49, Low | Meeks and Dean (1990) |
| LEACH LIX | LEACH = (WS × DT ₉₀)/($V_p × K_{oc}$) LIX = exp (-0.693 × K_{oc} /DT ₃₀) | C^{-2+2} , very now Relative comparison Leacher $(\rightarrow 1)$ | Laskowski et al. (1982) Spadotto (2002) |
| GUS | $GUS = (\log DT_{30}) \times (4 - \log K_{0c})$ | Non-leacher (→0) >2.8, Leacher 1.8–2.8, Intermediate <1.8, Non-leacher | Gustafson (1989) |
| Water solubility (WS), vapo | Water solubility (WS), vapor pressure (V_p) , bulk density (ρ) , half-life (DT_{30}) , groundwater depth (L) , volumetric soil water content (θ, f_p) at field capacity, | ndwater depth (L) , volumetric soil water co | intent (θ : f_c , at field capacity), |

groundwater recharge rate (q), organic carbon (f_{oc}), adsorption coefficient (K_{o}) and its organic carbon-normalized value (K_{oc}), air-filled porosity (AC), Henry's law constant (K_{H})

Many researchers have proposed indices to predict the mobility of pesticides in the field (Bewick 1994; Helling and Dragun 1981; Russell 1995) as listed in Table 1. The K_{oc} value, obtained by using the batch equilibrium method, is the simplest and most useful index (McCall et al. 1981). The HPLC retention time of a pesticide relative to 2,4-D (59) was also reported to be useful for classifying pesticide mobility (McCall et al. 1980). The mobility index (MI), defined as $\Sigma(D_i \times F_i)$, was used as a simple transport parameter in a leaching study (Helling and Dragun 1981). D_i is the mean distance of each soil column segment from the surface and F_i is the normalized fraction of pesticide in each segment. The MI value divided by the length of the soil column is analogous to the R_f value in soil TLC studies. The MI values of pesticides in the field have been shown to correlate well with soil organic matter and clay content and the soil adsorption coefficient (Mora et al. 1997; Ohmes and Mueller 2007; van Leemput et al. 1986; Weber et al. 1993, 2003, 2006, 2007).

The most useful chromatographic index of mobility is the retardation factor (R), as defined below, when linear adsorption of a pesticide to soil is assumed (Helling and Dragun 1981).

$$R = 1 + (\rho \times K_{\rm d})/\theta \tag{7}$$

where ρ , θ , and K_{d} are soil bulk density, soil water content and the soil adsorption coefficient, respectively. Hamaker (1975) proposed the RF(H) index by introducing the effect of soil moisture content to the retardation factor. By directly considering the convective transport of a solute in soil under steady water flow, several indices were developed. Jury et al. (1983) introduced the travel time (T_{a}) necessary for the pesticide to reach GW at a depth of L. The RF term represents the retardation of pesticide leaching from soil adsorption and partitioning between vapor and liquid phases in soil; the attenuation factor (AF) was further developed by assuming similar dissipation in the root and vadose zones of the soil profile (Rao et al. 1985). A geographic information system linking the AF index to spatial parameters in soil was successfully applied to a county-level assessment of sites vulnerable to GW contamination from three pesticides (Shukla et al. 2000). Since the AF index gives a wide range of values, Li et al. (1998) proposed a corresponding ln (ln AF) value for mobility assessment. Martins et al. (2007) also reported that the AF index underestimated the field leaching of seven pesticides. To more precisely predict the transport of pesticides, Kookana et al. (2005) introduced both depth-dependent soil adsorption and microbial degradation to the AF index. However, the use of a worstcase assumption for the recharge rate produced an overestimation of leaching for the test pesticides, none of which were detected in field monitoring studies. As an alternative approach, Meeks and Dean (1990) derived the leaching potential index (LPI), which is equal to the reciprocal of ln AF multiplied by -1,000. A positive correlation was demonstrated between the detection of 1,2-dibromochloropropane in 272 wells located in areas vulnerable to GW contamination and LPI values.

The relative leaching potential index (RLPI), defined as $(K_{oc}/DT_{50}) \times 10$, was developed as a simple index and is easily estimated from data on the adsorption and degradation of pesticides in soil. The RLPI showed a good correlation with the leaching depth of pesticides (Futch and Singh 1999). The LEACH index was derived





by Laskowski et al. (1982) by adding a volatilization term to RLPI and Spadotto (2002) modified the RLPI to an exponential formula, which they referred to as the screening leachability index (LIX). However, the most utilized index is the groundwater ubiquity score (GUS), which was developed by Gustafson (1989), and is based on the field DT_{s_0} value. The GUS index of >2.8 for a leacher and <1.8 for a non-leacher was successfully applied to evaluate pesticide monitoring data from water supplies in England and Wales (Brown et al. 1995). The relative leachability of pesticides and their metabolites in soil column leaching experiments was accurately estimated using GUS (Caracciolo et al. 2005; Fava et al. 2001, 2006, 2007; Fenoll et al. 2010; Khoury et al. 2001). Furthermore, correlation of GUS with GW and drainage monitoring data identified pesticides that had values for $DT_{50} > 3$ days, K_{∞} <7,000 and GUS >0.4 as possible leachers from golf courses (Suzuki et al. 1998). Recently, it has been reported that the GUS index is useful for evaluating the loss of pesticides through macropore flow (Kördel et al. 2008) and in lysimeter studies (Vischetti et al. 2002). To determine the applicability of GUS to a lysimeter study, GUS values were conveniently calculated and plotted (Fig. 2), using the geometric mean laboratory DT_{50} and arithmetic mean K_{cc} values of 53 pesticides for which outdoor lysimeter studies are available (EFSA 2011; EU 2011). The index was used to classify 21 pesticides as leachers (GUS >2.8) and 14 as having intermediate mobility (2.8>GUS>1.8). However, only 4 of the pesticides investigated were detected at maximum concentrations of >0.1 ppb in the lysimeter studies, which is the EU criterion for a leacher. Since the pesticides with GUS <1.8 exhibited insignificant leaching in the lysimeter studies (at <0.1 ppb), GUS can be used as a reasonably conservative index.

When used to predict pesticide leaching in the field, the indices listed in Table 1 should be confirmed. The AF and LEACH indices gave a similar ranking of potential GW contamination for 41 pesticides (Rao et al. 1985). Kogan et al. (2007) recently applied six leaching indices to the vertical distribution of five pesticides

that were applied to a field and found good correlation with Hamaker's RF(H), GUS, and LPI. Since these indices assume depth- and time-independent degradation and sorption, and uniform soil structure with a steady-state water flow without the consideration of meteorological conditions, their ability to provide an accurate prediction of pesticide mobility in the field is limited. Nevertheless, these indices can be used as indicators of potential GW contamination and can provide a reasonable estimate of the relative mobility of pesticides.

5 Soil Factors Controlling Pesticide Mobility

5.1 Soil Moisture

By using dye-staining techniques, the initial moisture content of soils was found to have little or no impact on the water flow pattern in most soils, unless macropores existed (Flury et al. 1994). Lower initial soil moisture content resulted in deeper penetration of water through the interfaces of soil aggregates and through decayed root channels, as evidenced by using dye-staining techniques (Schwartz et al. 1999). Surface tillage did not change the mean penetration and spreading rates of dyes in the soil profile, but produced more uniform staining near the soil surface. Soil tillage is thought to destroy the macropore networks of decayed root channels and earthworm burrows, resulting in the distribution of dye tracers around shallower root zones (Steenhuis et al. 1990). By staining a paddy field plot with Brilliant Blue dye, followed by visual analysis of both the horizontal and vertical soil profiles, it was shown that the lateral spreading of dye dominates the plough layer, whereas most of the soil matrix below the plough layer was unstained, except in the vicinity of the macropores (Stander and Gerke 2007).

The extent of WDC leaching was greatly affected by soil moisture and clay content (Kjaergaard et al. 2004). Colloid leaching from dry soils was low and independent of clay content, whereas higher leaching rates were observed in wet soils with higher clay content. As occurs with the leaching of colloids, organic carbon that exists predominantly in dissolved form was eluted more rapidly from wetter undisturbed soil columns. Kluitenberg and Horton (1990) showed that the initial water content of macropores controlled the dispersion of a solute in undisturbed soil columns. After the pulse application of CaCl₂, the soil column was percolated with aqueous CaSO₄ continuously under ponding or intermittently, and the BTC of Cl⁻ was monitored. An increase in the dispersion of Cl⁻ from the macropores to the surrounding soil matrix, before the resumption of elution, reduced the leaching of Cl⁻ by discontinuous percolation. Soil moisture also affects the extent of pesticide leaching. Higher amounts of bentazon (93) leached through small columns containing air-dried soil that had been aged for 6 days than through wetter soil columns (50 and 100% of water-holding capacity). This difference was attributed to the higher diffusion of (93) into the immobilized water of the meso- and micropores in dry soil

(Guimont et al. 2005). However, the effect of soil moisture on leaching appeared ambiguous in an outdoor lysimeter study performed with isoproturon (38) (Brown et al. 2001). Kazemi et al. (2008, 2009) investigated the effect of antecedent water content on the field leaching of four pesticides by using rainout shelters. The pesticides with a higher pore water velocity leached more rapidly in dry plots and also displayed lower rates of biodegradation than was the case in wet plots.

5.2 Preferential Flow

A preferential flow pathway can be defined as a space in the soil profile that has a lower bulk density and a higher hydraulic conductivity than that of the surrounding soil matrix. A solute is transported by preferential flow much earlier than would be expected for chromatographic flow, irrespective of its adsorption and degradation properties. Preferential flow can occur through macropores (macropore flow) generally observed to exist in structured soil and can also sometimes occur in unstructured soil as a fingered flow of water (Brown et al. 1995; Larsson et al. 1999; Tindall and Vencill 1995; White 1985). Brown et al. (1995) proposed that an air pressure build-up ahead of a wetting front, water repellency, and spatial variation in soil texture are factors that operate to produce fingered preferential flow.

Preferential flow through macropores has been characterized by the rapid breakthrough of pesticides from undisturbed columns of well-structured soils (Doran et al. 2008; Kamra et al. 2001; Kruger et al. 1996; Matocha and Hossner 1999; Morgan et al. 1995; O'Dell et al. 1992; Riise et al. 1992, 1994; Singh et al. 2002; van Beinum et al. 2006), and it is generally enhanced by high irrigation intensity (Düring and Hummel 1999; Starrett et al. 1996). In large undisturbed clay columns that have many fractures, Jørgensen et al. (1998) demonstrated that the diffusion of two herbicides and Cl⁻ from the fractures to the soil matrix was a key process and simulated their BTCs well. Czapar et al. (1992) demonstrated the rapid leaching of three herbicides through an artificial macropore, which was prepared using a copper tube in the center of a packed soil column, without causing any changes to soil properties such as saturated hydraulic conductivity, bulk density, and porosity. The breakthrough of some antibiotics not previously detected in leachates from standard column leaching studies has recently been reported in artificial macropore columns, indicating extremely rapid transport without any soil matrix interaction (Kay et al. 2005). Therefore, either the tortuosity or the surface properties of macropores are considered to control solute transport during preferential flow.

Having the highest pesticide concentration detected in the first drainage event usually indicates preferential flow in the field (Scorza Júnior et al. 2004). Tindall and Vencill (1995) observed the rapid breakthrough of 2,4-D (59) and dicamba (83) in a silty loam field after irrigation. Pearson et al. (1996) reported an increased contribution from preferential flow to the field leaching of (83) with increasing irrigation. Preferential flow was clearly observed when heavy rainfall or irrigation occurred shortly after pesticide application (Brown et al. 1999; Brumhard et al. 1991;

Dörfler et al. 2006; Malone et al. 2004). Although the elapsed time from a pesticide application to the first rainfall or irrigation event masks the distinct contribution of preferential flow through macropores, the earlier breakthrough of a pesticide or its degradates than expected from chromatographic flow has been reported in some outdoor lysimeter studies (Bergström and Jarvis 1993; Pütz et al. 1998; Roy et al. 2001; Schiavon 1988). Furthermore, the contribution of preferential flow can be confirmed in the field by the similar distribution of non-adsorbing conservative tracers and adsorbing solutes such as herbicides and dyes in the soil profile (Flury et al. 1995; Kung et al. 2000). In excavated undisturbed columns from the field, a positive correlation was observed between the percentage of stained area by depth and the breakthrough of Br⁻, indicating the involvement of preferential flow. Steenhuis et al. (1990), detected alachlor (65) and atrazine (74) in well water from no-till corn plots, most probably as a result of preferential flow along earthworm burrows and corn root channels, as shown by dye staining. However, not all of the fractures in clay soil profiles may always become stained with dye (Jørgensen et al. 2002), and hence the results of dye staining should be cautiously interpreted.

The differences in adsorption and microbial degradation in macropores, compared to the soil matrix affects the leaching of pesticides. Mallawatantri et al. (1996) examined the adsorption and mineralization of three ¹⁴C-labeled pesticides using soils collected from three horizons at depths of 0–0.65, 1.05–1.35, and 1.4–3.5 m, and from the macropore linings of the deepest soil horizon. Both K_F values and mineralization decreased in the order of the surface horizon soil, linings and the soils of the two deeper horizons, and adsorption and mineralization were positively correlated with organic carbon content and microbial population. Gaston and Locke (2002) reported more biomass carbon in the dye-stained macropore region of undisturbed soil cores, where more air and dissolved organic matter are supplied from the soil surface by the downward movement of water. However, based on the analysis of data from existing outdoor lysimeter and field leaching studies, Kördel et al. (2008) found that pesticide loss via macropore flow did not correlate with any specific environmental or pesticide parameter; many of these parameters affect each other in unpredictable ways.

The walls of earthworm burrows were reported to have a high adsorptive capacity for alachlor (65) and atrazine (74) (Edwards et al. 1992b). By directly introducing aqueous herbicide solutions to open-ended burrows in the field, the breakthrough of these herbicides was reduced by 80–90%, when compared to breakthrough in adjacent man-made holes. Furthermore, Stehouwer et al. (1993) measured the $K_{\rm F}$ values of (74) by the batch equilibrium method, using both the burrow linings and soil matrix collected at seven depths up to 50 cm. A significant correlation (r^2 =0.97) between $K_{\rm F}$ and total organic carbon (TOC) was observed in the test soils, and the measured $K_{\rm F}$ values for the burrow linings that had the highest TOC content were more than 1.5 times higher than those for the soil matrix. Increased adsorption to burrow linings was also reported for metolachlor (67), but the effect was insignificant for weakly sorbed herbicides such as dicamba (83) and primisulfuron (acid of (53)) (Stehouwer et al. 1994). The effect of living earthworms on pesticide leaching has also been examined. An increase in the number of individual earthworms introduced to soil cores resulted in increased elution of (74), indicating the involvement of preferential flow through the burrows (Sigua et al. 1995). However, in contrast, although preferential flow occurred, Farenhorst et al. (2000) reported a reduction in the leaching of (74) in the presence of living earthworms, possibly due to their ingestion of surface residues of the compound.

5.3 Soil Tillage, Amendment, and Vegetation

Normal agricultural practices such as tillage and amendment with organic materials directly affect soil texture and structure, and greatly modify water movement in soil. Furthermore, crop cultivation and weed growth also affect water movement from root expansion and changes in the microbial population in the rhizosphere. The effects of agricultural practices and vegetation on pesticide mobility are summarized in Tables 2 and 3.

Soil Tillage: The effect of tillage on pesticide mobility was quantitatively examined using available experimental data. Ratios of the leached amount (L), adsorption coefficient (K) and retardation factor (R) of pesticides between no-till (NT) or reduced tillage (RT) soil systems, and conventional tillage (CT) systems were used as indices (Table 2). In approximately 40% of the listed studies, the higher mobility of pesticides in NT or RT soil systems, compared to CT systems, is indicated by L>1, K<1, and R<1. The tillage effect depends not only on the soil texture but also on its method and depth and is sometimes masked by preferential flow, even in CT soil systems (Gaston and Locke 1996; Wilson et al. 1998); therefore, it is difficult to reach solid conclusions from the available information. Preferential flow in column leaching studies, characterized by the asymmetrical BTC of conservative tracers, was more frequently observed to occur for undisturbed NT soil, whereas chromatographic flow was generally observed for disturbed CT soil (Cox et al. 1999; Singh and Kanwar 1991; Singh et al. 2002). Even under the NT conditions, a reduction in the contribution of preferential flow to the leaching of atrazine (74) was observed in less structured sandy loam soil cores, when compared to structured silt loam soil cores (Sadeghi et al. 2000); these observations indicate the importance to mobility of soil texture. However, the destruction of macropores by earthworm burrows can reduce the contribution of preferential flow, irrespective of tillage practice (Sigua et al. 1995). Higher levels of organic matter in the top layer of NT soil reduce the effect of preferential flow from increased microbial degradation, and therefore, the relative proportion of pesticide leaching in CT soil is higher (Düring and Hummel 1999; Krahe et al. 1997; Levanon et al. 1993, 1994). By analyzing the soil water retention curve of a silt loam soil, Lipiec et al. (2006) reported that the pore throat radius in the NT soil was estimated to be around 1 μ m, which is much smaller than that in the matrix domain of the CT soil (110 µm). Therefore, in the absence of preferential flow, it can be concluded that the higher infiltration rate in the CT soil is caused by higher aerial porosity, resulting in increased pesticide mobility. Brown et al. (1990, 1999) reported that finer and deeper tilth had an insignificant effect on

| No. | Pesticide | Species ^a | Type ^b | Effect (NT or RT/CT) ^c | Reference |
|-----|----------------|----------------------|-------------------|---|--------------------------|
| 15 | Glyphosate | ¹⁴ C | OL | $L^{\rm d}, 0.7$ | Fomsgaard et al. (2003b) |
| 17 | Carbofuran | f | CI | L, 0.2–0.5 | Levanon et al. (1993) |
| | | f | F | 0.1 ppb (NT), ND (CT) | Steenhuis et al. (1990) |
| 37 | Fluometuron | ai | CI | K, 0.7–2.4 | Wilson et al. (1998) |
| 38 | Isoproturon | ai | CI | R, 1.2–4.0; K, 1.3–3.4 | Vincent et al. (2007) |
| | | ^{14}C | L | <i>L</i> ^d , 0.03 | Fomsgaard et al. (2003a) |
| 52 | Mecoprop | f | F | L, 9.1 | Elliott et al. (2000) |
| 55 | Alachlor | ¹⁴ C | CI | L, 1.4–2.1; D(5), 0.9–1.0; K, 0.9–1.7 | Clay et al. (1991) |
| | | f | F | 0.1–0.3 ppb (NT), ND (CT) | Steenhuis et al. (1990) |
| 57 | Metolachlor | ai | CI,CP | L, 1.4; L*, 1.7–2.4 | Singh et al. (2002) |
| | | f | F | L, 3.5–31 | Hall et al. (1991) |
| | | f | CI | L, 0.7–0.8 | Levanon et al. (1993) |
| | | f | CI | L, 0.5 | Düring and Hummel (199 |
| | | f | F | L, 0.6–4.0 | Fortin et al. (2002) |
| 70 | Acifluorfen | ai | CI | L, 0.9; K, 0.96–1.04 | Gaston and Locke (2000) |
| 74 | Atrazine | f | F | 0.1–0.4 ppb (NT), mostly ND (CT) | Steenhuis et al. (1990) |
| | | f | F | L, 6.4–104 | Hall et al. (1991) |
| | | f | CI | L, 0.6–0.8 | Levanon et al. (1993) |
| | | f | F | L, 0.7–3.7 | Fortin et al. (2002) |
| | | ^{14}C | CI | L, 2.3–9.4 | Sigua et al. (1995) |
| 78 | Terbuthylazine | ai | CI,CP | L, 1.8; L*, 1.6–3.7 | Singh et al. (2002) |
| | | f | CI | L, 0.7–0.8 | Düring and Hummel (199 |
| 32 | Bromoxynil | f | F | L, 1.3 | Elliott et al. (2000) |
| 83 | Dicamba | f | F | L, 1.9–456 | Hall and Mumma (1994) |
| | | f | F | L, 5.1 | Elliott et al. (2000) |
| 85 | Clopyralid | ai | CI | <i>L</i> ^d , 1.9–5.0; <i>D</i> ^d (4), 0.8–0.9 | Cox et al. (1999) |
| 93 | Bentazon | ^{14}C | CI | L, 1.1 | Gaston and Locke (1996) |
| 94 | Metribuzin | ai | CI | R, 1.2–1.8 | Dao (1995) |
| | | ai | CI | <i>R</i> , 1.6–3.4 | Vincent et al. (2007) |
| 95 | Metamitron | ai | CI | <i>L</i> ^d , 0.3–0.4; <i>D</i> ^d (4), 0.2–0.5 | Cox et al. (1999) |
| | | f | CI | L, 0.6–0.8 | Düring and Hummel (199 |

 Table 2
 Effect of tillage on mobility of pesticide

^aApplied with ai (non-labeled), f (formulation), or ¹⁴C (radiolabel). ^bCP and CI, column leaching using packed (disturbed) and intact (undisturbed) soil cores, respectively; OL, outdoor lysimeter; F, field lysimeter. ^cNT, no-tilled soil; RT, reduced tillage soil; CT, conventionally tilled soil. Effect, ratio of each parameter in NT (^d, RT) versus CT; *L*, leached amount (% of the applied dose, ppm or ppb); D(x), distribution at top *x*-cm soil core (%); *K*, adsorption coefficient (L kg⁻¹); *R*, retardation factor ((7), dimensionless). *means the ratio for intact soils versus packed ones. ND, not detected

the distribution of a radiotracer and patterns of dye staining in the top soil layer, when compared to normal tillage using a mole plough. However, the finer tilth resulted in an increased water-holding capacity at the soil surface, thereby reducing the contribution of preferential flow and reducing the leaching of isoproturon (38).

The large variability observed in field leaching rates is known to be dependent on the distribution of macropores in the soil profile (Hall et al. 1989). Dye-staining experiments in field soil profiles have highlighted the presence of vertical macropores in NT soils, indicating the existence of preferential flow (Steenhuis et al. 1990). Reduced leaching of pesticides caused by tillage at the soil surface has been reported in many field studies, and examples are presented in Table 2. Four pesticides were subject to increased leaching to GW from NT corn plots than from CT plots; their concentrations in GW increased rapidly as a result of preferential flow, after the first major precipitation event (Isensee and Sadeghi 1995; Isensee et al. 1990). Elliott et al. (2000) reported that increased leaching from NT plots as compared to CT plots is more clearly observed for less adsorptive pesticides. Furthermore, differences in the contribution of leaching and surface runoff are considered to be responsible for the loss of pesticides in NT and CT fields. By analyzing runoff water and percolates in pan lysimeters, Hall et al. (1991) reported that losses of four herbicides via preferential flow were 3-8 times higher from the NT corn field compared to the CT field. A similar result was reported for dicamba (83) (Hall and Mumma 1994). An insignificant difference in leached amounts of atrazine (74) and metolachlor (67) was observed in RT and CT fields, where preferential flow occurred irrespective of tillage (Fortin et al. 2002). Fomsgaard et al. (2003a, b) also reported that the effect of soil tillage was insignificant on the leaching of glyphosate (15), isoproturon (38), and their metabolites in outdoor lysimeters made up of NT and CT soils.

Soil Amendment: Organic materials, such as cattle manure, plant residues, peat, sewage sludge, and fertilizers, are generally used to amend the soil surface in agricultural fields. These organic amendments are known to modify soil structure. By using mercury intrusion porosimetry and a scanning electron microscope, Cox et al. (1997) examined the effect of sprinkling olive oil mill wastewater, consisting mainly of soft tissues from olive pulp, mucilage and oil, over a field for 3 years. The fraction of larger pores in the soil having a radius of >10 μ m was found to greatly decrease through the cementing and aggregating of soil particles caused by the applied organic materials. This structural change markedly reduced the leaching of clopyralid (85). However, leaching was not consistently correlated with the change in soil porosity and the influence of organic amendments on adsorption and biodegradation appeared to be having more of an effect on the extent of pesticide leaching (Cox et al. 2001; Fernandes et al. 2006). The effect of soil amendments on pesticide mobility can be evaluated by examining how chemical parameters change from the tillage effect. In most cases, a higher organic matter content from amendments increased the adsorption (K) of a pesticide to soil, resulting in a reduction in leaching (L < 1) and more retardation (R > 1), (Table 3). Soil amendment with urea did not increase DOC, but it was shown to increase the $K_{\rm E}$ of metolachlor (67), thus reducing leaching. Hence it was concluded that urea was likely to create more active adsorption sites in soil (Singh 2003). Urea also affected the soil adsorption of

| Table | 3 Effects of soil amen | ndment, vege | etation and | Table 3 Effects of soil amendment, vegetation and elution medium on mobility of pesticides | | |
|--------|-------------------------------|----------------------|-------------------|--|----------------------|--------------------------------|
| No. | Pesticide | Species ^a | Type ^b | Soil amendment, vegetation or elution medium ^{c} | Effect ^d | Reference |
| Soil a | Soil amendment | | | | | |
| б | Diazinon | 14 C | CP | Raw organic materials, unaged & 2-month aging | L: 0.9-1.0, 0.6 | Sánchez-Martín et al. (1997) |
| | | | | Humic acids, solid and liquid at 12–25 mg Cg ⁻¹ soil | L: 1.1, 0.01–0.08 | |
| 9 | Methidathion | ai | CP | 2.5-cm incorporation of dewatered sewage at 4 % | L: 0.6 | Sánchez et al. (2003) |
| 35 | Diuron | ai | \mathbf{BA} | + 4 and 12 % peat | K: 6–16 | González-Pradas et al. (1998) |
| | | 14 C | L | + Plant- or plant/animal-origin organics at 10 tha ⁻¹ | L: 0.6–1.8 | Thevenot et al. (2008) |
| 36 | Chlortoluron | ai | CI | + Liquid cattle manure 12-h pre-leaching | T: 0 | Kördel et al. (1992) |
| 38 | Isoproturon | ai | CI | 15-cm incorporation with cattle manure and buried straw | L: ~0.5 | Johnson et al. (1997) |
| | | f | CP | Mixed with compost and barley straw to soil (1:2:1, v/v/v) | L: 0.07 | Fogg et al. (2004a) |
| 39 | Linuron | ai | CP | Surface incorporation of compost, peat or HA at 15 tha ⁻¹ | L: 0.07 - 1.0 | Sánchez-Camazano et al. (2000) |
| 44 | Tebuthiuron | 14 C | CI | Incorporated with ground litter humus or hardwood stand | L: 0.03-0.4 | Stone et al. (1993) |
| 52 | Ethametsulfuron-Me | ai | CP | + Humic acids or peat at $0.5-5\%$ | L: 0.3/0.5 - 0.7 | Si et al. (2006) |
| 62 | Mecoprop | ai | CP | + 4 and 10 % peat | L: 0.7-0.9, 0.4-0.7 | Matallo et al. (1999) |
| 65 | Alachlor | ai | CP | + Sewage or corn sweetener filtrates at 0.5–8.4 tC ha ⁻¹ | L: 0.4–0.8/0–0.4 | Guo et al. (1993) |
| | | ai | CM | + Digested sludge, dairy manure or cut alfalfa at 0.29 % OM | L: 0.6–0.9 | Guo and Wagenet (1999) |
| 67 | Metolachlor | ai | CP | + Cow manure at 2.5 and 5 % or urea at 0.6 and 1.2 mg $\rm Ncm^{-2}$ | L: 0.01-0.3/0.2-0.7 | Singh (2003) |
| | | ai | \mathbf{BA} | Incubated with cut plants at 1.7 % for 40 days | <i>K</i> : 1.1–1.5 | Yen et al. (2008) |
| 69 | Metalaxyl | ai | CP | + Humic amendments or olive oil residues at 10 $\%$ | L: 0.7-1.0 | Fernandes et al. (2006) |
| | | f | L | 30-cm incorporation peat at 20 % | L: 1.6 | Petrovic et al. (1996) |
| 72 | Fomesafen | 14 C | CP | Limed soil | L: 1.1 | Weber et al. (1993) |
| 74 | Atrazine | ai | CP | 15-cm incorporation of sewage, manure or waste activated C | L: 0.004–0.9 | Guo et al. (1991) |
| | | ai | CP | + Sewage sludge at 0.5 % | R: 1.2–1.3 | Graber et al. (1997) |
| | | ai | CP | + 4 and 12 % peat | L: 0.7–0.9 | Socías-Viciana et al. (1999) |
| 75 | Simazine | ai | BA | + Liquid, solid humates or solid urban wastes at 5 $\%$ | <i>K</i> : 1.0–2.6 | Cox et al. (2001) |
| 87 | Imazethapyr | 14 C | \mathbf{BA} | Adjustment of soil pH by addition of sulfur or Ca(OH) ₂ | K: 0.04 (pH 8 vs. 4) | Johnson et al. (2000) |
| 88 | Imazaquin | ai | CP | + Olive mill wastewater or solid urban wastes at 6.25 $\ddot{\psi}$ | L: 0.6–1.1/1.0–1.2 | Undabeytia et al. (2004) |
| | | | | | | (continued) |

| Table | lable 3 (continued) | | | | | |
|-------|----------------------------|----------------------|-------------------|---|---------------------|---------------------------|
| No. | Pesticide | Species ^a | Type ^b | Soil amendment, vegetation or elution medium ^c | Effect ^d | Reference |
| 94 | Metribuzin | ai | СР | + Urea at 0.6 and 1.2 mg $\mathrm{Ncm^{-2}}$ | D(10): 2.3-5.4 | Singh (2006) |
| | | ai | CP | + Organic manure or fly ash at 2.5 and 5 $\%$ | L: 0.5–0.7/0–0.2 | Majumdar and Singh (2007) |
| 66 | Pendimethalin | ai | \mathbf{BA} | Incubated with cut plants at 1.7 % for 40 days | K: 0.7-2.6 | Yen et al. (2008) |
| 101 | DDT | 14 C | CP | Equilibrated with divalent metal cation solutions | L: 0.1 - 0.9 | Lalah et al. (2009) |
| 107 | Benazolin-ethyl | 14 C | CI | 5-cm incorporation of maize straw at 10 tha ⁻¹ | L: 0.2 | Schnitzler et al. (2007) |
| 129 | Triadimenol | ^{14}C | Γ | + Sewage sludge at 5 and 10 tha ⁻¹ | L: 1.3–1.8 | Smetnik and Frost (1999) |
| Veget | Vegetation | | | | | |
| 15 | Glyphosate | ai | L | Rye grass coverage | L: 0.3 | Landry et al. (2005) |
| 35 | Diuron | f | CI | Grass coverage | L: 0.2 - 0.3 | Dousett et al. (2007) |
| 67 | Metolachlor | f | ц | + Pig or cow manure to CT- and RT fields | L: 0.3-0.7, 1.5-2.0 | Fortin et al. (2002) |
| | | 14 C | CI | Coverage of five kinds of grasses ^d | $L: \sim 0.6$ | Belden and Coats (2004) |
| 69 | Metalaxyl | f | L | Creeping bentgrass density at 0, 33, 66 and 100 % | L: 0.5 - 0.7 | Petrovic et al. (1996) |
| 74 | Atrazine | ai | CI | Existence of corn plant residues after harvest | L: 0.9–5.6 | Green et al. (1995) |
| | | ai | Γ | Coverage of five kinds of grasses | L: 0.45 - 1.1 | Lin et al. (2003) |
| | | ai | CP | Existence of decomposed switchgrass roots | D(10): 1.2–1.6 | Tsegaye et al. (2007) |
| | | 14 C | CP | Existence of decomposed alfalfa roots | L: 0.3-0.5 | Zins et al. (1991) |
| | | 14 C | CP | Existence of decomposed switchgrass roots | L: 0.8-1.1 | Mersie et al. (1999) |
| 94 | Metribuzin | ai | CP | Covered with mixtures of sand and ground fresh straw | R: 1.1–1.3 | Dao (1995) |
| 115 | Procymidone | ai | L | Grass coverage | L: 0.2 | Dousset et al. (2010) |

Table 3 (continued)

| DOM extracted from organic fertilizers at 60 and 120 mg L^{-1} L: 1.1 Li et al. (2005) | Liquid and solid DOM at 5 $\%$ (w/v) L: 1.4–1.6 Cox et al. (2007) | DOM extracted from sludge and straw at 50 and 150 mg L^{-1} L: 1.9–2.6 Song et al. (2008) | Humic or fulvic acids at 20–40 mg OC L ⁻¹ L: 0.94–1.0 Haberhauer et al. (2002) | DOM extracted from composts $K: 0.2-0.3$ Blasioli et al. (2008) | Fraction of methanol increasing to 50% R: 0.3 R: 0.3 Nkedl-Kizza et al. (1987) | Soil colloids at 300 mg L ⁻¹ L:1.0–1.9 Barton and Karathanasis (2003) | 14.8 M NH ₄ OH at 40 mg N cm ⁻² L: 1.3–1.6 Liu et al. (1995) | Soil fulvic acids at 50 mg L ⁻¹ L. 1.0 Spark and Swift (1998) | Anionic (0.1 and 0.3 %) or cationic (0.02 and 0.3 %) surfactants $L: 0.2-0.7, 0.9-1.1$ Abu-Zreig et al. (2000) | Soil DOM (FA) at 60 and 80 mg OC L ⁻¹ R: 0.96-1.3 Spurlock and Biggar (1990) | DOM extracted from lake sludge and rice straw at 160 mg CL^{-1} L: 1.7–2.3 Jiang et al. (2008) | 1 % Renex 30° surfactant $D(5): 0.9$ Morrod (1982) | tion) or ¹⁴ C (radio-label). ¹ 8A - harch adsomation: CP and CT column leaching using nacked (disturbed) and intract (undisturbed) soil |
|--|---|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|---|--|---|---|
| DOM extra | Liquid and | DOM extra | Humic or fu | DOM extra | Fraction of | Soil colloid | 14.8 M NH | Soil fulvic a | Anionic (0. | Soil DOM (| DOM extra | 1 % Renex | ⁴ C (radio-lah |
| CP | CP | CP | CP | BA | CM | CI | CI | CI | CP | CP | CP | ц | Intion) or ¹ |
| 14 C | ai | ai | ¹⁴ C | ai | ai | ai | 14 C | 14 C | ¹⁴ C | ai | ai | f | ad) f (form |
| Chlorpyrifos | Diuron | Chlortoluron | MCPA | Cyhalofop-butyl | Atrazine | | | Atrazine | | Simazine | Prometryn | Metazoxolon | Vanlied with ai (non-labeled) f (formulat |
| 4 | 35 | 36 | 61 | 64 | 74 | | | 74 | | 75 | 79 | 121 | a A nul |

matters. DOM, dissolved organic matters. CT, conventional tillage; RT, reduced tillage. dR atio of elution by amendment, vegetation or modified eluent versus control. L, leached amount (% of the applied dose, ppm or ppb); D(x), distribution at top x-cm soil core (%); K, adsorption coefficient (L kg⁻¹); R, retardation factor [(7), dimensionless] cores, respectively; CM, miscible displacement; L, outdoor lysimeter; F, field lysimeter. "% of amendment on the weight basis toward soil. OC, organic carbon. OM, organic

metribuzin (94) (Singh 2006). The increased adsorption and biodegradation resulting from soil amendments reduces the leaching of pesticides in proportion to the loading rate of each material (Cox et al. 2001; Guo et al. 1991, 1993). Stone et al. (1993) reported a reduction in the amounts of hexazinone (92) and tebuthiuron (44) leached from outdoor lysimeters containing a surface layer of coarsely-ground litter humus. The authors concluded that this effect was caused by the increased retention and biodegradation of these pesticides in the lysimeters. Graber et al. (1997) demonstrated a reduction in the leaching of four triazine herbicides from an increased application of compost or sludge. When increased soil adsorption is the main contributory factor in reducing pesticide leaching, the BTC generally becomes flatter with its peak shifting to larger pore volumes (Fernandes et al. 2003; Matallo et al. 1999; Singh 2003).

Hydrophobic pesticides adsorb to organic matter mainly via van der Waals interactions, while hydrogen-bond networks towards carboxyl and phenolic-OH groups in organic matter are formed with hydrophilic pesticides. Soil amendment with potassium humates extracted from oxidized coal and lignite, rich in aliphatic and aromatic carbons as evidenced by ¹³C-NMR, was found to be effective in reducing the leaching of diazinon (3) (Sánchez-Martín et al. 1997). Si et al. (2006) reported increased retention of ethametsulfuron-methyl (methyl ester of (52)) in soil columns amended with humic acids and peat. As a result of organic amendment, the C=O absorption in the IR spectrum of the herbicide shifted to a lower wavenumber, with the highest shifts observed for C=N and N–H, thus strongly suggesting the formation of hydrogen bonds. Inorganic materials such as fly ash can also be effective adsorbents for pesticides. Majumdar and Singh (2007) observed a marked increase in the K_F of metribuzin (94) following the addition of fly ash consisting of clay and silt particles to soil columns. The addition of flyash retarded the movement of metribuzin more than did the manure amendment.

Organic amendment does not always reduce pesticide leaching. Undabeytia et al. (2004) reported a reduction in $K_{\rm F}$ values for imazaquin (88) in soils amended with urban waste compost and olive mill waste, with an insignificant retardation in leaching. These waste materials may have acted to block the adsorption sites in soil and/ or cause protonation of (88) by an increase in pH. The facilitated transport of pesticides by association with WDC and dissolved organic matter (DOM) sometimes occurs in amended soils. Socías-Viciana et al. (1999) observed reduced leaching of MCPA (61) following peat amendment as a result of its increased adsorption to soil, while atrazine (74) was observed to break though earlier in the soil columns following peat amendment at a higher loading rate and also showed a concomitant increase in the concentration of DOM in the eluates. Increased elution of diuron (35) from undisturbed soil columns amended with plant- and animal-origin composts was also observed in the outdoor study of Thevenot et al. (2008, 2009). Such results can be accounted for by the facilitated transport of (35) and (74) that was associated with DOM. A similar mechanism was also proposed for the increased downward movement of two triazine herbicides and bromacil (89) in a sludge-amended field leaching study (Graber et al. 2001). However, the higher affinity of soil organic matter towards pesticides decreased the contribution of pesticide association with DOM.

Using cow manure as a soil amendment greatly increased the DOC content of soils, but the increased $K_{\rm F}$ value of metolachlor (67), combined with reduced leaching in the amended soil indicates higher adsorption of (67) to the bulk organic matter in soil, as compared to its association with DOM (Singh 2003). Furthermore, the contribution of preferential flow sometimes makes the effect of organic amendment ambiguous, as was demonstrated in a lysimeter study with triadimenol (129); in this study, leaching was enhanced and was unaffected by the application of organic materials (Smetnik and Frost 1999).

Plant materials are also utilized as soil amendments. The soil incorporation of cut alfalfa with dairy manure was shown to increase the biodegradation rate of alachlor (65) by a factor of 1.5-2, compared with non-amended soil (Guo and Wagenet 1999). Amendment with cut maize straws markedly accelerated the degradation of benazolin (acid of (107)) in a column leaching study (Schnitzler et al. 2007). However, a limited effect on biodegradation was reported for six hydrophilic pesticides in outdoor lysimeters amended with unchopped barley straw (Fogg et al. 2004a, b) and for dinitroaniline and acetoanilide herbicides following incorporation of cut plant materials (Yen et al. 2008). The effect of organic amendment in these cases may be masked by the high humic content of the soil, as reported by Suzuki (2000). Johnson et al. (1997) utilized a dye-staining technique to visualize preferential flow pathways produced by the incorporation of straw to soil. The authors also reported increased adsorption and biodegradation of isoproturon (38) in the soil columns. The combined application of crop residues and cattle manure greatly reduced the contribution of preferential flow in the leaching of metribuzin (94) from enhanced adsorption (Dao 1995). Interestingly, adding plant materials to the soil surface without incorporation resulted in a bimodal BTC for atrazine (74), especially in soil columns containing macropores (Green et al. 1995). The fraction of (74) intercepted by plant residues during application was washed off by later percolation and was rapidly transported via macropores, while (74) reached the soil surface directly and was considered to move more slowly in the soil matrix.

Vegetation: Crops and weeds increase the organic matter content in soil. Either higher adsorption to soil or higher microbial activity in the rhizosphere can increase biodegradation, resulting in the reduction of pesticide leaching (Table 3). Less downward movement of water from increased vegetative evapotranspiration may also reduce leaching. The contribution of adsorption was confirmed by the results of a column leaching study, using undisturbed soils excavated from bare, buffer zone and grass-covered field plots (Dousset et al. 2010). The adsorption of diuron (35) and tebuconazole (127) increased in the grass-covered soil and reduced leaching. However, vegetation appeared to have less of an effect on the leaching of procymidone (115) in this study, which may be from its increased soil persistence, even in the presence of a large microbial population, and from its facilitated transport by DOM. With regard to the effects of increased microbial activity under vegetation, Hassink et al. (1994) reported a more rapid degradation of three herbicides in the surface soil of cores that were collected from a meadow planted with grasses, than in those collected from bare field soil and gravel track. In grass-covered outdoor lysimeters treated with (35), increased amounts of hydrophilic metabolites were

detected in leachates, as compared with bare soil lysimeters (Jacobson et al. 2005). When outdoor lysimeters were planted with five grasses, more metabolites formed by *N*-dealkylation of atrazine (74) were observed in soil and leachates, and the volume of leachate was reduced (Lin et al. 2003). A similar effect was observed in vegetated undisturbed soil columns, but individual differences among the five grasses tested were not as marked (Belden and Coats 2004).

In contrast, pesticide leaching increased by preferential flow along root channels, where pesticide adsorption to roots was much lower than to soil (Tames and Hance 1969). Caron et al. (1996) reported that annual planting of alfalfa in a field increased the hydraulic conductivity in the subsurface soil. Following spray application of KBr to this field, a bimodal distribution of Br⁻ in the soil profile was observed, and higher levels of Br⁻ were found in the deeper soil layers. Preferential flow along decayed root macropores is also an important factor. Increased leaching of ¹⁴C-alachlor (65) and ¹⁴C-atrazine (74) was reported in soil cores collected from fields planted with alfalfa or switchgrass (Mersie et al. 1999; Tsegaye et al. 2007; Zins et al. 1991), and the faster transport of dicamba (83) and 2,6-difluorobenzoic acid in barley-planted soil columns that had a higher evapotranspiration rate than bare soil columns indicated a contribution from preferential flow (Pearson et al. 1996).

Turf cover and an underlying thatch or mat layer affects the leaching of herbicides. Petrovic et al. (1996) examined the leaching of metalaxyl (69) in sand lysimeters planted with creeping bentgrass at a turf density of 0–100% that had been adjusted by using a turf core aerator. The organic matter content of surface soil increased with increasing turf density and contributed to a decrease in both the peak concentration of (69) in the BTC and the total amount in the leachate. The surface verdure and thatch layers in a field lysimeter planted with creeping bentgrass trapped most of the applied ethofumesate (119) and propiconazole (131) (Gardner and Branham 2001a, b). Halofenozide (122) was similarly trapped in the thatch/mat layer of undisturbed soil columns, but a heavy irrigation event caused significant leaching from preferential flow (Starrett et al. 1996). Influence from preferential flow was also reported by Raturi et al. (2003), in a column leaching study with carbaryl (18) and triclopyr (63) that used soil cores in which 5–8-year-old thatch layers existed. The peaks in the asymmetrical BTCs of the tested pesticides were observed to occur at less than one pore volume, indicating preferential flow.

5.4 Facilitated Transport

Hydrophobic pesticides tend to be tightly adsorbed to the soil matrix, but being association with WDC and DOM sometimes facilitates their transport in soil as described in Sect. 2.2. Ballard (1971) reported that increased amounts of DDT (101) applied to a short forest soil column were released by co-application of urea. Furthermore, the application of anhydrous ammonia to soil columns increased the vertical transport of pyrethroids, atrazine (74), and toxaphene (104), with a concomitant increase of DOC content in the eluates (Liu et al. 1995; Smith and Willis 1985).

Humic substances solubilized by urea and ammonia were associated with these pesticides, which resulted in their enhanced transport. More rapid breakthrough of hydrophobic chemicals has also been observed following the addition of DOM or humic acids to the eluent in column leaching studies (Dunnivant et al. 1992a; Enfield et al. 1989; Magee et al. 1991) (Table 3). The introduction of organic fertilizers to the aqueous phase decreased the batch $K_{\rm F}$ value of chlorpyrifos (4) and resulted in its faster elution from the soil column (Li et al. 2005). Since enhanced leaching sometimes occurs for less hydrophobic pesticides that have log $K_{\rm ow}$ values <3, other mechanisms such as hydrogen bonding and hydrophobic interactions may also be operable.

The effect of DOM on the leaching behavior of napropamide (114) has been thoroughly investigated by applying sewage sludge (Letey et al. 2000; Nelson et al. 1998, 2000; Williams et al. 2000, 2006). Napropamide (114) was predominantly retained in the upper soil layers of the amended soil columns, but more (114) was detected in earlier fractions of the eluates, even without any increase of eluted DOM as compared to the non-amended soil columns. These findings can be attributed to the facilitated transport of (114) and its association with DOM; a similar trend was reported in a column leaching study with metolachlor (67) (Singh 2003; Singh et al. 2002). Graber et al. (1995) reported enhanced leaching of atrazine (74) in the field, following irrigation with secondary effluent from a sewage treatment plant that contained a high content of organic matter and suspended solids. The reduced adsorption of (74) to soil in the presence of this effluent indicated the possible association of (74) with DOM. Similar behavior was reported in field leaching studies conducted with bromacil (89) and terbuthylazine (78) (Graber et al. 2001). The probability and degree of association of a pesticide with DOM is highly dependent on the origin of DOM. DOM originating from rice straw decreased the $K_{\rm F}$ value of prometryne (79) from association and increased its leaching (Jiang et al. 2008). The herbicide 2,4-D (59), which is hydrophilic, demonstrated a decreased adsorption and enhanced leaching when associated with DOM prepared from rice straw (Jiang et al. 2008), fertilizers (Li et al. 2005), and liquid olive mill wastes (Cox et al. 2001). Baskaran et al. (1994) reported that humic substances released from soil play a role in the association with (59). However, DOM displayed conflicting dual actions for diuron (35). Peat incorporation into soil retarded the transport of (35) in an amended soil column as a result of increased soil adsorption (González-Pradas et al. 1998). In contrast, elution with DOM facilitated the transport of (35), and the highest peaks in its BTC were observed at lower pore volumes (Cox et al. 2007). Another urea herbicide, chlortoluron (36), showed a higher mobility in soil TLC when developed with distilled water containing aqueous extracts of sludge and straw (Song et al. 2008). Although more (36) was eluted from the soil columns using these extracts, no peak shift was observed in the corresponding BTCs. The transport of urea herbicides may be more sensitive to the structure and properties of DOM because of their weaker interactions with DOM, as compared to the amide moiety in napropamide (114).

In batch equilibrium and column leaching studies, the effect of soil DOM on the K_d value and BTCs for simazine (75) was not existent or insignificant (Spurlock and

Biggar 1990). The UV-vis absorption of the DOM was characteristic of that of fulvic acids, which may account for the weaker interactions of DOM with (75). Haberhauer et al. (2002) investigated the different effects of humic and fulvic acids on the column leaching of MCPA (61). Humic acids increased leaching via association with MCPA (61), but fulvic acids had less of an effect. The lesser effect of fulvic acids was similarly reported in column leaching studies with five structurally different pesticides having a wide range of log K_{ow} (Spark and Swift 1998). It is important to point out that DOM can change pesticide leaching behavior from mechanisms other than association. The presence of tannic acid and peat extracts reduced soil adsorption and increased leaching for imidacloprid (117), without any (117)-DOM complexes being formed (Flores-Céspedes et al. 2002). Competition for adsorption to soil between (117) and DOM or the enhanced desorption of (117) by DOM may have played a role here. DOM was observed to have no effect on the leaching of cyhalofop (64), while the presence of potassium ion was shown to reduce leaching (Blasioli et al. 2008). The authors speculated that this may have resulted from increased soil adsorption of the inner-sphere complex, with a potassium ion formed at the carboxyl group of (64) via cation bridges.

WDC may also act as carriers for pesticides during leaching. WDC-facilitated transport in the field was reported for prochloraz (126) (Villholth et al. 2000) and pendimethalin (99) (Petersen et al. 2002). De Jonge et al. (1998) detected (126) in eluates from undisturbed sandy loam soil columns at higher concentrations than would be expected based on its soil adsorption properties. Either a lower ionic strength or a higher pH in the eluent increased the leaching of both (126) and WDC, indicating an association of (126) with WDC. However, the fraction of the associated complex was 3-13% of the total amount of (126) in the leachate and hence, the contribution of WDC-facilitated transport through macropores was not significant. Similarly, Worrall et al. (1999) reported the association of isoproturon (38) with WDC in a lysimeter study. The rapid breakthrough of (38) following rainfall coincided with the appearance of WDC in the leachates, in which approximately 12% of (38) was associated with WDC. The association of atrazine (74) with WDC was reported in the field leaching study of Sprague et al. (2000). Concentrations of both WDC and (74) at a depth of 25-cm were highest after the first leaching event and slowly decreased thereafter. Fractionation of the eluates showed 4.9-30% of (74) associated with WDC. A batch adsorption experiment, using isolated WDC and the soil matrix in the above study, showed much higher K_d values for (74) when associated with WDC (71-832 Lkg⁻¹) than for the soil matrix (0.5-2.5 Lkg⁻¹).

The contribution of WDC in facilitated transport depends on the structural properties of the pesticide. In a column leaching study, Gjettermann et al. (2009) observed that ploughing the soil surface increased the particle concentration in the leachates by a factor of 2–6, based on turbidity measurement. A higher level of association of glyphosate (15) with WDC was observed for the ploughed soil columns (68%) than for the minimally disturbed ones (17%). In contrast, the association with WDC in the ploughed columns was only 5–13% for pendimethalin (99), while DOM-facilitated transport of (99) was predominant. Interestingly, Seta and Karathanasis (1996, 1997b) reported an absence of association with WDC in the enhanced leaching of atrazine (74) and metolachlor (67) in undisturbed soil columns. The $K_{\rm F}$ values of the herbicides indicated the low extent of association with WDC (<1-5%). This may contribute to the enhanced leaching either from exclusion of the herbicides from soil adsorption sites by WDC or from reduced ion-exchange interaction of the herbicides with mineral surfaces, caused by adsorption of WDC-associated cations.

6 Modeling and Simulation

Various mathematical models have been developed to predict the potential mobility of pesticides. These models factor in several key parameters, such as water flow, soil structure, and pesticide properties; these parameters are also the ones that affect the behavior of pesticides in laboratory or field studies (i.e., laboratory column leaching studies or large-scale field lysimeter studies). The following models are rather sophisticated and are designed to assess the probability that a pesticide or its metabolites will cause GW contamination under field conditions: PRZM, PEARL, PELMO, and MACRO; these models are also used for regulatory purposes (FOCUS 2011; Klier et al. 2008; USEPA 2011). The application of MACRO, which is known to be better able to simulate macropore flow processes than the other models (FOCUS 2011; Jene et al. 1999), has indicated that leaching of moderately to strongly adsorbed pesticides that have relatively short half-lives, is increased by more than four orders of magnitude as a result of macropore flow (Larsson and Jarvis 2000). The LEACHP(M) and HYDRUS models have also been used to analyze the leaching of pesticides (Cox et al. 1996; Klier et al. 2008; Krzyszowska et al. 1994; Pearson et al. 1996; Pot et al. 2005; Walker et al. 1996). In contrast to the models listed above, which require many input parameters, the meta-models EuroPEARL (Tiktak et al. 2006) and SCI-GROW (Cohen 1998; USEPA 2011), which are based on a limited number of input parameters, can more easily be utilized to estimate pesticide levels in GW. For paddy fields, which have their own characteristic water management systems, the vadose zone fate and transport model (VADOFT) has been developed, in combination with RICEWQ to simulate water movement, and predict not only the concentration of pesticides in the water and sediment phases but also their leaching behavior (Capri and Miao 2002; Karpouzas et al. 2005; Miao et al. 2003). The DT_{50} and K_{oc} values of a pesticide are the key parameters that control leaching behavior in these simulations, but these parameters exhibit a large variability (Boesten and van der Linden 1991; Dubus et al. 2003b). Therefore, Beulke et al. (2004b) applied a probabilistic modeling approach to simulate the leaching of isoproturon (38), using DT_{50} and K_{0c} values as variables. Recently, inverse modeling approaches have been used to estimate optimal DT_{50} and K_{0c} values to emulate pesticide behavior in outdoor lysimeter studies (Dubus et al. 2004; Roulier and Jarvis 2003).

With the exception of screening models, the number of input parameters required for these mathematical models makes it very difficult, in practice, to apply them to



Fig. 3 Conceptual model of pesticide mobility in soil

new pesticides at early stages of development. To gain an understanding of the leaching potential of a pesticide and its metabolites, use of a laboratory soil column leaching study is convenient and effective, and its usefulness increases when it is accompanied by mathematical analyses.

6.1 Equilibrium and Nonequilibrium Transport

Water supplied by precipitation and irrigation moves horizontally and vertically in the field, as shown in Fig. 3. Pesticides are transported in soil by water movement and/or by molecular diffusion, and undergo adsorption/desorption or chemical/ microbial degradation during their transport. The behavior of a pesticide molecule during leaching has been mathematically described, by generally assuming that several laws apply to them, i.e., the laws of mass conservation, flux and inter-phase mass transfer, together with the degradation terms in the liquid and solid phases (Aharonson et al. 1987; Jury and Flühler 1992; Helling and Dragun 1981; Helling and Gish 1986; van Genuchten and Wagenet 1989). In any model used, the goodness of fit should be evaluated, for example by following two indicators (Karpouzas et al. 2005) as described immediately below.

RMSE (Root mean square error) =
$$\frac{(100 / O_a)}{\left\{\sum (P_i - O_i)^2 / n\right\}^{1/2}}$$
(8)

EF (Modeling efficiency) =
$$1 - \left\{ \sum (P_i - O_i)^2 / \sum (O_i - O_a)^2 \right\}$$
 (9)

 P_i and O_i are the *i*th predicted and observed values, respectively. O_a is an average of O_i and '*n*' is a sample number. Individually, the smaller the RMSE value is, and the closer the value of EF is to 1, the better the fit of the model.

The model basically describes solute transport in a homogeneous medium under steady-state flow, assuming a local equilibrium, and is represented by the classical convection–dispersion equation (CDE) below.

 $\left(1 + K_{\rm d} \times \rho / \theta\right) \partial C / \partial t + \left(q / \theta\right) \partial C / \partial x - \left(D / \theta\right) \partial^2 C / \partial x^2 + \delta = 0 \tag{10}$

Where

C, pesticide concentration in the aqueous phase; *x*, distance; *q*, water flux; θ , volumetric water content in soil; ρ , soil bulk density; K_d , linear soil adsorption coefficient; *D*, dispersion coefficient; δ , apparent total first-order degradation rate in water and soil phases.

In Eq. (10), $(1 + K_d \times \rho/\theta)$ and q/θ are the retardation factor (*R*) and pore water velocity (*v*), respectively. When the adsorption of a pesticide follows the Freundlich isotherm Eq. (4), the first term should be modified to $[1 + \{(K_F \times \rho)/(\theta \times n)\} \times C^{1/(n-1)}]$ $\partial C/\partial t$. Equation (10) can be analytically solved by assuming the boundary and initial conditions given below (Kluitenberg and Horton 1990; Singh and Kanwar 1991).

$$\{C(x,t) - \operatorname{Ci}\}/(C_0 - \operatorname{Ci}) = (1/2)[\operatorname{erfc}\{(R \times x - v \times t)/2(D \times R \times t)^{1/2}\}$$

+ $\exp(v \times x/D) \times \operatorname{erfc}\{(R \times x + v \times t)/2(D \times R \times t)^{1/2}\}]$ (11)
$$C(0,t) = C_0, C(x,0) = \operatorname{Ci}, \partial C/\partial x \ (\infty, t) = 0, \delta = 0$$

The transport parameters (R, D, and q) can be estimated by fitting the equation to the experimentally obtained breakthrough curve (BTC), using a nonlinear leastsquares parameter optimization method with the CXTFIT program, which is included in the STANMOD software package (Simunek et al. 1999). Nonreactive tracers such as Cl⁻, Br⁻, and ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}O$ ($K_{d}=0$ and R=1) can be used, and these theoretically exhibit asymmetrical BTC with peaks at one pore volume in a homogeneously packed soil column. Deviation of R from 1 is sometimes reported, even when CDE fits the observed symmetrical BTC well. Anion (Cl⁻ and Br⁻) exclusion from the charged soil surface (Green et al. 1995; Mao and Ren 2004; Pot et al. 2005; Veeh et al. 1994), and ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ adsorption via hydroxyl charges on a clay lattice (Gaber et al. 1995; Seyfried and Rao 1987) resulted in R < 1 and R > 1, respectively. When pesticide leaching is conducted using a conservative tracer, the K_{d} value of the pesticide can be calculated from the optimized R value by using the column-specific D and q/θ value estimated for the tracer.

Alternatively, the *R* and *D* values can be estimated by analyzing the temporal moments $(M_p, pth \text{ order moment}; p=0, 1, 2, 3)$ of the experimental BTCs, when the relevant parameters used in the transport equation are defined in a dimensionless form (Kamra et al. 2001; Vincent et al. 2007). M_0, M_1, M_2 , and M_3 represent the mass of solute eluted from a column, and the mean, variance and skewness of the BTC, respectively.

$$M_{\rm p} = \int_0^\infty T^{\rm p} \times C(X,T) / C_0 \,\mathrm{d}T \tag{12}$$

Where

| $C = C / C_0$ (input concentration); | X = x / L (column length); |
|--------------------------------------|--|
| $T = \mathbf{v} \times t / L;$ | P (Peclet number) = $v \times L / D$ |

The normalized and central moments μ_1' and μ_p can then be expressed below.

$$\mu_1' = \frac{M_p}{M_0} \tag{13}$$

$$\mu_{p} = (1 / M_{0}) \times \int_{0}^{\infty} (T - \mu_{1}')^{p} \times C(X, T) / C_{0} dT$$
(14)

For example, the moments μ_1' , μ_2 , and μ_3 can be described by the transport parameters for the pulse input of a solute with a duration of T_0 , when the local equilibrium model is assumed.

$$\mu_1' = R + 1/(2T_0), \quad \mu_2 = 2R^2/P + 1/(12T_0^2), \quad \mu_3 = 12R^3/P^2$$
 (15)

Kamra et al. (2001) applied the above two methods to analyze the leaching potential for atrazine (74) and isoproturon (38) in undisturbed soil columns, and reported a better fit by CXTFIT than from using the moment method. The CXTFIT Eq. (10)–(11) and moment Eq. (12)–(15) methods can be used to estimate transport parameters for application to the nonequilibrium transport models described below.

The asymmetrical BTC of a pesticide, with tailing, has been explained by either using a chemical or physical nonequilibrium model. Chemical nonequilibrium is generally supposed when a conservative tracer shows a symmetrical BTC and can be described by the so-called two-site model. In this model, the instantaneous equilibrium adsorption of the pesticide at one site (site 1) and the time-dependent kinetic adsorption at the other site (site 2) are assumed. When the fraction of site 1 is 'F' and a linear adsorption isotherm is assumed, the two-site model can be expressed by Eq. (16)–(18) in accordance with the similar laws taken for the derivation of CDE.

$$C_{\rm S1} = F \times K_{\rm d} \times C \tag{16}$$

$$\partial C_{s_2} / \partial t = \alpha_1 \times \left[(1 - F) \times K_d \times C - C_{s_2} \right]$$
(17)

$$(1 + F \times K_{d} \times \rho / \theta) \partial C / \partial t + (q / \theta) \partial C / \partial x - (D / \theta) \partial^{2} C /$$
(18)

$$\partial x^2 + (\rho / \theta) \partial C_{s_2} / \partial t + \delta_s = 0$$

where

 C_{s_1} and C_{s_2} , pesticide concentration in sites 1 and 2 of soil, respectively;

 α_1 , first-order kinetic adsorption rate constant; δ_s , apparent first-order degradation rate.

When the BTC of a conservative tracer is asymmetrical with tailing, the physical nonequilibrium process (two-region model) can be supposed to exist. By assuming an equilibrium adsorption, the two-region model divides soil pore water into mobile (region 1) and immobile (region 2) water regions, each of which is in equilibrium with a fraction 'F' and '1–F' of a soil phase. The solute exchange between the two regions is defined by the first-order mass transfer rate coefficient (α_2). The two-region model can be similarly derived as Eq. (10), but without the convection–dispersion term for region 2, as expressed below. Subscripts 'm' and 'im' are the mobile and immobile water regions, respectively.

$$\begin{aligned} \text{Region1}: \left(1 + F \times K_{d} \times \rho / \theta_{m}\right) \partial C_{m} / \partial t + \left(q / \theta_{m}\right) \partial C_{m} / \end{aligned} \tag{19} \\ \partial x - \left(D_{m} / \theta_{m}\right) \partial^{2} C_{m} / \partial x^{2} + \left(\alpha_{2} / \theta_{m}\right) \times \left(C_{m} - C_{im}\right) + \delta_{m} = 0 \end{aligned} \\ \\ \text{Region2}: \left\{1 + \left(1 - F\right) \times K_{d} \times \rho / \theta_{im}\right\} \partial C_{im} / \end{aligned} \tag{20} \\ \partial t - \left(\alpha_{2} / \theta_{im}\right) \times \left(C_{m} ??? C_{im}\right) + \delta_{im} = 0 \end{aligned}$$

Under the same initial and boundary conditions, the dimensionless transport equations of the physical and chemical nonequilibrium models are known to become mathematically identical (van Genuchten and Wagenet 1989). Therefore, the none-quilibrium dimensionless transport equations have been more conveniently utilized to analyze for the BTCs of pesticides (Mao and Ren 2004; Raturi et al. 2003). The following two parameters are used to evaluate the contribution of each nonequilibrium process.

Chemical nonequilibrium (two-site model): Physical nonequilibrium (two-region model):

$$\beta = (1 + F \times \rho \times K_{\rm d} / \theta) / R \tag{21}$$

$$\omega = \{\alpha_1 \times (1 - \beta) \times R \times L\} / \nu$$
(22)

$$\beta = (\theta_{\rm m} + F \times \rho \times K_{\rm d}) / (\theta + \rho \times K_{\rm d})$$
⁽²³⁾

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \boldsymbol{\alpha}_2 \times L \,/\, q \tag{24}$$

In the two-site model, β Eq. (21) is the fraction of instantaneous solute retardation and represents the influence of the distribution of sorption between the two sites and ω Eq. (22) is the Damkohler number that describes the ratio of a hydrodynamic residence time to a characteristic time for sorption. The absence of kinetic sorption sites (*F*=1) means β =1, and a smaller ω value indicates an increased contribution of chemical nonequilibrium. In the two-region model, the parameter β Eq. (23) represents the distribution of soil water between the two regions and ω , as defined in Eq. (24), expresses the ratio of a hydrodynamic residence time to a characteristic time of solute movement within the immobile water region.

6.2 Application of Mathematical Models

For solute transport in a chemical nonequilibrium process, the two-site model has been successfully applied to analyze the asymmetric BTCs of simple benzene derivatives (Angley et al. 1992), triazine herbicides (Gamerdinger et al. 1990; Graber et al. 1997; Suárez et al. 2007), 2,4-D (59) (Baskaran et al. 1996; Estrella et al. 1993), and sulfonylurea herbicides (Gonzalez and Ukrainczyk 1999; Heistermann et al. 2003). The fraction of kinetic sorption sites for triazines increased with increasing organic matter content in soil (Graber et al. 1997), and the mass transfer rate of nicosulfuron (54) was neither correlated with K_{d} nor soil organic matter content (Gonzalez and Ukrainczyk 1999). Incidentally, the facilitated transport of pesticides by DOM can be evaluated by substituting the K_{d} value in the transport equations with the apparent adsorption coefficient K_{d}^{app} that is defined in Eq. (1) (Dunnivant et al. 1992a; Flores-Céspedes et al. 2002; Khan and Thomson (1990); Worrall et al. 2001). The enhanced transport of PCB at higher concentrations of DOM was well simulated by the two-site model using a log K_{DOM} value of 5.1 (Dunnivant et al. 1992a). Magee et al. (1991) reported the importance of further considering the soil adsorption of DOM as an additional process in the DOMfacilitated transport of phenanthrene.

Beigel and Di Pietro (1999) applied the two-site model to describe the asymmetrical BTCs of triticonazole (130) in a packed soil column, in which physical nonequilibrium transport was considered to be unlikely based on the symmetrical BTC of Cl⁻. The large α_1 value in the model, indicating quick transport of (130) to kinetic adsorption sites (F=0.43), described the first part of the tailing well. However, the model failed to explain the extended slower release of (130) from the column, which might be accounted for by nonequilibrium sorption or bound residue formation. The introduction of a third irreversible adsorption site was necessary to describe the asymmetric BTCs of fluometuron (37) that was observed in soil columns containing either vegetated or no-till soils (Wilson et al. 1998). In addition to the two-site model, other models have also been applied to simulate the chemical nonequilibrium process. Pignatello et al. (1993) introduced a two-compartment spherical diffusion model considering an effective intra-particle diffusion coefficient, to examine the leaching of two aged herbicides in native soils. The release patterns of the herbicides were better described by this model than by the first-order kinetic adsorption model, and >80% of the aged herbicides were estimated to be present in the slower sorption compartment. Other authors have also reported that diffusion into soil aggregates controlled the time-dependent sorption of four pesticides in structured soils (van Beinum et al. 2005, 2006; Villaverde et al. 2009). The asymmetrical BTCs of atrazine (74) were dependent on pore water velocity and column length and were analyzed by assuming γ distribution for both the sorption rate and adsorption coefficient (Chen and Wagenet 1997).

The symmetrical BTC of a conservative tracer does not always indicate the absence of a physical nonequilibrium process in the column leaching experiment. For example, Veeh et al. (1994) obtained the R value of 0.7–0.8 through the CXTFIT analysis of the symmetrical Br⁻ BTC. An anion exclusion effect could not fully account for the R values lower than unity, which was well described by the tworegion model when immobile water was present. The two-region model was shown to be useful in describing similar leaching profiles to those outlined above obtained in an outdoor lysimeter study with atrazine (74) using conservative tracers (Schoen et al. 1999b), and Seyfried and Rao (1987) used the two-region model to describe the effect of changing water tension at 0-1 kPa on the symmetry in the BTCs of ³H₂O. By varying pore water velocity in a column leaching experiment, Gaber et al. (1995) examined the relative contribution of chemical and physical nonequilibrium processes in solute transport. The greater contribution of physical nonequilibrium at a higher pore water velocity caused the BTC of ${}^{3}H_{2}O$ to become more asymmetrical, and this change in symmetry was well described by the two-region model. The authors observed an asymmetrical BTC for (74), with an earlier breakthrough at higher pore water velocity, indicating the involvement of both nonequilibrium processes.

The adsorption coefficient and degradation rate in soil are generally obtained by the batch equilibrium method and incubation in a biometer-like flask or flow-through system, respectively. However, the two-region model is sometimes unable to accurately predict an asymmetrical BTC for a pesticide by using these values. Gaston and Locke (1996) reported that optimization of the degradation rate in each region of this model was necessary to better simulate the asymmetrical BTCs of bentazon (93) in undisturbed soil columns. Kinetic adsorption was introduced to the tworegion model by Spurlock et al. (1995) to describe the BTC of monuron (34). Gaston and Locke (2000) similarly introduced kinetic adsorption to the two-region model to describe the leaching of acifluorfen (70) in undisturbed soil columns, the soil degradation rate in the column was also optimized, and this was reported to give a good description of the BTC of (70). Interestingly, preferential flow along root channels in packed soil columns planted with switchgrass was accounted for by the larger dispersion coefficient in the mobile water region of the two-region model (Tsegaye et al. 2007). Poulsen et al. (2006) applied the two-region model to describe the transport of colloids. They reported low R values (<0.7), which are soil-independent, together with high pore water velocities, and concluded that a size exclusion mechanism was operational in colloid transport.

In addition to the two-site and two-region models, several other approaches have been developed to analyze solute leaching. The stream tube model (STM) defines the soil as a set of stream tubes wherein advective transport occurs without either local dispersion or interaction with other stream tubes. Vanderborght et al. (2002) applied this model to the preferential flow of two fluorescence tracers in undisturbed soils. Compared to the two-region model, the STM model overpredicted the timing of leaching of the tracers, with leaching occurring too early, and gave a poor fit to their BTCs in the deeper soil cores that have a dense network of macropores, thus indicating the importance of lateral mixing between macropores and the adjacent soil matrix. Hall (1994) further introduced the concept of slow and fast mobile phases for the movement of water, but failed to describe well the leaching behavior of dichlorprop (60) in a lysimeter. A concept has been introduced in the dual permeability (DP) model in which a porous medium is divided into two mobile water regions, conveniently named micropores (matrix) and macropores (fracture region) (Köhne et al. 2006; Pot et al. 2005). The mass transfer rate coefficient at the interface of these two regions is controlled by the shape and characteristic length of soil aggregates. By using the DP model, Köhne et al. (2002) discovered that the low diffusion coefficient of a solute in fine-textured aggregate skins intensifies the preferential solute leaching through macropores. Furthermore, Pot et al. (2005) divided the micropores (matrix) into mobile (M) and immobile (IM) water (two-region DP-MIM model), which could simulate the Br⁻ BTCs with a dual peak in the undisturbed soils well. With regard to the soil adsorption process, Jørgensen et al. (1998) utilized a two-dimensional model, in which the spacing and aperture of fractures play a role, to investigate the leaching behavior of pesticides in large cores of structured clayey soil; they found that nonequilibrium adsorption to the fracture walls and soil matrix was important. Köhne et al. (2006) added kinetic adsorption into the DP model (DP-KM) to analyze the leaching behavior of isoproturon (38) and terbuthylazine (78). The leaching of both herbicides in the tilled loamy (A_p) soil columns was well described by DP-KM, and only the DP model was able to provide a moderate fit to the extremely early breakthrough curves of these herbicides, which resulted from preferential flow in the no-till sandy (A_{μ}) soil.

7 Mobility of Pesticides in Soil Column Leaching Studies

The mobility of pesticides in various chemical classes has been examined by using the soil column leaching method. Although many of these studies followed regulatory guidelines (i.e., OECD and US EPA), experimental conditions among them varied considerably. Such conditions include column size (diameter and length), the type of elution media, the flow rate and duration of elution, the method of application and soil structure (packed or intact); and the variability in experimental conditions makes it impossible to quantitatively compare pesticide mobility between studies. The retardation factor Eq. (7) is one of the most important and useful parameters when evaluating pesticide mobility; unfortunately, this factor is only available

for a limited number of studies, in which mathematical analyses of data were conducted. Therefore, any qualitative analysis or comparison of existing studies is only possible by using the physicochemical properties or test conditions provided for the test pesticides. A representative data set from a range of pesticide soil column leaching studies is presented in Tables 4–7. Dissipation half-lives (DT_{50}) and batch adsorption coefficients (K_d or K_{oc}) measured in the same soils as used in the column leaching studies are useful for calculating a mobility index, and for conducting mathematical modeling, but their availability is limited. Typical values for these parameters can be obtained from the review by Roberts et al. (1998), and the database produced in the EU-funded FOOTPRINT project (PPDB 2009). These values may be useful guides when considering the leaching behavior of pesticides. However, soil characteristics such as pH, clay mineralogy and content of colloids and metal cations affect the existing form of an ionizable pesticide, and result in different soil-pesticide interactions. Furthermore, the possible deviation in $K_{d}(K_{o})$ and DT₅₀ from measured values, under flow conditions, should be kept in mind as described in Sect. 4.

Although soil column leaching studies provide an indication of the potential mobility of pesticide in soil, the significant leaching of a pesticide from a laboratory soil column does not necessarily mean that contamination of GW under field conditions will occur. When the estimated concentration of a pesticide in GW at 1 m depth exceeds 0.1 ppb, from using FOCUS groundwater simulations, the more reliable outdoor lysimeter studies may be conducted as a refinement step in the EU (re) registration procedure (FOCUS 2011). Maximum concentration data for several currently registered EU pesticides and their metabolites, measured at 1 m depth in outdoor lysimeter studies, were obtained from EU peer-review reports (EFSA 2011; EU 2011). The data were then plotted against their laboratory K_{oc} and DT_{50} values and are shown in Fig. 4. The concentrations of most pesticides, irrespective of their K_{00} and DT₅₀ values, did not exceed the regulatory trigger value of 0.1 ppb, whereas significant breakthrough was reported for a large number of these pesticides in laboratory column leaching studies. Hydrophilic metabolites that had K_{∞} values <100 were more frequently detected at higher concentrations than 0.1 ppb. Soil column leaching studies can provide a good indication of potential pesticide mobility, but the extent of this mobility should be confirmed by an outdoor lysimeter study, because many different factors operate in the field (viz, meteorological conditions and variable soil properties and structure) that cannot easily be created in the laboratory. To make the opposite point, negligible leaching of a pesticide from a laboratory soil column does not necessarily indicate that there is no concern for GW contamination under field conditions. When a pesticide is applied at 100 g ha⁻¹ to a lysimeter with a surface area of 1 m^2 , and the total volume of leachate is 250 L (OECD 2000), the EU trigger value of 0.1 ppb is equal to a 0.25% breakthrough of the applied pesticide. It is usually difficult to trace such a small amount of pesticide with reasonable precision, unless a radiolabeled form of the pesticide is applied in sufficient amounts to allow for quantitation.

Organophosphorus, Carbamate and Pyrethroid Pesticides: A summary literature survey for these groups is presented in Table 4. The organophosphorus pesticides

| Tab | Table 4 Soil column lea | aching of or | ganophosphorus, | carbamate, pyi | Soil column leaching of organophosphorus, carbamate, pyrethroid pesticides | | | |
|-----|-------------------------|-----------------------|---|------------------|--|--|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|
| | | Species | No. of soil and DT _{so} ^c | DT | | Flow medium ^f | Leachate, Soil (%) ^h | |
| No. | No. Pesticide | and appl ^a | amendment ^b | K^{d} | Column properties ^e | Flow conditions ^g | R ⁱ | |
| Org | Organophosphorus | | | | | | | |
| 1 | Parathion | 32 P | 8 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | na, na | Swoboda and |
| | | P,L | cellulose | 4.4–13* | $2.7 \text{ cm id} \times {}^{14}\text{Cm}$ | $10.5 \mathrm{~cm~h^{-1}}$ | na | Thomas (1968) |
| 0 | Fenitrothion | ¹⁴ C | 1 | 20 days | C, d, U and A (60 days), na | DW | 16, 85(U); 6-40, 66(A) [#] | Takimoto et al. |
| | | P,L | | na | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | 100 ml | na | (1976) |
| Э | Diazinon | ai | 1 | 17–22 days | C, d, U, na | DW | ND, 9–12 | Lopetz-Avila et al. |
| | | P,L | | 2.2* | 4.8 cm id×40 cm | $1.6 \text{ cm} \times 2 \text{day}^{-1}$, 30 days | na | (1986) |
| | | ¹⁴ C | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | 30 - 39, 37 - 29 | Arienzo et al. (1994) |
| | | P, L | | 1.4 - 2.0 | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 4.3 mm h^{-1} , 12 days | na | |
| 5 | Azinphos-methyl | ai | 1 sand | na | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl_2 | 70–80, na | Farran and Chentouf |
| | | C,L | bentonite | 26-40 | $1 \text{ cm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ | $19 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}$ | na | (2000) |
| 9 | Methidathion | ai | 1 | 7 days | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | DW | 47, 13 | Sánchez et al. (2003) |
| | | P, L | TDTMA | 45 | $5.4 \text{ cm id} \times 5 \text{ cm}$ | $1.3 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}$,8 h day $^{-1}$,3 days | 3.8 | |
| ٢ | Fosthiazate | f | Э | na | C, dd, A(2 days), na | DW | 0.004-0.09, 5.8-0.4 | Karpouzas et al. |
| | | P, L | | na | $7.5 \text{ cm id} \times 50 \text{ cm}$ | s, 61 days | na | (2007) |
| 8 | Fenamiphos | ¹⁴ C | ς, | na | C, d, U, na | 5 mM CaCl_2 | ND, na | Bilkert and Rao |
| | | P, L | | 1.2 - 9.6 | 4.4 cm id×40 cm | na | na | (1985) |
| 6 | Phorate | ¹⁴ C | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl_2 | ND-6, 93-90 | Baskaran et al. |
| | | P, L | | 20–34 | 2.7 cm id×20 cm | $2.1 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}$ | na | (1996) |
| 10 | Terbufos | ¹⁴ C | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl_2 | ND-5, 96-87 | Baskaran et al. |
| | | P, L | | 24–35 | 2.7 cm id×20 cm | $2.1 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}$ | na | (1996) |
| 11 | Acephate | ai | 2 | 16–29 days | C, d, U, na | 5 mM CaSO_4 | ND-98 ppm, na | Yen et al. (2000) |
| | | P, L | | 0.02 - 0.18 | $7.5 \text{ cm id} \times 27 \text{ cm}$ | 5 mm day^{-1} , 7 days | na | |
| | | ¹⁴ C | 4 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | 0.6 - 6.7, 99 - 46 | Sánchez-Camazano |
| | | P, L | | 0.7 - 3.3 | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 0.2 mm h^{-1} , 15 days | na | et al. (1994) |
| 12 | Methamidophos | ai | 2 | 1.6–12 days | C, d, U, na | 5 mM CaSO_4 | ND-67 ppm, na | Yen et al. (2000) |
| | | P, L | | 0.25-0.28 | $7.5 \text{ cm id} \times 27 \text{ cm}$ | 5 mm day^{-1} , 7 days | na | |

| 0.4-0.98 2.5 cm id x 15 cm |
|---|
| 1 8–14 days C, u, U, Cl ⁻ |
| na $4 \text{ cm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ |
| 3 8–14 days C, u, A(2 days), na |
| na $15 \text{ cm} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ |
| 1 11 days ¹ C, dd, U, na |
| P, O/L 0.45 [*] 30 cm×1 m |
| |
| 2 3-10mon C, d, U, na |
| 0.14-0.44* 18 cm id x 33 cm |
| 2 na C, d & u, U, na |
| 0.9-2.9* 5 cm id × 25 cm |
| 2 na C, u, U, Br ⁻ |
| Thatch 1.9–44 10 cm id×10.7 cm |
| 2 na C,dd,U and A(30 days), na |
| na 5.6 cm id×30 cm |
| 1 0.8 days C, d, A(1–11 days), na |
| 0.4^{*} 4 cm id × 30 cm |
| 4 ~ 2 days C, u, U, na |
| na 12 cm id×25–50 cm |
| 1 6–11 days C, u, U, Br [–] |
| 0.8 29.5 cm id×51 cm |
| 1 na R, dd, U, na |
| 5^{\ddagger} 15×5×60 cm |

| Tab | Table 4 (continued) | | | | | | | |
|-----|---------------------|----------------------------------|--|---|--|--|---|----------------------------|
| No. | Pesticide | Species and appl ^a | No. of soil and DT_{50}^{c} amendment ^b K^{d} | ${\mathop{ m DT}}_{50}{\mathop{ m c}^{ m c}}$ | Column properties ^e | Flow medium ^f Flow conditions ^g | Leachate, Soil (%) ^h R ⁱ | |
| 21 | Benthiocarb | ai | 1 | na | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl, | ND, 12 | Aktar et al. (2009) |
| | | P, L | | na | $6 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | na, 30 days | na | |
| | | f | 2 | na | C, u, U and A (31 days), na | Irrigation water | 5-10, 79 | Doran et al. (2008) |
| | | P, L | | na | 10 cm id×10 cm | $0.2 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 10 \text{ days}$ | na | |
| | | ai | 2 | na | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | 5 mM CaSO_4 | na, na | Chiang et al. (2001) |
| | | C, L | | na | 4.35 cm id×12 cm | $1.4 \text{ and } 2.9 \text{ cm h}^{-1}$ | 51 - 110 | |
| 22 | Molinate | ai | 5 | na | C, d, U, na | Water | na, 90–84 | Gray and Weierich |
| | | P, L | | na | 1.7 in. id×9–24in | 8 in. | na | (1968) |
| 23 | Pirimicarb | ai | 2 | 1.2mon | C, u, A(6 days), Br ⁻ | 10 mM CaCl_2 | 2-7, 68-60 | Taboada et al. (1994) |
| | | P, L | | 1.2–2.3 | $12 \text{ cm id} \times 24 \text{ cm}$ | $0.8 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, \sim 55 \text{ cm}$ | na | |
| 24 | Carbendazim | ai | 1 | 6.5mon | C, d, U, na | Water | 77, na | Aharonson and |
| | | P, L | | 3.5 | $4.5 \text{ cm id} \times 22 \text{ cm}$ | 107 cm, 12 days | na | Kafkafi (1975) |
| Pyn | Pyrethroid | | | | | | | |
| 25 | Phenothrin | 14 C | 3 | 1-2 days | C, d, U and A (14 days), na | DW | ND, 95–33# | Nambu et al. (1980) |
| | | P, L | | na | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | $6-8 \text{ cml } \text{h}^{-1}, 0.3 \text{ L}$ | na | |
| 26 | Permethrin | 14 C | 2 | 6–12 days | C, d, U and A (21 days), na | Water | ND-2.6#,100-97# | Kaneko et al. (1978) |
| | | P, L | | na | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | $1-6 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}, 0.3 \text{ L}$ | na | |
| | | ai | 6 | na | C, d, U, na | Water | 0-15, 75-62 | Ismail and |
| | | P, L | | 11-52 | 2.5 cm id×20 cm | $7.8 \text{ mm day}^{-1}, 14 \text{ days}$ | na | Kalithasan |
| | | | - | | ou 11 م | NW/ | 0 | (2007) Smith and Willie |
| | | DI | - | 110 | C, U, C, III 10.2 cm id × 40 cm | 2.4 mm h-1 3DV | | (1985) |
| LC | Bifenthrin | ы. : | | na | C. d. U. na | Water | ND, 75 | Manoi and Gaibhive |
| | | P. L | | 222 | $1.1 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | 3.7 cm h^{-1} , 0.24 L | na | (2007) |
| 28 | Fenpropathrin | 14 C | 4 | 11-17 days | C, d, U and A (28 days), na | Water | 0.3-47#, 98-41# | Sakata et al. (1990) |
| | | P, L | | na | $3 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | $0.4 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 1 \text{ L}$ | na | |

| 6 | 29 Cypermethrin | 14 C | 4 | 4–56 days | 4–56 days C, d, U and A (30 days), na Water | Water | $0.3 - 31^{\#}, 90 - 41^{\#}$ | Sakata et al. (1986) |
|---|------------------------|-----------------|---|----------------------|---|--|-------------------------------|-------------------------|
| | | P, L | | na | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | $0.6 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 1 \text{ L}$ | na | |
| _ | 30 β -Cyfluthrin | ai | 1 | 16–26 days | 16–26 days C, d, U, na | Water | ND, 75–66 | Gupta and Gupta |
| | | P, L | | na | 7 cm id × 25 cm | $1.6 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 2 \text{ L}$ | na | and Gajbhiye (2002b) |
| _ | Deltamethrin | 14 C | 4 | na | C, d, U, ³ H ₂ O | 5 mM CaCl ₂ | 3.0 - 8.8, 93 - 77 | Selim and Zhu |
| | | P, L | | 13-98 | $6.4 \text{ cm id} \times 10 \text{ cm}$ | $1.3 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, \tilde{3}-5PV$ | na | (2002) |
| | | 14 C | б | na | C, d, U, na | DW | ND, 98–97# | Kaufman et al. |
| | | P, L | | na | $7.6 \text{ cm id} \times 30.5 \text{ cm}$ | 1PV | na | (1981) |
| 0 | 32 Fenvalerate | ¹⁴ C | 4 | $0.5-3 \mod 10^{-3}$ | C, d, U and A (30 days), na | Water | ND-1.2#,96-53# | Ohkawa et al. (1978) |
| | | P,L | | na | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | 0.3 L | na | |
| | | ai | 1 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | 0.04, 97 | Smith and Willis |
| | | P,L | | na | $10.2 \text{ cm id} \times 40 \text{ cm}$ | $2.4 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 3PV$ | na | (1985) |

^aApplied with ai (non-labeled), f (formulation) or ¹⁴C (radio-label); continuously (C) or as a pulse (P) in laboratory (L) or outdoors (O). ^bTDTMA, tetradecyl trimethyl ammonium bromide. Thatch, bentgrass and zoysiagrass thatch layer. Half-life in aerobic metabolism using the corresponding soils (20–25°C). I, estimated values by a mathematical analysis. ^dAdsorption coefficient estimated by the Freundlich ($L^{1/n}$ Rg^{-1}) or linear (*, L Rg^{-1}) isotherm. \ddagger , estimated values by a mathematical analysis. ^cShape/C, cylinder; R, rectangular: Soil packing/days, disturbed or packed soil; dd, depth-wise packed soil; u, undisturbed or intact soil: Aging/U, unaged; A, aged (period): Tracer. id, internal diameter. 'DW, distilled water. #Flow rate (natural (n)/simulated (s) rainfall or total volume), period. PV, pore volume. "Percent of pesticide based on the applied dose. # means total %. ⁱR, retardation factor (dimensionless) estimated from a breakthrough curve. na, not available. ND, not detected

| | | | No. of | | | | | |
|------|--------------|----------------------------------|--------|-------------------------------|---|--|---|---------------------------|
| No. | Pesticide | Species and appl ^a | | ${}^{\circ} \overline{K}^{d}$ | Column properties ^e | Flow medium ^f Flow conditions ^g | Leachate, Soil (%) ^h R ⁱ | Reference |
| Urea | a | | | | | | | |
| 33 | Fenuron | ai | 1 | na | C, d, A(<4 days), Cl ⁻ | 5 mM CaSO ₄ (CaCl ₂) | na, na | Spurlock et al. (1995) |
| | | P, L | | 0.7 | $8 \text{ mm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ | 80-100PV | 1.6-3.7 | |
| 34 | Monuron | ai | 1 | na | C,d,A(8–240 days),Cl ⁻ | 5 mM CaSO ₄ CaCl ₂) | na, na | Spurlock et al. (1995) |
| | | P, L | | 5.2 | $48 \text{ mm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ | 80-100PV | 6.0-6.4 | |
| 35 | Diuron | ai | 1 | na | C, d, U, ³ H,O | 5 mM CaCl, | ~80, na | Nkedl-Kizza et al. (1987) |
| | | C, L | | 1.4 | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 5.6 cm h^{-1} , na | 1.9-4.7 | |
| | | ai | 1 | 16 days | C, d, A(7,14 days), na | 10 mM CaCl, | 30–82, na | Fava et al. (2006) |
| | | P, L | | 2.7 | >4 cm id×30 cm | $0.6 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 3 \text{ days}$ | na | |
| | | ai | n | 4–8mon | C, u, U, na | DW | 3 - 19, 43 - 27 | Landry et al. (2004) |
| | | P, L | | na | $15 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | 10PV, 15 days | na | |
| | | ai | 4 | na | C, u, U, na | rainwater | 0.1 - 0.8, 13 - 6.6 | Landry et al. (2006) |
| | | P, O | | na | $15 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | n, 673 mm, 1y | na | |
| | | ¹⁴ C | 1 | na | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | DW | 0.1, 107.6 | Weber and Whitacre |
| | | P, L | | na | 9.7 cm id×30.5 cm | 0.5 mm h^{-1} , 30 days | na | (1982) |
| 36 | Chlortoluron | ai | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | 23–28, na | Fouqué-Brouard and |
| | | C, L | | 0.7 - 1.5 | $1.5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | $1.7 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 1-3 \text{ days}$ | na | Fournier (1996) |
| | | ai | 1 | na | C, u, U, na | DW | 7,48 | Kördel et al. (1992) |
| | | P, L | | ~2 | $11.5 \text{ cm id} \times 36 \text{ cm}$ | 385 mm, 4 days | na | |
| | | f | 1 | 30 days | C, u, A(1–28 days), Br⁻ | DW | <1, ~60 (28 days) | van Beinum et al. (2006) |
| | | P, L | | 7.0 | $23.7 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 30 mm, 5.5 h | na | |
| 37 | Fluometuron | ai | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | 5 mM CaCl, | na, na | Crisanto Herrero and |
| | | P, L | | 1.5 - 4.6 | 8.8 cm id×<30 cm | 0.5 mm h^{-1} , 14 days | na | Lorenzo Martín (1991) |
| | | f | 1 | na | C, d, U, | DW | 56, na | Hance et al. (1981) |
| | | P, L | | 1.4 - 3.0 | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 206 mm | na | |

| Fouqué-Brouard and Fournier (1996) | Vincent et al. (2007) | Renaud et al. (2004) | Lennartz (1999) | Sánchez-Camazano et al. | (2000) | Haouari et al. (2006) | | Fava et al. (2000) | Fouqué-Brouard and | Fournier (1996) | Fouqué-Brouard and | Fournier (1996) | Fouqué-Brouard and | Fournier (1996) | Cox et al. (1996) | | Celis et al. (2001) | | (continued) |
|---|--|--|--------------------------|---|--|-----------------------|--|---|--------------------|--|--------------------|--|--------------------|---|------------------------|--|------------------------|--|-------------|
| 18–19, na na | na, 41–64 2.1–10.8 | <0.1–0.5, na (57 days) Renaud et al. (2004) | u | 4.5-5.4 ~50, 17 | na | 8-42, 63-31 | na 40 04 | 4ð-ð4, na na | 5-10, na | na | 1-4, na | na | 4–15, na | na | 64–89, na | na | 72–90, na | na | |
| DW 1.7 cm h ⁻¹ , 1–4 davs | 5 mM CaCl ₂ 3 mm h ⁻¹ , 3–9 weeks | Water 24 mm 8 h | artificial rain | 0.23 mm h ⁻¹ , 6 weeks DW | 1.3 mm h ⁻¹ , 33 days | DW | 1.5 cm h^{-1} , 500 mm | 10 mM CaCl ₂ 6 3 mm h^{-1} 3 davs | DW | $1.7 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 12-14 \text{ h}$ | DW | 1.7 cm h ⁻¹ , 4–15 days | DW | $1.7 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 2-3 \text{ days}$ | 10 mM CaCl_2 | $0.5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 10 \text{ days}$ | 10 mM CaCl_2 | $0.5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 10 \text{ days}$ | |
| C, d, U, na 1.5 cm id×30 cm | C, u, U, Br ⁻ ¹⁴ Cm id×30 cm | C, u, A(3–57 days), na 23 5 cm id x 30 cm | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | 5.4 cm id×10 cm C, d, U, Cl ⁻ | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 40 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | C, a, A(/,14 aays), na >4 cm id × 30 cm | C, d, U, na | $1.5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $1.5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $1.5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | 5 cm id×<30 cm | C, d, U, na | $2.3 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | |
| na 0.5–1.0 | 8–25 days [#] 2–15 [#] | 33–59 days 1 0–3 6 | na | 0.65 na | 10-51 | na | 2.1 | 14 days 5.7 | na | 0.4 - 2.1 | na | 0.7 - 7.7 | na | 1.9–2.7 | 66 days | 0.7 - 2.0 | 15-45 days | 0.7 - 2.0 | |
| 5 | ω | 4 | 1 | 1 | | 1 | ÷ | - | 2 | | 2 | | 2 | | б | | ю | | |
| ai C. L | ai P, L | ai P O | f, | P, L ai | P, L | ai | Р, L | aı P. I. | ai - | C, L | ai | C,L | ai | C,L | ai | P, L | ai | P,L | |
| Isoproturon | Isoproturon | | | Linuron | | | | | Metobromuron | | Chloroxuron | | Difenoxuron | | Thiazafluron | | | | |
| 38 | 38 | | | 39 | | | | | 40 | | 41 | | 42 | | 43 | | | | |
| Tab | Table 5 (continued) | | | | | | | |
|------|---------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|------------------------------------|---|--|---------------------------------|---------------------------|
| | | Species | No. of soil and | $\mathrm{DT}_{\mathbf{s}_0}^\circ$ | | Flow medium ^f | Leachate, Soil (%) ^h | |
| No. | Pesticide | and appl ^a | amendment ^b | | Column properties ^e | Flow conditions ^g | R ⁱ | Reference |
| 44 | Tebuthiuron | ¹⁴ C | 4 | na | C, d, U, Cl- | DW | 0.7-81, 90-17 | Weber and Whitacre |
| | | P, L | | na | $9.7 \text{ cm id} \times 30.5 \text{ cm}$ | 0.5 mm h^{-1} , 40 days | na | (1982) |
| 45 | Buthidazole | 14 C | 4 | na | C, d, A (30 days), Cl ⁻ | DW | 14-19#, 71-56# | Weber and Peeper (1982) |
| | | P, L | | na | $9.5 \text{ cm id} \times \sim 30 \text{ cm}$ | $0.5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 45 \text{ days}$ | na | |
| Sulf | Sulfonylurea | | | | | | | |
| 46 | Chlorsulfuron | ai | 4 | na | C, d, U, na | 5 mM CaCl ₂ | na, na | Mersie and Foy (1986) |
| | | P, L | | 1.0 - 2.4 | $9.7 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | $0.5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 14 \text{ days}$ | na | |
| | | ai | 1 | 26–46 days | C, d, U, na | DW | na, ~10 (40–50 cm) | Vischetti and Businelli |
| | | P, L | | 0.83 | $na \times 50 cm$ | s, 84 days | na | (1992) |
| | | ai | 4 | na | C, u, U, na | DW | na, na | Beckie and McKercher |
| | | P, L | | na | 10 cm id ×40 cm | $1 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}, 3-10 \text{ h}$ | na | (1990) |
| | | 14 C | 2 | na | C, d and u, U, Br ⁻ | DW | na, na | Veeh et al. (1994) |
| | | P, L | | 0.006-0.07 | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | $2 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 2PV$ | 0.55-1.33 | |
| 47 | Metsulfuron-Me | ai | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | na, na | Günther et al. (1993) |
| | | P, L | | na | $7.5 \text{ cm id} \times 29 \text{ cm}$ | 2.1 mm h^{-1} , 20 days | na | |
| | | f | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | ND, 45 | Abdulla et al. (2001) |
| | | P, L | | 5.4–39 | $11 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | 0.2 mm h^{-1} , 10 days | na | |
| | | 14 C | 1 | 66-110 days | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | DW | 23-37, 8.2-4.2 | Heistermann et al. (2003) |
| | | P, L | | $0.32^{#}$ | 21 cm id ×28 cm | $0.35 \text{ mm day}^{-1}, \sim 57 \text{ days}$ | na | |
| 49 | Triasulfuron | ai | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | na, na | Günther et al. (1993) |
| | | P, L | | na | $7.5 \text{ cm id} \times 29 \text{ cm}$ | 2.1 mm h ⁻¹ , 28 days | na | |
| | | ai | 4 | >140 days | C, u, A(3–57 days), na | Water | 0.3–9.4, na (57 days) | Renaud et al. (2004) |
| | | P, O | | 0.03 - 1.4 | $23.5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 24 mm, 8 h | na | |
| 50 | Primisulfuron-Me | ¹⁴ C,f | 4 | na | C, u, U, na | Rainwater | $0.1-2.3, 59-31^{\#}$ | Weber et al. (2006) |
| | | P, O | | na | 20 cm id×91 cm | 515–644 mm,128 days | na | |

| 51 | Tribenuron-Me | 14 C | 2 | na | C, u, U, ³ H ₂ O | Artificial rain | 7-78, 80-12 | Riise et al. (1994) |
|-----------------------------|--|-----------------|----------|----------------------|--|---|---|---------------------------|
| | | P, L | | 0.5 - 2.3 | $10 \text{ cm id} \times 24 \text{ cm}$ | 1 mm h^{-1} , 7 days | na | |
| 52 | Ethametsulfuron- | ai | б | 13–36 days | C, d, U and A (30 days), na 10 mM CaCl, | 10 mM CaCl, | 24-58, 68-25 (U) | Si et al. (2005) |
| | Me | P, L | | 1.7 - 5.5 | 3.5 cm id×38 cm | $2.1 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}, 25 \text{ h}$ | na | |
| 52 | Ethametsulfuron | ai | 4 | na | C, u, U, na | DW | na, na | Beckie and McKercher |
| | | P, L | Agral 90 | na | $10 \text{ cm id} \times 40 \text{ cm}$ | $1 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}, 3-10 \text{ h}$ | na | (1990) |
| 54 | Nicosulfuron | ai | 12 | na | C, d, U, Cl ⁻ | 5 mM Ca(NO ₃) ₂ | na, na | Gonzalez and Ukrainczyk |
| | | P, L | | 0.9 - 8.8 | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ | $3.7 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 2PV$ | 1.4 - 10.5 | (1999) |
| 55 | Rimsulfuron | f | 2 | 2.2–7.5 days | C, d, U, Cl- | DW | na, na | Martins and Mermoud |
| | | C, L | | 2.8×10^{-3} | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 35 \text{ cm}$ | 102 cm, 2 weeks | 1.0-1.5 | (1999) |
| 57 | 57 Sulfosulfuron | ai | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | 19-22, 76-63 | Srivastava et al. (2006) |
| | | P, L | | na | 8.5 cm id×36 cm | $7.4 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 2.5 \text{ days}$ | na | |
| 58 | Imazosulfuron | ¹⁴ C | 4 | 40 days | C, d, U and A (30 days), na 10 mM CaCl ₂ | 10 mM CaCl_{2} | <0.3-0.6, 100-81 (U) Mikata et al. (2001) | Mikata et al. (2001) |
| | | P, L | | 0.96 - 1.6 | $4 \text{ cm id} \times 29 \text{ cm}$ | $1.6 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 35 \text{ h}$ | na | |
| ^b Agral Table | Agral 90, (nonylphenoxy)polyethoxyethanol Fable 4 | xy)polyeth | | factant. °Half-li | surfactant. 'Half-life in aerobic metabolism using the corresponding soils (20-25 °C). The other keys are same as those in | ng the corresponding soil | ls (20-25 °C). The other | keys are same as those in |

| | IVAVIIIIS UL A | י אומותמווטמוט, מ | vuoannuo, urp | TADIC O DOIL COMMIN RECEIVED OF A DIRECTORY ACCROMINICAL UPINOUS CONTRACTOR FOR A DOIL OF A | bournes | | |
|----------------|-----------------------|-------------------|-----------------------------------|---|--|---------------------------------|----------------------------|
| | | No. of | | | | | |
| M- D-44 | Species | | $\mathrm{DT}_{\mathrm{S0}}^\circ$ | | Flow medium ^f | Leachate, Soil (%) ^h | |
| No. Pesticide | and appl ^a | amendment | K. | Column properties | Flow conditions ^E | R' | Keterence |
| Arylalkanoate | | | | | | | |
| 59 2,4-D | ai | 1 | 3-9 days | C, d, U, na | DW | 39-47, <0.5 | Lopetz-Avila et al. (1986) |
| | P, L | | 0.14^{*} | 4.8 cm id ×40 cm | $1.5 \text{ cm} \times 2 \text{ day}^{-1}$, 30 days | na | |
| | 14 C | 5 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | na, na | Grover (1977) |
| | P, L | | 0.1 - 1.3 | $2 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | $1.9 	ext{ cm } h^{-1}$ | na | |
| | ¹⁴ C | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl_2 | 12-43, 82-55 | Baskaran et al. (1996) |
| | P, L | | 3.4–17 | $2.7 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | 2.1 cm h^{-1} | 4.5-20.8 | |
| 60 Dichlorprop | ai | 3 | na | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | DW | 96–100, ND | Matallo et al. (1999) |
| | P, L | | 0.4 - 0.6 | $9.3 \text{ cm id} \times 10 \text{ cm}$ | 3-4PV | na | |
| | ¹⁴ C | 2 | na | C, u, U, ³ H ₂ O | DW | 59–92, na | Riise et al. (1992) |
| | P, L | | 0.5 - 1.8 | $10 \text{ cm id} \times 18-25 \text{ cm}$ | $0.5 \text{ mm } \text{h}^{-1}$ | na | |
| 61 MCPA | ^{14}C | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | 20 mM CaCl_2 | ND-79, 82-14 | Haberhauer et al. (2002) |
| | P, L | | na | $4.9 \text{ cm id} \times 10 \text{ cm}$ | 21 cm | na | |
| 62 Mecoprop | ai | б | na | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | DW | 98–104, ND | Matallo et al. (1999) |
| | P, L | | 0.4–0.5 | $9.3 \text{ cm id} \times 10 \text{ cm}$ | 3-4PV | na | |
| 63 Triclopyr | ai | 2 | na | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | 1 mM CaCl_2 | 67–84, na | Raturi et al. (2003) |
| | P, L | Thatch | 0.3–2.5 | $10 \text{ cm id} \times 10.7 \text{ cm}$ | $1 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 6-7\text{PV}$ | 2.8-3.2 | |
| | f | 1 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | ND, 4.5 | Lee et al. (1986) |
| | P, L | | na | 8.9 cm id ×40 cm | 25 mm, every 2 nd d | na | |
| 64 Cyhalofop | ai | 2 | 0.6–14 days | C, d, U, na | DW | ND, 85–43 | Blasioli et al. (2008) |
| | P, L | | 0.5 - 3.0 | $3.5 \text{ cm id} \times 16 \text{ cm}$ | $32 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 5 \text{ h}$ | na | |
| Acetoanilides | | | | | | | |
| 65 Alachlor | ai | 1 | 15 days | C, d and u, U, Br ⁻ | DW | 0.01 - 0.6, 33 | Heyer and Stan (1995) |
| | P, L | | na | $na \times 30 cm$ | 2.1 mm h^{-1} , 9 days | na | |
| | ai | 2 | 4–7 days | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | 1 mM CaSO_4 | na, ND | Sonon and Schwab (2004) |
| | P, L | | na | $7.5 \text{ cm id} \times 110 \text{ cm}$ | 3.5–5PV | na | |

Table 6 Soil column leaching of arylalkanoate, acetoanilide, diphenyl ether and triazine pesticides

| Walker et al. (1996) | Selim et al. (2002) | | Clay et al. (1991) | | Kim and Feagley (1998) | | Singh et al. (2002) | | Düring and Hummel 1999 | | Weber et al. (2003) | | Weber et al. (2006) | | Chiang et al. (2001) | | Fernandes et al. (2006) | | | Gaston and Locke (2000) | | Chiang et al. (2001) | | Weber et al. (1993) | | (continued) |
|---------------------------------|--|---|--------------------------|---|------------------------|--|---------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------|--|----------------------------|---|--------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------|--|----------------|--------------------------|---|--------------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------------|---|-------------|
| 0.3, na | na, na | 2.6-4.1 | 14–27, na | na | ND-34, 100-65 | na | 16-38, 79-57 | na | 2–12, na | na | 4-44, 91-51 | na | ND-2.8, 65-42 [#] | na | na, na | 39–90 | 64–69, na | na | | 35-57, 55-37 | na | na, na | 443-1,735 | ND-11, 87-62 | na | |
| n 168 dave | 5 mM CaCl, | $2-3 \text{ cm h}^{-1}$ | Water | 5 mm h ⁻¹ , 11.6PV | DW | 1-3PV | Water | $2-3 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}$ | Water | 0.2–0.4 mm h ⁻¹ , 4PV | Deionized water | 1.3 cm, every 4 h, 10 days | Rainwater | 515–644 mm,128 days | 5 mM CaSO_4 | $1.4, 2.9 \text{ cm h}^{-1}$ | 10 mM CaCl_2 | $1.1 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 10 \text{PV}$ | | 10 mM CaCl_2 | $0.65 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 40 \text{ days}$ | 5 mM CaSO_4 | $1.4,2.9 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}$ | Water | $0.5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 40 \text{ days}$ | |
| C, u, U, na 11 cm id × 30 cm | C, d, U, ³ H ₂ O | $3.15 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | $15 \text{ cm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $5.4 \text{ cm id} \times 26 \text{ cm}$ | C, d and u, U, Br | 8 cm id×14.5 cm | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | 20 cm id×30–40 cm | C, d, U, na | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | C, u, U, na | $20 \text{ cm id} \times 91 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, Cl ⁻ | 4.35 cm id×12 cm | C, d, U, na | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | $10.2 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | 4.35 cm id×12 cm | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | $10 \text{ cm id} \times 30.5 \text{ cm}$ | |
| 17 days | na | 0.6 - 1.8 | na | 3.2-6.0 | 18 days | 1.5 | na | na | na | na | na | 1.3 - 5.6 | na | na | na | na | 66 days | 0.3 | | 74–169 days | 0.5 - 0.8 | na | na | na | na | |
| 1 | б | | 1 | | 1 | | 2 | | 1 | | 4 | | 4 | | 2 | | 1 | | | 1 | | 2 | | 4 | | |
| f P O | ⁴ C | P, L | 14 C | P,L | ai | P,L | ai | P, L | f | P, L | ^{14}C | P, L | ¹⁴ C, f | P, O | ai | C,L | ai | P, L | | ^{14}C | P, L | ai | C,L | 14 C | P, L | |
| 65 Alachlor | | | | | 67 Metolachlor | | | | | | | | | | 68 Butachlor | | 69 Metalaxyl | | Diphenyl ether | 70 Acifluorfen | | 71 Chlomethoxyfen | | 72 Fomesafen | | |

| Table 6 (continued) | | | | | | | |
|---------------------|----------------------|--------------------|-----------------|--|--|---------------------------------------|----------------------------|
| No Destinide | Species and appla | No. of soil and | DT .c Kd | Column aronerties ⁶ | Flow medium ^f Flow conditiones | Leachate, Soil (%) ^h Pi | Reference |
| | 14C | 1 | 4 | Comm propries | | ND 100 | Gue et al (2002) |
| | D D | T | 11 74 | C, u, U, 11a 75 cm id x 50 cm | и 367 mm 2mon | nu-100 na | OUD CL AI. (2002) |
| 73 Oxyfluorfen | ai c | 9 | 42 days | - | 10 mM CaSO | ND, ~70 | Yen et al. (2003) |
| • | P, L | | 52-755 | $7 \text{ cm id} \times 21 \text{ cm}$ | 1.1 mm h ⁻¹ , 30 days | na | |
| Traizines | | | | | | | |
| 74 Atrazine | ai | 1 | 73-78 days | C, d, U, na | DW | 48-53 (total) | Lopetz-Avila et al. (1986) |
| | P, L | | 0.5^{*} | $4.8 \text{ cm id} \times 40 \text{ cm}$ | $1.5 \text{ cm} \times 2 \text{ day}^{-1}$, 30 days | na | |
| | ai | 1 | na | C, d, U, ³ H ₂ O | 5 mM CaCl, | ~90, na | Nkedl-Kizza et al. (1987) |
| | C, L | | 0.15 | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 5.6 cm h^{-1} , na | 1.4-2.0 | |
| | ai | 1 | na | C, u, U, Cl- | DW | ~100, na | Zhou et al. (2010) |
| | C, L | | na | $4 \text{ cm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ | 8 mm h ⁻¹ , 6.7 days | 4.6 | |
| | f | 3 | 2–23 mon | C, d, U, Br ⁻ | Deionized water | <0.1-4.6, 65-43 | Bedmar et al. (2004) |
| | P, L | | $2.6 - 3.1^{*}$ | $15.3 \text{ cm} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 900 mm, 40 days | 7.5-8.8 | |
| | f | 1 | 22 days | C, u, U, na | n | 1.8, na | Walker et al. (1996) |
| | P, O | | 0.95 | $11 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 168 days | na | |
| | 14 C | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl_2 | 22-28, 69-65 | Baskaran et al. (1996) |
| | P, L | | 2.7-3.0 | $2.7 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | $2.1 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}$ | na | |
| | 14 C | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | Deionized water | 75-81, <27 | Abu-Zreig et al. (2000) |
| | P, L | | na | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 19 \text{ cm}$ | $14-16 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 40 \text{ h}$ | na | |
| | 14 C | 1 | 6–77 days | C, dd, U, na | n+irrigation | 7,~18 | Cherrier et al. (2005) |
| | P, O | | 1.0^{*} | 19.8 cm id×30 cm | 65 days | na | |
| | 14 C | 2 | na | $C, u, U, {}^{3}H_{2}O$ | Artificial rain | 18-95, 73-3 | Riise et al. (1994) |
| | P, L | | 0.3 - 3.1 | $10 \text{ cm id} \times 24 \text{ cm}$ | 1 mm h^{-1} , 7 days | na | |
| | ¹⁴ C,f | 4 | na | C, u, U, na | Rainwater | ND-1.7, 47-39 [#] | Weber et al. (2006) |
| | P, O | | na | 20 cm id×91 cm | 515-644 mm,128 days | na | |

| | ai P | 7 | 50 days | С, u, U, па z :: э : | | 210, 012 | Caluctul ct al. (2004) |
|---|-----------|---|------------|--|--|-----------------------|---------------------------|
| - | P, L | | 1.3 | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | 0.6 mm h^{-1} | na | |
| | ų. | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | 28-33 (total, 8 days) | Hogue et al. (1981) |
| | P, L | | na | $4 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | $4 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 2-8 \text{ days}$ | na | |
| | f | 1 | na | C, d, U, | DW | 7.5, na | Hance et al. (1981) |
| | P, L | | 2.3 - 3.2 | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 20.6 cm | na | |
| | f | 1 | 20–25 days | C, u, U, Br | Water | 0.1, na | Vink et al. (1997) |
| | P, L | | 4.8 | $29.5 \text{ cm id} \times 51 \text{ cm}$ | s, 587 mm, 280 days | na | |
| | f | 1 | 20 days | C, u, A(1–28 days), Br ⁻ DW | r ⁻ DW | ND, ~40 (28 days) | van Beinum et al. (2006) |
| | P, L | | 2.9 | 23.7 cm id×30 cm | 30 mm, 5.5 h | na | |
| | 14 C | 1 | na | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | DW | 0.1, 87.4 | Weber and Whitacre (1982) |
| | P, L | | na | $9.7 \text{ cm id} \times 30.5 \text{ cm}$ | 0.5 mm h^{-1} , 30 days | na | |
| | ai | 2 | na | C, d and u, U, Br [–] | Water | 3-11, 91-81 | Singh et al. (2002) |
| | P, L | | na | 8 cm id×14.5 cm | $2-3 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}, 0.6 \text{ L}$ | na | |
| | f | 1 | na | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | artificial rain | na, na | Lennartz (1999) |
| | P, L | | 2.1 | $5.4 \text{ cm id} \times 10 \text{ cm}$ | 5.5 mm day ⁻¹ , 6weeks | 11.1 | |
| | f | 2 | 63 days# | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | Water | na, na | Köhne et al. (2006) |
| | P, L | | 3.7-12 | $14.7 \text{ cm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ | 30 mm×3-4 | na | |
| | ai | б | na | C, d, U, na | Water | na, na | Wu and Santelmann (1975) |
| | P, L | | na | $5.5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 127 mm | na | |

| Table | Table 7 Soil column leaching of miscellaneous pesticides | eaching of mis | scellaneous pesti | cides | | | | |
|-------|--|-----------------------|------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|--|---------------------------------|----------------------|
| | | Species | No. of soil and | $\mathrm{DT}_{\mathrm{50}}^\circ$ | | Flow medium ^f | Leachate, Soil (%) ^h | |
| No. | Pesticide | and appl ^a | amendment ^b | K^{d} | Column properties ^e | Flow conditions ^g | R ⁱ | Reference |
| 83 | Dicamba | ai | 1 | 73-77 days | C, d, U, na | DW | 62–86, ND | Lopetz-Avila et al. |
| | | P, L | | 0.11^{*} | 4.8 cm id×40 cm | $1.5 \text{ cm} \times 2 \text{ day}^{-1}$, 30 days | na | (1986) |
| | | ai | 1 | 10–17 days# | C, dd, U, Br ⁻ | Water | 37–63, na | Krzyszowska et al. |
| | | P, L | | na | $8.4 \text{ cm id} \times 50 \text{ cm}$ | 0.5 mm h^{-1} , 3 days | na | (1994) |
| | | 14 C | 1 | 38 days | C, d, U and A (~42 days), Br^{-} | 3 mM CaCl_2 | 10-85, 57-9 | Comfort et al. |
| | | P, L | | $0.01 - 0.06^{\#}$ | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 29 \text{ cm}$ | $5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 2PV$ | 1.0 - 1.2 | (1992) |
| 84 | Picloram | ai | 4 | >>5 days | C, d, U, na | DW | 90–96, na | Celis et al. (2005) |
| | | P, L | | na | $3 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | 9 mm h ⁻¹ , 4–5PV | na | |
| | | ai | 1 | 13–87 days# | C, dd, U, Br ⁻ | Water | 36–52, na | Krzyszowska et al. |
| | | P, L | | <0.26 | $8.4 \text{ cm id} \times 50 \text{ cm}$ | 0.5 mm h^{-1} , 3 days | na | (1994) |
| 85 | Clopyralid | ai | б | stable | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl_2 | 82–90, na | Cox et al. (1996) |
| | | P, L | | 0.01-0.05 | 5 cm id×<30 cm | $0.5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 10 \text{ days}$ | na | |
| | | ai | б | na | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl_2 | >90, na | Celis et al. (2001) |
| | | P, L | | 0.01 - 0.05 | 2.3 cm id×20 cm | 2.5 mm h^{-1} , 10 days | na | |
| 86 | Pyrithiobac | 14 C | 4 | na | C, u, U, Br | 5 mM Ca(NO ₃) ₂ | 0.04 - 1, 73 - 28 | Matocha and |
| | | P, L | | na | $10 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | $1.5-11 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}, 2\text{PV}$ | na | Hossner (1999) |
| 87 | Imazethapyr | ai | 1 | na | C, u, U, Br | Deionized water | 62–64, na | O'Dell et al. (1992) |
| | | P, L | | $0.1 - 1.2^{*}$ | 30 cm id×68 cm | 1.3 mm h ⁻¹ , 2PV | na | |
| | | 14 C | 1 | >30 days | C, d, U and A (\sim 28 days), na | Water | na, 95–65 | Johnson et al. |
| | | P, L | рН | $0.5 - 14^{*}$ | $2.2 \text{ cm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ | 1.5PV | na | (2000) |
| 88 | Imazaquin | ai | б | na | C, d, U, na | DW | 85–97, na | Undabeytia et al. |
| | | P, L | | 0.0-00.0 | $3 \text{ cm id} \times 24 \text{ cm}$ | $1.5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 0.4 \text{ L}$ | na | (2004) |
| | | 14 C | 2 | na | C, d, U, na | Water | 0.3 - 73, 100 - 26 | Regitano et al. |
| | | P, L | | 1.4 - 1.9 | 5 cm id×30 cm | 400 mm, 4 days | na | (2002) |

| Weber et al. (2003) | Weber and | Whitacre (1982) | Tan and Singh | (1995) | Mora et al. (1997) | | Hogue et al. (1981) | | Cuevas et al. (2008) | | Calderón et al. | (2004) | Dousset et al. | (2004) | Romero et al. | (1996) | Hua et al. (2009) | | van Beinum et al. | (2006) | Smith and Willis | (1985) | Kim and Feagley | (1998) | Khoury et al. | (2003) | (continued) |
|---|--------------------------|---|--------------------|------------------------------|--------------------|--|---------------------|--|----------------------|---|-----------------|--|----------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------|---|------------------------|--|--------------------------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------------------|-----------------|--|-----------------|--|-------------|
| 52-94, 44-6 na | 4.8, 86.8 | na | 100, na | na | 87–101, na | 2.1-4.7 | 99 | na | ND, na | na | 83–97, ND | na | 2–14, na | na | na, na | 0.9 - 1.3 | 76, 1 | na | 13, ~80 (28 days) | na | 75, ~16 | na | ND-89, 81-11 | na | na, 34 (7 days) | na | |
| Deionized water 1.3 cm, every 4 h, 10 days | DW | 0.5 mm day^{-1} , 30 days | Water | $2.4 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 4PV$ | 10 mM CaCl, | $0.5-1.1 \text{ mm } h^{-1}, 2 \text{ months}$ | DW | $0.42 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}, 2-8 \text{ days}$ | Water | 18 mm | Water | 0.6 mm h^{-1} | DW | 0.45 mm h^{-1} , 12 days | Water | $0.6-1.1 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}$, 26 days | 10 mM CaCl_2 | 200 mm, 48 h | DW | 30 mm, 5.5 h | DW | $2.4 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 3PV$ | DW | 1–3PV | Water | $0.3-0.4 \text{ mm h}^{-1}$, 15 days | |
| C, d, U, na 5 cm id×30 cm | C, d, U, Cl ⁻ | 9.7 cm id×30.5 cm | C, d, U, na | 7 cm id×8 cm | C, d, U, na | $5.5 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $4 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | C, u, U, Br | $20 \text{ cm id} \times 24 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | C, u, A (2 days), na | $15 \text{ cm} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, Cl- | $9 \text{ cm id} \times 10 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $5.4 \text{ cm id} \times 34 \text{ cm}$ | C, u, A (1–28 days), Br ⁻ | 23.7 cm id×30 cm | C, d, U, na | 10.2 cm id×40 cm | C, d, U, na | $5.4 \text{ cm id} \times 26 \text{ cm}$ | C, dd, U, na | $3 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | |
| na 0.6–2.4 | na | na | na | na | na | 0.2 - 1.1 | na | na | 46 days | 1.6 | 47–91 days | 0.2 - 0.7 | 20–91 days | na | >1mon | 0.04-0.6 | na | na | 41 days | 0 | na | na | 16 days | 1.1 | 5-6 days | 0.2 - 1.0 | |
| 4 | 1 | | 1 | | 4 | | 2 | | 1 | | 2 | | б | | б | | 1 | | 1 | | 1 | | 1 | | 2 | | |
| P, L | | P, L | ¹⁴ C, f | P,L | ai | P,L | f | P,L | ai | P, L | ai | P,L | ai | C,L | ai | P,L | ai | P, L | f | P, L | ai | P,L | ai | P,L | ai | P,L | |
| | Bromacil | | | | Terbacil | | | | Lenacil | | Hexazinone | | | | Bentazone | | | | | | Metribuzin | | | | | | |
| | 89 | | | | 90 | | | | 91 | | 92 | | | | 93 | | | | | | 94 | | | | | | |

| TUDIT | (nonimina) | | | | | | | |
|-------|-------------|-----------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------------|---|--|---------------------------------|----------------------|
| | | | No. of | | | | | |
| | | Species | soil and | $\mathrm{DT}_{\mathfrak{A}^{\circ}}$ | | Flow medium ^f | Leachate, Soil (%) ^h | |
| No. | Pesticide | and appl ^a | amendment ^b | K^{q} | Column properties ^e | Flow conditions ^g | R | Reference |
| 94 | Metribuzin | f | ĸ | 2–5months | C, d, U, Br ⁻ | Deionized water | 15-83, 2-0.6 | Bedmar et al. |
| | | P, L | | 1.1-2.1* | $15.3 \text{ cm} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 900 mm, 40 days | 3.6-5.6 | (2004) |
| | | f | 1 | 11 days | C, u, U, na | u | 3.4, na | Walker et al. (1996) |
| | | P, O | | 0.7 | $11 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 168 days | na | |
| | | ¹⁴ C | 1 | na | C, u, U, Cl ⁻ | Deionized water | 12, 6 | Locke et al. (1994) |
| | | P, L | | 0.4 | $10 \text{ cm id} \times 10 \text{ cm}$ | $1.3-2.5\mathrm{cm}\times 6$, every 7 days | 2.2 | |
| 95 | Metamitron | ai | 1 | na | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl, | 93, na | Goicolea et al. |
| | | P, L | | 0.3 | $9 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | $3.5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, \tilde{5}PV$ | na | (1661) |
| | | ai | ς. | 14 days | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl, | 12–63, na | Cox et al. (1996) |
| | | P, L | | 0.6 - 2.2 | 5 cm id×<30 cm | $0.5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 10 \text{ days}$ | na | |
| | | ai | 1 | <1 days | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl_2 | 16, na | Cox et al. (1997) |
| | | P, L | | 4.1^{*} | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | 5.3 mm h ⁻¹ , 1.5PV | na | |
| | | f | 1 | na | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | Water | 0.3–12, na | Düring and |
| | | P, L | | na | 20 cm id×30–40 cm | $4-10 \text{ mm day}^{-1}, 4PV$ | na | Hummel 1999 |
| 96 | Chloridazon | ai | 1 | na | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl, | 83, na | Goicolea et al. |
| | | P, L | | 0.4 | $9 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 3.5 mm h ⁻¹ , 5PV | na | (1601) |
| | | ai | 1 | 83 days | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | Water | ND, na | Cuevas et al. (2008) |
| | | P, L | | 2.6 | $20 \text{ cm id} \times 24 \text{ cm}$ | 18 mm | na | |
| 76 | Norflurazon | ai | 4 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | 41-99, 17-1 | Morillo et al. |
| | | P, L | | 0.4–2.8 | $3 \text{ cm id} \times 24 \text{ cm}$ | 1.5 mm h ⁻¹ , 25PV | na | (2004) |
| | | ¹⁴ C, f | 1 | na | C, d, U, na | Water | 48, na | Tan and Singh |
| | | P,L | | na | $7 \text{ cm id} \times 8 \text{ cm}$ | $2.4 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}, 4 \text{PV}$ | na | (1995) |

 Table 7 (continued)

| Smith and Willis | (1985) | Kim and Feagley | (1998) | Aktar et al. (2009) | | Chopra et al. (2010) | | Aktar et al. (2009) | | Landry et al. (2004) | | Landry et al. (2006) | | Lalah et al. (2009) | | Wang et al. (1994) | | Ismail et al. (2002) | | Mueller and Banks | (1661) | Gupta and Gajbhiye | (2002a) | (continued) | |
|------------------|------------------------------|-----------------|--|------------------------|--|----------------------|--|------------------------|--|----------------------|---|----------------------|---|---------------------|--|-----------------------|--|----------------------|--|--------------------------|--|-----------------------|--|-------------|--|
| 0.003, 40 | na | <0.1, 100–75 | na | ND, 29 | na | 0.4, >90 | na | ND, 85 | na | ND-4, 22-15 | na | 0.02 - 0.4, 5 - 1 | na | 1-22, 9 | na | ND, 100–90 | na | ND-0.12, na | na | ND, 120–80 | na | $0.02-0.04, \sim 100$ | na | | |
| DW | $2.4 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 3PV$ | DW | 1-3PV | 10 mM CaCl_2 | na, 30 days | Water | 2.1 mm h^{-1} , 6 days | 10 mM CaCl_2 | na, 30 days | DW | 10PV, 15 days | rainwater | n, 673 mm, 1y | 10 mM CaCl, | $4-5 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, \overline{48} \text{ h}$ | 5 mM CaSO_4 | $8 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 18 \text{ days}$ | DW | 10–100 mm, 48 h | Deionized water | 2PV | Water | $1.6 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 2.5 \text{ L}$ | | |
| C, d, U, na | 10.2 cm id×40 cm | C, d, U, na | $5.4 \text{ cm id} \times 26 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $6 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 60 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $6 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | C, u, U, na | $15 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | C, u, U, na | $15 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $4.7 \text{ cm id} \times 17 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | 8 cm id × 30 cm | C, d, U, na | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | $7 \text{ cm id} \times 28 \text{ cm}$ | C, d, U, na | $7 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | | |
| na | na | 43 days | 10 | na | na | na | na | na | na | 1.2 months | na | na | na | na | 280 | 4–9 days | 8-26* | na | 6.7 - 19 | na | 2.7-6.2 | 11–19 days | 0.2 - 0.7 | | |
| 1 | | 1 | | 1 | | 1 | | 1 | | б | | 4 | | б | | 2 | | 2 | | б | | 1 | | | |
| ai | P, L | ai | P, L | ai | P, L | ai | P, L | ai | P, L | ai | P, L | ai | P, O | 14 C | P, L | ai | P, L | 14 C | P, L | 14 C | P, L | f | P, L | | |
| Trifluralin | | | | Pendimethalin | | | | Oryzalin | | | | | | DDT | | Chlorobenzilate | | Endosulfan | | Flurtamone | | Dithiopyr | | | |
| 98 | | | | 66 | | | | 100 | | | | | | 101 | | 102 | | 103 | | 105 | | 106 | | | |

| Table | Table / (Colliniado) | | | | | | | |
|-------|----------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|---|---------------------------------|----------------------|
| | | | No. of | | | | | |
| | | Species | soil and | $\mathrm{DT}_{\mathrm{so}}^\circ$ | | Flow medium ^f | Leachate, Soil (%) ^h | |
| No. | Pesticide | and appl ^a | amendment ^b | $K^{ m d}$ | Column properties ^e | Flow conditions ^g | Ri | Reference |
| 108 | Azoxystrobin | ai | 1 | na | C, d and u, U, na | DW | ND, 100–90 | Ghosh and Singh |
| | | P, L | | na | $5.9 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | $3.7 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 1-3\text{PV}$ | na | (2009) |
| | | f | 1 | 61 days | C, u, A (1–28 days), Br ⁻ | DW | 0.1, 95 (28 days) | van Beinum et al. |
| | | P, L | | 11 | 23.7 cm id×30 cm | 30 mm, 5.5 h | na | (2006) |
| 109 | Fipronil | f | 2 | na | C, u, U and A (31 days), na | Irrigation water | $10-20, \sim 72$ | Doran et al. (2008) |
| | | P, L | | na | 10 cm id×10 cm | 5 mm day^{-1} , 10 days | na | |
| 110 | Flumetsulam | ¹⁴ C | 2 | na | C, d, U and A (3,5 days),na | Deionized water | 6-45, 78-39 | Tingle et al. (1999) |
| | | P, L | | na | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | 1PV | na | |
| 111 | Sulfentrazone | ai | 6 | na | C, d, U, na | Water | 0-23, 100-80 | Ohmes and Mueller |
| | | P, L | | $0.01 - 0.7^{*}$ | $7.6 \text{ cm id} \times 27 \text{ cm}$ | 1PV | na | (2007) |
| 112 | Buthiobate | 14 C | 2 | 1–3mon | C, d, A (35 days), na | Water | $0.2 - 1.3^{\#}, 100 - 99^{\#}$ | Ohkawa et al. |
| | | P, L | | na | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | 51 cm | na | (1976) |
| 113 | Thifluzamide | ai | 1 | >30 days | C, d, U, na | Water | 0.1-5, 77-72 | Gupta and Gajbhiye |
| | | P, L | | 9.6 | $7 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | $7.8 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 2 \text{ L}$ | na | (2004) |
| 114 | Napropamide | 14 C | 1 | na | C, u, U, CI ⁻ | 4 mM CaSO_4 | na, na | Elabd et al. (1986) |
| | | P, L | | 2.0 | $10 \text{ cm id} \times 15 \text{ cm}$ | 1.7 mm h^{-1} , 38 days | 10.1 | |
| 115 | Procymidone | ai | 1 | na | C, u, U, Br | Water | 24–90, na | Dousset et al. |
| | | P, L | | 4.2* | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | $183 \text{ cm} \times 3$, every 2 weeks | na | (2010) |
| 117 | Imidacloprid | f | 1 | na | C, d, U, na | Water | 29-45, 71-56 | Gupta et al. (2002) |
| | | P, L | | na | $7 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | $1.6 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 2.5 \text{ L}$ | na | |
| 118 | Thiamethoxam | ai, f | 1 | 46–301 days | C, d, U, na | Water | 66–79, na | Gupta et al. (2008) |
| | | P, L | | na | $7 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | $1.1 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 2.5 \text{ L}$ | na | |

 Table 7 (continued)

| 120 | Sulcotrione | ¹⁴ C | 1 | 16–74 days | C, dd, U, na | n+irrigation | 15, ~8 | Cherrier et al. |
|--------------------|--|-----------------|---|-----------------------------------|---|---|------------------------|----------------------|
| | | P, O | | 1.3* | 19.8 cm id×30 cm | 65 days | na | (2005) |
| 123 | Fenpropimorph | ¹⁴ C | 2 | 58 days | C, d, U, na | Deionized water | ND,~100 | Stockmaier et al. |
| | | P, L | | 46–79* | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 20 cm, 48 h | na | (1996) |
| 124 | Fentin acetate | ¹⁴ C | 1 | ~40 days | C, d, U, na | Water | ND, 19 | Barnes et al. (1973) |
| | | P, L | | na | $2.5 \text{ cm id} \times 25 \text{ cm}$ | $2.4 \text{ cm } \text{h}^{-1}$, 6 weeks | na | |
| 125 | Imazalil | ¹⁴ C | 2 | na | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | 5 mM CaSO_4 | ND, 99–81 | van Leemput et al. |
| | | P, L | | na | 4.2 cm id ×40 cm | 4 mm h^{-1} , 3 h day^{-1} , 6 days | 200-1,222 | (1986) |
| 126 | Procloraz | 14 C | 1 | na | C, u, U, Br ⁻ | 10 mM CaCl_2 | 0.02-5.8, 98-80 | de Jonge et al. |
| | | P, L | | 48 | $20 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | $10 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 27 \text{ h}$ | na | (1998) |
| 128 | Triadimefon | ai | 1 | na | C, d, U, na | DW | ND, 94 | Singh (2005) |
| | | P, L | | 1.4 | $5.9 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | $2.2 \text{ cm h}^{-1}, 3PV$ | na | |
| | | ai | 2 | 8-13 days | C, dd, U, na | Water | na, 23–20 [#] | Khoury et al. |
| | | P, L | | 1.9–11 | $3 \text{ cm id} \times 30 \text{ cm}$ | 580–825 mm, 18 days | na | (2001) |
| 130 | Triticinazole | ¹⁴ C | 1 | na | C, d, U, CI ⁻ | Milli-Q water | na, na | Beigel and Di |
| | | P, L | | 1.3 - 1.7 [#] | $5.5 \text{ cm id} \times 6.5 \text{ cm}$ | 5.2 cm h^{-1} , 16PV | 3.3-4.0 | Pietro (1999) |
| 132 | Tricyclazole | ai | 1 | 97 days | C, d, U, na | 10 mM CaCl_2 | 9-19, 28-26 | Fernandes et al. |
| | | P, L | | 3.6 | $5 \text{ cm id} \times 20 \text{ cm}$ | $1.1 \text{ mm h}^{-1}, 10 \text{PV}$ | na | (2006) |
| ^a pH, t | ^a pH, the pH effect was examined. The other | kamined. Tl | | keys are same as those in Table 4 | ı Table 4 | | | |



Fig. 4 Outdoor lysimeter results of the existing pesticides in the European Union Pesticide (gray circle), metabolite (open circle). K_{ac} , arithmetic mean; DT_{so} , geometric mean

include a variety of chemical structures, and members of the group exhibit a wide range of soil adsorption properties (log K_{oc} of 1–4) and are characterized by rapid to moderate degradation in soil. Hydrophobic phorate (9) and terbufos (10) were predominantly retained in disturbed soil columns, whereas very hydrophilic acephate (11) and methamidophos (12), with log $K_{oc} < 1$, exhibited a higher leaching rate. Significant breakthrough was reported for nonionizable but hydrophilic diazinon (3), azinphos-methyl (5), and methidathion (6), whereas insignificant amounts were detected in the leachates for the much more hydrophilic compounds glyphosate (15) and glufosinate (16). The ionizable (15) and (16) scarcely leached from soil columns; this behavior was accounted for by their tight adsorption to soil organic matters via Ca^{2+} -bridging and iron oxides on clay surfaces (Behrendt et al. 1990; Dousset et al. 2004). Although a higher flow rate may account for the larger breakthrough of the former pesticides, these observations highlight the difficulty in comparing leaching results obtained under different conditions. Insufficient, or lack of data on $K_{\alpha\alpha}$ and DT_{50} values in the soil used for leaching also makes such comparisons more difficult. The effect of aging was demonstrated for fenitrothion (2), in which degradation to more hydrophilic metabolites increased the amount of leached ¹⁴C, leaving lower amounts of ¹⁴C retained in the soil. Carbamates generally have moderate adsorption and persistence in soil, resulting in significant leaching from soil columns, as observed for carbofuran (17) and carbendazim (24). Microbial degradation during aged soil column leaching experiments reduced the leaching of mexacarbate (19) (Sundaram 1997), aldicarb (20) (Fava et al. 2001), and benthiocarb (21) (Doran et al. 2008). As compared to laboratory column leaching study results at higher flow rates, a significant reduction in leaching was reported in a long-term lysimeter study with aldicarb (20), in which natural rainfall events (Vink et al. 1997) were simulated. (Leistra et al. 1976; Morgan et al. 1995). These results most likely indicate either an increased contribution from preferential flow at higher flow rates or an increased opportunity for microbial pesticide degradation under discontinuous flow conditions. Although the chemical structure of the carbamates is similar to that of the amides and ureas, no information concerning their facilitated transport by DOM and colloids have been reported. The pyrethroid insecticides are characterized by having very high hydrophobicity, and having DT_{50} values of approximately 1 month (Laskowski 2002). Hence, they are generally resistant to leaching, (Table 4). The increased leaching of ¹⁴C as a result of aging was observed to occur or cypermethrin (29), fenpropathrin (28), and permethrin (26); this increased mobility resulted from the formation of more polar metabolites.

Urea and Sulfonylurea Herbicides: These classes of herbicides are characterized by high water solubility and low soil adsorption, and therefore the mobility of these groups in soil is generally classified as being "very high" to "medium" (McCall et al. 1981). Significant amounts of urea herbicides, up to 90% of the applied dose, were detected in column eluates (Table 5). The leaching rate of these herbicides is highly dependent on both individual pesticide properties, such as water solubility, dissociation constant, and leaching conditions. Slow and discontinuous water flow was shown to markedly decrease, not only the leaching of nonionic diuron (35) but also ionizable tebuthiuron (44) and buthidazole (45) (Landry et al. 2006; Weber and Peeper 1982; Weber and Whitacre 1982), whereas the effect of water flow rate was unclear for linuron (39). Interactions with clay resulted in more retention of (45) in the soil column. By contrast, a slower water flow rate was reported to increase the leaching of isoproturon (38) (Lennartz 1999). The increase was accounted for by the contribution from preferential flow in the undisturbed soil column. Sulfonylurea has a pK of \sim 4 and is primarily dissociated under neutral conditions, which implies high potential for leaching. However, monitoring of its mobility in soil has frequently been conducted by bioassay using herbicide-sensitive plant seedlings. This approach limits the availability of quantitative data on the compound's distribution in soil and eluates. A moderate degradation rate, combined with high mobility resulted in significant leaching for metsulfuron-methyl (47) (Heistermann et al. 2003), triasulfuron (49), tribenuron-methyl (51), ethametsulfuron-methyl (52), and sulfosulfuron (57) (Table 5). The microbial degradation of metsulfuron-methyl (47) in the soil column produced low recovery of ¹⁴C (<40%), and this caused a marked decrease in leaching (Abdulla et al. 2001). In a controlled leaching study performed with ¹⁴C-imazosulfuron (58), Mikata et al. (2001) showed that the microbial processes of mineralization and bound residue formation resulted in reduced leaching of (58). Furthermore, because the main metabolites of (58) are less mobile than are the parent compounds, reduced elution of ¹⁴C was observed after aging.

Arylalkanoate, Acetoanilide, Diphenyl Ether and Triazine Pesticides: Arylalkanoate herbicides have a dissociable carboxyl group. Hence, their mobility is generally classified as being "very high" to "high" (McCall et al. 1981), because of their extremely low soil adsorption. Considerable amounts of applied arylalkanoates have been detected in column eluates (Table 6). However, the leaching behavior of MCPA (61) was greatly influenced by soil humic matter, possibly from cation-bridged adsorption (Haberhauer et al. 2002). Lee et al. (1986) reported reduced leaching

of triclopyr (63) caused by discontinuous water flow, which facilitated microbial degradation in the soil column. The contribution of microbial degradation was also indicated by the low recovery of 2,4-D (59) in soil columns (Lopetz-Avila et al. 1986). The relatively high K_{α} value, and faster biodegradation rate of cyhalofop (64) among class members of these herbicides greatly reduced its leaching. Similar leaching behavior was also reported for the acetanilide pesticides, with significant breakthrough observed under continuous water flow conditions, but reduced leaching was observed under discontinuous and lower water flow conditions, especially in outdoor studies. Among the diphenyl ethers, the benzoic acid derivative acifluorfen (70) exhibited the most significant leaching. Detectable amounts of fomesafen (72), which has a low soil adsorption coefficient, was observed in leachates under continuous water flow conditions, but leaching was reported to be insignificant in an outdoor study that utilized natural rainfall. Most of the other hydrophobic diphenyl ethers were primarily retained in the soil column. Because of their high mobility and persistence in soil, the triazine herbicides have the potential to contaminate GW and the unsaturated zone of soil profiles. They have frequently been detected in GW monitoring studies, as have their metabolites (Cohen et al. 1984; Hancock et al. 2008). Because of such detections, many column leaching studies have been conducted on members of this class, especially atrazine (74) and simazine (75). In laboratory column leaching studies conducted under continuous water flow conditions, more than 75% of the applied (74) was detected in the leachates (Abu-Zreig et al. 2000; Nkedl-Kizza et al. 1987; Zhou et al. 2010). However, as was the case for other pesticides that are susceptible to leaching, slow and discontinuous water flow conditions were shown to enhance the microbial degradation of (74) and (75), and hence, only minimal amounts of these compounds were detected in eluates collected under these conditions (Cherrier et al. 2005; Vink et al. 1997; Walker et al. 1996; Weber et al. 2006). In acidic soils, adsorption of the protonated species to negatively charged clay surfaces may reduce triazine herbicide leaching (Calderón et al. 2004). The higher K_{cc} values of cyanazine (76) and terbuthylazine (78) resulted in less breakthrough of these compounds compared to (74) and (75).

Miscellaneous Pesticides: Six herbicides, including dicamba (83) and imazaquin (88), possess a carboxyl group and are characterized by very low rates of soil adsorption that is similar to the arylalkanoate herbicides. When these substances do not rapidly biodegrade in soils, they show significant leaching in soil columns (Table 7). However, reduced mobility of (87) and (88) was observed to occur in soils that retained higher acidity, or a higher content of humic materials and clay, because such materials more strongly adsorb the undissociated or cation-bridging forms of these compounds (Regitano et al. 2005; Weber et al. 2003). A time lag after the herbicide application to soil and a drier state of soil also reduced the leaching of these herbicides (Comfort et al. 1992; Johnson et al. 2000; O'Dell et al. 1992; Regitano et al. 2002). What accounted for the difference in leaching was the kinetic adsorption and enhanced interactions with humic substances and clay due to their increased surface acidity. Four uracil-like herbicides, including bromacil (89) and hexazinone (92), were primarily recovered from column eluates, although aging (Dousset et al. 2004) or slower elution (Weber and Whitacre 1982), allowed them to

degrade, resulting in reduced leaching. The inverse relationship that exists between the terbacil (90) mobility and soil organic matter or clay content indicates not only that a hydrophobic interaction is occurring but also shows that cation-bridging interactions occur with soil constituents (Mora et al. 1997). N-heterocycles, including the triazinone and pyridazinone skeletons, bentazone (93)-norflurazon (97), exhibited similar behavior to that of the uracil-like herbicides. The degradation rates of metribuzin (94) and metamitron (95) showed a large variability in leachability, probably because of differences in microbial activity between the test soils, which resulted in a wide range of breakthrough curves for these pesticides in soil columns. No relationship was observed between leached amounts and water flow rates for (95) and chloridazon (96), but for both compounds, the lowest amount of leaching was observed in soil columns that had the largest radius, even at the highest water flow rate (Cuevas et al. 2008; Düring and Hummel 1999). Increased degradation over a longer residence time caused by increased tortuosity and the presence of immobile water in the undisturbed thicker soil columns may account for these differences. Chloridazon (96) had a high affinity for clay minerals (Cuevas et al. 2008), while Fe- and Al oxides exhibited the opposite effects on the adsorption of (97) to soils (Morillo et al. 2004). This indicates that clay mineralogy is also an important factor for determining probable soil mobility of this pesticide class. Insignificant leaching was reported for hydrophobic pesticides that had K_{a} values of >1,000, such as the dinitroaniline herbicides (98)-(100) and the organochlorine insecticides (101)–(104). A larger breakthrough amount was reported for DDT (101) and likely occurred because of its facilitated transport with DOM. The azole fungicides (125)-(130), which are generally persistent in soil, were scarcely detected in leachates, because of their high adsorption to soil.

8 Summary

In this review, I address the practical and theoretical aspects of pesticide soil mobility. I also address the methods used to measure mobility, and the factors that influence it, and I summarize the data that have been published on the column leaching of pesticides.

Pesticides that enter the unsaturated soil profile are transported downwards by the water flux, and are adsorbed, desorbed, and/or degraded as they pass through the soil. The rate of passage of a pesticide through the soil depends on the properties of the pesticide, the properties of the soil and the prevailing environmental conditions. Because large amounts of many different pesticides are used around the world, they and their degradates may sometimes contaminate groundwater at unacceptable levels. It is for this reason that assessing the transport behavior and soil mobility of pesticides before they are sold into commerce is important and is one indispensable element that regulators use to assess probable pesticide safety. Both elementary soil column leaching and sophisticated outdoor lysimeter studies are performed to measure the leaching potential for pesticides; the latter approach more reliably reflects probable field behavior, but the former is useful to initially profile a pesticide for soil mobility potential.

Soil is physically heterogeneous. The structure of soil varies both vertically and laterally, and this variability affects the complex flow of water through the soil profile, making it difficult to predict with accuracy. In addition, macropores exist in soils and further add to the complexity of how water flow occurs. The degree to which soil is tilled, the density of vegetation on the surface, and the type and amounts of organic soil amendments that are added to soil further affect the movement rate of water through soil, the character of soil adsorption sites and the microbial populations that exist in the soil. Parameters that most influence the rate of pesticide mobility in soil are persistence (DT₅₀) of the pesticide, and its sorption/desorption (K_{oc}) characteristics. These parameters may vary for the same pesticide from geographic site-to-site and with soil depth. The interactions that normally occur between pesticides and dissolved organic matter (DOM) or WDC are yet other factors that may complicate pesticide leaching behavior.

The soil mobility of pesticides is normally tested both in the laboratory and in the field. Lab studies are initially performed to give researchers a preliminary appraisal of the relative mobility of a pesticide. Later, field lysimeter studies can be performed to provide more natural leaching conditions that emulate the actual field use pattern. Lysimeter studies give the most reliable information on the leaching behavior of a pesticide under field conditions, but these studies are time-consuming and expensive and cannot be performed everywhere. It is for this reason that the laboratory soil column leaching approach is commonly utilized to profile the mobility of a pesticide, and appraise how it behaves in different soils, and relative to other pesticides.

Because the soil structure is chemically and physically heterogenous, different pesticide tests may produce variable DT_{50} and K_{oc} values; therefore, initial pesticide mobility testing is undertaken in homogeneously packed columns that contain two or more soils and are eluted at constant flow rates. Such studies are done in duplicate and utilize a conservative tracer element. By fitting an appropriate mathematical model to the breakthrough curve of the conservative tracer selected, researchers determine key mobility parameters, such as pore water velocity, the column-specific dispersion coefficient, and the contribution of nonequilibrium transport processes. Such parameters form the basis for estimating the probable transport and degradation rates that will be characteristic of the tested pesticide. Researchers also examine how a pesticide interacts with soil DOM and WDC, and what contribution from facilitated transport to mobility is made as a result of the effects of pH and ionic strength.

Other methods are used to test how pesticides may interact with soil components to change mobility. Spectroscopic approaches are used to analyze the nature of soil–pesticide complexes. These may provide insight into the mechanism by which interactions occur. Other studies may be performed to determine the effect of agricultural practices (e.g., tillage) on pesticide leaching under controlled conditions using intact soil cores from the field. When preferential flow is suspected to occur, dye staining is used to examine the contribution of macropores to pesticide transport. These methods and others are addressed in the text of this review.





| (29) Cypermethrin | (37) Fluometuron | the for the form of the form | (50) Primisulturon- methyl(Me) $\left\{ \begin{array}{c} \int_{-R}^{R} \int_{$ |
|--|--|--|---|
| (28) Fenpropathrin | (36) Chlortoluron $c_{H_3} \rightarrow \int_{0}^{H_{-c-N}} dc_{0}^{-N}$ | (41) Chloroxuron | (49) Triasulfuron $ \int_{\operatorname{och}_{ch,cl}}^{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{R}^{-1}_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{R}^{-1}_{\operatorname{och}_{n}} $ |
| (27) Bifenthrin (Z)-(1 <i>RS</i>)- <i>cis</i> $r_{r_{o}}^{\alpha} \xrightarrow{0} \int_{1}^{1} \int$ | $a = \int_{a}^{b} \int_{b}^{b} \int_{b}^{b} \int_{a}^{b} $ | (40) Metobromuron $B^{\mu} - \int_{0}^{H} - B^{\mu}_{0} - e^{-n} 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -$ | (48)Sulfometuron-methyl(Me) $\left\{ \begin{array}{c} A \\ A \\ C \\$ |
| (26) Permethrin $a^{\alpha} \rightarrow a^{\alpha}$, a^{α} , $a^{$ | (34) Monuron | (39) Linuron $c_{c} \rightarrow - \frac{1}{6} - c_{ocu,}^{-N}$ (44) Tebuthiuron $\sum_{n=N}^{N} - \sum_{n=0}^{-N_{n}} c_{n}$ | (47) Metsulfuron-methyl (Me) $ (\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \\ \end{array} $ |
| Pyrethroid insecticides (25) Phenothrin $\left \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty}$ | $ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array}$ \left(33) Fenuron \\ \end{array} | (38) Isoproturon $ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n ^{-1} = a_n ^{-1} =$ | Sulfonylurea herbicides (46) Chlorsulfuron $\left\{ \int_{a}^{a} \int_{a}^{a} \int_{b}^{a} \int_{b}^{a$ |

T. Katagi

78

Soil Column Leaching of Pesticides



| (78) Terbuthylazine | (86) Pyrithiobac | (91) Lenacil $f_{0}^{n} = f_{0}^{n} = f_{0}^{n}$ (96) Chloridazon $f_{0}^{n} = f_{0}^{n} = f_{0}^{n}$ (101) DDT $f_{0}^{n} = f_{0}^{n} = f_{0}^{n}$ |
|---|--|--|
| (77) Prometon | (85) Clopyralid | (90) Terbacil $ \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}\\ \end{array}, \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array}, \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \begin{array}{c} \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \left\{ \begin{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \left\{ \begin{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \left\{ \begin{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \left\{ \begin{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \left\{ \begin{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \left\{ \begin{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \left\{ \begin{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ $, \\ \left\{ \begin{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ , \\ \left\{ \begin{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ \end{array}, \\ , \\ , \\ , \\ , \\ , \\ , \\ , \\ |
| (76) Cyanazine A = A = A = A = A = A = A = A = A = A = | (84) Picloram | (89) Bromacil $\begin{pmatrix} n_{H} + \hat{h} \\ n_{H} + \hat{h} \\ n_{H} + \hat{h} \\ n_{H_{1}} \end{pmatrix}$ (99) Pendimethalin $\begin{pmatrix} n_{0_{1}} \\ n_{0_{2}} \\ n_{0_{2}} \end{pmatrix}$ |
| (75) Simazine $\left \begin{array}{c} n \\ n $ | (83) Dicamba e^{α} | (88) Imazaquin (88) Imazaquin $\begin{pmatrix} & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & $ |
| Triazine herbicides (74) Atrazine $\begin{pmatrix} 74 \end{pmatrix}$ Atrazine $\begin{pmatrix} 79 \end{pmatrix}$ Prometryn $\begin{pmatrix} 8cH_{h} \\ h \end{pmatrix}$ | Miscellaneous pesticides (82) Bromoxynil ^{Bo} | (87) Imazethapyr (87) Imazethapyr (92) Hexazinone (92) Hexazinone (97) Norflurazon (97) Norflurazon |

(02) Chlorobenzilate



 $\int_{H}^{h} \int_{H}^{h} \int_{H$





.N−CH₃

103) Endosulfan















































(106) Dithiopyr $G_{i}^{n} \xrightarrow{\text{cosch}_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{G_{i} - G_{i} \in G_{i} \in G_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{G_{i} - G_{i} \in G_{i} \in G_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{G_{i} - G_{i} \in G_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{G_{i} - G_{i} \in G_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{G_{i} - G_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{$



References

- Abdulla AR, Sinnakkannu S, Tahir NM (2001) Adsorption, desorption and mobility of metsulfuronmethyl in Malaysian agricultural soils. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 66:762–769
- Abu-Zreig M, Rudra RP, Dickinson WT (2000) Influence of surfactant on leaching of atrazine through soil columns. Toxicol Environ Chem 75:1–16
- Aharonson N, Kafkafi U (1975) Adsorption, mobility and persistence of thiabendazole and methyl 2-benzimidazolecarbamate. J Agric Food Chem 23:720–724
- Aharonson N, Cohen SZ, Drescher N, Gish TJ, Gorbach S, Kearney PC, Otto S, Roberts TR, Vonk JW (1987) Potential contamination of ground water by pesticides. Pure Appl Chem 59:1419–1446
- Aktar MW, Sengupta D, Purkait S, Chowdhury A (2009) Vertical migration of some herbicides through undisturbed and homogenized soil columns. Orbital 1:17–25
- Alhajjar BJ, Simsiman GV, Chesters G (1990) Fate and transport of alachlor, metolachlor and atrazine in large columns. Water Sci Technol 22:87–94
- Alister C, Rojas S, Gómez P, Kogan M (2008) Dissipation and movement of flumioxazin in soil at four field sites in Chile. Pestic Manag Sci 64:579–583
- Anderson JJ, Dulka JJ (1985) Environmental fate of sulfometuron methyl in aerobic soils. J Agric Food Chem 33:596–602
- Anderson TA, Guthrie EA, Walton BT (1993) Bioremediation in the rhizosphere—Plant roots and associated microbes clean contaminated soil. Environ Sci Technol 27:2630–2636
- Anderson TA, Kruger EL, Coats JR (1994) Enhanced degradation of a mixture of three herbicides in the rhizosphere of a herbicide-tolerant plants. Chemosphere 28:1551–1557
- Angley JT, Brusseau ML, Lamar Miller W, Delfino JJ (1992) Nonequilibrium sorption and aerobic biodegradation of dissolved alkylbenzenes during transport in aquifer material: Column experiments and evaluation of a coupled-process model. Environ Sci Technol 26:1404–1410
- Arienzo M, Crisanto T, Sánchez-Martín MJ, Sánchez-Camazano M (1994) Effect of soil characteristics on adsorption and mobility of (¹⁴C) diazinon. J Agric Food Chem 42:1803–1808
- Arthur EL, Rice PJ, Rice PJ, Anderson TA, Coats JR (1998) Mobility and degradation of pesticides and their degradates in intact soil columns. In: Führ F, Hance RJ, Plimmer JR, Nelson JO (eds) The lysimeter concept, environmental behavior of pesticides. ACS Symp Ser 699, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 7, pp 88–114
- Baker FC, Estigoy L, Kimmel E, Ikemoto Y, Kimura Y, Shigemura M (2002) Field dissipation [¹⁴C] ET-751 (pyraflufen-ethyl) in bare ground in California. High specific activity radiolabelled test substance and small plot design afford excellent method to measure field dissipation. In: Authur EL, Barefoot AC, Clay VE (eds) Terrestrial field dissipation studies—Purpose, design and interpretation. ACS Symp Ser 842, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 11, pp 156–169
- Ballard M (1971) Role of humic carrier substances in DDT movement through forest soil. Soil Sci Soc Am Proc 35:145–147
- Barnes RD, Bull AT, Poller RC (1973) Studies on the persistence of the organotin fungicide fentin acetate (triphenyltin acetate) in the soil and on surfaces exposed to light. Pestic Sci 4:305–317
- Barton CD, Karathanasis AD (2003) Influence of soil colloids on the migration of atrazine and zinc through large soil monoliths. Water Air Soil Pollut 143:3–21
- Baskaran S, Bolan NS, Rahman A, Tillman RW (1996) Non-equilibrium sorption during the movement of pesticides in soils. Pestic Sci 46:333–343
- Baskaran S, Bolan NS, Rahman A, Tillman RW, Macregor AN (1994) Effect of drying of soils on the adsorption and leaching of phosphate and 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid. Aust J Soil Res 32:491–502
- BBA (1990) Lysimeter tests for the translocation of plant protection products into the subsoil. In: Guidelines for the official testing of plant protection products, Part IV, 4–3. Biological Research Center for Agriculture and Forestry, Braunschweig

- Beck AJ, Lam V, Henderson DE, Beven KJ, Harris GL, Howse KR, Johnston AEJ, Jones KC (1995) Movement of water and herbicides atrazine and isoproturon through a large saturated clay soil core. J Contam Hydrol 19:237–260
- Beckie HJ, McKercher RB (1990) Mobility of two sulfonylurea herbicides in soil. J Agric Food Chem 38:310–315
- Bedmar F, Costa JL, Suero E, Gimenez D (2004) Transport of atrazine and metribuzin in three soils of the humid pampas of Argentina. Weed Technol 18:1–8
- Behrendt H, Matthies M, Gildemeister H, Görlitz G (1990) Leaching and transformation of glufosinate-ammonium and its main metabolite in a layered soil column. Environ Toxicol Chem 9:541–549
- Beigel C, Di Pietro L (1999) Transport of triticonazole in homogeneous soil columns: Influence of nonequilibrium sorption. Soil Sci Soc Am J 63:1077–1086
- Belden JB, Coats JR (2004) Effect of grasses on herbicide fate in the soil column: Infiltration of runoff, movement and degradation. Environ Toxicol Chem 23:2251–2258
- Bending GD, Lincoln SD, Edmondson RN (2006) Spatial variation in the degradation rate of the pesticides isoproturon, azoxystrobin and diflufenican in soil and its relationship with chemical and microbial properties. Environ Pollut 139:279–287
- Benoit P, Barriuso E, Vindon P, Réal B (2000) Isoproturon movement and dissipation in undisturbed soil cores from a grassed buffer strip. Agronomie 20:297–307
- Bergström L (1990) Use of lysimeters to estimate leaching of pesticides in agricultural soils. Environ Pollut 67:325–347
- Bergström L (2000) Leaching of agrochemicals in field lysimeters—A method to test mobility of chemicals in soil. In: Cornejo J, Jamet P (eds) Pesticide/Soil Interactions. Some Current Research Methods, INRA, Paris, pp 279–285
- Bergström L, Jarvis NJ (1993) Leaching of dichlorprop, bentazon and ³⁶Cl in undisturbed field lysimeters of different agricultural soils. Weed Sci 41:251–261
- Beulke S, Dubus IG, Brown CD, Gottesbüren B (2000) Simulation of pesticide persistence in the field on the basis of laboratory data—A review. J Environ Qual 29:1371–1379
- Beulke S, Brown CD, Fryer CJ, Walker A (2001) Lysimeter study to investigate the effect of rainfall pattern on leaching of isoproturon. Pestic Manag Sci 58:45–53
- Beulke S, Brown CD, Fryer CJ, van Beinum W (2004a) Influence of kinetic sorption and diffusion on pesticide movement through aggregated soils. Chemosphere 57:481–490
- Beulke S, Brown CD, Dubus IG, Fryer CJ, Walker A (2004b) Evaluation of probabilistic modeling approaches against data on leaching of isoproturon through undisturbed lysimeters. Ecolog Modelling 179:131–144
- Beulke S, van Beinum W, Brown CD, Mitchell M, Walker A (2005) Evaluation of simplifying assumption on pesticide degradation in soil. J Environ Qual 34:1933–1943
- Beven K, Germann P (1982) Macropores and water flow in soils. Water Res 18:1311-1325
- Bewick D (1994) The mobility of pesticides in soil—Studies to prevent groundwater contamination. In: Börner H (ed) Chemistry of plant protection. Pesticides in ground and surface water, vol 9. Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp 57–86
- Bi E, Schmidt TC, Haderlein SB (2006) Sorption of heterocyclic organic compounds to reference soils: Column studies for process identification. Environ Sci Technol 40:5962–5970
- Bi E, Schmidt TC, Haderlein SB (2007) Environmental factors influencing sorption of heterocyclic aromatic compounds to soil. Environ Sci Technol 41:3172–3178
- Bi E, Schmidt TC, Haderlein SB (2010) Practical issues relating to soil column chromatography for sorption parameter determination. Chemosphere 80:787–793
- Bilkert JN, Rao PSC (1985) Sorption and leaching of three nonfumigant nematicides in soils. J Environ Sci Health 20B:1–26
- Blasioli S, Braschi I, Pinna MV, Pusino A, Gessa CE (2008) Effect of undesalted dissolved organic matter from composts on persistence, adsorption and mobility of cyhalofop herbicide in soils. J Agric Food Chem 56:4102–4111
- Boesten JJTI (1991) Sensitivity analysis of a mathematical model for pesticide leaching to groundwater. Pestic Sci 31:375–388

- Boesten JJTI, van der Linden AMA (1991) Modelling the influence of sorption and transformation on pesticide leaching and persistence. J Environ Qual 20:425–435
- Boesten JJTI, Fischer R, Gottesbüren B, Hanze K, Huber A, Jarvis T, Jones RL, Klein M, Pokludová M, Remy B, Sweeney P, Tiktak A, Trevisan M, Vanclooster M, Vanderborght J (2009) Assessing potential for movement of active substances and their metabolites to ground water in the EU. Report of the FOCUS Ground Water Work Group, EC Document Reference Sanco/13144/2010 version 1. pp 604
- Börjesson E, Torstensson L, Stenström J (2004) The fate of imazapyr in a Swedish railway embankment. Pestic Manag Sci 60:544–549
- Brown CD, Carter AD, Hollis JM (1995) Soils and pesticide mobility. In: Roberts TR, Kearney PC (eds) Progress in pesticide biochemistry and toxicology. Environmental behavior of agrochemicals, chap. 3, vol 9. Wiley, Chichester, pp 131–184
- Brown CD, Fryer CJ, Walker A (2001) Influence of topsoil tilth and soil moisture status on losses of pesticide to drains from a heavy clay soil. Pestic Manag Sci 57:1127–1134
- Brown CD, Hollis JM, Bettinson RJ, Walker A (2000) Leaching of pesticides and a bromide tracer through lysimeter from five contrasting soils. Pestic Manag Sci 56:83–93
- Brown CD, Marshall VL, Deas A, Carter AD, Arnold D, Jones RL (1990) Investigation into the effect of tillage on solute movement to drain through a heavy clay soil. II. Interpretation using a radio-scanning technique, dye-tracing and modeling. Soil Use Manag 15:94–100
- Brown CD, Marshall VL, Carter AD, Walker A, Arnold D, Jones RL (1999) Investigation into the effect of tillage on solute movement to drains through a heavy clay soil. I. Lysimeter experiment. Soil Use Manag 15:84–93
- Brumhard B, Bergström LF, Snel M, Führ F, Baloch RI, Trozelli H (1991) Dissipation of clopyralid in soil under field conditions: Lysimeter studies in Germany and Sweden. Med Fac Landbouww Rijksuniv Gent 56/3a: 887–900
- Brusseau ML, Jessup RE, Rao PSC (1991) Nonequilibrium sorption of organic chemicals: Elucidation of rate-limiting processes. Environ Sci Technol 25:134–142
- Bundt M, Widmer F, Pesaro M, Zeyer J, Blaser P (2001) Preferential flow paths: biological 'hot spot' in soils. Soil Biol Biochem 33:729–738
- Burauel P, Führ F (2000) Formation and long-term fate of non-extractable residues in outdoor lysimeter studies. Environ Pollut 108:45–52
- Calderón MJ, Ortega M, Hermosín MC, García-Baudín J, Cornejo J (2004) Hexazinone and simazine dissipation in forestry field nurseries. Chemosphere 54:1–8
- Capri E, Miao Z (2002) Modelling pesticide fate in rice paddy. Agronomie 22:363-371
- Caracciolo AB, Giuliano G, Grenni P, Guzzella L, Pozzoni F, Bottoni P, Fava L, Crobe A, Orrú M, Funari E (2005) Degradation and leaching of the herbicides metolachlor and diuron: a case study in an area of Northern Italy. Environ Pollut 134:525–534
- Caron J, Banton O, Angers DA, Villeneuve JP (1996) Preferential bromide transport through a clay loam under alfalfa and corn. Geoderma 69:175–191
- Carter AD, Fogg P (1995) A critical evaluation of field monitoring techniques used to describe the leaching and run-off behavior of pesticides. In: Walker A, Allen R, Bailey SW, Blair AM, Brown CD, Günther P, Leake CR, Nichollas PH (eds) Pesticide Movement to Water. BCPC Monograph No. 62. British Crop Protection Council, 2–1, Brighton, pp 71–80
- Celis R, Cox L, Hermosin MC, Cornejo J (2001) Porosity and surface fractal dimension of soils as affecting sorption, degradation and mobility of polar herbicides. BCPC Symposium Proceedings No. 78: Pesticide behaviour in soils and water. British Crop Protection Council, Brighton, pp 77–82
- Celis R, Real M, Hermosín MC, Cornejo J (2005) Sorption and leaching behaviour of polar aromatic acids in agricultural soils by batch and column leaching tests. Eur J Soil Sci 56:287–297
- Chang HT, Ying W (1998) A small-scale ground water leaching study for a primisulfuron herbicide. Ground Water Monitor Remed 18:103–110
- Charnay MP, Tuis S, Coquet Y, Barriuso E (2005) Spatial variability in ¹⁴C-herbicide degradation in surface and subsurface soils. Pestic Manag Sci 61:845–855

- Chen W, Wagenet RJ (1997) Description of atrazine transport in soil with heterogeneous nonequilibrium sorption. Soil Sci Soc Am J 61:360–371
- Chen G, Lin C, Chen L, Yang H (2010) Effect of size-fractionation dissolved organic matter on the mobility of prometryn in soil. Chemosphere 79:1046–1055
- Cherrier R, Boivin A, Perrin-Ganier C, Schiavon M (2005) Sulcotrione versus atrazine transport and degradation in soil columns. Pestic Manag Sci 61:899–904
- Chiang HC, Duh JR, Wang YS (2001) Butachlor, thiobencarb and chlomethoxyfen movement in subtropical soils. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 66:1–8
- Chopra I, Kumari B, Sharma SK (2010) Evaluation of leaching behaviour of pendimethalin in sandy loam soil. Environ Monit Assess 160:123–126
- Clay SA, Koskinen WC, Carlson P (1991) Alachlor movement through intact soil columns taken from two tillage systems. Weed Technol 5:485–489
- Cohen SZ (1998) Successful evaluation of EPA's new screening model. Ground Water Monit Remed 18:55–57
- Cohen SZ, Creeger SM, Carsel RF, Enfield CG (1984) Potential for pesticide contamination of ground water from agricultural uses. In: Krueger RF, Seiber JN (eds) Treatment and disposal of pesticide wastes. ACS Symp Ser 259, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 18, pp 297–325
- Comfort SD, Inskeep WP, Macur RE (1992) Degradation and transport of dicamba in a clay soil. J Environ Qual 21:653–658
- Conrad A, Dedourge O, Cherrier R, Couderchet M, Biagianti S (2006) Leaching of terbumeton and terbumeton-desethyl from mini-columns packed with soil aggregates in laboratory conditions. Chemosphere 65:1600–1609
- Copin A, Jamet P, Deleu R, Grieβbach E, Roche-Hoyoux D, Kerhoas L, Dréze P (2000) Methodology for microlysimeters set up in semi-controlled or field conditions. In: Cornejo J, Jamet P (eds) Pesticide/Soil Interactions. Some Current Research Methods, INRA, Paris, pp 261–266
- Coquet Y, Barriuso E (2002) Spatial variability of pesticide adsorption within the topsoil of a small agricultural catchment. Agronomie 22:389–398
- Corbin M, Eckel W, Ruhman M, Spatz D, Thurman N, Gangaraju R, Kuchnicki T, Mathew R, Nicholson I (2006) NAFTA Guidance Document for Conducting Terrestrial Field Dissipation Studies. pp 58
- Cox L, Walker A, Hermosín MC, Cornejo J (1996) Measurement and simulation of the movement of thiazafluron, clopyralid and metamitron in soil columns. Weed Res 36:419–429
- Cox L, Calderón MJ, Hermosín MC, Cornejo J (1999) Leaching of clopyralid and metamitron under conventional and reduced tillage systems. J Environ Qual 28:605–610
- Cox L, Celis R, Hermosín MC, Cornejo J (2000) Natural soil colloids to retard simazine and 2,4-D leaching in soil. J Agric Food Chem 48:93–99
- Cox L, Celis R, Hermosín MC, Becker A, Cornejo J (1997) Porosity and herbicide leaching in soils amended with olive-mill wastewater. Agric Ecosys Environ 65:151–161
- Cox L, Velarde P, Cabrera A, Hermosín MC, Cornejo J (2007) Dissolved organic carbon interactions with sorption and leaching of diuron in organic-amended soils. Eur J Soil Sci 58:714–721
- Cox L, Cecchi A, Celis R, Hermosín MC, Koskinen WC, Cornejo J (2001) Effect of exogeneous carbon on movement of simazine and 2,4-D in soils. Soil Sci Soc Am J 65:1688–1695
- Crisanto Herrero T, Lorenzo Martín LF (1991) Mobility of flumeturon in soil columns sections. Toxicol Environ Chem 31(32):63–68
- Cuevas MV, Cox L, Calderón MJ, Hermosín MC, Fernández JE (2008) Chloridazon and lenacil dissipation in a clayey soil of the Guadalquivir river marshes (southwest Spain). Agric Ecosys Environ 24:245–251
- Czapar GF, Horton R, Fawcett RS (1992) Herbicide and tracer movement in soil columns containing an artificial macropore. J Environ Qual 21:110–115
- Dao TH (1995) Subsurface mobility of metribuzin as affected by crop residue placement and tillage method. J Environ Qual 24:1193–1198

- De Jonge LW, Kjaergaard C, Moldrup P (2004) Colloids and colloid-facilitated transport of contaminants in soils: An introduction. Vadose Zone J 3:321–325
- De Jonge H, Jacobson OH, de Jonge LW, Moldrup P (1998) Particle-facilitated transport of prochloraz in undisturbed sand loam soil columns. J Environ Qual 27:1495–1503
- Delphin JE, Chapot JY (2006) Leaching of atrazine, metolachlor and diuron in the field in relation to their injection depth into a silt loam soil. Chemosphere 64:1862–1869
- Doran G, Eberbach P, Helliwell S (2008) The mobility of thiobencarb and fipronil in two flooded rice-growing soils. J Environ Sci Health 43B:490–497
- Dörfler U, Cao G, Grundmann S, Schroll R (2006) Influence of a heavy rainfall event on the leaching of [¹⁴C] isoproturon and its degradation products in outdoor lysimeters. Environ Pollut 144:695–702
- Dousett S, Huguenot D, Andreux F (2007) Influence of grass cover on the leaching of pesticides in Beaujolais vineyards. 13th Symposium, Pesticide Chemistry—Environmental fate and ecological effects. Proceeding, Piacenza, pp 857–594
- Dousset S, Chauvin C, Durlet P, Thévenot M (2004) Transfer of hexazinone and glyphosate through undisturbed soil columns in soils under Christmas tree cultivation. Chemosphere 57:265–272
- Dousset S, Thévenot M, Schrack D, Gouy V, Carluer N (2010) Effect of grass cover on water and pesticide transport through undisturbed soil columns, comparison with field study (Morcille watershed, Beaujolcuis). Environ Pollut 158:2446–2453
- Dousset S, Jacobson AR, Dessogne JB, Guichard N, Baveye PC, Andreux F (2007) Facilitated transport of diuron and glyphosate in high copper vineyard soils. Environ Sci Technol 41:8056–8061
- Dubus IG, Brown CD, Beulke S (2003a) Sources of uncertainty in pesticide fate modeling. Sci Total Environ 317:53–72
- Dubus IG, Brown CD, Beulke S (2003b) Sensitivity analyses for four pesticide leaching models. Pestic Manag Sci 59:962–982
- Dubus IG, Beulke S, Brown CD, Gottesbüren B, Dieses A (2004) Inverse modelling for estimating sorption and degradation parameters for pesticides. Pestic Manag Sci 60:859–874
- Dunnivant FM, Jardine PM, Taylor DL, McCarthy JF (1992a) Cotransport of cadmium and hexachlorobiphenyl by dissolved organic carbon through columns containing aquifer materials. Environ Sci Technol 26:360–368
- Dunnivant FM, Jardine PM, Taylor DL, McCarthy JF (1992b) Transport of naturally occurring dissolved organic carbon in laboratory columns containing aquifer material. Soil Sci Soc Am J 56:437–444
- Düring RA, Hummel H (1999) Herbicide and metabolite movement in different soils as studied by computer assisted microlysimeters. Chemosphere 39:641–654
- Dutch Commission (1987) Application for registration of a pesticide. Section G: Behaviour of the product and its metabolites in soil, water and air (G 3.1 Lysimeter studies). Dutch Commission for Registration of Pesticides
- Edwards WM, Glass BL (1971) Methoxychlor and 2,4,5-T in lysimeter percolation and runoff waters. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 6:81–84
- Edwards WM, Norton LD, Redmond CE (1988) Characterizing macropores that affect infiltration into nontilled soil. Soil Sci Soc Am J 52:483–487
- Edwards WM, Shipitalo MJ, Owens LB, Norton LD (1989) Water and nitrate movement in earthworm burrows within long-term no-till cornfields. J Soil Water Conserv 44:240–243
- Edwards WM, Shipitalo MJ, Dick WA, Owens LB (1992a) Rainfall intensity affects transport of water and chemicals through macropores in no-till soil. Soil Sci Soc Am J 56:52–58
- Edwards WM, Shipitalo MJ, Traina SJ, Edwards CA, Owens LB (1992b) Role of *lumbricus terrestris* (L.) burrows on quality of a filtrating water. Soil Biol Biochem 24:1555–1561
- Edwards WM, Shipitalo MJ, Owens LB, Dick WA (1993) Factors affecting preferential flow of water and atrazine through earthworm burrows under continuous no-till corn. J Environ Qual 22:453–457
- EFSA (2007a) Opinion of the scientific panel on plant protection products and their residues on a request from the commission related to the revision of Annex II and III to Council Directive

91/414/EEC concerning the placing of plant protection products on the market—Fate and behaviour in the environment. EFSA J 448:1–17

- EFSA (2007b) Opinion on a request from EFSA related to the default Q_{10} value used to describe the temperature effect on transformation rates of pesticides in soil. Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Plant Protection Products and their Residues (PPR-Panel). EFSA J 622:1–32
- EFSA (2011) PRAPeR, Pesticide risk assessment peer review, European Safe Food Authority, List of available rapporteur Member State assessment Reports http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/pesticidespeerreview/assessmentreports.htm
- El Hadiri N, Ammati M, Chgoura M, Mounix K (2003) Behavior of 1,3-dichloropropene and methyl isothiocyanate in undisturbed soil columns. Chemosphere 52:893–899
- El Ouaghlidi F, Düring RA, Hummel HA (1999) Leaching and degradation of fenamiphos and atrazine in nondisturbed Moroccan sandy soil columns. Med Fac Landbouww Univ Gent 64/3b: 765–773
- Elabd H, Jurry WA, Cliath MM (1986) Spatial variability of pesticide adsorption parameters. Environ Sci Technol 20:256–260
- Ellerbrock RH, Gerke HH (2004) Characterizing organic matter of soil aggregate coatings and biopores by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy. Eur J Soil Sci 55:219–228
- Elliott JA, Cessna AJ, Nicholaichuk W, Tollefson LC (2000) Leaching rates and preferential flow of selected herbicides through tilled and untilled soil. J Environ Qual 29:1650–1656
- Elrick DE, French LK (1966) Miscible displacement patterns on disturbed and undisturbed soil cores. Soil Sci Soc Am Proc 30:153–156
- Enfield CG, Bengtsson G, Lindgvist R (1989) Influence of macromolecules on chemical transport. Environ Sci Technol 23:1278–1286
- Ertung T, Hartlieb N, Berns A, Klein W, Schaeffer A (2002) Investigations on the binding mechanism of the herbicide simazine to dissolved matter in leachates of compost. Chemosphere 49:597–604
- Estrella MR, Brusseau ML, Maier RS, Pepper IL, Wierenga PJ, Miller RM (1993) Biodegradation, sorption and transport of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid in saturated and unsaturated soils. Appl Environ Microbiol 59:4266–4273
- EU (2011) Database on active substances. http://ec.europa.eu/food/plant/protection/evaluation/ database_act_subs_en.htm European Commission, Health & Consumer Protection Directorate—General, Plant health, Brussels
- Farahani GHN, Sahid IB, Zakaria Z, Kuntom A, Omar D (2008) Study on the downward movement of carbofuran in two Malaysian soils. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 81:294–298
- Farenhorst A (2006) Importance of soil organic matter fractions in soil-landscape and regional assessments of pesticide sorption and leaching in soil. Soil Sci Soc Am J 70:1005–1012
- Farenhorst A, Topp E, Bowman BT, Tomlin AD (2000) Earthworm burrow and feeding activity and the potential for atrazine transport by preferential flow. Soil Biol Biochem 32:479–488
- Farenhorst A, Londry KL, Nahar N, Gaultier J (2008) In-field variation in 2,4-D mineralization in relation to sorption and soil microbial communities. J Environ Sci Health 43B:113–119
- Farenhorst A, Topp E, Bowman BT, Tomlin AD, Bryan RB (2001) Sorption of atrazine and metolachlor by burrow linings developed in soils with different crop residues at the surface. J Environ Sci Health 36B:389–396
- Farran A, Chentouf A (2000) Study the behaviour of azinphos-methyl in a clay mineral by batch and column leaching. J Chromatogr 869A:481–485
- Fava L, Orrú MA, Scardala S, Funari E (2007) Leaching potential of carbamates and their metabolites and comparison with triazines. Microchem J 86:204–208
- Fava L, Bottoni P, Crobe A, Caracciolo AB, Funari E (2001) Assessment of leaching potential of aldicarb and its metabolites using laboratory studies. Pestic Manag Sci 57:1135–1141
- Fava L, Orrú MA, Businelli D, Scardala S, Funari E (2006) Leaching potential of some phenylureas and their main metabolites through laboratory studies. Environ Sci Pollut Res 13:386–391
- Felding G (1995) Leaching of phenoxyalkanoic acid herbicides from farmland. Sci Total Environ 168:11–18
- Felding G (1997) Pesticide adsorption as a function of depth below surface. Pestic Sci 50:64-66

- Felsot AS, Evans RG, Ruppert JR (2003) Field studies of imidacloprid distribution following application to soil through a drip irrigation system. In: Authur EL, Barefoot AC, Clay VE (eds) Terrestrial field dissipation studies—purpose, design and interpretation. ACS Symp Ser 842, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 13, pp 189–205
- Fenoll J, Ruiz E, Flores P, Hellín P, Navarro S (2010) Leaching potential of several insecticides and fungicides through disturbed clay-loam soil columns. Intern J Environ Anal Chem 90:276–285
- Fent G, Kubiak R, Eichhorn KW (1993) Fate of the new sulfonylurea amidosulfuron in soil. Sci Total Environ 132:201–215
- Fent G, Kubiak R, Jene B (1999) Spatial distribution of ¹⁴C-benazolin residues and two tracers in lysimeters in comparison to a field plot experiment. In: Del Re AAM, Brown C, Capri E, Errera G, Evans SP, Trevisan M (eds) Human and Environmental Exposure to Xenobiotics. Proceedings, XI Symp Pestic Chem, La Goliardica Pavese s.r.l., Pavia, pp 121–129
- Fermanich KJ, Daniel TC, Lowery B (1991) Microlysimeter soil columns for evaluating pesticide movement through the root zone. J Environ Qual 20:189–195
- Fernandes MC, Cox L, Hermosín MC, Cornejo J (2003) Adsorption-desorption of metalaxyl as affecting dissipation and leaching in soils: the role of mineral and organic components. Pestic Manag Sci 59:545–552
- Fernandes MC, Cox L, Hermosín MC, Cornejo J (2006) Organic amendments affecting sorption, leaching and dissipation of fungicides in soils. Pestic Manag Sci 62:1207–1215
- Flores-Céspedes F, González-Pradas E, Fernández-Pérez M, Villafranca-Sánchez M, Socías-Viciana M, Urenã-Amate MD (2002) Effects of dissolved organic carbon on sorption and mobility of imidacloprid in soil. J Environ Qual 31:880–888
- Flury M (1996) Experimental evidence of transport of pesticides through field soils—A review. J Environ Qual 25:25–45
- Flury M, Flühler H, Jury WA, Leuenberger J (1994) Susceptibility of soils to preferential flow of water: A field study. Water Resource Res 30:1945–1954
- Flury M, Leuenberger J, Studer B, Flühler H (1995) Transport of anions and herbicides in a loamy and a sandy field soil. Water Resource Res 31:823–835
- Focus (2011) Forum for the Co-ordination of Pesticide Fate Models and their Use, European Union. Focus GW Home. http://viso.ei.jrc.it/focus/index.html
- Fogg P, Carter A, Brown CD (1994) A comparison of the use and regulatory interpretation of a predictive model, lysimeter and field studies to determine the leaching potential of a seed dressing. Proceedings, BCPC Conf – Pests and Diseases, British Crop Protection Council, Brighton, vol 3, 9 C–1, pp 1283–1288
- Fogg P, Boxall ABA, Walker A, Jukes A (2004a) Degradation and leaching potential of pesticides in biobed systems. Pestic Manag Sci 60:645–654
- Fogg P, Boxall ABA, Walker A, Jukes A (2004b) Leaching of pesticides from biobeds: Effect of biobed depth and water loading. J Agric Food Chem 52:6217–6227
- Fomsgaard IS, Spliid NH, Felding G (2003a) Leaching of pesticides through normal-tillage and low-tillage soil—A lysimeter study. I. Isoproturon. J Environ Sci Health 38B:1–18
- Fomsgaard IS, Spliid NH, Felding G (2003b) Leaching of pesticides through normal-tillage and low-tillage soil A lysimeter study. II. Glyphosate. J Environ Sci Health 38B:19–35
- Fortin J, Gagnon-Bertrand E, Vézina L, Rompré M (2002) Preferential bromide and pesticide movement to tile drains under different cropping practices. J Environ Qual 31:1940–1952
- Fouqué-Brouard CM, Fournier JM (1996) Adsorption-desorption and leaching of phenylurea herbicides on soils. Talanta 43:1793–1802
- Francaviglia R, Capri E, Trevisan M (2000) Experimental guidelines for lysimeter studies in the Mediterranean area. In: Cornejo J, Jamet P (eds) Pesticide/soil interactions. Some Current Research Methods, INRA, Paris, pp 287–295
- Führ F, Steffens W, Mittelstaedt W, Brumhard B (1990) Lysimeter experiments with ¹⁴C-labeled pesticides – An agroecosystem approach. In: Frehse H (ed) Pesticide Chemistry, Advances in International Research, Development and Legislation. Proc 7th Intern Cong Pestic Chem, VCH, Weinheim, pp 37–48

- Führ F, Burauel P, Mittelstaedt W, Pütz T, Wanner U (2003) The lysimeter concept: A comprehensive approach to study the environmental behavior of pesticides in agroecosystems. In: Coats JR, Yamamoto H (eds) Environmental fate and effects of pesticides. ACS Symp Ser 853, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 1, pp 1–29
- Führ F, Burauel P, Dust M, Mittelstaedt W, Pütz T, Reinken G, Stork A (1998) Comprehensive tracer studies on the environmental behavior of pesticides: The lysimeter concept. In: Führ F, Hance RJ, Plimmer JR, Nelson JO (eds) The lysimeter concept, environmental behavior of pesticides. ACS Symp Ser 699, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 1, pp 1–20
- Futch SH, Singh M (1999) Herbicide mobility using soil leaching columns. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 62:520–529
- Gaber HM, Inskeep WP, Comfort SD, Wraith JM (1995) Nonequilibrium transport of atrazine through large intact soil cores. Soil Sci Soc Am J 59:60–67
- Gamerdinger AP, Wagenet RJ, van Genuchten MT (1990) Application of two-site/two-region models for studying simultaneous nonequilibrium transport and degradation of pesticides. Soil Sci Soc Am J 54:957–963
- Gardner DS, Branham BE (2001a) Mobility and dissipation of ethofumesate and halofenozide in turfgrass and bare soil. J Agric Food Chem 49:2894–2898
- Gardner DS, Branham BE (2001b) Effect of turfgrass cover and irrigation on soil mobility and dissipation of mefenoxam and propiconazole. J Environ Qual 30:1612–1618
- Garratt JA, Kennedy A, Wilkins RM, Ureña-Amate MD, González-Pradas E, Flores-Céspedes F, Fernández-Perez M (2007) Modeling pesticide leaching and dissipation in a Mediterranean littoral greenhouse. J Agric Food Chem 55:7052–7061
- Gaston LA, Locke MA (1996) Bentazon mobility through intact, unsaturated columns of conventional- and no-till Dundee soil. J Environ Qual 25:1350–1356
- Gaston LA, Locke MA (2000) Acifluorfen sorption, degradation and mobility in a Mississippi Delta soil. Soil Sci Soc Am J 64:112–121
- Gaston LA, Locke MA (2002) Difference in microbial biomass, organic carbon and dye sorption between flow and non-flow regions of unsaturated soil. J Environ Qual 31:1406–1408
- Gatzweiler EW, Schmidt B, Feyerabend M, Jones RL, Arnold DJ (1999) Isoproturon—Field studies on the behavior in fine-textured solid. In: Del Re AAM, Brown C, Capri E, Errera G, Evans SP, Trevisan M (eds) Human and Environmental Exposure to Xenobiotics. Proceedings, XI Symp Pestic Chem, La Goliardica Pavese s.r.l., Pavia, pp 305–312
- Ghodrati M, Jury WA (1990) A field study using dyes to characterize preferential flow of water. Soil Sci Soc Am J 54:1558–1563
- Ghosh RK, Singh N (2009) Leaching behavior of azoxystrobin and metabolites in soil columns. Pestic Manag Sci 65:1009–1014
- Gjettermann B, Petersen CT, Koch CB, Spliid NH, Grøn C, Baun DL, Styczen M (2009) Particlefacilitated leaching from differently structured soil monoliths. J Environ Qual 38:2382–2393
- Glass RL, Edwards WM (1979) Dicamba in lysimeter and percolation water. J Agric Food Chem 27:908–909
- Goicolea MA, Arranz JF, Barrio RJ, de Balugera ZG (1991) Adsorption-leaching study of the herbicides metamitron and chloridazon. Pestic Sci 32:259–264
- Gonod LV, Chenu C, Soulas G (2003) Spatial variability of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) mineralization potential at a millimeter scale in soil. Soil Biol Biochem 35:373–382
- Gonzalez J, Ukrainczyk L (1999) Transport of nicosulfuron in soil columns. J Environ Qual 28:101-107
- González-Pradas E, Villafranca-Sánchez M, Fernández-Pérez M, Scocías-Viciana M, Ureña-Amate MD (1998) Sorption and leaching of diuron on natural peat-amended calcareous soil from Spain. Water Res 32:2814–2820
- Graber ER, Sluszny C, Gerstl Z (1997) Influence of sludge amendment on transport and sorption ideality of *s*-triazines in soil columns. Environ Toxicol Chem 16:2463–2469
- Graber ER, Gerstl Z, Fischer E, Mingelgrin U (1995) Enhanced transport of atrazine under irrigation with effluent. Soil Sci Soc Am J 59:1513–1519
- Graber ER, Dror I, Bercovich FC, Rosner M (2001) Enhanced transport of pesticides in a field trial with treated sewage sludge. Chemosphere 44:805–811

- Gray RA, Weierich AJ (1968) Leaching of five thiocarbamate herbicides in soils. Weed Sci 16:77–79
- Green JD, Horton R, Baker JL (1995) Crop residue effects on the leaching of surface applied chemicals. J Environ Qual 24:343–351
- Griessbach EFC, Copin A, Deleu R, Dreze P (1998) Mobility of a siliconepolyether studied by leaching experiments through disturbed and undisturbed soil columns. Sci Total Environ 221:159–169
- Grolimund D, Borkovec M (1999) Long-term release kinetics of colloidal particles from natural porous media. Environ Sci Technol 33:4054–4060
- Grolimund D, Borkovec M, Barmettler K, Sticher H (1996) Colloid-facilitated transport of strongly sorbing contaminants in natural porous media: A laboratory column study. Environ Sci Technol 20:3118–3123
- Grover R (1977) Mobility of dicamba, picloram and 2,4-D in soil columns. Weed Sci 25:159-162
- Grundmann S, Dörfler U, Ruth B, Loos C, Wagner T, Karl H, Munch JC, Schroll R (2008) Mineralization and transfer processes of ¹⁴C-labeled pesticides in outdoor lysimeters. Water Air Soil Pollut: Focus 8:177–185
- Guimont S, Perrin-Ganier C, Real B, Schiavon M (2005) Effects of soil moisture and treatment volume on bentazon mobility in soil. Agron Sustain Dev 25:323–329
- Günther P, Pestemer W, Rahman A, Nordmeyer H (1993) A bioassay technique to study the leaching behavior of sulfonylurea herbicides in different soils. Weed Res 33:177–185
- Guo J, Zhu G, Shi J, Sun J (2003) Adsorption, desorption and mobility of fomesafen in Chinese soils. Water Air Soil Pollut 148:77–85
- Guo L, Wagenet RJ (1999) Evaluation of alachlor degradation under transport conditions. Soil Sci Soc Am J 63:443–449
- Guo L, Bicki TJ, Hinesly TD, Felsot AS (1991) Effect of carbon-rich waste materials on movement and sorption of atrazine in a sandy, coarse-textured soil. Environ Toxicol Chem 10:1273–1282
- Guo L, Bicki TJ, Felsot AS, Hinesly TD (1993) Sorption and movement of alachlor in soil modified by carbon-rich wastes. J Environ Qual 22:186–194
- Guo M, Chorover J (2003) Transport and fractionation of dissolved organic matter in soil columns. Soil Sci 168:108–118
- Gupta S, Gajbhiye VT (2002a) Adsorption-desorption, persistence, and leaching behaviour of dithiopyr in an Alluvial soil of India. J Environ Sci Health 37B:573–586
- Gupta S, Gajbhiye VT (2002b) Persistence and leaching of β -cyfluthrin in alluvial soil of India. Pestic Manag Sci 58:1259–1265
- Gupta S, Gajbhiye VT (2004) Adsorption-desorption, persistence and leaching behavior of thifluzamide in alluvial soil. Chemosphere 57:471–480
- Gupta S, Gajbhiye VT, Gupta RK (2008) Soil dissipation and leaching behavior of a neonicotinoid insecticide thiamethoxam. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 80:431–437
- Gupta S, Gaibhiye VT, Kalpana ANP (2002) Leaching behaviour of imidacloprid formulation in soil. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 68:502–508
- Gustafson DI (1989) Groundwater ubiquity score: A simple method for assessing pesticide leachability. Environ Toxicol Chem 8:339–357
- Guzzella L, Rullo S, Pozzoni F, Giuliano G (2003) Studies on mobility and degradation pathways of terbuthylazine using lysimeters on a field scale. J Environ Qual 32:1089–2098
- Haberhauer G, Temmel B, Gerzabek MH (2002) Influence of dissolved humic substances on the leaching of MCPA in a soil column experiment. Chemosphere 46:495–499
- Häfner M (1994) Pesticides in soil: A German approach of predicting their movement into ground and surface water. In: Börner H (ed) Chemistry in plant protection. Pesticides in ground and surface water. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, vol. 9, pp 247–288
- Hall DGM (1994) Simulation of dichlorprop leaching in three textually distinct soils using the pesticide leaching model. J Environ Sci Health 29A:1211–1230
- Hall JK, Mumma RO (1994) Dicamba mobility in conventionally tilled and no-tilled soil. Soil Tillage Res 30:3–17

- Hall JK, Murray MR, Hartwig NL (1989) Herbicide leaching and distribution in tilled and untilled soil. J Environ Qual 18:439–445
- Hall JK, Mumma RO, Watts DW (1991) Leaching and runoff losses of herbicides in a tilled and untilled field. Agric Ecosys Environ 37:303–314
- Hamaker J (1975) The interpretation of soil leaching experiments. In: Hague R, Freed V (eds) Environmental dynamics of pesticides. Plenum, New York, pp 115–133
- Hance RJ, Führ F (1992) The present situation. In: Führ F, Hance RJ (eds) Lysimeter studies of pesticides in the soil. BCPC Monograph No. 53, The Lavenham: Lavenham, Suffolk, pp 181–189
- Hance RJ, Embling SJ, Hill D, Graham-Bryce IJ, Nicholls P (1981) Movement of flumeturon, simazine, ³⁶Cl⁻ and ¹⁴⁴Ce³⁺ in soil under field conditions: Qualitative aspects. Weed Res 21:289–297
- Hancock TC, Sandstrom MW, Vogel JR, Webb RMT, Bayless ER, Barbash JE (2008) Pesticide fate and transport throughout unsaturated zones in five agricultural settings, USA. J Environ Qual 37:1086–1100
- Haouari J, Dahchour A, Peña-Heras A, Louchard X, Lennartz B, Alaouri ME, Satrallah A (2006) Behavior of two phenylurea herbicides in clayey soils and effect of altering dry-wet condition on their availability. J Environ Sci Health 41B:883–893
- Hassink J, Kördel W (2000) Transport and fate of pesticides in outdoor lysimeters. In: Cornejo J, Jamet P (eds) Pesticide/soil interactions. Some Current Research Methods, INRA, Paris, pp 297–303
- Hassink J, Klein A, Kördel W, Klein W (1994) Behavior of herbicides in non-cultivated soils. Chemosphere 28:285–295
- Heistermann M, Jene B, Fent G, Feyerabend M, Seppelt R, Richter O, Kubiak R (2003) Modelling approaches to compare sorption and degradation of metsulfuron-methyl in laboratory microlysimeter and batch experiments. Pestic Manag Sci 59:1276–1290
- Helling CS, Dragun J (1981) Soil leaching tests for toxic organic chemicals. In: Test protocols for environmental fate and movement of toxicants. Proc Symp Assoc Off Anal Chem, 94th Annual Meeting, AOAC, Washington DC, pp 43–88
- Helling CS, Gish TJ (1986) Soil characteristics affecting pesticide movement into ground water. In: Garner WY, Honeycutt RC, Nigg HN (eds) Evaluation of pesticides in ground water. ACS Symp Ser 315, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 2, pp 14–38
- Hellpointer E (1998) Lysimeter study of imidacloprid after seed treatment of sugar beet in two crop rotations. In: Führ F, Hance RJ, Plimmer JR, Nelson JO (eds) The lysimeter concept, environmental behavior of pesticides. ACS Symp Ser 699, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 3, pp 40–51
- Heyer R, Stan HJ (1995) Comparison of the leaching behavior of alachlor and its metabolites under field and laboratory conditions. Intern J Environ Anal Chem 58:173–183
- Hogue EJ, Khan SU, Gaunce A (1981) Leaching of four orchard herbicides in soil columns. Can J Soil Sci 61:401–407
- Hollis JM, Carter AD (1990) A comparison of laboratory, lysimeter and field study techniques to determine environmental fate of pesticides in the UK. Proceedings, BCPC Conf—Pests and Diseases, British Crop Protection Council, Brighton, vol 3, 8 C 10, pp 1005–1010
- Hua R, Spliid NH, Heinrichson K, Laursen B (2009) Influence of surfactants on the leaching of bentazone in a sandy loam soil. Pestic Manag Sci 65:857–861
- Irwin KC, Podoll RT, Starr RI, Elias DJ (1996) The mobility of [¹⁴C]3-chloro-*p*-toluidine hydrochloride in a loam soil profile. Environ Toxicol Chem 15:1671–1675
- Isensee AR, Sadeghi AM (1992) Laboratory apparatus for studying pesticide leaching in intact soil cores. Chemosphere 25:581–590
- Isensee AR, Sadeghi AM (1995) Long-term effect of tillage and rainfall on herbicide leaching to shallow groundwater. Chemosphere 30:671–685
- Isensee AR, Nash RG, Helling CS (1990) Effect of conventional vs. no-tillage on pesticide leaching to shallow groundwater. J Environ Qual 19:434–440
- Ismail BS, Kalithasan K (2004) Adsorption, desorption and mobility of permethrin in Malaysian soils. J Environ Sci Health 39B:419–429

- Ismail BS, Enoma AOS, Cheah UB, Lum KY, Malik Z (2002) Adsorption, desorption and mobility of two insecticides in Malaysian agricultural soil. J Environ Sci Health 37B:355–364
- Jablonowski ND, Koeppchen S, Hofmann D, Schaeffer A, Burauel P (2008) Spatial distribution and characterization of long-term aged ¹⁴C-labeled atrazine residues in soil. J Agric Food Chem 56:9548–9554
- Jacobson AR, Dousset S, Guichard N, Baveye P, Andreux F (2005) Diuron mobility through vineyard soils contaminated with copper. Environ Pollut 138:250–259
- Jarvis NJ (2007) A review of non-equilibrium water flow and solute transport in soil macropores: principles, controlling factors and consequences for water quality. Eur J Soil Sci 58:523–546
- Jaynes DB, Novak JM, Moorman TB, Cambardella CA (1995) Estimating herbicide partition coefficients from electromagnetic induction measurements. J Environ Qual 24:36–41
- Jebellie SJ, Prasher SO, Bassi R (2000) Fate of metolachlor under subirrigation in a sandy soil: A lysimeter study. J Environ Sci Health 35B:13–38
- Jene B, Erzgraeber B, Feyerabend M, Fent G, Kubiak R (1999) Comparison of bromide and benazolin transport in the undisturbed field with simulations by the computer models PELMO and MACRO. Del Re AAM, Brown C, Capri E, Errera G, Evans SP, Trevisan M (eds) Proceeding, XI Symp Pestic Chem, La Goliardica Pavese srl, Viale Golgi, pp 131–142
- Jiang L, Huang J, Liang L, Zheng PY, Yang H (2008) Mobility of prometryne in soil as affected by dissolved organic matter. J Agric Food Chem 56:11933–11940
- Johnson AC, Bettinson RJ, Williams RJ (1999) Differentiating between physical and chemical constraints on pesticide and water movement into and out of soil aggregates. Pestic Sci 55:524–530
- Johnson AC, Worrall F, White C, Walker A, Besien TJ, Williams RJ (1997) The potential of incorporated organic matter to reduce pesticide leaching. Toxicol Environ Chem 58:47–61
- Johnson DH, Shaner DL, Deane J, Mackersie LA, Tuxhorn G (2000) Time-dependent adsorption of imazethapyr to soil. Weed Sci 48:769–775
- Jones RL, Parsons RG, Gatzweiler EW, Wicks RJ, Leake CR (1998) An industry approach to the application of the lysimeter concept. In: Führ F, Hance RJ, Plimmer JR, Nelson JO (eds) The lysimeter concept, environmental behavior of pesticides. ACS Symp Ser 699, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 15, pp 203–212
- Jones RL, Arnold DJS, Harris IGL, Bailey SW, Pepper TJ, Mason DJ, Brown CD, Leeds-Harrison PB, Walker A, Bromilow RH, Brockie D, Nicholls PH, Craven ACC, Lythgo CM (2000) Process affecting movement of pesticides to drainage in cracking clay soils. Pestic Outlook 11: 174–178
- Jørgensen PR, McKay LD, Spliid NH (1998) Evaluation of chloride and pesticide transport in a fractured clayey till using large undisturbed columns and numerical modeling. Water Resources Res 34:539–553
- Jørgensen PR, Hoffmann M, Kistrup JP, Bryde C, Bossi R, Villholth KG (2002) Preferential flow and pesticide transport in a clay-rich till: Field, laboratory and modeling analysis. Water Resource Res 38:1246–1260
- Jury WA, Flühler H (1992) Transport of chemicals through soil: Mechanisms, models and field applications. Adv Agron 47:141–201
- Jury WA, Spencer WF, Farmer WJ (1983) Behavior assessment model for trace organics in soil: I. Model description. J Environ Qual 12:558–564
- Kamra SK, Lennartz B, van Genuchten MT, Widmoser P (2001) Evaluating non-equilibrium solute transport in small soil columns. J Contam Hydrol 48:189–212
- Kaneko H, Ohkawa H, Miyamoto J (1978) Degradation and movement of permethrin isomers in soil. J Pestic Sci 3:43–51
- Kaplan DI, Bertsch PM, Adriano DC, Miller WP (1993) Soil-borne mobile colloids as influenced by water flow and organic carbon. Environ Sci Technol 27:1193–1200
- Karpouzas DG, Ferrero A, Vidotto F, Capri E (2005) Application of the RICE-WQ-VADOFT model for simulating the environmental fate of pretilachlor in rice paddies. Environ Toxicol Chem 24:1007–1017
- Karpouzas DG, Pantelelis I, Menkissoglu-Spiroudi U, Golia E, Tsiropoulos NG (2007) Leaching of the organophosphorus nematicide fosthiazate. Chemosphere 68:1359–1364

- Katagi T (2002) Abiotic hydrolysis of pesticides in the aquatic environment. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 175:79–261
- Katagi T (2004) Photodegradation of pesticides on plant and soil surfaces. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 182:1–195
- Katagi T (2006) Behavior of pesticides in water-sediment systems. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 187:133–251
- Katagi T (2008) Surfactant effects on environmental behavior of pesticides. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 194:71–177
- Kaufman DD, Russel BA, Helling CS, Kayser AJ (1981) Movement of cypermethrin, decamethrin, and their degradation products in soil. J Agric Food Chem 29:239–245
- Kay P, Blackwell PA, Boxall ABA (2005) Column studies to investigate the fate of veterinary antibiotics in clay soils following slurry application to agricultural land. Chemosphere 60:497–507
- Kazemi HV, Anderson SH, Goyne KW, Gantzer CJ (2008) Atrazine and alachlor transport in Claypan soils as influenced by differential antecedent soil water content. J Environ Qual 37:1599–1607
- Kazemi HV, Anderson SH, Goyne KW, Gantzer CJ (2009) Aldicarb and carbofuran transport in a Hapludalf influenced by differential antecedent soil water content and irrigation delay. Chemosphere 74:265–273
- Keller KE, Weber JB (1995) Mobility and dissipation of ¹⁴C-labeled atrazine, metolachlor and primisulfuron in undisturbed field lysimeters of a coastal plain soil. J Agric Food Chem 43:1076–1086
- Keller KE, Weber JB (1997) Soybean (*Glycine max*) influences metolachlor mobility in soil. Weed Sci 45:833–841
- Kelsey JW, Alexander M (1995) Effect of flow rate and path length on *p*-nitrophenol biodegradation during transport in soil. Soil Sci Soc Am J 59:113–117
- Khan AT, Thomson MB (1990) Groundwater transport of hydrophobic organic compounds in the presence of dissolved organic matter. Environ Toxicol Chem 9:253–263
- Khoury R, Geahchan A, Coste CM, Abi Antoun M, Kawar NS (2001) Behavior or triadimefon in two Lebanese soils. J Environ Sci Health 36B:741–754
- Khoury R, Geahchan A, Coste CM, Cooper JF, Bobe A (2003) Retention and degradation of metribuzin in sandy loam and clay soils of Lebanon. Weed Res 43:252–259
- Kim IS, Beaudette LA, Shim JH, Trevors JT, Suh YT (2002) Environmental fate of the triazole fungicide propiconazole in a rice-paddy-soil lysimeter. Plant Soil 239:321–331
- Kim JH, Feagley SE (1998) Adsorption and leaching of trifluralin, metolachlor and metribuzin in a commerce soil. J Environ Sci Health 33B:529–546
- Kim JH, Feagley SE (2002) Leaching of trifluralin, metolachlor and metribuzin in a clay loam soil of Louisiana. J Environ Sci Health 37B:393–403
- Kissel DE, Ritchie JT, Burnett E (1973) Chloride movement in undisturbed swelling clay soil. Soil Sci Soc Am Proc 37:21–24
- Kjær J, Olsen P, Ullum M, Grant R (2005) Leaching of glyphosate and aminomethylphosphonic acid from Danish agricultural field sites. J Environ Qual 34:608–620
- Kjaergaard C, Moldrup P, de Jonge LW, Jacobsen OH (2004) Colloid mobilization and transport in undisturbed soil columns. II. The role of colloid dispersibity and preferential flow. Vadose Zone J 3:424–433
- Kladivko EJ, van Scoyoc GE, Monke EJ, Oates KM, Pask W (1991) Pesticide and nutrient movement into subsurface tile drains on a silt loam soil in Indiana. J Environ Qual 20:264–270
- Klein M, Klein W, Knoche H, Kördel W (1998) Comprehensive tracer studies on the environmental behavior of pesticides: The lysimeter concept. In: Führ F, Hance RJ, Plimmer JR, Nelson JO (eds) The lysimeter concept, environmental behavior of pesticides. ACS Symp Ser 699, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, Chap 19, pp 246–258
- Klier C, Grundmann S, Gayler S, Priesack E (2008) Modelling the environmental fate of the herbicide glyphosate in soil lysimeters. Water Air Soil Pollut: Focus 8:187–207
- Kluitenberg GJ, Horton R (1990) Effect of solute application method on preferential transport of solutes in soil. Geoderma 46:283–297

- Kogan M, Rojas S, Gómez P, Suárez F, Munõz JF, Alister C (2007) Evaluation of six pesticides leaching indexes using field data of herbicide application in Casablanca Valley, Chile. Water Sci Technol 56:169–178
- Köhne JM, Gerke HH, Köhne S (2002) Effective diffusion coefficient of soil aggregates with surface skins. Soil Sci Soc Am J 66:1430–1438
- Köhne JM, Köhne S, Šimůnek J (2006) Multi-process herbicide transport in structured soil columns: Experiments and model analysis. J Contam Hydrol 85:1–32
- Koleli N, Kantar C, Cuvalci U, Yilmag H (2006) Movement and adsorption of methamidophos in clay loam and sandy loam soils. Intern J Environ Anal Chem 86:1127–1134
- Kolpin DW, Barbash JE, Gilliom RJ (2000) Pesticides in groundwater of the United States, 1992– 1996. Ground Water 38:858–863
- Kookana R, Correll RL, Miller RB (2005) Pesticide impact rating index—A pesticide risk indicator for water quality. Water Air Soil Pollu: Focus 5:45–65
- Kördel W, Klein M (2006) Prediction of leaching and groundwater contamination by pesticides. Pure Appl Chem 78:1081–1090
- Kördel W, Herrchen M, Klein W (1991) Experimental assessment of pesticide leaching using undisturbed lysimeters. Pestic Sci 31:337–348
- Kördel W, Egli H, Klein M (2008) Transport of pesticides via macropores (IUPAC Technical Report). Pure Appl Chem 80:105–160
- Kördel W, Herrchen M, Klein M, Traub-Eberhard U, Klöppel H, Klein W (1992) Determination of the fate of pesticides in outdoor lysimeter experiments. Sci Total Environ 123(124):421–434
- Koskinen WC, Cecchi AM, Dowdy RH, Norberg KA (1999) Adsorption of selected pesticides on a rigid PVC lysimeter. J Environ Qual 28:732–734
- Koskinen WC, Sorenson BA, Buhler DD, Wyse DL, Strand EA, Lueschen WE, Jorgenson MD, Cheng HH (1998) Use of field lysimeters to determine ¹⁴C-dicamba persistence and movement in soil. In: Führ F, Hance RJ, Plimmer JR, Nelson JO (eds) The lysimeter concept, environmental behavior of pesticides. ACS Symp Ser 699, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 8, pp 115–121
- Krahe S, Schug B, Schütz S, Weissbecker B, Hummel HE (1997) Microlysimeter studies on plant protection agents. Med Fac Landbouww Univ Gent 62/2a: 145–155
- Kruger EL, Rice PJ, Anhalt JC, Anderson TA, Coats JR (1996) Use of undisturbed soil columns under controlled conditions to study the fate of [¹⁴C]deethylatrazine. J Agric Food Chem 44:1144–1149
- Krzyszowska AJ, Allen RD, Vance GF (1994) Assessment of the fate of two herbicides in a Wyoming Rangeland soil: Column studies. J Environ Qual 23:1051–1058
- Kung KJS (1990) Preferential flow in a sandy vadose zone: 1. Field observation. Geoderma 46:51–58
- Kung KJS, Steenhuis TS, Kladivko EJ, Gish TJ, Bubenzer G, Helling CS (2000) Impact of preferential flow on the transport of adsorbing and non-adsorbing tracers. Soil Sci Soc Am J 64:1290–1296
- Laegdsmand M, de Jonge LW, Moldrup P (2005) Leaching of colloids and dissolved organic matter from columns packed with natural soil aggregates. Soil Sci 170:13–27
- Laegdsmand M, Villholth KG, Ullum M, Jensen KH (1999) Processes of colloid mobilization and transport in macroporous soil monoliths. Geoderma 93:33–59
- Lalah JO, Njogu SN, Wandiga SO (2009) The effects of Mn²⁺, Ni²⁺, Cu²⁺, Co²⁺ and Zn²⁺ ions on pesticide adsorption and mobility in a tropical soil. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 83:352–358
- Landry D, Dousset S, Andreux F (2004) Laboratory leaching studies of oryzalin and diuron through three undisturbed vineyard soil columns. Chemosphere 54:735–742
- Landry D, Dousset S, Andreux F (2006) Leaching of oryzalin and diuron through undisturbed vineyard soil columns under outdoor conditions. Chemosphere 62:1736–1747
- Landry D, Dousset S, Fournier JC, Andreux F (2005) Leaching of glyphosate and AMPA under two soil management practices in Burgundy vineyards (vosne-Romanée, 21-France). Environ Pollut 138:191–200
- Langenbach T, Schroll R, Paim S (2000) Fate and distribution of ¹⁴C-atrazine in a tropical oxisol. Chemosphere 40:449–455

- Langner HW, Inskeep WP, Gaber HM, Jones WL, Das BS, Wraith JM (1998) Pore water velocity and residence time effects on the degradation of 2,4-D during transport. Environ Sci Technol 32:1308–1315
- Larsson MH, Jarvis NJ (2000) Quantifying interactions between compound properties and macropore flow effects on pesticide leaching. Pestic Manag Sci 56:133–141
- Larsson MH, Jarvis NJ, Torstensson G, Kasteel R (1999) Quantifying the impact of preferential flow on solute transport to tile drains in a sandy field soil. J Hydrol 215:116–134
- Laskowski DA (2002) Physical and chemical properties of pyrethroids. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 174:49–170
- Laskowski DA, Goring CAI, McCall JP, Swann RL (1982) Terrestrial environment. In: Conway RA (ed) Environmental risk analysis for chemicals. Van Nostrand Reinhold Co, New York, pp 198–240
- Leake CR (1991) Lysimeter studies. Pestic Sci 31:363-373
- Lechón Y, Sánchez-Brunete C, Tadeo JL (1997) Influence of the laboratory incubation method on chlortoluron and terbutryn degradation in soil. J Agric Food Chem 45:951–954
- Lee JK, Führ F, Kyung KS (1994) Behavior of carbofuran in a rice plant-grown lysimeter throughout four growing seasons. Chemosphere 29:747–758
- Lee JK, Führ F, Kyung KS (1996) Fate of the herbicide bentazon in rice plant-grown lysimeters over four consecutive cultivation years. J Environ Sci Health 31B:179–201
- Lee JK, Führ F, Kyung KS, Ahn KC, Kwon JW (1998) Fate of the herbicide cinosulfuron in rice plant-grown lysimeters over two consecutive years. In: Führ F, Hance RJ, Plimmer JR, Nelson JO (eds) The lysimeter concept, environmental behavior of pesticides. ACS Symp Ser 699, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 4, pp 52–64
- Lee JK, Führ F, Park SH, Lee EY, Kim YJ, Kyung KS (2003) Long-term fate of the herbicide azimsulfuron in a rice-grown lysimeter over six consecutive years. In: Clark JM, Ohkawa H (eds) Environmental fate and safety management of agrochemicals. ACS Symp Ser 899, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 5, pp 50–61
- Lee CH, Oloffs PC, Szeto SY (1986) Persistence, degradation and movement of triclopyr and its ethylene glycol butyl ether ester in a forest soil. J Agric Food Chem 34:1075–1079
- Leistra M, Smelt JH, Lexmond TM (1976) Conversion and leaching of aldicarb in soil columns. Pestic Sci 7:471–482
- Lennartz B (1999) Variation of herbicide transport parameters within a single field and its relation to water flux and soil properties. Geoderma 91:327–345
- Letey J, Williams CF, Farmer WJ, Nelson SD, Agassi M, Ben-Hur M (2000) The role of dissolved organic matter in pesticide transport through soil. In: Steinheimer TR, Ross LJ, Spittler TD (eds) Agrochemical fate and movement. perspective and scale of study. ACS Symp Ser 751, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 22, pp 347–360
- Levanon D, Codling EE, Meisinger JJ, Starr JL (1993) Mobility of agrochemicals through soil from two tillage systems. J Environ Qual 22:155–161
- Levanon D, Meisinger JJ, Codling EE, Starr JL (1994) Impact of tillage on microbial activity and the fate of pesticides in the upper soil. Water Air Soil Pollut 72:179–189
- Li K, Xing B, Torello WA (2005) Effect of organic fertilizers derived dissolved organic matter on pesticide sorption and leaching. Environ Pollut 134:187–194
- Li ZC, Yost RS, Green RE (1998) Incorporating uncertainty in a chemical leaching assessment. J Contam Hydrol 29:285–299
- Liang X, Xu F, Lin B, Su F, Schramm KW, Kettrup A (2002) Retention behavior of hydrophobic chemicals as a function of temperature in soil leaching column chromatography. Chemosphere 49:569–574
- Lin CH, Lerch RN, Garrett HE, Johnson WG, Jordan D, George MF (2003) The effect of five forage species on transport and transformation of atrazine and isoxaflutole (Balance) in lysimeter leachate. J Environ Qual 32:1992–2000
- Lipiec J, Kuś J, Stowińska-Jurkiewicz A, Nosalewicz A (2006) Soil porosity and water infiltration as influenced by tillage methods. Soil Tillage Res 89:210–220
- Liu Z, Clay SA, Clay DE, Harper SS (1995) Ammonia impacts on atrazine leaching through undisturbed soil columns. J Environ Qual 24:1170–1173
- Locke MA, Harper SS, Gaston LA (1994) Metribuzin mobility and degradation in undisturbed soil column. Soil Sci 157:279–288
- Lopetz-Avila V, Hitara P, Kraska S, Flanagan M, Taylor Jr JH, Hern SC, Melacon S, Pollard J (1986) Movement of selected pesticides and herbicides through columns of sandy loam. In: Honeycutt RC, Nigg HN (eds) Evaluation of pesticides in groundwater. ACS Symp Ser 315, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 16, pp 311–328
- Lynch MR (1995) Procedures for assessing the environmental fate and ecotoxicity of pesticides. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, Brussels, p 54
- Magee BR, Lion LW, Lemley AT (1991) Transport of dissolved organic macromolecules and their effect on the transport of phenanthrene in porous media. Environ Sci Technol 25:323–331
- Majumdar K, Singh N (2007) Effect of soil amendments on sorption and mobility in soils. Chemosphere 66:630–637
- Mallawatantri AP, McConkey BG, Mulla DJ (1996) Characterization of pesticide sorption and degradation in macropore linings and soil horizons of Thatuna silt loam. J Environ Qual 25:227–235
- Malone RW, Shipitalo MJ, Wauchope RD, Sumner H (2004) Residual and contact herbicide transport through field lysimeters via preferential flow. J Environ Qual 33:2141–2148
- Manoj VB, Gajbhiye VT (2007) Adsorption-desorption and leaching of bifenthrin in soil. Pestic Res J 19:257–261
- Mao M, Ren L (2004) Simulating non-equilibrium transport of atrazine through saturated soil. Ground Water 42:500–508
- Martins JMF, Mermoud A (1999) Transport of rimsulfuron and its metabolites in soil columns. Chemosphere 38:601–616
- Martins EL, Weber OLS, Dores EFGC, Spadotto CA (2007) Leaching of seven pesticides currently used in cotton crop in Mato Grosso State – Brazil. J Environ Sci Health 42B:877–882
- Matallo M, Romero E, Peña A, Sánchez-Rasero F, Dios G (1999) Leaching of mecoprop and dichlorprop in calcareous soil. Effect of the exogen organic matter addition in this process. J Environ Health Sci 34B:617–632
- Matocha CJ, Hossner LR (1999) Mobility of the herbicide pyrithiobac through intact soil columns. J Agric Food Chem 47:1755–1759
- McCall PJ, Laskowski DE, Swann RL, Disburger HJ (1981) Measurement of sorption coefficients of organic chemicals and their use, in environment fate analysis. In: Test protocols for environmental fate and movement of toxicants. Proc Symp Assoc Off Anal Chem, 94th Annual Meeting, AOAC, Washington DC, pp 89–109
- McCall PJ, Swann RL, Laskowski DA, Unger SM, Vrona SA, Dishburger HJ (1980) Estimation of chemical mobility in soil from liquid chromatographic retention time. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 24:190–195
- McCarthy JF, Zachara JM (1989) Subsurface transport of contaminants. Environ Sci Technol 23:496–502
- McDonald JA, Gaston LA, Jackson SH, Locke MA, Zablotowicz RM (2006) Degradation kinetics assessment for the fungicide BAS 505 in intact soil cores versus batch soils. Soil Sci 171:239–248
- McMahon MA, Thomas GW (1974) Chloride and tritiated water flow in disturbed and undisturbed soil cores. Soil Sci Soc Am Proc 38:727–732
- Meeks YJ, Dean JD (1990) Evaluating ground-water vulnerability to pesticides. J Water Resources Planning Manag 116:693–707
- Mersie W, Foy CL (1986) Adsorption, desorption, and mobility of chlorsulfuron in soils. J Agric Food Chem 34:89–92
- Mersie W, Seybold C, Tsegaye T (1999) Movement, adsorption and mineralization of atrazine in two soils with and without switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) roots. Eur J Soil Sci 50:343–349
- Miao Z, Cheplick MJ, Williams M, Trevisan M, Padovani L, Gennari M, Ferrero A, Vidotto F, Capri E (2003) Simulating pesticide leaching and runoff in rice paddies with the RICEWQ-VADOFT model. J Environ Qual 32:2189–2199
- Mikata K, Ohta K, Tashiro S (2001) Degradation and leaching of herbicide imazosulfuron in upland soils. J Pestic Sci 26:376–382

- Mills MS, Hill IR, Newcombe AC, Simmons ND, Vaughan PC, Verity AA (2001) Quantification of acetochlor degradation in the unsaturated zone using two novel in situ field techniques: comparisons with laboratory-generated data and implications for groundwater risk assessment. Pestic Manag Sci 57:351–359
- Mora A, Hermosin MC, Cornejo J (1997) Mobility of terbacil as influenced by soil characteristics. Intern J Environ Anal Chem 66:149–161
- Morgan P, Buttle JM, Metcalfe CD, Ostrander D (1995) Laboratory studies on the leaching of aldicarb through a tropical soil from Belize, Central America. Water Air Soil Pollut 81:49–65
- Mori Y, Maruyama T, Mitsuno T (1999) Soft X-ray radiography of drainage patterns of saturated soils. Soil Sci Soc Am J 63:733–740
- Morillo E, Undabeytia T, Cabrera A, Villaverde J, Maqueda C (2004) Effect of soil type on adsorption-desorption, mobility and activity of the herbicide norflurazon. J Agric Food Chem 52:884–890
- Morrod RS (1982) Factors affecting the distribution of pesticide drenches in soil using the fungicide metazoxolon as a model. Pestic Sci 13:49–59
- Mueller TC, Banks PA (1991) Flurtamone adsorption and mobility in three Georgia soils. Weed Sci 39:275–279
- Münch JM, Totsche KU, Kaiser K (2002) Physicochemical factor controlling the release of dissolved organic carbon from columns of forest subsoils. Eur J Soil Sci 53:311–320
- Nambu K, Ohkawa H, Miyamoto J (1980) Metabolic fate of phenothrin in plants and soils. J Pestic Sci 5:177–197
- Nelson EA, Penner D (2007) Leaching of isoxaflutole and the herbicide safeners R-29148 and furilazole. Weed Technol 21:106–109
- Nelson SD, Letey J, Farmer WJ, Williams CF, Ben-Hur M (1998) Facilitated transport of napropamide by dissolved organic matter in sewage sludge-amended soil. J Environ Qual 27:1194–1200
- Nelson SD, Letey J, Farmer WJ, Williams CF, Ben-Hur M (2000) Herbicide application method effects on napropamide complexation with dissolved organic matter. J Environ Qual 29:987–994
- Newcombe AC, Gustafson DI, Fuhrman JD, van Wesenbeeck IJ, Simmons ND, Klein AJ, Travis KZ, Harradine KJ (2005) The acetochlor registration partnership: Prospective ground water monitoring program. J Environ Qual 34:1004–1015
- Nhung DTT, Phong TK, Watanabe H, Iwafune T, Thuyet DQ (2009) Simulating the dissipation of two herbicides using micropaddy lysimeters. Chemosphere 77:1393–1399
- Ni Y, Liang X, Chen J, Zhang Q, Ma L, Wu W, Kettrup A (2004) Investigation on the influence of methanol on adsorption and leaching of pesticides with soil column liquid chromatography. Chemosphere 56:1137–1142
- Nielsen DR, Biggar JW (1961) Miscible displacement in soils: I. Experimental information. Soil Sci Soc Am Proc 25:1–5
- Nkedl-Kizza P, Rao PSC, Hornsby AG (1987) Influence of organic cosolvents on leaching of hydrophobic organic chemicals through soils. Environ Sci Technol 21:1107–1111
- Novak JM, Moorman TB, Karlen DL (1994) Influence of soil aggregate size on atrazine sorption kinetics. J Agric Food Chem 42:1809–1812
- Novak JM, Moorman TB, Camberdella CA (1997) Atrazine sorption at the field scale in relation to soils and landscape position. J Environ Qual 26:1271–1277
- Novak SM, Portal JM, Schiavon M (2001a) Influence of soil aggregate size on atrazine and trifluralin leaching. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 66:514–521
- Novak SM, Portal JM, Schiavon M (2001b) Effects of soil type upon metolachlor losses in subsurface drainage. Chemosphere 42:235–244
- O'Dell JD, Wolt JD, Jardine PM (1992) Transport of imazethapyr in undisturbed soil columns. Soil Sci Soc Am J 56:1711–1715
- OECD (2000) Guidance document for the performance of out-door monolith lysimeter studies. In: OECD Environmental health and safety publications. Series on testing and assessment. No 22. Environment Directorate, Paris, pp 25

- OECD (2004) OECD Guideline for the testing of chemicals, Leaching in soil columns. No 312. OECD Publishing, Brussels, p 15
- Ohkawa H, Nambu K, Inui H, Miyamoto J (1978) Metabolic fate of fenvalerate (Sumicidin®) in soil and by soil organisms. J Pestic Sci 3:129–141
- Ohkawa H, Shibaike R, Okihara Y, Morikawa M, Miyamoto J (1976) Degradation of the fungicide Denmart® (*S-n*-butyl *S'-p-tert*-butylbenzyl *N*-3-pyridyldithiocarbon imidate, S-1358) by plants, soils and light. Agric Biol Chem 40:943–951
- Ohmes GA, Mueller TC (2007) Sulfentrazone adsorption and mobility in surface soil of the Southern United States. Weed Technol 21:796–800
- Oi M (1999) Time-dependent sorption of imidacloprid in two different soils. J Agric Food Chem 47:327–332
- Ouyang Y, Shinde D, Mansell RS, Harris W (1996) Colloid-enhanced transport of chemicals in subsurface environments: A review. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 26:189–204
- Park BJ, Kyung KS, Choi JH, Im GJ, Kim IS, Shim JH (2005) Environmental fate of the herbicide molinate in a rice-paddy-soil lysimeter. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 75:937–944
- Parsons RG, Wicks RJ, Gatzweiler EW, Jones RJ (1995) Variability in lysimeter results. In: Pesticide movement to water. Walker A, Allen R, Bailey SW, Blair AM, Brown CD, Günther P, Leake CR, Nichollas PH (eds) BCPC Monograph No. 62, British Crop Protection Council, Brighton, 4–11, pp 257–262
- Pearson RJ, Inskeep WP, Wraith JM, Gaber HM, Comfort SD (1996) Observed and simulated solute transport under varying water regimes: II. 2,6-Difluorobenzoic acid and dicamba. J Environ Qual 25:654–661
- Perret J, Prasher SO, Kantzas A, Langford C (2000) Preferential solute flow in intact soil columns measured by SPECT scanning. Soil Sci Soc Am J 64:469–477
- Perret J, Prasher SO, Kantzas A, Hamilton K, Langford C (1999) Three-dimensional quantitation of macropore networks in undisturbed soil cores. Soil Sci Soc Am J 63:1530–1543
- Persson L, Bergström L (1991) Drilling method for collection of undisturbed soil monoliths. Soil Sci Soc Am J 55:285–287
- Peters B, Feyerabend M, Schmidt B (2002) Design of a terrestrial field leaching and dissipation study within the European registration process. In: Authur EL, Barefoot AC, Clay VE (eds) Terrestrial field dissipation studies—purpose, design and interpretation. ACS Symp Ser 842, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 3, pp 31–42
- Petersen CT, Holm J, Koch CB, Jensen HE, Hansen S (2002) Movement of pendimethalin, ioxynil and soil particles to field drainage tiles. Pestic Manag Sci 59:85–96
- Petrovic AM, Barrett WC, Larsson-Kovach IM, Reid CM, Lisk DJ (1996) The influence of a peat amendment and turf density on downward migration of metalaxyl fungicide in creeping bentgrass sand lysimeters. Chemosphere 33:2335–2340
- Pignatello JJ (2000) The measurement and interpretation of sorption and desorption rates for organic compounds in soil media. Adv Agronomy 69:1–73
- Pignatello JJ, Ferrandino FJ, Huang LQ (1993) Elution of aged and freshly added herbicides from a soil. Environ Sci Technol 27:1563–1571
- Pot V, Šimůnek J, Benoit P, Coquet Y, Yra A, Martínez-Cordón MJ (2005) Impact of rainfall intensity on the transport of two herbicides in undisturbed grassed filter strip soil cores. J Contam Hydrol 81:63–88
- Poulsen TG, Moldrup P, de Jonge LW, Komatsu T (2006) Colloid and bromide transport in undisturbed soil columns: Application of two-region model. Vadose Zone J 5:649–656
- PPDB (2009) The Pesticide Properties Database (PPDB) developed by the Agriculture & Environment Research Unit (AERU), University of Hertfordshire, funded by UK national sources and the EU-funded FOOTPRINT project (FP6-SSP-022704)
- Pütz T, Mittelstaedt W, Führ F (1998) Seasonal changes of [Phenyl-¹⁴C]methabenzthiazuron loads in soil solution under practical farming conditions. Chemosphere 37:1531–1545
- Rao PSC, Hornby AG, Jessup RE (1985) Indices for ranking the potential for pesticide contamination of groundwater. Proc Soil Crop Sci Soc Fla 44:1–8

- Rao PSC, Edvardsson KSV, Ou LT, Jessup RE, Nkedi-Kizza P, Hornsby AG (1986) Spatial variability of pesticide sorption and degradation parameters. In: Garner WY, Honeycutt RC, Nigg HN (eds) Evaluation of pesticides in ground water. ACS Symp Ser 315, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, chap 6, pp 100–115
- Raturi S, Carroll MJ, Hill RL (2003) Turfgrass thatch effects on pesticide leaching: A laboratory and modeling study. J Environ Qual 32:215–223
- Reemtsma T, Mehrtens J (1997) Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) leaching from contaminated soil by a column test with on-line solid phase extraction. Chemosphere 35:2491–2501
- Reemtsma T, Bredow A, Gehring M (1999) The nature and kinetics of organic matter release from soil by salt solutions. Eur J Soil Sci 50:53–64
- Regitano JB, Da Rocha WSD, Alleoni LRF (2005) Soil pH on mobility of imazaquin in oxisols with positive balance of charges. J Agric Food Chem 53:4096–4102
- Regitano JB, Prata F, Rocha WSD, Tornisielo VL, Lavorenti A (2002) Imazaquin mobility in tropical soils in relation to soil moisture and rainfall timing. Weed Res 42:271–279
- Reinken G, Führ F, Zadgorsky N, Halling H, Schult O (1995) Application of a novel high-resolution tomographic method for non-destructive characterization of pore structure in soil column. In: Walker A, Allen R, Bailey SW, Blair AM, Brown CD, Günther P, Leake CR, Nichollas PH (eds) Pesticide movement to water. BCPC Monograph No. 62, British Crop Protection Council, Brighton, 1–6, pp 39–44
- Renaud FG, Brown CD, Fryer CJ, Walker A (2004) A lysimeter experiment to investigate temporal changes in the availability of pesticide residues for leaching. Environ Pollut 131:81–91
- Riise G, Eklo OM, Lode O, Pettersen MN (1992) Mobility of dichlorprop in the soil-water system as a function of different environmental factors. II. A lysimeter experiment. Sci Total Environ 123(124):411–420
- Riise G, Eklo OM, Lode O, Pettersen MN (1994) Mobility of atrazine and tribenuron-methyl in the soil-water system—Lysimeter experiments. Norw J Agric Sci, Suppl, pp 31–41
- Roberts TR, Hutson DH, Lee PW, Nicholls PH, Plimmer JR (1998) Metabolic pathways of agrochemicals. Part 1 and 2, The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge
- Rodríguez-Cruz MS, Jones JE, Bending GD (2006) Field-scale study of the variability in pesticide biodegradation with soil depth and its relationship with soil characteristics. Soil Biol Biochem 38:2910–2918
- Rodríguez-Cruz MS, Jones JE, Bending GD (2008) Study of the spatial variation of the biodegradation rate of the herbicide bentazon with soil depth using contrasting incubation methods. Chemosphere 73:1211–1215
- Romero E, Sánchez-Rasero F, Peña A, de la Colina C, Dios G (1996) Bentazone leaching in Spanish soils. Pestic Sci 47:7–15
- Rosenbom AE, Kjær J, Olsen P (2010) Long-term leaching of rimsulfuron degradation products through sandy agricultural soils. Chemosphere 79:830–838
- Roulier S, Jarvis N (2003) Modeling macropore flow effects on pesticide leaching: Inverse parameter estimation using microlysimeters. J Environ Qual 32:2341–2353
- Roy JW, Hall JC, Parkin GW, Wagner-Riddle C, Clegg BS (2001) Seasonal leaching and biodegradation of dicamba in turfgrass. J Environ Qual 30:1360–1370
- Rüdel H, Schmidt S, Kördel W, Klein W (1993) Degradation of pesticides in soil: comparison of laboratory experiments in a biometer system and outdoor lysimeter experiments. Sci Total Environ 132:181–200
- Russell MH (1995) Recommended approaches to assess pesticide mobility in soil. In: Roberts TR, Kearney PC (eds) Progress in pesticide biochemistry and toxicology. Environmental behavior of agrochemicals. vol 9, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Chichester, chap 2, pp 57–129
- Sabbagh GJ, Fox GA, Ma L, Malone RW, Arthur EL, Dyer DG (2007) Modeling pesticide fate and nonideal transport from seed treated with a slow-release pesticide in a laboratory soil column. Trans Am Soc Agric Biol Eng 50:523–532
- Sadeghi AM, Isensee AR, Shirmohammadi A (2000) Influence of soil texture and tillage on herbicide transport. Chemosphere 41:1327–1332

- Saison C, Cattan P, Louchart X, Voltz M (2008) Effect of spatial heterogeneities of water fluxes and application pattern on cadusafos fate on banana-cultivated andosols. J Agric Food Chem 56:11947–11955
- Sakaliene O, Papiernik SK, Koskinen WC, Kavoliūnaite I, Brazenaitei J (2009) Using lysimeters to evaluate the relative mobility and plant uptake of four herbicides in a rye production system. J Agric Food Chem 57:1975–1981
- Sakata S, Mikami N, Matsuda T, Miyamoto J (1986) Degradation and leaching behavior of the pyrethroid insecticide cypermethrin in soils. J Pestic Sci 11:71–79
- Sakata S, Yoshimura J, Nambu K, Mikami N, Yamada H (1990) Degradation and leaching behavior of the pyrethroid insecticide fenpropathrin in soils. J Pestic Sci 15:363–373
- Sánchez L, Romero E, Peña A (2003) Ability of biosolids and a cationic surfactant to modify methidathion leaching. Modelling with pescol. Chemosphere 53:843–850
- Sánchez-Camazano M, Sánchez-Martín MJ, Delgado-Pascual R (2000) Adsorption and mobilities of linuron in soils as influenced by soil properties, organic amendments and surfactants. J Agric Food Chem 48:3018–3026
- Sánchez-Camazano M, Gonzalez-Pozuelo JM, Sánchez-Martín MJ, Crisanto T (1994) Adsorption and mobility of acephate in soils. Ecotox Environ Safety 29:61–69
- Sánchez-Martín MJ, Piccolo A, Sánchez-Camazano M, Arienzo M (1997) Diazinon leaching through a sandy soil amended with different humic materials. Toxicol Environ Chem 62:21–33
- Sander T, Gerke HH (2007) Preferential flow patterns in paddy fields using a dye tracer. Vadose Zone J 6:105–115
- Schiavon M (1988) Studies of the leaching of atrazine, of its chlorinated derivatives, and of hydroxyatrazine from soil using ¹⁴C ring-labeled compounds under outdoor conditions. Ecotox Environ Safety 15:46–54
- Schnitzler F, Lavorenti A, Berns AE, Drewes N, Vereecken H, Burauel P (2007) The influence of maize residues on the mobility and binding of benazolin: Investigating physically extracted soil fractions. Environ Pollut 147:4–13
- Schoen R, Gaudet JP, Bariac T (1999a) Preferential flow and solute transport in a large lysimeter, under controlled boundary conditions. J Hydrol 215:70–81
- Schoen R, Gaudet JP, Elrick DE (1999b) Modelling of solute transport in a large undisturbed lysimeter, during steady-state water flux. J Hydrol 215:82–93
- Schroll R, Kühn S (2004) Test system to establish mass balances for ¹⁴C-labeled substances in soilplant-atmosphere systems under field conditions. Environ Sci Technol 38:1537–1544
- Schroll R, Dörfler U, Scheunert I (1999) Volatilization and mineralization of ¹⁴C-labeled pesticides on lysimeter surfaces. Chemosphere 39:595–602
- Schroll R, Grundmann S, Dörfler U, Ruth B, Munch JC (2008) Lysimeter experiments to investigate the fate of chemicals in soils – comparison of five different lysimeter systems. Water Air Soil Pollut: Focus 8:209–216
- Schroll R, Langenbach T, Cao G, Dörfler U, Schneider P, Scheunert I (1992) Fate of [¹⁴C]terbutylazine in soil-plant system. Sci Total Environ 123(124):377–389
- Schwartz RC, McInnes KJ, Juo ASR, Cervantes CE (1999) The vertical distribution of a dye tracer in a layered soil. Soil Sci 164:561–572
- Scorza Júnior RP, Smelt JH, Boesten JJTI, Hendriks RFA, van der Zee SEATM (2004) Preferential flow of bromide, bentazon and imidacloprid in a Dutch clay soil. J Environ Qual 33: 1473–1486
- Selim HM, Zhu H (2002) Retention and mobility of deltamethrin in soils: 2. Transport. Soil Sci 167:580–589
- Selim HM, Zhou L, Xue SK (2002) Alachlor transport during transient water flow in unsaturated soils. Soil Sci Soc Am J 66:1773–1783
- Seta AK, Karathanasis AD (1996) Colloid-facilitated transport of metolachlor through intact soil columns. J Environ Sci Health 31B:949–968
- Seta AK, Karathanasis AD (1997a) Stability and transportability of water-dispersible soil colloids. Soil Sci Soc Am J 61:604–611
- Seta AK, Karathanasis AD (1997b) Atrazine adsorption by soil colloids and co-transport through subsurface environments. Soil Sci Soc Am J 61:612–617

- Seyfried MS, Rao PSC (1987) Solute transport in undisturbed columns of an aggregated tropical soil: Preferential flow effects. Soil Sci Soc Am J 51:1434–1444
- Shaw LJ, Burns RG (1998) Biodegradation—transport interactions of pulse applied 2,4-D in repacked soil microcosms. J Environ Qual 27:1472–1478
- Shipitalo MJ, Edwards WM, Dick WA, Owens LB (1990) Initial storm effects on macropore transport of surface-applied chemicals in no-till soil. Soil Sci Soc Am J 54:1530–1536
- Shukla S, Mostaghimi S, Shanholt VO, Collins MC, Ross BB (2000) A county-level assessment of ground water contamination by pesticides. Ground Water Monit Remed 20:104–119
- Si Y, Wang S, Zhou J, Hua R, Zhou D (2005) Leaching and degradation of ethametsulfuron-methyl in soil. Chemosphere 60:601–609
- Si Y, Zhang J, Wang S, Zhang L, Zhou D (2006) Influence of organic amendments on the adsorption and leaching of ethametsufuron-methyl in acidic soils in China. Geoderma 130:66–76
- Siczek A, Kotowska U, Lipiec J, Nosalewicz A (2008) Macro-porosity and leaching of atrazine in tilled and orchard loamy soils. Chemosphere 70:1973–1978
- Sigua GC, Isensee AR, Sadeghi AM, Im GJ (1995) Distribution and transport of atrazine as influenced by surface cultivation, earthworm population and rainfall pattern. Chemosphere 31:4237–4242
- Simunek J, van Genuchten M, Sejna M, Toride N, Leij FJ (1999) The STANMOD computer software for evaluating solute transport in porous media using analytical solutions of convectiondispersion equation. Versions 1.0 and 2.0. U.S. Salinity Laboratory, Agricultural Research Service. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Riverside, p 119
- Singh N (2003) Organic manure and urea effect on metolachlor transport through packed soil columns. J Environ Qual 32:1743–1749
- Singh N (2005) Mobility of four triazole fungicides in two Indian soils. Pestic Manag Sci 61:191–196
- Singh N (2006) Metribuzin mobility in soil columns as affected by urea fertilizer. Pestic Manag Sci 62:402–406
- Singh N, Kloeppel H, Klein W (2002) Movement of metolachlor and terbuthylazine in core and packed soil columns. Chemosphere 47:409–415
- Singh P, Kanwar RS (1991) Preferential solute transport through macropores in large undisturbed saturated soil columns. J Environ Qual 20:295–300
- Smetnik A, Frost M (1999) Simulation of ¹⁴C-triadimenol leaching in lysimeter studies with PELMO. In: Del Re AAM, Brown C, Capri E, Errera G, Evans SP, Trevisan M (eds) Human and Environmental Exposure to Xenobiotics. Proceeding, XI Symp Pestic Chem, La Goliardica Pavese srl, Viale Golgi, pp 449–455
- Smith S, Willis GH (1985) Movement of pesticides in soil columns as affected by anhydrous ammonia. Environ Toxicol Chem 4:425–434
- Socías-Viciana MM, Fernández-Pérez M, Villafranca-Sánchez M, González-Pradas E, Flores-Céspedes F (1999) Sorption and leaching of atrazine and MCPA in neutral and peat-amended calcareous soils from Spain. J Agric Food Chem 47:1236–1241
- Song NH, Chen L, Yang H (2008) Effect of dissolved organic matter on mobility and activation of chlortoluron in soil and wheat. Geoderma 146:344–352
- Sonon LS, Schwab AP (2004) Transport and persistence of nitrate, atrazine and alachlor in large intact soil columns under two levels of moisture content. Soil Sci 169:541–553
- Sorenson BA, Koskinen WC, Buhler DD, Wyse DL, Lueschen WE, Jorgenson MD (1994) Formation and movement of ¹⁴C-atrazine degradation products in a clay loam soil in the field. Weed Sci 42:618–624
- Spadotto CA (2002) Screening method for assessing pesticide leaching potential. Pesticidas: Revista Ecotoxicol Meio Ambiente 12:69–78
- Spark KM, Swift RS (1998) Effect of dissolved organic matter on the movement of pesticides in soil columns. In: Davies G, Ghabbour EA (eds) Humic substances: structure, properties and uses. Special Publ. Royal Soc Chem 228: 195–201
- Sprague LA, Herman JS, Hornberger GM, Mills AL (2000) Atrazine adsorption and colloidfacilitated transport through the unsaturated zone. J Environ Qual 29:1632–1641

- Spurlock FC, Biggar JW (1990) Effect of naturally occurring soluble organic matter on the adsorption and movement of simazine [2-chloro-4,6-bis(ethylamino)-s-triazine] in Hanford sandy loam. Environ Sci Technol 24:736–741
- Spurlock FC, Huang K, van Genuchten MT (1995) Isotherm nonlinearity sorption effects on transport of fenuron and monuron in soil columns. Environ Sci Technol 29:1000–1007
- Srivastava A, Agarwal V, Srivastava PC, Guru SK, Singh G (2006) Leaching of sulfosulfuron from two textually different soils under saturated moisture regime. J Food Agric Environ 4:287–290
- Starrett SK, Christians NE, Al-Austin T (1996) Movement of pesticides under two irrigation regimes applied to turfgrass. J Environ Qual 25:566–571
- Steenhuis TS, Staubitz W, Andreini MS, Surface J, Richard TL, Paulsen R, Pickering NB, Hagerman JR, Geohring LD (1990) Preferential movement of pesticides and tracers in agricultural soils. J Irrig Drain Engineer 116:50–66
- Stehouwer RC, Dick WA, Traina SJ (1993) Characteristics of earthworm burrow lining affecting atrazine sorption. J Environ Qual 22:181–185
- Stehouwer RC, Dick WA, Traina SJ (1994) Sorption and retention of herbicides in vertically oriented earthworm and artificial burrows. J Environ Qual 23:286–292
- Stenrød M, Charnay MP, Benoit P, Eklo OM (2006) Spatial variability of glyphosate mineralization and soil microbial characterization in two Norwegian sandy loam soils as affected by the surface topological features. Soil Biol Biochem 38:962–971
- Stockmaier M, Kreuzig R, Bahadir M (1996) Investigations on the behavior of fenpropimorph and its metabolite fenpropimorphic acid in soils. Pestic Sci 46:361–367
- Stone DM, Harris AR, Koskinen WC (1993) Leaching of soil-active herbicides in acid, low base saturated sands: Worst-case conditions. Environ Toxicol Chem 12:399–404
- Strömqvist J, Jarvis N (2005) Sorption, degradation and leaching of the fungicide iprodione in a golf green under Scandinavian conditions: measurements, modeling and risk assessments. Pestic Manag Sci 61:1168–1178
- Sundaram KMS (1997) Mobility and metabolic fate of mexacarbate in soil columns containing sandy and clay loam forest soils. J Environ Sci Health 32B:147–175
- Suárez F, Bachmann J, Muñoz JF, Oritz C, Tyler SW, Alister C, Kogan M (2007) Transport of simazine in unsaturated sandy soil and prediction of its leaching under hypothetical field conditions. J Contam Hydrol 94:166–177
- Suzuki S (2000) Leaching of several pesticides in andosol upland field under natural rain conditions. J Pestic Sci 25:1–9
- Suzuki T, Kondo H, Yaguchi K, Maki T, Suga T (1998) Estimation of leachability and persistence of pesticides as golf courses from point-source monitoring and model to predict pesticide leaching to groundwater. Environ Sci Technol 32:920–929
- Swoboda AR, Thomas GW (1968) Movement of parathion in soil columns. J Agric Food Chem 16:923–927
- Taboada ER, Dekker A, van Kammen-Polman A, Smelt JH, Boesten JJTI, Leistra M (1994) Adsorption, degradation and leaching of pirimicarb in orchard soils. Sci Total Environ 153:253–260
- Takamatsu T, Koshikawa MK, Watanabe M, Hou H, Murata T (2007) Design of a meso-scale indoor lysimeter for undisturbed soil to investigate the behaviour of solutes in soil. Eur J Soil Sci 58:329–334
- Takimoto Y, Hirota M, Inui H, Miyamoto J (1976) Decomposition and leaching of radioactive Sumithion in 4 different soils under laboratory conditions. J Pestic Sci 1:131–143
- Tames RS, Hance RJ (1969) The adsorption of herbicides by roots. Plant Soil 30:221-226
- Tan S, Singh M (1995) Effects of cationic surfactants on leaching of bromacil and norflurazon. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 55:359–365
- Thevenot M, Dousset S, Rousseaux S, Andreux F (2008) Influence of organic amendments on diuron leaching through an acidic and a calcareous vineyard soil using undisturbed lysimeters. Environ Pollut 153:148–156
- Thevenot M, Dousset S, Hertkorn N, Schmitt-Kopplin P, Andreux F (2009) Interactions of diuron with dissolved organic matter from organic amendments. Sci Total Environ 407:4297–4302

- Tiktak A, Boesten JJTI, van der Linden AMA, Vanclooster M (2006) Mapping ground water vulnerability to pesticide leaching with a process-based metamodel of EuroPEARL. J Environ Qual 35:1213–1216
- Tindall JA, Vencill WK (1995) Transport of atrazine, 2,4-D and dicamba through preferential flowpaths in an undisturbed claypan soil near Centrolia, Missouri. J Hydrol 166:37–59
- Tingle CH, Shaw DR, Gerard PD (1999) Flumetsulam mobility in two Mississippi soils as influenced by irrigation timing. Weed Sci 47:349–352
- Topp E, Smith WN, Reynolds WD, Khan SU (1994) Atrazine and metolachlor dissipation in soils incubated in undisturbed cores, repacked cores and flasks. J Environ Qual 23:693–700
- Traub-Eberhard U, Kördel W, Klein W (1994) Pesticide movement into subsurface drains on a loamy silt soil. Chemosphere 28:273–284
- Tsegaye T, Johnson A, Mersier W, Dennis S, Golson K (2007) Transport of atrazine through soil columns with or without switchgrass roots. J Food Agric Environ 5:345–350
- Undabeytia T, Sanchez-Verdejo T, Morillo E, Maqueda C (2004) Effect of organic amendments on the retention and mobility of imazaquin in soils. J Agric Food Chem 52:4493–4500
- USEPA (2008a) Fate, transport and transformation test guidelines. Leaching studies. OPPTS 835.1240, EPA 712-c-08-010. US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington DC, p 14
- USEPA (2008b) Guidance for prospective ground-water monitoring studies. Environmental fate and effects division, Office of pesticide programs. USEPA, Washington DC, p 87
- USEPA (2008c) Fate, transport and transformation test guidelines. Terrestrial field dissipation. OPPTS 835.6100, EPA 712-c-08-020. US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington DC, p 50
- USEPA (2011) Pesticides, Science and Policy, Aquatic models. http://www.epa.gov/pesticides/ science/models_pg.htm#aquatic. US EPA, Washington, DC, last updated on May 9, 2012
- Beinum V, Beulke S, Brwon CD (2005) Pesticide sorption and diffusion in natural clay loam aggregates. J Agric Food Chem 53:9146–9154
- Van Beinum W, Beulke S, Fryer C, Brown C (2006) Lysimeter experiment to investigate the potential influence of diffusion-limited sorption on pesticide availability for leaching. J Agric Food Chem 54:9152–9159
- Van der Linden AMA, Tiktak A, Boesten JJTI, Leijnse A (2009) Influence of pH-dependent sorption and transformation on simulated pesticide leaching. Sci Total Environ 407:3415–3420
- Van Genuchten MT, Wagenet RJ (1989) Two-site/two-region models for pesticide transport and degradation: Theoretical development and analytical solutions. Soil Sci Soc Am J 53: 1303–1310
- Van Leemput L, Swysen E, Meuldermans W, Heykants J (1986) On the leaching of imazalil and its transformation products in soil. Med Fac Landbouww Rijksuniv Gent 51/2a: 245–257
- Vanderborght J, G\u00e4hwiller P, Fl\u00fchler H (2002) Identification of transport processes in soil cores using fluorescence tracers. Soil Sci Soc Am J 66:774–787
- Veeh RH, Inskeep WP, Roe FL, Ferguson AH (1994) Transport of chlorsulfuron through soil columns. J Environ Qual 23:542–549
- Villaverde J, van Beinum W, Beulke S, Brown CD (2009) The kinetics of sorption by retarded diffusion into soil aggregate pores. Environ Sci Technol 43:8227–8232
- Villholth KG, Jarvis NJ, Jacobsen OH, de Jonge H (2000) Field investigation and modeling of particle-facilitated pesticide transport in macroporous soil. J Environ Qual 29:1298–1309
- Vincent A, Benoit P, Pot V, Madrigal I, Delgado-Moreno L, Labat C (2007) Impact of different land uses on the migration of two herbicides in a silt loam soil: unsaturated soil column displacement studies. Eur J Soil Sci 58:320–328
- Vink JPM, Gottesbüren B, Diekkrüger B, van der Zee SEATM (1997) Simulation and model comparison of unsaturated movement of pesticides from a large clay lysimeter. Ecol Modelling 105:113–127
- Vinten AJA, Yaron B, Nye PH (1983) Vertical transport of pesticides into soil when adsorbed on suspended particles. J Agric Food Chem 31:662–664
- Vinther FP, Eiland F, Lind AM, Elsgaard L (1999) Microbial biomass and numbers of detrifiers related to macropore channels in agricultural and forest soils. Soil Biol Biochem 31:603–611

- Vinther FP, Brinch UC, Elsgaard L, Fredslund L, Iversen V, Top S, Jacobsen CS (2008) Field-scale variation in microbial activity and soil properties in relation to mineralization and sorption of pesticides in a sandy soil. J Environ Qual 37:1710–1718
- Vischetti C, Businelli M (1992) Evaluation of a simulation model for prediction of chlorsulfuron fate in an Umbrian soil. Sci Total Environ 123(124):561–569
- Vischetti C, Marucchini C, Leita L, Ceccon P, Giovanardi R (1997) Soil behavior of metanitron in laboratory and lysimeter studies. Agronomie 17:367–373
- Vischetti C, Marucchini C, Leita L, Cantone P, Danuso F, Giovanardi R (2002) Behavior of two sunflower herbicides (metbromuron, aclonifen) in soil. Eur J Agronomy 16:231–238
- Walker A (1974) A simulation model for prediction of herbicide persistence. J Environ Qual 3:396–401
- Walker A, Welch SJ (1989) The relative movement and persistence in soil of chlorsulfuron, metsulfuron-methyl and triasulfuron. Weed Res 29:375–383
- Walker A, Cotterill EG, Welch SJ (1989) Adsorption and degradation of chlorsulfuron and metsulfuron-methyl in soils from different depths. Weed Res 29:281–287
- Walker A, Rodriguez-Cruz MS, Mitchell MJ (2005) Influence of ageing of residues on the availability of herbicides for leaching. Environ Pollut 133:43–51
- Walker A, Welch SJ, Melacini A, Moon YH (1996) Evaluation of three pesticide leaching models with experimental data for alachlor, atrazine and metribuzin. Weed Res 36:37–47
- Walker A, Turner IJ, Cullington JE, Welch SJ (1999) Aspects of the adsorption and degradation of isoproturon in a heavy clay soil. Soil Use Manag 15:9–13
- Walker A, Jurado-Exposito M, Bending GD, Smith VJR (2001) Spatial variability in the degradation rate of isoproturon in soil. Environ Pollut 111:407–415
- Wang YS, Chen SW, Yen JH, Chen YL (1994) Dissipation and movement of acaricide chlorobenzilate in the environment. Ecotox Environ Safety 28:193–200
- Wauchope RD, Yeh S, Linders JBHJ, Kloskowski R, Tanaka K, Rubin B, Katayama A, Kördel W, Gerstl Z, Lane M, Unsworth JB (2002) Review: Pesticide soil sorption parameters: theory, measurement, uses, limitations and reliability. Pestic Manag Sci 58:419–445
- Weber JB, Peeper TF (1982) Mobility and distribution of buthidazole and metabolites in four leached soils. Weed Sci 30:585–588
- Weber JB, Whitacre DM (1982) Mobility of herbicides in soil columns under saturated- and unsaturated-flow conditions. Weed Sci 30:579–584
- Weber JB, Strek HJ, Sartori JL (1993) Mobility of fomesafen and atrazine in soil columns under saturated- and unsaturated-flow conditions. Pestic Sci 39:39–46
- Weber JB, Jane McKinnon E, Swain LR (2003) Sorption and mobility of ¹⁴C-labeled imazaquin and metolachlor in four soils as influenced by soil properties. J Agric Food Chem 51:5752–5759
- Weber JB, Taylor KA, Wilkerson GG (2006) Soil and herbicide properties influenced mobility of atrazine, metolachlor, and primisulfuron-methyl in field lysimeters. Agron J 98:8–18
- Weber JB, Swain LR, Strek HJ, Sartori JL (1986) Herbicide mobility in soil leaching columns. In: Camper ND (ed) Research methods in weed science. Southern Weed Science Society, chap IX, pp 189–200
- Weber JB, Warren RL, Swain LR, Yelverton FH (2007) Physicochemical property effects of three herbicides and three soils on herbicide mobility in field lysimeters. Crop Protect 26:299–311
- Wells DA, Waldman E, Behl E (1995) Groundwater monitoring studies for agrochemicals: Directions and guidelines. In: Leng ML, Leovey EMK, Zubkoff PL (eds) Agrochemical environmental fate, state of the art. CRC, Boca Raton, chap 25, pp 263–272
- White RE (1985) The influence of macropores on the transport of dissolved and suspended matter through soil. Adv Soil Sci 3:95–120
- Wietersen RC, Daniel TC, Fermanich KJ, Girard BD, Mc Sweeney K, Lowery B (1993) Atrazine, alachlor and metolachlor mobility through two sandy Wisconsin soils. J Environ Qual 22:811–818
- Williams CF, Letey J, Farmer WJ (2002) Molecular weight of dissolved organic matter-napropamide complex transported through soil column. J Environ Qual 31:619–627

- Williams CF, Letey J, Farmer WJ (2006) Estimating the potential for facilitated transport of napropamide by dissolved organic matter. Soil Sci Soc Am J 70:24–30
- Williams CF, Agassi M, Letey J, Farmer WJ, Nelson SD, Ben-Hur M (2000) Facilitated transport of napropamide by dissolved organic matter through soil columns. Soil Sci Soc Am J 64:590–594
- Wilson GV, Yunsheng L, Selim HM, Essington ME, Tyler DD (1998) Tillage and cover crop effects on saturated and unsaturated transport of fluometuron. Soil Sci Soc Am J 62:46–55
- Wolt JD, Nelson HP Jr, Cleveland CB, van Wesenbeeck IJ (2001) Biodegradation kinetics for pesticide exposure assessment. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 169:123–164
- Wolters A, Linnemann V, Herbst M, Klein M, Schäffer A, Vereecken H (2003) Pesticide volatilization from soil: lysimeter measurements versus predictions of European registration models. J Environ Qual 32:1183–1193
- Wood AL, Bouchard DC, Brusseau ML, Rao PSC (1990) Cosolvent effects on sorption and mobility of organic contaminants in soils. Chemosphere 21:575–587
- Wood LS, Scott HD, Marx DB, Lavy TL (1987) Variability in sorption coefficients of metolachlor on a Captina silt loam. J Environ Qual 16:251–256
- Worrall F, Parker A, Rae JE, Johnson AC (1999) A study of suspended and colloidal matter in the leachate from lysimeters and its role in pesticide transport. J Environ Qual 28:595–604
- Worrall F, Fernandez-Perez M, Johnson AC, Flores-Cesperedes F, Gonzalez-Pradas E (2001) Limitations on the role of incorporated organic matter in reducing pesticide leaching. J Contam Hydrol 49:241–262
- Wu CH, Santelmann PW (1975) Comparison of different soil leaching technique. Weed Sci 23:508–511
- Wu L, Green RL, Liu G, Yates MV, Pacheco P, Gan J, Yates SR (2002a) Partitioning and persistence of trichlorfon and chlorpyrifos in a creeping bentgrass putting green. J Environ Qual 31:889–895
- Wu L, Liu G, Yates MV, Green RL, Pacheco P, Gan J, Yates SR (2002b) Environmental fate of metalaxyl and chlorothalonil applied to a bentgrass putting green under southern California climate conditions. Pestic Manag Sci 58:335–342
- Xu F, Liang XM, Lin B, Su F, Zhong H, Schramm KW, Kettrup A (1999) Soil leaching column chromatographic technique for estimation of leaching behavior of atrazine, deethylatrazine, deisopropylatrazine and hydroxyatrazine on soil. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 63:87–93
- Yen JH, Hsiao FL, Wang YS (1997) Assessment of the insecticide carbofuran's potential to contaminate groundwater through soils in the subtropics. Ecotox Environ Safety 38:260–265
- Yen JH, Lin KH, Wang YS (2000) Potential of the insecticide acephate and methamidophos to contaminate groundwater. Ecotox Environ safety 45:79–86
- Yen JH, Sheu WS, Wang YS (2003) Dissipation of the herbicide oxyfluorfen in subtropical soils and its potential to contaminate groundwater. Ecotox Environ safety 54:151–156
- Yen JH, Tsai PW, Chen WC, Wang YS (2008) Fate of anilide and aniline herbicides in plantmaterials-amended soils. J Environ Sci Health 43B:382–389
- Yon DA (1992) The Letcombe lysimeter station. In: Führ F, Hance RJ (eds) Lysimeter studies of pesticides in the soil. BCPC Monograph No. 53, The Lavenham: Lavenham, Suffolk, pp 65–71
- Zhou Y, Wang Y, Hunkeler D, Zwahlen F, Boillat J (2010) Differential transport of atrazine and glyphosate in undisturbed sandy soil column. Soil Sed Contam 19:365–377
- Zins AB, Wyse DL, Koskinen WC (1991) Effect of alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) roots on movement of atrazine and alachlor through soil. Weed Sci 39:262–269

Behavior and Impact of Zirconium in the Soil–Plant System: Plant Uptake and Phytotoxicity

Muhammad Shahid, Emmanuel Ferrand, Eva Schreck, and Camille Dumat

Contents

| 1 | Introduction | 108 |
|----|--|-----|
| 2 | Zr Minerals, Isotopes, and Sources | 108 |
| 3 | Retention, Mobility, and Bioavailability of Zr in Soils | 110 |
| 4 | Zr Speciation | 113 |
| 5 | Plant Uptake of Zr from Soil and Translocation to Aerial Parts | 114 |
| 6 | Zr Toxicity to Plants | 116 |
| 7 | Conclusions and Perspectives | 118 |
| 8 | Summary | 118 |
| Re | ferences | 119 |

M. Shahid (\boxtimes)

Université de Toulouse, INP-ENSAT,

Avenue de l'Agrobiopôle, Castanet-Tolosan, Toulouse 31326, France

EcoLab (Laboratoire Ecologie Fonctionnelle et Environnement), UMR 5245 CNRS-INP-UPS, Avenue de l'Agrobiopôle, BP 32607, Castanet-Tolosan, Toulouse 31326, France

Department of Environmental Sciences, COMSATS Institute of Information Technology, Vehari 61100, Pakistan e-mail: shahidzeeshan@gmail.com

E. Ferrand

Laboratoire d'Etude Radioécologique en milieux Continental et Marin, Service d'Etude et de Surveillance de la Radioactivité de l'Environnement, IRSN, Institut de Radioprotection et de Sûreté Nucléaire, Direction de l'Environnement et de l'Intervention, Cadarache, BP 3, Saint Paul Lez Durance, Gardanne 13115, France

E. Schreck • C. Dumat Université de Toulouse, INP-ENSAT, Avenue de l'Agrobiopôle, Castanet-Tolosan, Toulouse 31326, France

EcoLab (Laboratoire Ecologie Fonctionnelle et Environnement), UMR 5245 CNRS-INP-UPS, Avenue de l'Agrobiopôle, BP 32607, Castanet-Tolosan, Toulouse 31326, France

107

1 Introduction

Because of the large number of sites they pollute, toxic metals that contaminate terrestrial ecosystems are increasingly of environmental and sanitary concern (Uzu et al. 2010, 2011; Shahid et al. 2011a, b, 2012a). Among such metals is zirconium (Zr), which has the atomic number 40 and is a transition metal that resembles titanium in physical and chemical properties (Zaccone et al. 2008). Zr is widely used in many chemical industry processes and in nuclear reactors (Sandoval et al. 2011; Kamal et al. 2011), owing to its useful properties like hardness, corrosion-resistance and permeable to neutrons (Mushtaq 2012). Hence, the recent increased use of Zr by industry, and the occurrence of the Chernobyl and Fukashima catastrophe have enhanced environmental levels in soil and waters (Yirchenko and Agapkina 1993; Mosulishvili et al. 1994; Kruglov et al. 1996).

Zr is the twentieth most common element in the earth's crust (Fodor et al. 2005). Zr is generally considered to be immobile in soil (Muhs et al. 2007, 2010; Muhs and Budahn 2009; Aznar et al. 2009; Feng 2010, 2011; Little and Lee 2010; Hao et al. 2010; Bern et al. 2011), because it has low water solubility and a strong tendency to polymerize (Clearfield 1964). Moreover, Zr forms strong complexes with soil components, via zirconium dioxide and zirconocene dichloride, among others. The rate of adsorption/desorption of Zr to soil depends on its speciation and the characteristics of the soil involved. This element can be mobile in soil under a wide range of geological settings such as tropical weathering (Duvallet et al. 1999; Kurtz et al. 2000; Hodson 2002; Davydov et al. 2006).

Soil–plant transfer is an important link in the chain of events that leads to radionuclide entry into the human food chain. However, few studies have been performed on Zr transfer to plants (Shi and Guo 2002). Such soil–plant transfer may be influenced by both the characteristics of the plants (species, variety, maturity, etc.) and soils involved. Generally, plants absorb elements as ions or small complexes (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias 1992) in the soil solution.

Compared to other fission products (e.g., Sr, Cs, and Co), few data exist on the environmental behavior and fate of Zr (Couture et al. 1989; Garnham et al. 1993). Our goal in this review is to describe the following aspects of Zr: (1) isotopes and sources; (2) retention, mobility, and bioavailability in soils; (3) speciation in soil; (4) plant uptake and translocation to aerial parts; and finally (5) phytotoxicity.

2 Zr Minerals, Isotopes, and Sources

Relative to other inorganic trace elements, Zr has a high natural abundance in the earth's crust (Jones 1998; Martínez Cortizas et al. 2003; Chow et al. 2003; Alleman et al. 2010; Kumpiene et al. 2011). The natural level of Zr in soils varies from 32 to 850 mg/kg (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias 1992; Fodor et al. 2005). Bowen (1979) gave 400 mg/kg as an average Zr soil concentration, and Pais and Jones (1983)

reported a value of 250 mg/kg. In soil, Zr is more than twice as abundant as copper and zinc and has ten times the abundance of lead. Its geochemistry is dominated by its lithophilic nature: Zr occurs in more than 140 recognized mineral species, but zircon (ZrSiO₄) and baddeleyite (ZrO₂) are the main naturally observed compounds (Ryzhenko et al. 2008). The order of Zr content in various types of rock is ultrabasic rocks < granite rocks < alkaline rocks (Kovalenko and Ryzhenko 2009). A-type granite is characterized by having high concentrations of Zr, and accessory minerals such as zircon and monazite (Jung et al. 2000; Sako et al. 2009). The highest Zr content values appear in agpaitic nepheline syenites, carbonatites, and peralkaline granites: 34 mg/kg in ultra basic rocks, 150 mg/kg in intermediate rocks, 200 mg/kg in silicic rocks, 820 mg/kg in alkaline rocks, and 1,120 mg/kg carbonatites (Ryzhenko et al. 2008). Zircon and baddeleyite are weathering resistant and form placers, which are the main commercial sources of Zr (Ryzhenko et al. 2008).

Naturally occurring Zr contains five stable isotopes (Ryzhenko et al. 2008; Caffau et al. 2010). Among these, ⁹⁰Zr is the most common form, comprising 51% of natural Zr. The other four stable isotopes and their relative abundances are ⁹¹Zr (11%), ⁹²Zr (17%), ⁹⁴Zr (17%), and ⁹⁶Zr (2.8%) (Ryzhenko et al. 2008). In addition to these stable natural isotopes of Zr, 28 artificial isotopes have been manufactured, ranging in atomic mass from 78 to 110. Among these artificial isotopes, ⁹³Zr is the longest-lived [half-life ($T_{1/2}$) of 1.53×10^6 years] and ¹¹⁰Zr is the heaviest and shortest-lived artificial isotope ($T_{1/2}$ 30 ms). ⁹³Zr decays to niobium (⁹³Nb) by emitting a beta particle of 0.02 million electron volts radiation energy. Nb, in turn, decays by isomeric transition by emitting beta and gamma particles of 0.028 and 0.0019, respectively. The Zr isotopes, with mass numbers between 88 and 104, have been characterized by high fission yields ranging from 5.8 to 6.3%.

Both geogenic and anthropogenic sources for Zr exist, the first generally being more abundant (Abollino et al. 2002; Schulin et al. 2007; Brun et al. 2008; Little and Lee 2010). The unique physical-chemical properties of Zr has enhanced its industrial use and has produced higher anthropogenic emissions to the environment from several sources: nuclear fallout, ceramic dusts, and heavy metal mining, improper waste dumping, abandoned industrial activity sites, incidental release (e.g., leakage, corrosion), and atmospheric fallout (Chow et al. 2003; Schulin et al. 2007; Little and Lee 2010; Bhuiyan et al. 2010). The Zr applications most valued by include uses that require high resistance to corrosive agents, component use in vacuum tubes, alloving agent for steel, surgical instrument applications, photoflash bulbs, explosive primers, lamp filaments and as a component of gems. The alloys of Zr are utilized as refractory materials, a cladding material for nuclear fuel elements, and a component of explosive primers, rayon spinnerets and superconductive magnets (Yau 2010). Recently, Dou et al. (2011) reported that a granular zirconium-iron oxide alloy can be used to remove fluoride from drinking water. The increased use of Zr by many industries has increased annual production from mines where it is sourced (Fig. 1; USGS 2012).

Zr has a diversity of uses. Zr is known as an ideal material for nuclear reactor applications, due to its low absorption cross-section for neutrons (Mushtaq 2012). The use of Zr in commercial nuclear power generation now accounts for as much as



Fig. 1 Annual world mine production of Zr in 000 metric t (from USGS 2012)

90% of the Zr metal that is produced. The ⁹³Zr isotope is long-lived ($T_{1/2}$ of 10⁶ years). This isotope occurs largely in radioactive wastes as a fission reaction by-product (Naudet 1974). Because of its relatively short half-life, the ⁸⁹Zr isotope ($T_{1/2}$ of 78.4 h) is a promising positron-emitting surrogate for ⁹⁰Y in radio immunotherapy (Verel et al. 2003). Zr is also used for its incendiary effect in weapons such as the BLU-97/B combined effects bomb. Moreover, Zr is detected in phosphate fertilizers and in calcium cyanamide (range 0.38–8.24 mg/kg) (Senesi et al. 1988). Traces of Zr also exist in sewage sludge (5–90 mg/kg), limestone (20 mg/kg), and animal manure (5 mg/kg) (Kabata-Pendias 1993).

Abollino et al. (2002) and Bhuiyan et al. (2010) reported that anthropogenic activities can modify the amount and nature of Zr that is present in soils and should be considered as a possible soil pollutant. Finally, the growing environmental abundance of Zr has increased researcher interest in measuring the levels at which it exists in living organisms (Ghosh et al. 1992).

3 Retention, Mobility, and Bioavailability of Zr in Soils

Metal bioavailability is defined as the fraction of total metal in soil that can be absorbed by a biological target (Shahid et al. 2012b). The degree to which a metal is bioavailable depends on its soil mobility. Opinions vary on how mobile/bioavailable Zr is in soil. Certain authors (Chadwick et al. 1990; Bain et al. 1994; Hodson 2002) believe that Zr is very slightly mobile in soils as a result of its binding to highly insoluble oxides, chloride, and silicates that are resistant to weathering (Kabata-Pendias 1993; Smith and Carson 1978; Prisyagina et al. 2008). Blumenthal (1963), in contrast, believes that zirconium oxide is almost insoluble in water, acid and alkali solutions, and organic solvents and therefore is not mobile. Indeed, the mobility

and/or bioavailability of Zr depend on its chemical form. Certain chemical forms of Zr (e.g., zirconium carbide and zirconium oxychloride) are slightly soluble, whereas others are insoluble in water (zirconium oxide, zirconium hydroxide, and zirconium phosphate) (Venable 1922).

Zr has a fixed crystalline structure in many of the minerals in which it appears (Horvath et al. 2000). This structure of Zr changes very slowly over time from the effects of weathering. The more Zr minerals are weathered the more they change. Hence, one can use the degree of weathering of Zr-containing minerals that appear in soil to track the geologic age of some minerals. Therefore, Zr is used as a tool to estimate long-term weathering rate for rocks that exist in soils (Hill et al. 2002; Egli and Fitze 2001; Patino et al. 2003; Zaccone et al. 2008).

The total quantity of an immobile element in a given soil horizon is not unaffected by the weathering processes (Hodson 2002), although the element's concentration may change from loss or addition of other elements or from the addition of organic matter. Goldich (1938) and Pettijohn (1941) investigated the durability of Zr in weathered rock and found that zircon was the most persistent mineral in a wide range of igneous, metamorphic and sedimentary rocks. Tejan-Kella et al. (1991) recorded etch-pitted zircon grains only in soils that were 100,000 years old. The chemical composition of zircon mineral is used to elaborate many magmatic processes, including the interaction with hydrothermal fluids (Thomas et al. 2002; Hoskin 2005), crystal fractionation (Pettke et al. 2005; Lowery Claiborne et al. 2006), and/or magma mixing (Wang et al. 2002; Belousova et al. 2006), as well as being a potential source indicator (Aja et al. 1995; Belousova et al. 2002; Gagnevin et al. 2009).

Zr is highly resistant to acidic weathering and is widely used to predict the structure of parent rocks (Valeton et al. 1987; Kurtz et al. 2000; Panahi et al. 2000; Calagari and Abedini 2007). The ratio of Zr to other metals like Hf or Ti is highly useful to determine the crystallization sequences of rocks (Zaraisky et al. 2009). Therefore, Zr/Hf and Ti/Zr concentration ratios are employed to trace possible precursor rock(s) that exist in ores (Kurtz et al. 2000; Zaraisky et al. 2008, 2009; Hao et al. 2010; Bern et al. 2011). The ratios of immobile elements (e.g., Ti/Zr) in bauxite are similar to those of the parent rock (Valeton et al. 1987) and can be used to determine source rocks (Calagari and Abedini 2007). The concentration ratios of other element combinations have been successfully used to infer the derivation of soils (Sommer et al. 2000).

In contrast to the opinion of other researchers mentioned above, Whitfield (2011) and Bern et al. (2011) concluded that Zr was mobile in soils. The mobility of Zr relative to Nd in commercial reactors was also reported by Maeck et al. (1975). Hill et al. (2002) and Kurtz et al. (2000) have shown that immobile elements like Zr (or Y and Th) are redistributed within the weathered soil profile. This redistribution may result from physical, chemical, and biological processes that operate on the earth's surface (Anderson et al. 2002; Che et al. 2012). Petrographic evidence (Rubin et al. 1993; Flohr and Ross 1990) suggests that Zr may be mobile in soil under a wide range of geological settings (Hao et al. 2010; Malandrino et al. 2011; Ribeiroa et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2010).

In addition to origin (whether natural or anthropogenic), several other factors influence the mobility of Zr in soils, such as soil characteristics, interactions with organic matter, and climate (Ferrand et al. 2006; Davydov et al. 2006). These factors, separately or in combination, affect the bioavailability of Zr, particularly when adsorption/desorption processes are involved (Klechkovsky and Gulyakin 1958; Schulin et al. 2007).

The effects of pH greatly influences metal partitioning between the soil solid and solution phases (Peng et al. 2009; Shahid et al. 2011b). Soil pH affects adsorption/ desorption reactions, speciation, and mobility of heavy metals in soils (Davydov et al. 2006; Wu and Hendershot 2010; Zou et al. 2009; Bali et al. 2010; Shahid et al. 2011c). In strongly acidic solutions, the polynuclear hydrolysis species are formed and control Zr solubility and mobility in solution. Under less acidic conditions, mononuclear hydrolysis species are more predominate. Under alkaline solutions, solubility increases form the formation of the zirconate ion.

Soil texture also influences the behavior of Zr. Metals generally have a strong affinity for the soil-clay fraction (Owojori et al. 2010), and that fine soil fraction is often pollutant enriched. In contrast, Zr is mainly present as zircon grains in the coarse fractions of soils (Stiles et al. 2003; Caspari et al. 2006). However, Zr sorption onto the solid surfaces of soil may influence its mobility and bioavailability (Klechkovsky and Gulyakin 1958; Udovic and Lestan 2009; Rascio and Navari-Izzo 2011). Competing ions (viz., H, Ca, Mg, Na, Fe, and K) affect these adsorption reactions.

Soil organic matter (SOM) also plays a key role in governing the mobility/ bioavailability of metals in soil (Dessureault-Rompré et al. 2010). Soil organic content affects the mobilization of Zr, because this element may be adsorbed by it, or may form stable complexes with it (Ferrand et al. 2006). Such interactions may result from the interaction of metal ions with the acidic binding sites on carboxylic and phenolic hydroxyl groups of SOM (Oliva et al. 1999; Viers et al. 2000; Pokrovsky and Schott 2002). Oliva et al. (1999) and Viers et al. (2000) recorded relatively high Zr concentrations (0.01–0.6 g/kg) in organic-rich soils (10–35 μ g/g dissolved organic carbon). Oliva et al. (1999) measured high Zr concentrations in a small tropical watershed in South Cameroon and believed that they were the result of zircon weathering that was enhanced by organic matter. LeRiche (1973) detected Zr in hydrogen peroxide extracts of soils, which indicated that Zr may be associated with the organic matter fraction of soils. SOM also indirectly affects metal mobility in soil via its effects on soil properties (i.e., pH, cation exchange capacity, particle size distribution, cracking pattern and porosity, soil solution composition, microbial and enzyme activities) (Shahid et al. 2012b).

The extent of Zr mobility also varies according to climatic conditions. Under temperate and tropical weathering conditions, biotite is decomposed and zircon is released into the soil column, and it is subsequently redeposited in deep horizons (Swindale and Jackson 1956; Cornu et al. 1999). Under low rainfall, Zr may precipitate or coprecipitate with Fe oxides and become immobilized. In contrast, Zr may become mobile under more severe weathering conditions and the presence of high organic matter content (Dupré et al. 1996; Hodson 2002; Braun et al. 2005).

In soils exposed to intensive chemical weathering, topsoil generally contains higher amounts of Zr as zircon minerals, compared to deeper horizons (Hodson 2002; Stiles et al. 2003). Abollino et al. (2002) reported higher concentrations of Zr in chemically weathered surface than in deep soil samples. Hence, there is a notion that the mobility of Zr is site-specific.

4 Zr Speciation

The biogeochemical behavior of an inorganic element in an ecosystem, and its potential effects on plants, are strongly influenced by its speciation (Stojilovic et al. 2005; Fodor et al. 2005; Davydov et al. 2006; Dumat et al. 2006; Ryzhenko et al. 2008; Prisyagina et al. 2008; Kopittke et al. 2008; Louvel et al. 2009; Uzu et al. 2009; Shahid et al. 2012b, c). Speciation is the existence of a metal in different chemical forms as a result of being exposed to different environmental conditions (Dumat et al. 2006; Louvel et al. 2009; Shahid et al. 2011c). As mentioned, Zr speciation strongly depends on soil pH and SOM interactions. Zr exists in several forms in the soil and in liquid media, and these forms have different levels of solubility and bioavailability (Fodor et al. 2005; Davydov et al. 2006; Ryzhenko et al. 2008; Prisyagina et al. 2008; Louvel et al. 2009). Different Zr species affect the solubility, mobility, and uptake of Zr by plants (Davydov et al. 2006; Ferrand et al. 2006; Ryzhenko et al. 2008). Therefore, although it is relatively easier to measure, one cannot rely on the total Zr content in a plant as an indicator of uptake and toxicity (Shahid et al. 2012b). Therefore, to improve the understanding of risk and what constitutes realistic remediation depends heavily upon measuring the relevant species of Zr that exists in soil as well as those taken into plants.

Zr presents different oxidation states (varies from +2 to +4), +4 being the form of the predominant stable valence; bonding with oxygen is the prevailing and most common reaction for Zr (Kabata-Pendias 1993). The Zr crustal abundance ranges from 20 to 500 mg/kg, and its aqueous chemistry is dominated by the quadrivalent oxidation state (valence electron configuration 4d2 5s') (Ryzhenko et al. 2008). The lower oxidation states of Zr (0, I, II, and III) occur only in nonaqueous solvents and fused salts (Cotton and Wilkinson 1980). Due to high ionic potential (22.54 e²/Å), Zr is the most polarizing among the heavier transition and post-transition quadrivalent cations. The extent of hydrolysis and polymer stoichiometry depends on the nature of the ionic media (Davydov et al. 2006), with tetramer and trimer forms being the most common stoichiometry. Moreover, hydrolysis and polymerization reactions dominate in the presence of high field strength cations that are capable of rupturing H–O bonds. Similarly, hydrolysis and polymerization is promoted in alkaline solutions and with increasing temperatures.

How Zr reacts in aqueous media (soil solution) is still the subject of controversy. The zirconium oxide and hydroxide have low solubility and precipitate at low pH. This is because Zr hydrolyses and precipitates as polynuclear species in strongly acidic solutions (pH<1) (Baes and Mesmer 1986; Ekberg et al. 2004). Davydov

et al. (2006) and Ryzhenko et al. (2008) evaluated the hydrolysis and precipitation of Zr as a function of pHs between 0 and 14 and generally show that Zr precipitation reactions occur at low pH (about 2) (Ryzhenko et al. 2008; Prisyagina et al. 2008). In the pH range 0.6–2.3, potentiometric measurements indicated the presence of both the mononuclear form $[Zr(OH)_3]^+$ (at a low Zr concentration) and the polymeric species $[Zr_4(OH)_8]^{8+}$ and $[Zr_2(OH)_6]^{2+}$. This latter polymeric species predominated at low total Zr concentrations (10⁻⁵ M). At higher pH, solvent extraction measurements indicated the presence of three mononuclear species: $[Zr(OH)_2]^{2+}$, $[Zr(OH)_3]^+$, $Zr(OH)_4$ (Davydov et al. 2006; Ryzhenko et al. 2008). Under tetravalent oxidation conditions, Zr acts as a hard acid: electrostatic, rather than covalent forces dominate its complexation with inorganic ligands in the following order of decreasing stability: $OH^- > F^- PO_4^{-2} > CIO_4^{-2} > CO_2^{-2} > NO_3^- > CI^- > CIO_4^{--}$. Complexation reactions involving OH⁻ and F⁻ ions have received the most attention, and speciation studies have generally been conducted in perchlorate media.

5 Plant Uptake of Zr from Soil and Translocation to Aerial Parts

Soil–plant transfer is an important link in the chain of events that leads to the entry of metals into the food chain. Unfortunately, little data are available concerning the transfer of Zr to plants (Wang et al. 2000; Shi et al. 2002). Zr is less soluble than other metals (e.g., Pb and Cd) and tends to exist as an insoluble particulate. Consequently, only a small fraction of zirconium is available for plant uptake (Ferrand et al. 2006; Uzu et al. 2009; Hao et al. 2010; Muhs et al. 2010; Feng 2011; Bern et al. 2010; Vega et al. 2010; Shahid et al. 2012b). By contrast, Sako et al. (2009) stated that the least mobile elements (e.g., Zr, Ti, Sc, Al, and Th) have a low residence time in the soil solution. However, Tematio et al. (2009) concluded that Zr is more strongly available in the B soil horizons.

Unlike other heavy metals (e.g., Pb, Cd, and Ni), the way Zr enters plants is not well understood. The main pathway by which Zr is taken up by plants is soil–root transfer (Ferrand et al. 2006). Zr is mainly taken up as the tetravalent cation in soil solution (Whicker and Schultz 1982). Zr adsorption on root surfaces (Chaignon and Hinsinger 2003) is a minor phenomenon and such absorption is mainly driven by nonselective water and nutrient fluxes (Ferrand et al. 2006). Zr may enter roots passively and follow translocating water streams. At the molecular level, the mechanism by which Zr enters roots is still unknown. Zr can enter the plant roots via different pathways, especially through ionic channels as does Pb. Entry into plants by Zr may depend on the functioning of an H⁺/ATPase pump to maintain a strong negative membrane potential in rhizoderm cells (Hirsch et al. 1998). Some authors suggested that kinetic-dependant absorption of the metal occurs; the initial phase representing rapid entry into root-free space and binding to the cell walls, and the subsequent slower phase resulting from transport across the plasma membrane into the cytoplasm (Maria and Cogliatti 1988).

The rate of Zr entry into plant roots significantly depends on its chemical form in the soil solution. Ferrand et al. (2006) observed higher Zr concentrations in the roots of Pisum sativum and in tomato plants for the acetate and oxychloride forms than the hydroxide or oxide forms. Shi and Guo (2002) studied the absorption of Zr by Brassica rapa that was cultivated on a loamy soil. They observed that when Zr was applied by soil surface irrigation, ⁹⁵Zr was distributed equally between root and shoot. However, when Zr was applied as spray on plant leaves, Zr concentration was greater in roots than shoot. Zirconium ascorbate has been reported by Fodor et al. (2003) to be accumulated from nutrient solution at a significant rate by Chlorella pyrenoidosa cells (Simon et al. 1998). This phenomenon may have practical importance in removing Zr from contaminated aquatic environments. Interactions between organic ligands and metals in natural media have been extensively studied because of their affect on metal availability (Ferrand et al. 2006; Quenea et al. 2009; Yip et al. 2010). Synthetic or natural organic ligands have been extensively used to enhance plant uptake of metals in remediation studies (Evangelou et al. 2007; Saifullah et al. 2009, 2010; Yip et al. 2010; Shahid et al. 2012b). In addition to organic ligands, plant root exudates, which generally include acetic, oxalic, fumaric, citric, and tartaric acids, also affect Zr solubility in soil and its uptake by plants (Hinsinger et al. 2009, 2011). Langmuir and Herman (1980) showed that for thorium (a chemical analogue of Zr), oxide solubility and availability were increased by organic ligand addition.

The penetration of an element into a plant can be assessed by assessing the transfer factor (TF) from soil to plant (TF is generally defined as the ratio between the concentration in plants and the soil) (Arshad et al. 2008; Bi et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2010). This TF depends on soil physical and chemical properties and plant type (Arshad et al. 2008; Bi et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2010). The TF value permits researchers to integrate information on the initial total stock of Zr, and therefore to better compare Zr availability under various experimental conditions (Ferrand et al. 2006). A TF value equal to 0.01 corresponds to a low metal absorption rate and a TF value of 10 indicates that the plant accumulates the metal. The mean TF value obtained by Tome et al. (2003) for Zr uptake by grass-pasture grown in soils near a uranium mine was 0.09. Actually, several authors have reported that Zr accumulates in various food crop parts if the crops were grown on Zr-contaminated soil (Sanzharova and Aleksakhin 1982; Fodor et al. 2002). Sanzharova and Aleksakhin (1982) concluded that Zr was taken up by barley, corn, and alfalfa. Gundersen et al. (2000) observed that Zr was absorbed by P. sativum (between 0.425 and 5.29 µg/kg of Zr per fresh wt). In any event, plants accumulate significantly lower Zr concentrations than exists in the soil in which they grow (Smith and Carson 1978; Sanzharova and Aleksakhin 1982). Kabata-Pendias (1993) indicated that the Zr levels found in food plants vary from 0.005 to 2.6 mg/kg.

After penetrating the central plant cylinder, metals translocate to shoots via the water flow of the vascular system (Krzesłowska et al. 2010). While passing through the xylem, Zr may form complexes with amino acids such as histidine, or organic acids, as do Pb and Cd (Ferrand et al. 2006; Vadas and Ahner 2009; Maestri et al. 2010; Rascio and Navari-Izzo 2011), or may be transferred in inorganic form. Transportation of metals from the roots to the shoots requires movement through the

xylem (Verbruggen et al. 2009) and is probably driven by transpiration (Liao et al. 2006; Shahid et al. 2011b). The translocation rate of Zr in higher plants is low (Sanzharova and Aleksakhin 1982; Kabata-Pendias 1993; Ferrand et al. 2006). Like Pb, generally more that 90% or more of absorbed Zr is accumulated in plant roots (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias 1992; Wang et al. 2000; Shi et al. 2002; Klechkovsky and Gulyakin 1958; Ferrand et al. 2006; Yan et al. 2010; Gupta et al. 2010; Jiang and Liu 2010).

Restrictions in metal translocation may result from blockage by the Casparian strip, accumulation in plasma membrane, precipitation as insoluble Zr or immobilization by negatively charged exchange sites within the cell wall, or sequestration in the vacuoles of rhizodermal and cortical cells. Kabata-Pendias and Pendias (1992) reported a higher increase of Zr content in nodules and roots of legumes than in aerial parts. Wang et al. (2000) found the same result for soybean plants that were cultivated in a radio contaminated soil, even for a longer growing period (up to 60 days after sowing). Shi et al. (2002) found that Zr in Oryza sativa was concentrated in the roots and lower part of the stem. Ferrand et al. (2006) observed a several fold increase in the accumulation of Zr in root of P. sativum and Solanum lycopersicum plants, when the plants were grown in Zr-spiked soil. Enhanced sequestration in root cells, with limited translocation to shoot tissues is a typical feature of metal excluders (Baker 1981). A low Zr concentration in the edible parts of plants, even in very contaminated soils is an important result in terms of sanitary risk linked to vegetable eating. Additional studies on Zr that address movement and accumulation in numerous other plant species are needed. In particular, data are needed on the distribution of Zr in leafy or root vegetables and should emphasize the consumed parts of the vegetables.

6 Zr Toxicity to Plants

Metal toxicity depends not only on total concentration but also on metal speciation and interactions with soil components. Zr has no known biological function in plant or animal metabolism (Blumental 1976). Although effects vary with Zr dose and speciation, exposure has produced either stimulatory or toxic effects in algae, yeasts, bacteria, fish, and higher plants (Smith and Carson 1978; Couture et al. 1989; Abollino et al. 2002; Shi and Chen 2002; Shi and Li 2003; Fodor et al. 2005). Although data are scarce, it appears that the stable isotopes of Zr have low toxicity to organisms (Blumental 1976; Couture et al. 1989). Zr caused slight toxicity in young *Hordeum vulgare* by decreasing biomass (Davis et al. 1978). A significant influence of Zr–Ascorbate on intracellular chemical composition or chlorophyll content was observed to occur in various plants exposed to Zr: *C. pyrenoidosa* or *Triticum aestivum* (Simon et al. 1998; Fodor et al. 2005). Ferrand et al. (2006) reported a slight decrease in dry weight of *P. sativum* and *S. lycopersicum* plants from a high accumulation of Zr. Zr is also reported to stimulate or inhibit enzymes in plant cells. Inhibition of Zr-induced phosphate-dependent enzymes was reported by Smith and Carson (1978). Fodor et al. (2005) reported a Zr-induced increase in peroxidase (POD) activity, whereas decreased ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and glutathione reductase (GR) activities occurred in *T. aestivum*. Simon et al. (1998) reported a Zr-induced modification of enzymatic activity in *C. pyrenoidosa*. Similar results were obtained by Ti-ASC (which has similar physical and chemical activities as that of Zr) in *T. aestivum* and *Zea mays* (Pais 1983) and in *Capsicum annuum* (Carvajal et al. 1994). Furthermore, after Zr application, Fodor et al. (2005) reported a marked decrease in the total phenol content of plant tissues.

The mechanism behind Zr-induced inhibition of growth or modification in enzyme activities is not known, but may be explained in terms of the possible mechanisms responsible for these physiological changes in plants. Heavy metal accumulation in plant tissue is toxic to most plants and interferes with various morphological, physiological, and biochemical process (Shahid 2010). Inside a cell, these metals impair photosynthesis, respiration, mineral nutrition, and enzymatic reactions (Maestri et al. 2010; Ali et al. 2011). The primary response of plants to heavy metal toxicity is the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Pourrut et al. 2008; Mirza et al. 2010; Rascio and Navari-Izzo 2011; Ali et al. 2011; Xu et al. 2011). Such ROS include, superoxide radicals (O_2^{-}) , hydroxyl radicals ('OH), and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and are also produced during normal cell metabolism in the chloroplast, either as by-products of the reduction of molecular oxygen (O_2) or its excitation in the presence of highly energized pigments. Excess ROS formed within cells from heavy metal exposure can provoke oxidation and modification of cellular amino acids, proteins, membrane lipids, and DNA and produce oxidative stress (Pourrut et al. 2008; Grover et al. 2010; Yadav 2010; Qureshi et al. 2010; Rascio and Navari-Izzo 2011).

To combat oxidative damage and prevent cell injury and tissue dysfunction, plants employ protective mechanisms (Benekos et al. 2010; Xu et al. 2011). First, plants may resist metal entry into their cells by exclusion or by binding them to the cell wall or other ligands such as organic acids and amino acids, thereby rendering them harmless, as happens with Pb (Wu et al. 2011; Xu et al. 2011; Zeng et al. 2011). Preventing metal entrance into roots is the first and major protective mechanism adopted by plants against harmful metal effects (Meyers et al. 2008; Jiang and Liu 2010). Metal complexation with carboxyl groups of pectins that exist in plant cell walls is the most important plant-cell resistant reaction to most metals like lead (Patra et al. 2004; Kopittke et al. 2007; Meyers et al. 2008; Krzeslowska et al. 2009, 2010; Jiang and Liu 2010). In this manner, metals are accumulated in root cells and are not translocated to shoot tissues. Although Zr is generally not considered to be a toxic metal, its entry into plants via roots is blocked by its bonding with cell wall exchange sites (Ferrand et al. 2006). Several authors have reported that Zr accumulates in plant root cells and thereby reduces the amount translocated to shoot tissues (Kabata-Pendias 1993; Sanzharova and Aleksakhin 1982).

A secondary defense system against metal toxicity is manifested via antioxidants that combat increased production of ROS that are caused by metal exposure. These antioxidant enzymes include superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), peroxidase (POD), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), and glutathione reductase (GR). There are also antioxidants of low molecular weight such as proline (PRO), cysteine (Cys), nonprotein thiol (NPT), ascorbic acid (AsA), and glutathione (GSH) that scavenge ROS, thereby prohibiting cell injury and tissue dysfunction (Lyubenova and Schröder 2011; Mou et al. 2011; Lomonte et al. 2010; Ali et al. 2011).

7 Conclusions and Perspectives

Zr is a typical lithophile element that has special properties that render it useful for several former and present industrial and other applications. In this chapter, we address the biogeochemical behavior of Zr in soil–plant systems and its impact on the plants. The conclusions we reached from having performed this review are as follows.

- 1. Zr is abundant in the earth's crust and forms stable complexes in soil with many different compounds, particularly with inorganic ligands like Cl⁻ and SO₄²⁻. The behavior of Zr is strongly affected by its geologic origin and speciation. Low pH and complexation with soil organic matter affects zirconium behavior in soils and increases its phytoavailability. The recent growing use of Zr in different industrial processes has produced increased concentrations in different environmental compartments and in some cases has modified the speciation of Zr.
- 2. Despite its presence and retention at quite high quantities in ecosystems, Zr has not yet been accused of affecting the specific metabolic system of any organisms. Although zirconium enters plants, mainly through the roots from the soil solution, its mechanisms for doing so are still unknown. Once in the roots, Zr becomes sequestered in root cells and a limited amount is translocated to plant shoots. Depending on its speciation, Zr can induce phytotoxicity, such as affecting chlorophyll content or modifying enzyme activity. Plant antioxidant enzymes may be a protective strategy against the toxicity of Zr.
- 3. Finally, our review has disclosed that more data on the plant-soil behavior of Zr are needed. In particular, new plant species that are cultivated on different soil types that contain Zr are needed. Future studies should emphasize the mechanisms that are involved in uptake and phytotoxicity of Zr and should assess the potential health risks associated with Zr-polluted plants that are consumed by humans. These are important goals in the context of the increasing amounts of Zr emissions to the environment.

8 Summary

Zirconium (Zr) is a transition metal that has both stable and radioactive isotopes. This metal has gained significant attention as a major pollutant of concern, partly because it has been prominent in the debate concerning the growing anthropogenic pressure on the environment. Its numerous past and present uses have induced significant soil and water pollution. Zr is generally considered to have low mobility in soils. The behavior of Zr particularly depends on the characteristics of the media in which it exists, and even its presence in the biosphere as a contaminate may affect its behavior. In this chapter, we describe the relationship between the behavior of Zr and its speciation in soils, its uptake and accumulation by plants, its translocation and toxicity inside plants, and mechanisms by which plants detoxify it.

Zr is abundant and occurs naturally in the earth's crust. Zr emissions to the atmosphere are increasing from anthropogenic activities such as its use in industry and nuclear reactors. Zr forms various complexes with soil components, which reduces its soil mobility and phytoavailabilty. The mobility and phytoavailability of Zr in soil depend on its speciation and the physicochemical properties of soil that include soil pH, texture, and organic contents. Despite having low soil mobility and phytoavailability, amounts of Zr are absorbed by plants, mainly through the root system and can thereby enter the food chain.

After plant uptake, Zr mainly accumulates in root cells. Zr does not have any known essential function in plant or animal metabolism. Although little published data are available, we conclude that the phytotoxicity of Zr is generally low. Notwithstanding, Zr can significantly reduce plant growth and can affect plant enzyme activity. When exposed to Zr-induced toxicity, plants possess numerous defense mechanisms to cope with the toxicity. Such strategies include Zr sequestration in plant roots and activation of various antioxidants. Because Zr may have impact on the biosphere, we believe it deserves to be evaluated in supplementary studies that will enhance the understanding of its behavior in soil–plant systems.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to thank the "Agence Nationale pour la gestion des déchets radioactifs" (Andra) for financial support. We thank the Higher Education Commission of Pakistan (www.hec.gov.pk) and the French Society for Export of Educative Resources (SFERE, http://www.sfere.fr/) for the scholarship granted to M. Shahid.

References

- Abollino O, Aceto M, Malandrino M, Mentasti E, Sarzanini C, Barberis R (2002) Distribution and mobility of metals in contaminated sites. Chemometric investigation of pollutant profiles. Environ Pollut 119:177–193
- Aja SU, Wood SA, Williams-Jones AE (1995) The aqueous geochemistry of Zr and the solubility of some Zr-bearing minerals. Appl Geochem 10:603–620
- Ali S, Bai P, Zeng F, Cai S, Shamsi IH, Qiu B, Wu F, Zhang G (2011) The ecotoxicological and interactive effects of chromium and aluminum on growth, oxidative damage and antioxidant enzymes on two barley genotypes differing in Al tolerance. Environ Exp Bot 70:185–191
- Alleman LY, Lamaison L, Perdrix E, Robache A, Galloo J-C (2010) PM10 metal concentrations and source identification using positive matrix factorization and wind sectoring in a French industrial zone. Atmos Res 96:612–625
- Anderson SP, Dietrich WE, Brimhall GH Jr (2002) Weathering profiles, mass balance analysis, rates of solute loss; linkages between weathering and erosion in a small, steep catchment. Geol Soc Am Bull 114:1143–1158

- Arshad M, Silvestre J, Pinelli E, Kallerhoff J, Kaemmerer M, Tarigo A, Shahid M, Guiresse M, Pradere P, Dumat C (2008) A field study of lead phytoextraction by various scented Pelargonium cultivars. Chemosphere 71:2187–2192
- Aznar J-C, Richer-Laflèche M, Paucar-Muñoz H, Bordeleau M, Bégin Y (2009) Is tree growth reduction related to direct foliar injuries or soil chemistry modifications? Chemosphere 76:1366–1371
- Baes CF, Mesmer RE (1986) The hydrolysis of cations, 2nd edn. Kreiger, New York
- Bain DC, Mellor A, Wilson MJ, Duthie DML (1994) Chemical and mineralogical weathering rates and processes in an upland granitic till catchment in Scotland. Water Air Soil Pollut 73:11–27
- Baker AJM (1981) Accumulators and excluders—strategies in the response of plants to heavy metals. J Plant Nutr 3:643–654
- Bali R, Siegele R, Harris AT (2010) Phytoextraction of Au: uptake, accumulation and cellular distribution in *Medicago sativa* and *Brassica juncea*. Chem Eng J 156:286–297
- Belousova EA, Griffin WL, O'Reilly SY (2006) Zircon crystal morphology, trace element signatures and Hf isotope composition as a tool for petrogenetic modeling: examples from Eastern Australian granitoids. J Petrol 47:329–353
- Belousova EA, Griffin WL, O'Reilly SY, Fisher NI (2002) Igneous zircon: trace element composition as an indicator of source rock type. Contrib Mineral Petrol 143:602–622
- Benekos K, Kissoudis C, Nianiou-Obeidat I, Labrou N, Madesis P, Kalamaki M, Makris A, Tsaftaris A (2010) Overexpression of a specific soybean GmGSTU4 isoenzyme improves diphenyl ether and chloroacetanilide herbicide tolerance of transgenic tobacco plants. J Biotechnol 150:195–201
- Bern CR, Chadwick OA, Hartshorn AS, Khomo LM, Chorover J (2011) A mass-balance model to separate and quantify colloidal and solute redistributions in soil. Chem Geol 282:113–119
- Bhuiyan MAH, Parvez L, Islam MA, Dampare SB, Suzuki S (2010) Heavy metal pollution of coal mine-affected agricultural soils in the northern part of Bangladesh. J Hazard Mater 173:384–392
- Bi X, Ren L, Gong M, He Y, Wang L, Ma Z (2010) Transfer of cadmium and lead from soil to mangoes in an uncontaminated area, Hainan Island, China. Geoderma 155:115–120
- Blumental WB (1976) Zirconium-behavior in biological systems. J Sci Ind Res 35:485–490
- Blumenthal WB (1963) The chemical behavior of zirconium (D. van Nostrand, New York, 1958). Inostrannaya Literatura, Moscow
- Bowen H (1979) Environmental chemistry of the elements. Academic, London
- Braun J-J, Ngoupayou JRN, Viers J, Dupre B, Bedimo JPB, Boeglin JL, Robain H, Nyeck B, Freydier R, Nkamdjou LS, Rouiller J (2005) Present weathering rates in a humid tropical watershed: Nsimi, South Cameroon. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 69:357–387
- Brun CB, Åström ME, Peltola P, Johansson MB (2008) Trends in major and trace elements in decomposing needle litters during a long-term experiment in Swedish forests. Plant Soil 306:199–210
- Caffau E, Faraggiana R, Ludwig H-G, Bonifacio P, Steffen M (2010) The solar photospheric abundance of zirconium. Astron Nachr 999:789–800
- Calagari AA, Abedini A (2007) Geochemical investigations on Permo-Triassic bauxite horizon at Kanisheeteh, east of Bukan, West-Azarbaidjan, Iran. J Geochem Explor 94:1–18
- Carvajal M, Martinez-Sanchez F, Alcaraz CF (1994) Effect of titanium (IV) application on some enzymatic activities in several developing stages of red pepper plants. J Plant Nutr 17: 243–253
- Caspari T, Bäumler R, Norbu C, Tshering K, Baillie I (2006) Geochemical investigation of soils developed in different lithologies in Bhutan, Eastern Himalayas. Geoderma 136:436–458
- Chadwick OA, Brimhall GH, Hendricks DM (1990) From black box to grey box: a mass balance interpretation of pedogenesis. Geomorphology 3:369–390
- Chaignon V, Hinsinger P (2003) A biotest for evaluating copper bioavailability to plants in a contaminated soil. J Environ Qual 32:824–833
- Che VB, Fontijn K, Ernst GGJ, Kervyn M, Elburg M, Van Ranst E, Suh CE (2012) Evaluating the degree of weathering in landslide-prone soils in the humid tropics: the case of Limbe, SW Cameroon. Geoderma 170:378–389

- Chow JC, Watson JG, Ashbaugh LL, Magliano KLCN (2003) Similarities and differences in PM10 chemical source profiles for geological dust from the San Joaquin Valley, California. Atmos Environ 37:1317–1340
- Clearfield A (1964) Structural aspects of zirconium chemistry. Rev Pure Appl Chem 14:91-108
- Cornu S, Lucas Y, Lebon E, Ambrosi J, Luizão F, Rouiller J, Bonnay M, Neal C (1999) Evidence of titanium mobility in soil profiles, Manaus, central Amazonia. Geoderma 91:281–295
- Cotton FA, Wilkinson G (1980) Advanced inorganic chemistry, 4th edn. Wiley, New York
- Couture P, Blaise C, Cluis D, Bastien C (1989) Zirconium toxicity assessment using bacteria, algae and fish assays. Water Air Soil Pollut 47:87–100
- Davis RV, Beckett PHT, Wollan E (1978) Critical levels of twenty potentially toxic elements in young spring barley. Plant Soil 49:395–408
- Davydov YP, Davydov DY, Zemskova LM (2006) Speciation of Zr(IV) radionuclides in solutions. Radiochemistry 48:358–364
- Dessureault-Rompré J, Luster J, Schulin R, Tercier-Waeber M-L, Nowack B (2010) Decrease of labile Zn and Cd in the rhizosphere of hyperaccumulating *Thlaspi caerulescens* with time. Environ Pollut 158:1955–1962
- Dou X, Zhang Y, Wang H, Wang T, Wang Y (2011) Performance of granular zirconium–iron oxide in the removal of fluoride from drinking water. Water Res 45:3571–3578
- Dumat C, Quenea K, Bermond A, Toinen S, Benedetti MF (2006) Study of the trace metal ion influence on the turnover of soil organic matter in cultivated contaminated soils. Environ Pollut 142:521–529
- Dupré B, Gaillardet J, Rousseau D, Allègre CJ (1996) Major and trace elements of river-borne material: the Congo Basin. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 60(8):1301–1321
- Duvallet L, Martin F, Soubies F, Salvi S, Melfi AJ, Fortune JP (1999) The mobility of zirconium and identification of secondary Zr-bearing phases in bauxite from Pocos de Caldas, Minas Gerais, Brazil; a mass-balance and X-ray absorption spectroscopic study. Can Mineral 37:635–651
- Egli M, Fitze P (2001) Quantitative aspects of carbonate leaching of soils with differing ages and climates. Catena 46:35–62
- Ekberg C, Källvenius G, Albinsson Y, Brown PL (2004) Studies on the hydrolytic behavior of zirconium(IV). J Solution Chem 33:47–79
- Evangelou MWH, Bauer U, Ebel M, Schaeffer A (2007) The influence of EDDS and EDTA on the uptake of heavy metals of Cd and Cu from soil with tobacco *Nicotiana tabacum*. Chemosphere 68:345–353
- Feng J-L (2010) Behaviour of rare earth elements and yttrium in ferromanganese concretions, gibbsite spots, and the surrounding terra rossa over dolomite during chemical weathering. Chem Geol 271:112–132
- Feng J-L (2011) Trace elements in ferromanganese concretions, gibbsite spots, and the surrounding terra rossa overlying dolomite: their mobilization, redistribution and fractionation. J Geochem Explor 108:99–111
- Ferrand E, Dumat C, Leclerc-Cessac E, Benedetti MF (2006) Phytoavailability of zirconium in relation to its initial added form and soil characteristics. Plant Soil 287:313–325
- Flohr MJK, Ross M (1990) Alkaline igneous rocks of Magnet Cove, Arkansas: mineralogy and geochemistry of syenites. Lithos 26:67–98
- Fodor M, Hegedus A, Stefanovits-Banyai E (2002) Examination of effect of zirconium ascorbate on wheat seedlings. In: I. Pais (ed) Proceedings of the 10th international trace element symposium. Budapest, pp 76–82
- Fodor M, Hegedus A, Stefanovits-Banyai E (2005) Zirconium induced physiological alterations in wheat seedlings. Biol Plantarum 49:633–636
- Fodor M, Hegóczki J, Vereczkey G (2003) The effects of zirconium, a less known microelement, on basic fermentation characteristics and protein composition of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Acta Aliment 32:353–362
- Gagnevin D, Daly JS, Kronz A (2009) Zircon texture and chemical composition as a guide to magmatic processes and mixing in a granitic environment and coeval volcanic system. Contrib Mineral Petrol 159:579–596

- Garnham GW, Codd GA, Gadd GM (1993) Accumulation of zirconium by microalgae and cyanobacteria. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 39:666–672
- Ghosh S, Sharma A, Talukder G (1992) Zirconium. An abnormal trace element in biology. Biol Trace Elem Res 35:247–271
- Goldich SS (1938) A study in rock weathering. J Geol 46:17-58
- Grover P, Rekhadevi P, Danadevi K, Vuyyuri S, Mahboob M, Rahman M (2010) Genotoxicity evaluation in workers occupationally exposed to lead. Int J Hyg Environ Health 213:99–106
- Gundersen V, Bechmann IE, Behrens A, Stürup S (2000) Comparative investigation of concentrations of major and trace elements in organic and conventional Danish agricultural crops. 1. Onions (Allium cepa Hysam) and peas (Pisum sativum ping pong). J Agric Food Chem 48:6094–6102
- Gupta DK, Huang HG, Yang XE, Razafindrabe BHN, Inouhe M (2010) The detoxification of lead in *Sedum alfredii* H. is not related to phytochelatins but the glutathione. J Hazard Mater 177:437–444
- Hao Q, Guo Z, Qiao Y, Xu B, Oldfield F (2010) Geochemical evidence for the provenance of middle Pleistocene loess deposits in southern China. Quaternary Sci Rev 29:3317–3326
- Hill SJ, Arowolo TA, Butler OT, Chenery SRN, Cook JM, Cresser MS, Miles DL (2002) Atomic spectrometry update. Environmental analysis. J Anal At Spectrom 17:284–317
- Hinsinger P, Bengough AG, Vetterlein D, Young IM (2009) Rhizosphere: biophysics, biogeochemistry and ecological relevance. Plant Soil 321:117–152
- Hinsinger P, Brauman A, Devau N, Gérard F, Jourdan C, Laclau J-P, Cadre E, Jaillard B, Plassard C (2011) Acquisition of phosphorus and other poorly mobile nutrients by roots. Where do plant nutrition models fail? Plant Soil 348:29–61
- Hirsch AM, Fang A, Asad S, Kapulnik Y (1998) The role of phytohormones in plant-microbe symbioses. Plant Soil 194:171–184
- Hodson M (2002) Experimental evidence for mobility of Zr and other trace elements in soils. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 66:819–828
- Horvath T, Szilagyi V, Hartyani Z (2000) Characterization of trace element distributions in soils. Microchem J 67:53–56
- Hoskin PWO (2005) Trace-element composition of hydrothermal zircon and the alteration of Hadean zircon from the Jack Hills, Australia. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 69:637–648
- Jiang W, Liu D (2010) Pb-induced cellular defense system in the root meristematic cells of *Allium* sativum L. BMC Plant Biol 10:40
- Jones DL (1998) Organic acids in the rhizosphere-a critical review. Plant Soil 205:25-44
- Jung S, Hoernes S, Mezger K (2000) Geochronology and petrogenesis of Pan-African, syn-tectonic, S-type and post-tectonic A-type granite (Namibia): products of melting of crustal sources, fractional crystallization and wallrock entrainment. Lithos 50:259–287
- Kabata-Pendias A (1993) Behavioural properties of trace metals in soils. Appl Geochem 8:Supplement 2, 3–9
- Kabata-Pendias A, Pendias H (1992) Trace elements in soils and plants, 2nd edn. CRC, Boca Raton, 365 p
- Kamal A, Kumar BA, Suresh P, Shankaraiah N, Kumar MS (2011) An efficient one-pot synthesis of benzothiazolo-4β-anilino-podophyllotoxin congeners: DNA topoisomerase-II inhibition and anticancer activity. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 21:350–353
- Klechkovsky VM, Gulyakin IV (1958) Behavior in soils and plants of the micro-quantities of strontium, cesium, ruthenium and zirconium. Soil Sci 3:1–15 (In Russian)
- Kopittke PM, Asher CJ, Blamey FPC, Menzies NW (2007) Toxic effects of Pb²⁺ on the growth and mineral nutrition of signal grass (*Brachiaria decumbens*) and Rhodes grass (*Chloris gayana*). Plant Soil 300:127–136
- Kopittke PM, Asher CJ, Menzies NW (2008) Prediction of Pb speciation in concentrated and dilute nutrient solutions. Environ Pollut 153:548–554
- Kovalenko NI, Ryzhenko BN (2009) Comparative study of the solubility of zircon and baddeleyite. Geochem Int 47:405–413
- Kruglov SV, Vasil'yeva NA, Kurinov AD, Aleksakhin AM (1996) Distribution of radionuclides from Chernobyl fallout with regard to fractions of the soil-particle distribution of sod-podzolic soils. Eur Soil Sci 28:26–35

- Krzesłowska M, Lenartowska M, Mellerowicz EJ, Samardakiewicz S, Wozny A (2009) Pectinous cell wall thickenings formation—a response of moss protonemata cells to lead. Environ Exp Bot 65:119–131
- Krzesłowska M, Lenartowska M, Samardakiewicz S, Bilski H, Wozny A (2010) Lead deposited in the cell wall of Funaria hygrometrica protonemata is not stable—a remobilization can occur. Environ Pollut 158:325–338
- Kumpiene J, Brännvall E, Taraškeviúus R, Aksamitauskas ü ZinkutüR (2011) Spatial variability of topsoil contamination with trace elements in preschools in Vilnius, Lithuania. J Geochem Explor 108:15–20
- Kurtz AC, Derry LA, Chadwick OA, Alfano MJ (2000) Refractory element mobility in volcanic soils. Geology 28:683–686
- Langmuir D, Herman JS (1980) The mobility of thorium in natural waters at low temperatures. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 44:1753–1766
- LeRiche HH (1973) The distribution of minor elements among the components of a soil developed in loess. Geoderma 9:43–57
- Liao YC, Chien SWC, Wang MC, Shen Y, Hung PL, Das B (2006) Effect of transpiration on Pb uptake by lettuce and on water soluble low molecular weight organic acids in rhizosphere. Chemosphere 65:343–351
- Little MG, Lee C-TA (2010) Sequential extraction of labile elements and chemical characterization of a basaltic soil from Mt. Meru, Tanzania. J Afr Earth Sci 57:444–454
- Liu X, Wang Q, Deng J, Zhang Q, Sun S, Meng J (2010) Mineralogical and geochemical investigations of the Dajia Salento-type bauxite deposits, western Guangxi, China. J Geochem Explor 105:137–152
- Lomonte C, Doronila AI, Gregory D, Baker AJM, Kolev SD (2010) Phytotoxicity of biosolids and screening of selected plant species with potential for mercury phytoextraction. J Hazard Mater 173:494–501
- Louvel M, Sanchez-Valle C, Petitgirard S, Cardon H, Daniel I, Cauzid J (2009) Zr speciation and partitioning in SiO2-rich aqueous fluids and silicate melts. Goldschmidt Conference Abstracts. p 73
- Lowery Claiborne L, Miller CF, Walker BA, Wooden JL, Mazdab FK, Bea F (2006) Tracking magmatic processes through Zr/Hf ratios in rocks and Hf and Ti zoning in zircons: an example from the Spirit Mountain batholith, Nevada. Mineral Mag 70:517–543
- Lyubenova L, Schröder P (2011) Plants for waste water treatment—effects of heavy metals on the detoxification system of Typha latifolia. Bioresour Technol 102:996–1004
- Maeck WJ, Spraktes FW, Tromp RL, Keller JH (1975) Analytical results, recommended nuclear constants and suggested correlations for the evaluation of Oklo fission-product data. In: IAEA Vienna. Le Phénomène d'Oklo, pp 319–324
- Maestri E, Marmiroli M, Visioli G, Marmiroli N (2010) Metal tolerance and hyperaccumulation: costs and trade-offs between traits and environment. Environ Exp Bot 68:1–13
- Malandrino M, Abollino O, Buoso S, Giacomino A, La Gioia C, Mentasti E (2011) Accumulation of heavy metals from contaminated soil to plants and evaluation of soil remediation by vermiculite. Chemosphere 82:169–178
- Maria GES, Cogliatti DH (1988) Bidirectional Zn-fluxes and compartmentation in wheat seeding roots. J Plant Physiol 132:312–315
- Martínez Cortizas A, Gayoso EG-R, Muñoz JCN, Pombal XP, Buurman P, Terribile F (2003) Distribution of some selected major and trace elements in four Italian soils developed from the deposits of the Gauro and Vico volcanoes. Geoderma 117:215–224
- Meyers DER, Auchterlonie GJ, Webb RI, Wood B (2008) Uptake and localisation of lead in the root system of *Brassica juncea*. Environ Pollut 153:323–332
- MirzaN, Mahmood Q, Pervez A, Ahmad R, Farooq R, Shah MM, Azim MR (2010) Phytoremediation potential of *Arundo do*nax in arsenic-contaminated synthetic wastewater. Bioresour Technol 101:5815–5819
- Mosulishvili LM, Shoniya NI, Katamadze NM, Ginturi EN (1994) Environmental radionuclide distribution in the republic of Georgia after the Chernobyl catastrophe. Zh Anal Khim 49:135–139

- Mou D, Yao Y, Yang Y, Zhang Y, Tian C, Achal V (2011) Plant high tolerance to excess manganese related with root growth, manganese distribution and antioxidative enzyme activity in three grape cultivars. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 74:776–786
- Muhs D, Budahn J (2009) Geochemical evidence for African dust and volcanic ash inputs to terra rossa soils on carbonate reef terraces, northern Jamaica, West Indies. USGS Staff—published research
- Muhs DR, Budahn J, Avila A, Skipp G, Freeman J, Patterson D (2010) The role of African dust in the formation of Quaternary soils on Mallorca, Spain and implications for the genesis of Red Mediterranean soils. Quaternary Sci Rev 29:2518–2543
- Muhs DR, Budahn JR, Prospero JM, Carey SN (2007) Geochemical evidence for African dust inputs to soils of western Atlantic islands: Barbados, the Bahamas, and Florida. J Geophys Res 112:126
- Mushtaq A (2012) Producing radioisotopes in power reactors. J Radioanal Nucl Chem 292:793-802
- Naudet R (1974) Summary report on the Oklo phenomenon. French CEA Report. Bull Inf Sci Tech 193:7–85
- Oliva VJ, Dupre B, Fortune JP, Martin F, Braun JJ, Nahon D, Robain H (1999) The effect of organic matter on chemical weathering: study of a small tropical watershed: nsimi-zoetele site, cameroon. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 63:4013–4035
- Owojori OJ, Reinecke AJ, Rozanov AB (2010) Influence of clay content on bioavailability of copper in the earthworm *Eisenia fetida*. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 73:407–414
- Pais I, Jones JB (1983) The handbook of trace elements. St Lucie Press, Boca Raton
- Pais I (1983) The biological importance of titanium. J Plant Nutr 6:3-131
- Panahi A, Young GM, Rainbird RH (2000) Behavior of major and trace elements (including REE) during Paleoproterozoic pedogenesis and diagenetic alteration of an Archean granite near Ville Marie, Quebec, Canada. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 64:2199–2220
- Patino L, Velbel M, Price J, Wade J (2003) Trace element mobility during spheroidal weathering of basalts and andesites in Hawaii and Guatemala. Chem Geol 202:343–364
- Patra M, Bhowmik N, Bandopadhyay B, Sharma A (2004) Comparison of mercury, lead and arsenic with respect to genotoxic effects on plant systems and the development of genetic tolerance. Environ Exp Bot 52:199–223
- Peng J-F, Song Y-H, Yuan P, Cui X-Y, Qiu G-L (2009) The remediation of heavy metals contaminated sediment. J Hazard Mater 161:633–640
- Pettijohn FJ (1941) Persistence of heavy minerals and geologic age. J Geol 49:610-625
- Pettke T, Audetat A, Schaltegger U, Heinrich CA (2005) Magmaticto-hydrothermal crystallization in the W–Sn mineralized mole granite (NSW, Australia)—Part II: evolving zircon and thorite trace element chemistry. Chem Geol 220:191–213
- Pokrovsky O, Schott J (2002) Iron colloids/organic matter associated transport of major and trace elements in small boreal rivers and their estuaries (NW Russia). Chem Geol 190:141–179
- Pourrut B, Perchet G, Silvestre J, Cecchi M, Guiresse M, Pinelli E (2008) Potential role of NADPHoxidase in early steps of lead-induced oxidative burst in *Vicia faba* roots. J Plant Physiol 165:571–579
- Prisyagina NI, Kovalenko NI, Ryzhenko BN, Starshinova NP (2008) Experimental determination of ZrO₂ solubility in alkaline fluoride solutions at 500°C and 1000 bar. Geochem Int 46:1164–1167
- Quenea K, Lamy I, Winterton P, Bermond A, Dumat C (2009) Interactions between metals and soil organic matter in various particle size fractions of soil contaminated with waste water. Geoderma 149:217–223
- Qureshi MI, D'Amici GM, Fagioni M, Rinalducci S, Zolla L (2010) Iron stabilizes thylakoid protein-pigment complexes in Indian mustard during Cd-phytoremediation as revealed by BN-SDS-PAGE and ESI-MS/MS. J Plant Physiol 167:761–770
- Rascio N, Navari-Izzo F (2011) Heavy metal hyperaccumulating plants: how and why do they do it? And what makes them so interesting? Plant Sci 180:169–181

- Ribeiroa J, da Silvab EF, Li Z, Ward C, Flores D (2010) Petrographic, mineralogical and geochemical characterization of the Serrinha coal waste pile (Douro Coalfield, Portugal) and the potential environmental impacts on soil, sediments and surface waters. Int J Coal Geol 83:456–466
- Rubin JN, Henry CD, Price JG (1993) The mobility of zirconium and other "immobile" elements during hydrothermal alteration. Chem Geol 110:29–47
- Ryzhenko BN, Kovalenko NI, Prisyagina NI, Starshinova NP, Krupskaya VV (2008) Experimental determination of zirconium speciation in hydrothermal solutions. Geochem Int 46:328–339
- Saifullah ME, Qadir M, de Caritat P, Tack FMG, Du Laing G, Zia MH (2009) EDTA-assisted Pb phytoextraction. Chemosphere 74:1279–1291
- Saifullah ZMH, Meers E, Ghafoor A, Murtaza G, Sabir M, Zia-ur-Rehman M, Tack FMG (2010) Chemically enhanced phytoextraction of Pb by wheat in texturally different soils. Chemosphere 79:652–658
- Sako A, Mills AJ, Roychoudhury AN (2009) Rare earth and trace element geochemistry of termite mounds in central and northeastern Namibia: mechanisms for micro-nutrient accumulation. Geoderma 153:217–230
- Sammut ML, Noack Y, Rose J, Hazemann JL, Proux O, Depoux M, Ziebel A, Fiani E (2010) Speciation of Cd and Pb in dust emitted from sinter plant. Chemosphere 78:445–450
- Sandoval R, Cooper AM, Aymar K, Jain A, Hristovski K (2011) Removal of arsenic and methylene blue from water by granular activated carbon media impregnated with zirconium dioxide nanoparticles. J Hazard Mater 193:296–303
- Sanzharova DI, Aleksakhin RM (1982) Uptake of 22Na, 32P, 65Zn, "Sr and ""Ru by crops. Pochvovedeniye 9:59–64
- Schulin R, Curchod F, Mondeshka M, Daskalova A, Keller A (2007) Heavy metal contamination along a soil transect in the vicinity of the iron smelter of Kremikovtzi (Bulgaria). Geoderma 140:52–61
- Senesi N, Padovano G, Brunetti G (1988) Scandium, titanium, tungsten and zirconium content in commercial inorganic fertilizers and their contribution to soil. Environ Technol Lett 9:1011–1020
- Shahid M, Arshad M, Kaemmerer M, Pinelli E, Probst A, Baque D, Pradere P, Dumat C (2012a) Long term field metal extraction by pelargonium: phytoextraction efficiency in relation with plant maturity. Int J Phytorem 14:493–505
- Shahid M, Dumat C, Silvestre J, Pinelli (2012c) Effect of fulvic acids on lead-induced oxidative stress to metal sensitive *Vicia faba* L. plant. Biol Fert Soils. 10.1007/s00374-012-0662-9
- Shahid M, Pinelli E, Dumat C (2012b) Review of Pb availability and toxicity to plants in relation with metal speciation; role of synthetic and natural organic ligands. J Hazard Mater. 10.1016/j. jhazmat.2012.01.060
- Shahid M, Pinelli E, Pourrut B, Silvestre J, Dumat C (2011a) Lead-induced genotoxicity to Vicia faba L. roots in relation with metal cell uptake and initial speciation. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 74:78–84
- Shahid M, Pourrut B, Dumat C, Winterton P, Pinelli E (2011b) Lead uptake, toxicity, and detoxification in plants. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 213:113–136
- Shahid M, Kirmani SAA, Zaidi SAH (2011c) Effect of pH and fulvic acid on cadmium speciation. Int Poster J Sci Technol 1:83–88
- Shahid M (2010) Lead-induced toxicity to *Vicia faba* L. in relation with metal cell uptake and initial speciation. PhD Thesis, INPT, Toulouse-France
- Shi JJ, Chen H (2002) Dynamics of accumulation and disappearance of zirconium-95 in the maize/ soil and soybean/soil ecosystem. J Environ Sci 23:109–113
- Shi JJ, Guo JF (2002) Uptake from soil and distribution of 95Zr in Chinese cabbage. J Agric Sci 139:431–435
- Shi JJ, Guo JF, Chen H (2002) Dynamics of 95Zr in the rice/water/soil system. Appl Radiat Isot 56:735–740
- Shi JJ, Li MY (2003) Migration and distribution of 95Zr in a simulated marine fishes/seawater/ sediment ecosystem. Acta Ecologica Sinica 23:330–335

- Simon L, Hajdu F, Balogh Á, Pais I (1998) Effect of titanium on growth and photosynthetic pigment composition of *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* (green alga). II. Effect of titanium ascorbate on pigment content and chlorophyll metabolism of Chlorella. In: Pais I (ed) New results in the research of hardly known trace elements and their role in the food chain. University of Horticulture and Food Science, Budapest, pp 87–101
- Smith IC, Carson BL (1978) Trace metals in the environment: vol 3—Zirconium. Ann Arbour Sci Pub Inc, Ann Arbour, p 405
- Sommer M, Halm D, Weller U, Zarei M, Stahr K (2000) Lateral podzolization in a granite landscape. Soil Sci Soc Am J 64:1434–1442
- Stiles CA, Mora CI, Driese SG (2003) Pedogenic processes and domain boundaries in a Vertisol climosequence: evidence from titanium and zirconium distribution and morphology. Geoderma 116:279–299
- Stojilovic N, Bender ET, Ramsier RD (2005) Surface chemistry of zirconium. Prog Surf Sci 78:101–184
- Swindale LD, Jackson ML (1956) Genetic processes in some residual podzolised soils of New Zealand. In: 6th International Congress of Soil Science, vol 37. Paris, pp 233–239
- Tejan-Kella MS, Chittleborough DJ, Fitzpatrick RW (1991) Weathering assessment of heavy minerals in age sequences of Australian sandy soils. Soil Sci Soc Am J 55:527–538
- Tematio P, Fritsch E, Hodson ME, Lucas Y, Bitom D, Bilong P (2009) Mineral and geochemical characterization of a leptic aluandic soil and a thapto aluandic-ferralsol developed on trachytes in Mount Bambouto (Cameroon volcanic line). Geoderma 152:314–323
- Thomas JB, Bodnar RJ, Shimizu N, Sinha AK (2002) Determination of zircon/melt trace element partition coefficients from SIMS analysis of melt inclusions in zircon. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 66:2887–2901
- Tome FV, Blanco Rodriguez MP, Lozano JC (2003) Soil-to-plant transfer factors for natural radionuclides and stable elements in a Mediterranean area. J Environ Radioact 65:161–175
- Udovic M, Lestan D (2009) Pb, Zn and Cd mobility, availability and fractionation in aged soil remediated by EDTA leaching. Chemosphere 74:1367–1373
- USGS (United States Geological Survey) (2012) http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/commodity/ zirconium/. Assessed 23 Apr 2012
- Uzu G, Sobanska S, Aliouane Y, Pradere P, Dumat C (2009) Study of lead phytoavailability for atmospheric industrial micronic and sub-micronic particles in relation with lead speciation. Environ Pollut 157:1178–1185
- Uzu G, Sobanska S, Sarret G, Muñoz M, Dumat C (2010) Foliar lead uptake by lettuce exposed to atmospheric fallouts. Environ Sci Technol 44:1036–1042
- Uzu G, Sobanska S, Sarret G, Sauvain J, Pradère P, Dumat C (2011) Characterization of leadrecycling facility emissions at various workplaces: major insights for sanitary risks assessment. J Hazard Mater 186:1018–1027
- Vadas TM, Ahner BA (2009) Cysteine- and glutathione-mediated uptake of lead and cadmium into Zea mays and Brassica napus roots. Environ Pollut 157:2558–2563
- Valeton I, Biermann M, Reche R, Rosenberg F (1987) Genesis of nickel laterites and bauxites in Greece during the Jurassic and Cretaceous, and their relation to ultrabasic parent rocks. Ore Geol Rev 2:359–404
- Vega FA, Andrade ML, Covelo EF (2010) Influence of soil properties on the sorption and retention of cadmium, copper and lead, separately and together, by 20 soil horizons: comparison of linear regression and tree regression analyses. J Hazard Mater 174:522–533
- Venable FP (1922) Zirconium and its compounds (American Chemical Society, Monograph Series). The Chemical Catalog Company, New York
- Verbruggen N, Hermans C, Schat H (2009) Molecular mechanisms of metal hyperaccumulation in plants. New Phytol 181:759–776
- Verel I, Visser GWM, Boerman OC, Van Eerd JEM, Finn R, Boellaard R, Vosjan MJWD, Stigter-Van Walsum M, Snow GB, Van Dongen GAMS (2003) Long-lived positron emitters zirconium-89 and iodine-124 for scouting of therapeutic radioimmunoconjugates with PET. Cancer Biother Radiopharm 18:655–661

- Viers J, Dupre B, Braun JJ, Deberdt S, Angeletti B, Ngoupayou JN, Michard A (2000) Major and trace element abundances, and strontium isotopes in the Nyong basin rivers (Cameroon): constraints on chemical weathering processes and elements transport mechanisms in humid tropical environments. Chem Geol 169:211–241
- Wang HF, Takematsu N, Ambe S (2000) Effects of soil acidity on the uptake of trace elements in soybean and tomato plants. Appl Radiat Isot 52:803–811
- Wang X, Griffin WL, O'Reilly SY, Zhou XM, Xu XS, Jackson SE, Pearson NJ (2002) Morphology and geochemistry of zircons from late Mesozoic igneous complexes in coastal SE China: implications for petrogenesis. Mineral Mag 66:235–251
- Whicker FW, Schultz V (1982) Radioecology: nuclear energy and the environment, vol I. CRC press, Boca Raton, Florida
- Whitfield CJ (2011) Evaluation of elemental depletion weathering rate estimation methods on acid-sensitive soils of north-eastern Alberta, Canada. Geoderma 166:189–197
- Wu F-L, Lin D, Su D (2011) The effect of planting oilseed rape and compost application on heavy metal forms in soil and Cd and Pb uptake in rice. Agric Sci China 10:267–274
- Wu Y, Hendershot WH (2010) The effect of calcium and pH on nickel accumulation in and rhizotoxicity to pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) root–empirical relationships and modeling. Environ Pollut 158:1850–1856
- Xu H, Song P, Gu W, Yang Z (2011) Effects of heavy metals on production of thiol compounds and antioxidant enzymes in *Agaricus bisporus*. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. org/10.1016/j. ecoenv.2011.04.010
- Yadav SK (2010) Heavy metals toxicity in plants: an overview on the role of glutathione and phytochelatins in heavy metal stress tolerance of plants. S Afr J Bot 76:167–179
- Yan ZZ, Ke L, Tam NFY (2010) Lead stress in seedlings of Avicennia marina, a common mangrove species in South China, with and without cotyledons. Aquat Bot 92:112–118
- Yau TL (2010) 3.14-corrosion of zirconium and its alloys. Shreir Corros 3:2094-2134
- Yip TCM, Yan DYS, Yui MMT, Tsang DCW, Lo IMC (2010) Heavy metal extraction from an artificially contaminated sandy soil under EDDS deficiency: Significance of humic acid and chelant mixture. Chemosphere 80:416–421
- Yirchenko YP, Agapkina GI (1993) Organic radionuclide compounds in soils surrounding the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant. Eur Soil Sci 25:51–59
- Zaccone C, Cocozza C, Cheburkin AK, Shotyk W, Miano TM (2008) Distribution of As, Cr, Ni, Rb, Ti and Zr between peat and its humic fraction along an undisturbed ombrotrophic bog profile (NW Switzerland). Appl Geochem 23:25–33
- Zaraisky G, Aksyuk A, Devyatova V, Udoratina O, Chevychelov V (2008) Zr/Hf ratio as an indicator of fractionation of rare-metal granites by the example of the Kukulbei complex, eastern Transbaikalia. Petrology 16:710–736
- Zaraisky G, Aksyuk A, Devyatova V, Udoratina O, Chevychelov V (2009) The Zr/Hf ratio as a fractionation indicator of rare-metal granites. Petrology 17:25–45
- Zeng F, Ali S, Zhang H, Ouyang Y, Qiu B, Wu F, Zhang G (2011) The influence of pH and organic matter content in paddy soil on heavy metal availability and their uptake by rice plants. Environ Pollut 159:84–91
- Zou Z, Qiu R, Zhang W, Dong H, Zhao Z, Zhang T, Wei X, Cai X (2009) The study of operating variables in soil washing with EDTA. Environ Pollut 157:229–236

Index

INDEX FOR RECT VOL. 221

Acetoanilide pesticides, leaching characteristics, **221**: 73 Acetoanilide pesticides, soil column leaching (table), **221**: 62–65 Anthropogenic emissions, zirconium, **221**: 109 Arylalkanoate pesticides, leaching characteristics, **221**: 73 Arylalkanoate pesticides, soil column leaching (table), **221**: 62–65

Bioavailability in soils, zirconium, 221: 110
Biodegradation effects, pesticide mobility, 221: 23
Biodegradation rate, method effects, 221: 24
Biogeochemical behavior effects, zirconium speciation, 221: 113

Carbamate pesticides, soil column leaching results (table), **221**: 54–57 Carbamate pesticides, soil leaching results, **221**: 53 Chemical degradation, microbe involvement, **221**: 25 Clay effects, soil sorption processes, **221**: 20 Climate effects, soil column leaching, **221**: 14 Climate effects, zirconium release, **221**: 112 Colloids, pesticide transport effects, **221**: 7

Diphenyl ether pesticides, leaching characteristics, **221**: 73 Diphenyl ether pesticides, soil column leaching (table), **221**: 62–65 Dissolved organic matter, pesticide transport effects, **221**: 7, 8

Earthworm burrows, pesticide leaching effects, **221**: 33 Earthworms, soil macropore formation, **221**: 6 Elution medium effects, pesticide mobility (table), **221**: 37

Facilitated transport, pesticides in soil, 221: 42
Fertilizer effects, pesticide mobility in soil, 221: 43
Field leaching, pesticides, 221: 16
Field vs. laboratory studies, pesticide leaching, 221: 53
Flyash amendment of soil, pesticide mobility effects, 221: 40

Groundwater contamination risk, mobility indices (table), **221**: 27 Groundwater ubiquity score (GUS), relative soil mobility (diag.), **221**: 30 GUS, relative pesticide mobility, **221**: 30

Humic acid amendment of soil, pesticide mobility effects, **221**: 40 Hysteresis effects, pesticide absorptiondesorption, **221**: 21

Laboratory vs. field studies, pesticide leaching, **221**: 53 Leaching behavior, pesticides, **221**: 2

D.M. Whitacre (ed.), *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 221, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4614-4448-0, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2013 Leaching characteristics, pesticide classes, 221: 73
Leaching study types, relative reliability, 221: 53
Lysimeter (outdoor) results, pesticides (diag.), 221: 72
Lysimeter advantages, pesticide mobility measurement, 221: 16
Lysimeter studies, pesticide loss rate, 221: 15
Lysimeter studies, use of radiotracers, 221: 15
Lysimeters (outdoor), measuring pesticide mobility, 221: 14
Macropore disruption, soil tillage, 221: 31

Macropores in soil, definition, 221: 4 Macropores, formation in soils, 221: 5 Mathematical modeling, pesticide transport in soil, 221: 50 Method effects, pesticide dissipation rate, 221: 24 Microbe involvement, chemical degradation, 221:25 Mobility indices, groundwater contamination risk (table), 221: 27 Mobility indices, pesticides, 221: 26 Mobility of pesticides, soil column leaching studies. 221: 52 Model, pesticide soil mobility (diag.), 221: 46 Modeling soil mobility, pesticides, 221: 45 Modeling, pesticide transport in soil, 221: 50

Organophosphorous pesticides, soil column leaching results (table), **221**: 54–57 Organophosphorous pesticides, soil leaching results, **221**: 53

Peat amendment of soil, pesticide mobility effects, 221: 40
Peat effects, pesticide soil leaching, 221: 44
Pesticide absorption-desorption, hysteresis effects, 221: 21
Pesticide biodegradation effect, plant material amendment of soil, 221: 41
Pesticide biodegradation rate, method effects, 221: 24
Pesticide degradation, mobility effects, 221: 19
Pesticide degradation, soil macropore effects, 221: 33
Pesticide dissipation rate, soil & method

Pesticide dissipation rate, soil & method effects, **221**: 24 Pesticide leaching effects, colloids & dissolved organic matter, 221: 7, 8 Pesticide leaching effects, earthworm burrows, 221: 33 Pesticide leaching, laboratory vs. field studies, 221: 53 Pesticide leaching, lysimeter (outdoor) results (diag.), 221: 72 Pesticide leaching, soil adsorption effects, 221: 26 Pesticide leaching, soils, 221: 1 ff. Pesticide leaching, turf thatch effects, 221: 18 Pesticide loss rate, from soil lysimeters, 221: 15 Pesticide mobility determination, soil column apparatus (diag.), 221: 12 Pesticide mobility effect, preferential flow, 221: 32 Pesticide mobility effects, soil vegetation, 221: 41 Pesticide mobility in soil, fertilizer effects, 221:43 Pesticide mobility measurement, lysimeter advantages, 221: 16 Pesticide mobility, biodegradation effects, 221: 23 Pesticide mobility, degradation effects, 221: 19 Pesticide mobility, elution medium effects (table), 221: 37 Pesticide mobility, groundwater ubiquity score, 221: 30 Pesticide mobility, in agriculture, 221: 3 Pesticide mobility, modeling & simulation methods, 221: 45 Pesticide mobility, outdoor lysimeter methods, 221:14 Pesticide mobility, prospective groundwater studies, 221: 17 Pesticide mobility, soil amendment & vegetation effects. 221: 34 Pesticide mobility, soil amendment effects (table), 221: 37 Pesticide mobility, soil amendment effects, **221**: 36 Pesticide mobility, soil column leaching method. 221: 11 Pesticide mobility, soil column leaching studies, 221: 52 Pesticide mobility, soil factor effects, 221: 31 Pesticide mobility, soil macropore effects, 221: 3 Pesticide mobility, soil moisture effects, 221: 31

Pesticide mobility, soil process effects, 221: 18 Pesticide mobility, soil property effects, 221: 3 Pesticide mobility, soil thin-layer chromatography, **221**: 10 Pesticide mobility, soil tillage effects (table), 221: 35 Pesticide mobility, soil tillage effects, 221: 34 Pesticide mobility, surfactant effects, 221: 18 Pesticide mobility, urea amendment effects, 221:36 Pesticide mobility, vegetation effects (table), 221:37 Pesticide soil leaching, achieving material balance, 221: 132 Pesticide soil leaching, tannic acid effects, **221**: 44 Pesticide soil leaching, peat amendment effects, 221: 44 Pesticide soil mobility, conceptional model (diag.), 221: 46 Pesticide sorption, soil mobility effects, 221: 19 Pesticide transport effects, colloid effects, 221: 7 Pesticide transport in soil, mathematical modeling, 221: 50 Pesticide transport, dissolved organic matter effects, 221: 7 Pesticides (misc.), leaching characteristics, 221:74 Pesticides in soil, equilibrium vs. nonequilibrium transport, 221: 46 Pesticides in soil, facilitated transport, 221: 42 Pesticides, field leaching, 221: 16 Pesticides, leaching behavior, 221: 2 Pesticides, leaching methods, 221: 10 Pesticides, mobility indices, 221: 26 Pesticides, structures (appendix), 221: 77 Pesticides, terrestrial field dissipation studies, 221:17 Pesticides, transport processes, 221: 2 pH effects, on zirconium behavior, 221: 112 pH effects, soil sorption processes, **221**: 20 Phytotoxicity, zirconium, 221: 107 ff. Plant distribution, zirconium, 221: 115 Plant growth inhibition, zirconium, 221: 117 Plant material amendment of soil, pesticide biodegradation effect, 221: 41 Plant toxicity, zirconium, 221: 107 ff., 116 Plant translocation rate, zirconium, 221: 116 Plant translocation, zirconium, 221: 114 Plant uptake from soil. zirconium, 221: 114, 115 Plant uptake, zirconium, 221: 107 ff.

Preferential flow, pesticide mobility effect, **221**: 32

- Preferential flow, through soil macropores, **221**: 32
- Prospective groundwater studies, pesticide mobility, **221**: 17

Pyrethroid pesticides, soil column leaching results (table), **221**: 54–57

Pyrethroid pesticides, soil leaching results, **221**: 53

- Soil adsorption effects, pesticide leaching, 221: 26 Soil amendment effects, pesticide mobility (table), 221: 37
- Soil amendment effects, pesticide mobility, **221**: 34, 36
- Soil behavior modeling, pesticides, 221: 45
- Soil bioavailability, zirconium, **221**: 110

Soil column elution, experimental methods, **221**: 13

- Soil column leaching effects, dissolved organic matter, **221**: 8
- Soil column leaching studies, pesticide mobility, **221**: 52
- Soil column leaching, acetoanilide pesticides (table), **221**: 62–65
- Soil column leaching, arylalkanoate pesticides (table), **221**: 62–65
- Soil column leaching, carbamate pesticides (table), **221**: 54–57
- Soil column leaching, climate effects, **221**: 14
- Soil column leaching, diphenyl ether pesticides (table), **221**: 62–65
- Soil column leaching, dissolved organic matter effects, **221**: 9
- Soil column leaching, measuring pesticide mobility, **221**: 11
- Soil column leaching, misc. pesticides (table), **221**: 66–71
- Soil column leaching, organophosphorous pesticides (table), **221**: 54–57
- Soil column leaching, pyrethroid pesticides (table), **221**: 54–57
- Soil column leaching, triazine pesticides (table), **221**: 62–65
- Soil column leaching, typical apparatus (diag.), **221**: 12
- Soil column leaching, urea & sulfonylurea herbicides (table), **221**: 58–61
- Soil column leaching, water-dispersible colloid effects, **221**: 9

Soil columns for pesticide leaching, described, **221**: 12 Soil columns, pesticide leaching, 221: 1 ff. Soil effects, pesticide dissipation rate, 221: 24 Soil facilitated transport, pesticides, 221: 42 Soil factor effects, pesticide mobility, 221: 31 Soil leaching methods, pesticides, 221: 10 Soil leaching results, organophosphorous & carbamate pesticides, 221: 53 Soil leaching results, synthetic pyrethroid insecticides, 221: 53 Soil leaching, pesticides, 221: 1 ff., 2 Soil macropore effects, pesticide degradation, **221**: 33 Soil macropores, characteristics, 221: 4 Soil macropores, dye studies, 221: 4 Soil macropores, earthworm role, 221: 6 Soil macropores, formation, 221: 5 Soil macropores, pesticide mobility, 221: 3 Soil macropores, preferential flow, 221: 32 Soil mobility of pesticides, conceptional model (diag.), 221: 46 Soil mobility of pesticides, fertilizer effects, 221:43 Soil mobility, groundwater ubiquity score (GUS; diag.), 221: 30 Soil mobility, zirconium, 221: 111 Soil moisture effects, pesticide mobility, 221: 31 Soil organic matter effects, zirconium mobility, 221: 112 Soil process effects, pesticide mobility, 221: 18 Soil properties, vs. K_d values, 221: 22 Soil property effects, pesticide mobility, 221: 3 Soil retention & mobility, zirconium, 221: 110 Soil sorption effects, pesticide mobility, 221: 19 Soil sorption processes, pH & clay effects, **221**: 20 Soil sorption, processes, 221: 19 Soil texture effects, zirconium behavior. 221: 112 Soil thin-layer chromatography, pesticide mobility, 221: 10 Soil tillage effects, pesticide mobility (table), **221**: 35 Soil tillage effects, pesticide mobility, 221: 34 Soil tillage, macropore disruption, 221: 31 Soil to plant transfer, zirconium, 221: 115 Soil vegetation, pesticide mobility effects, 221:41 Soil-plant system behavior, zirconium, 221: 107 ff.

Soil-plant transfer, zirconium, 221: 114
Soils, structure & character, 221: 3
Speciation, zirconium, 221: 113
Sulfonylurea herbicides, leaching characteristics, 221: 73
Sulfonylurea herbicides, soil column leaching (table), 221: 58–61
Surfactant effects, pesticide mobility, 221: 18

- Tannic acid effects, pesticide soil leaching, 221: 44
 Terrestrial field dissipation studies, pesticides, 221: 17
 Triazine pesticides, leaching characteristics, 221: 73
 Triazine pesticides, soil column leaching (table), 221: 62–65
 Turf thatch effects, pesticide leaching, 221: 18
- Urea amendment effects, pesticide mobility, 221: 36 Urea herbicides, characteristics, 221: 73

```
Urea herbicides, soil column leaching (table), 221: 58–61
```

Vegetation effects, pesticide mobility (table), 221: 37 Vegetation effects, pesticide mobility, 221: 34

Water-dispersible colloids, pesticide leaching effects, **221**: 7

World mine production trend, zirconium (diag.), **221**: 110

Zirconium, plant uptake & distribution, 221: 115 Zirconium behavior, pH & soil texture effects, 221: 112 Zirconium behavior, soil-plant systems, 221: 107 ff. Zirconium isotopes, described, 221: 109, 110 Zirconium minerals, described, 221: 109 Zirconium mobility, soil organic matter effects, 221: 112 Zirconium release, climate effects, 221: 112 Zirconium speciation, biogeochemical behavior effects, 221: 113 Zirconium toxicity, plant defenses, 221: 117 Zirconium, commercial uses, 221: 109 Index

- Zirconium, crustal abundance, 221: 113
 Zirconium, description, 221: 108
 Zirconium, factors affecting mobility & bioavailability, 221: 112
 Zirconium, mineral structure, 221: 111
 Zirconium, minerals & isotopes, 221: 108
 Zirconium, organism toxicity, 221: 116
 Zirconium, plant growth inhibition, 221: 117
 Zirconium, plant translocation rate, 221: 116
 Zirconium, plant translocation, 221: 114
- Zirconium, plant uptake from soil, 221: 114
- Zirconium, soil bioavailability, 221: 110
- Zirconium, soil mobility, 221: 111
- Zirconium, soil retention & mobility, 221: 110
- Zirconium, soil to plant transfer, 221: 115
- Zirconium, sources & abundance, 221: 108
- Zirconium, speciation, 221: 113
- Zirconium, toxicity, 221: 116
- Zirconium, worldwide production trend (diag.), **221**: 110